Cabinet
Date
Time
Venue

Wednesday 16 September 2020
9.30 am
Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held
remotely via Microsoft Teams
Business
Part A
Items which are open to the public and press

1.

Public Questions

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 8 July 2020 (Pages 3 - 10)

3.

Declarations of interest

Key Decisions:
4.

Council Plan 2020-23 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
[Key Decision: CORP/R/19/04] (Pages 11 - 66)

5.

Selective Licensing Scheme - Report of Corporate Director of
Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision: REG/03/20]
(Pages 67 - 172)

Ordinary Decisions:
6.

Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 - Period to 30 June
2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) Savings Report of Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 173 - 214)

7.

Annual Enforcement Programme Children and Young Persons
(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 and Anti-Social Behaviour Act
2003 - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate
Change (Pages 215 - 230)

8.

Treasury Management Outturn 2019/20 - Report of Corporate
Director of Resources (Pages 231 - 240)

9.

Quarter One, 2020/21 - Performance Management Report - Report
of Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 241 - 340)

10.

Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit
Budgets 2020/21 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children
and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of Resources
(Pages 341 - 360)

11.

Weardale Railway: Request for Financial Support - Report of Corporate
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth (Pages 359 - 396)

12.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

13.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)
14.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
8 September 2020

To:

The Members of the Cabinet
Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader
of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn,
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and
A Surtees

Contact: Ros Layfield

Tel: 03000 269708

Agenda Item 2

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
At a remote meeting of the Cabinet held on Wednesday 8 July 2020 at
9.30 am
Present:
Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair
Cabinet Members
Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Napier, A Patterson,
K Shaw, B Stephens and A Surtees
Also in Attendance
Councillor J Shuttleworth and Councillor H Smith
Prior to the commencement of the formal business the Chair conveyed
Cabinet’s condolences to all those who had lost loved ones in recent weeks.
Cabinet welcomed the newly appointed Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods
and Climate Change, Amy Harhoff, to her first Durham County Council
Cabinet meeting.
The Chair paid tribute to the 8,000 men and boys massacred in the Bosnia
Srebrenica genocide which took place in July 1995 and reported that the 25th
anniversary was being commemorated by Durham County Council, Durham
Cathedral and Durham University with flags being flown from County Hall,
Durham Cathedral and Durham Castle, during the memorial week.

1.

Public Questions
There were no public questions.

2.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record and would be signed by the Chair.

3.

Declarations of Interest
Councillor L Hovvels declared a personal interest in relation to item 4,
and would leave the meeting during the consideration of the item of
business.
Page 3

Councillor L Hovvels left the meeting.

4.

Proposal to Close the Trimdon Grange Site of Bluebell
Meadow Primary School on 31 August 2020
[Key Decision: CYPS/06/2020]
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children
and Young People’s Services which sought approval to close the
Trimdon Grange site of Bluebell Meadow Primary School on 31 August
2020 and to operate solely from the Trimdon Village site from 1
September 2020 (for copy see file of minutes).
Cabinet noted that all pupils, with the exception of nursery pupils, had
been taught on the Trimdon Village site of Bluebell Meadow primary
school since January 2020 and the arrangement was working well.
The Chair thanked all those who had participated in the consultation.
Resolved:
That the recommendation in the report be approved.
Councillor L Hovvels re-joined the meeting.

5.

St Bede’s RC Comprehensive Peterlee
[Key Decision: CYPS/08/2020]
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of
Children and Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of
Resources which provided an overview of educational aims and plans
for academisation and catholic education in the Diocese of Hexham and
Newcastle, alongside the priority schools in their conversion strategy.
The report reviewed the financial impact of the academy conversion of
the last maintained Roman Catholic secondary school, St Bede’s
Roman Catholic Comprehensive in Peterlee and its conversion to join
the Bishop Chadwick Catholic Education Trust, and, considered the
accumulated financial deficit of the school, at the point of conversion
(for copy see file of minutes).
Cabinet noted the leadership support provided by the Academy Trust
had had a positive impact, with the achievement of a good overall
Ofsted inspection in 2017. The school had continued to prosper and
pupil numbers were on the upward trajectory. The school was moving
to a more sustainable footing and the proposed deficit write-off would
enable the school to convert and continue to improve.

Page 4

Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

6.

Overview and Scrutiny Review of Elective Home Education in
County Durham
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which presented the Children and Young People’s Overview and
Scrutiny Committee’s review report focusing on elective home
education in County Durham (for copy see file of minutes).
The Chair welcomed Councillor H Smith, Chair of the Children and
Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee who presented the
report and recommendations. Councillor Smith thanked the review
group members and representatives from the council, partner agencies,
parents, carers and their children for their valuable contribution to the
review.
Councillor Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and Young
People, on behalf of the Cabinet, thanked Councillor Smith and
members of the review group for their work. Cabinet noted the review
was timely in the current climate, with large numbers of children being
educated at home. Councillor Gunn added that Cabinet will continue to
lobby government to ensure the suitability of home education and the
safeguarding of children and young people.
The Cabinet welcomed the recommendations for a common framework
for oversight of the quality of education and safeguarding of those
electively home educated; to continue to ensure a good level of
understanding in relation to special educational needs and disabilities in
all school settings, and, to develop a good practice reporting tool,
including concerns around bullying.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

7.

High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of
Children and Young People’s Services and Corporate Director of
Resources which provided an update on spend and pressures on the
High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which
supports Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and
inclusion support services for children and young people.
Page 5

The report provided an update on key work areas and planned next
steps alongside support to learning providers and families and recovery
planning as a result of the coronavirus outbreak (for copy see file of
minutes).
Cabinet welcomed the additional funding from government into the High
Needs Block for 2020-2021 although challenges remain in the
resources available for work to support children with special educational
needs disabilities and those requiring alternative education
arrangements. The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s
Services, Councillor O Gunn, stated she would, with the support of the
schools forum, request the Secretary of State to consider support for
SEND services as a matter of urgency, to enable the growing needs of
children and young people to be met.
Cabinet welcomed the progress outlined in the report and the plan to
seek to reduce the deficit built up to date, which should be kept under
regular review, particularly in light of the coronavirus outbreak and its
impact on the most vulnerable children.
Councillor Napier, Deputy Leader, urged the government to consider a
sustainable funding settlement as part of the upcoming spending round
for local government.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

8.

Inspection of SEND services
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children
and Young People’s Services which informed Cabinet of progress
across County Durham with SEND services, highlighted in the Ofsted
and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND re-visit in January 2020
and the publication of their letter in March 2020. The report also notified
Cabinet of key current issues and proposed next steps following
publication of the SEND re-visit outcome letter (for copy see file of
minutes).
Cabinet noted the inspection undertaken in December 2017 highlighted
four key areas for further improvement. It was acknowledged that since
the initial inspection, a lot of work had been done and Cabinet thanked
all those involved in the work. The Cabinet also noted the significant
progress made with SEND services which Cabinet will further support,
working closely with CCGs.

Page 6

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

9.

Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County
Council 2020

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of
Regeneration, Economy and Growth which provided an update on the
transport activity carried out by the Council under delegation originally
from the North East Combined Authority (NECA) which has continued
under the North East Joint Transport Committee (for copy see file of
minutes).
Cabinet noted the high level of customer satisfaction which at 92% was
one of the highest levels nationally, and, acknowledged all of the good
work throughout the county.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

10.

2019/20 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection
Fund
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided information on the:
(a)

final revenue and capital outturn for the General Fund for 2019/20;

(b)

final outturn for the Council’s Council Tax and Business Rates
Collection Fund for 2019/20;

(c)

use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and general
reserves in year and the closing position regarding balances held
at 31 March 2020.
(for copy see file of minutes).

Councillor J Shuttleworth asked why there had been a necessity to draw
down £0.612m from the winter maintenance reserve, to offset an in-year
overspend, during one of the mildest winters for some years. Councillor
Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Local Services,
explained the provision of winter maintenance was a statutory
obligation. The cost of the service was driven by the weather and
delivered in accordance with the winter maintenance policy.

Page 7

Although the perception of the winter season was that it was mild,
winter maintenance activity actually increased by approximately 25%
over that of the previous winter - 2018/19 - operating under the same
policy. The revenue budget for winter maintenance was supported by
earmarked reserves to balance out pressures across winter seasons of
varying activity.
Councillor Napier, Deputy Leader, commented that the revenue outturn
position for 2019-20 was showing a small overspend demonstrating that
maintaining spending within budget was becoming increasingly more
difficult, with pressure from ten years of austerity. Cabinet noted the
capital programme had been well managed and the position for
business rates and council tax was positive during 2019-20. This will be
monitored closely during the current financial year, with the impact of
Covid-19. Cabinet thanked all those staff who had worked hard to
ensure a positive financial position. The Deputy Leader urged all
members of the Council to join him in seeking a fair funding settlement,
based on need.
The Chair extended his thanks to finance staff for the preparation of the
annual accounts and to all staff across the council for their efforts to
meet targets in increasingly challenging circumstances. He added it is
likely that the 2020 budget will be even more challenging and this will be
monitored closely in the months ahead.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

11.

The Impact of Covid-19 on Local Bus Services in County
Durham
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of
Regeneration, Economy and Growth on the impact of the coronavirus
pandemic on local bus operators and the involvement of the County
Council in maintaining an essential network across County Durham (for
copy see file of minutes).
The Cabinet thanked all bus operators for continuing their operation
throughout the lockdown, keeping key workers connected, including
Go North East, Arriva and all the smaller operators. Close work had
been undertaken with the North East Bus Partnership and Joint
Transport Committee to lobby government and lobbying will continue,
for more sustained funding, to ensure support going forward.

Page 8

Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

12.

Exclusion of the Public
Resolved:
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business
on the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act.

13.

Residual Waste Treatment; Energy Recovery Facility project
update
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change and the Corporate Director of
Resources which updated on progress to participate in a joint
procurement for a residual waste treatment solution (for copy see file of
minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Cabinet

Agenda Item 4

16 September 2020
Council Plan 2020-2023
Key Decision CORP/R/19/04
Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide a draft of the Council Plan for 2020-23 attached for
consideration and comment before being submitted for approval by
Council.

Executive summary
2

The Council Plan is the primary corporate planning document for the
county council and details Durham County Council’s contribution
towards achieving the objectives set out in the Vision for County
Durham 2035 together with its own change agenda. It aims to provide a
readable and accessible summary for Members, partners and the public
of our priorities for the county and the main programmes of work that we
will undertake over the coming three years to help achieve these
priorities.

3

The Council Plan aligns to both the council’s Medium Term Financial
Plan which sets out how our priorities will be resourced and the County
Durham Plan which is a spatial representation of our ambitions
contained within the Council Plan around housing, jobs and the
environment until 2035, as well as the transport, schools and healthcare
to support it.

4

The Council Plan is underpinned by a series of corporate strategies
and service planning arrangements providing more detailed information
on the actions which are being undertaken to deliver on our priorities
and to avoid duplication, the detail within these plans has not been
replicated within the Council Plan.

5

In terms of practicality, some of the programmes of work being
undertaken by the council contribute to more than one objective. In
these situations, the action is listed under one objective in terms of best

Page 11

fit rather than replicate the same action multiple times throughout the
Council Plan.
6

The report also presents for agreement our new equality objectives.

Recommendation(s)
7

Page 12

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

agree the content of the draft Council Plan and recommend it for
approval by Council, subject to any final minor amends by the
Corporate Director of Resources;

(b)

Agree the attached revised Equality Policy.

Background
9

The Vision for County Durham was written together with partner
organisations and the public and sets out what we would like the county
to look like in 15 years’ time. It was approved by Council and launched
by the County Durham Partnership in October last year.

10

Both the Vision for County Durham and the Council Plan are structured
around three ambitions which are:
(a)

More and better jobs

(b)

People live long and independent lives

(c)

Communities are well connected and supportive of each other

11

An additional ambition of an excellent council has been developed for
the Council Plan to capture the corporate initiatives that the council has
identified and that it wants to undertake to transform its operations and
enable achievement of the ambitions within the vision.

12

The document is structured around these four ambitions and it sets out
under each ambition our achievements and issues to address together
with key programmes of work the council plans to undertake. The Plan
will be monitored through six monthly update reports of progress
against our work programme and quarterly performance updates
against key indicators to Cabinet and the relevant overview and scrutiny
committees.

13

How the council responds to the COVID-19 pandemic, delivers its
services in the future and helps to support businesses and communities
recover will dominate our work over the lifetime of this document. The
attached Council Plan therefore sets out our COVID-19 strategy.

14

We have also developed a three-phase COVID-19 Economic Recovery
Plan to help support businesses being released from lockdown, manage
the transition to stabilisation and then to rebuild and grow our places,
services and industries. We have developed a pipeline of projects which
will serve as a roadmap to recovery and deliver investment plans to
help rebuild our economy. We will also monitor changes in employment
throughout the county and develop and deliver employability support
programmes to help those who have lost their jobs back into
employment.

15

We aim to attract more high-quality jobs to the county so will need to
equip our young people with the necessary skills and reskill those in the
labour market to access the jobs of the future. Education and training
are therefore a critical component of our more and better jobs ambition.

Page 13

16

A large proportion of the county, particularly to the west of the A68 is
rural and has some of the sparsest population densities in the country. It
is important to people that rural communities remain sustainable whilst
maintaining those characteristics that make them distinctive. The
particular challenges of rural communities are referenced throughout
this Council Plan and rural proofing will be a major consideration in any
policies that we develop.

17

As a public authority, Durham County Council is also required by law to
set out equality objectives and review these on a triennial basis. Our
new equality objectives are also set out within the Council Plan and the
Plan also details how these are integrated into our ambitions. Our
equality policy has also been revised in line with our new equality
objectives and is attached in Appendix 3.

18

Webpages will be developed to provide an interactive version of the
Council Plan for users who wish to access our plans online.

Conclusion
19

A draft Council Plan has been developed (see Appendix 2) based on
the vision which has undergone an extensive public consultation
exercise. This is presented for consideration.

Background papers
 County Durham Vision (County Council, 23 October 2019)
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115064/Draft%20
Durham%20Vision%20v10.0.pdf
 Vision equality impact assessment (County Council, 23 October
2019)
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115066/Appendix
%203%20-%20Draft%20Vision%20-%20EIA.pdf

Author(s)
Tom Gorman

Page 14

Tel: 03000 268027

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Constitution of the Council sets out arrangements for monitoring
performance.

Finance
None

Consultation
The Council Plan is written around the County Vision which was developed
following an extensive three phase consultation where over 30,000 responses
were considered and which helped shape the final vision. Consultation on the
proposed equality objectives was also undertaken with representative groups.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The revised Equality Policy sets our proposed new equality objectives to
identify and tackle discrimination, inequalities and promote good relations.

Climate Change
Climate change features as part of the proposed Council Plan.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
Crime and disorder features as part of the proposed Council Plan.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
Risk features as part of the council’s performance reporting arrangements.

Procurement
None.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Durham County Council
Council Plan
2020 - 2023

Page 17

Executive Summary

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

County Durham is a dynamic place, used to overcoming challenges and reinventing
itself. Recently, the council and partners agreed a vision for County Durham for 2035
following extensive consultation with our residents. Over 30,000 responses helped
shape a vision that people recognise. This is to create more and better jobs, help
people live long and independent lives and support communities to be well
connected and supportive of each other. Our purpose holds to deliver on these
ambitions against a context of COVID-19. This plan sets out how we will achieve
this.
We want to create more and better jobs by supporting businesses emerging from
lockdown back to stability and help to rebuild our economy. We are developing a
pipeline of projects and investment plans; our roadmap to help stimulate economic
recovery. We will create major employment sites across the county, cementing our
position as a premier place in the region to do business. Employability support
programmes will be developed to help people back into employment or to start their
own business. As young people return to our schools and colleges, we will ensure
that they receive a good education and training to equip them with the skills they
need to access opportunities of today and the future. We will help our tourism and
hospitality sector to recover as a great visitor destination with a cultural offer which
will help stimulate the local economy.
We want our residents to live long and independent lives and remain in good
health for many years to come. Surveillance, early identification and outbreak
management are vital in controlling the virus, the most immediate threat to the health
of our residents. We want to tackle some of the mental health challenges that have
been exacerbated by the pandemic. There have been positive impacts on the
environment since lockdown began. The council is committed to becoming carbon
neutral by 2050 and making our county more conducive to physical exercise to
benefit the environment and our health. We have a strong track record of health and
social care integration in Durham. Want to build on the financial and practical support
we have provided to the care sector during the pandemic by ensuring we have a
high-quality care market that is sustainable in the future.

Durham County Council 1

Leader of the Council, Councillor
Simon Henig and Chief Executive,
Terry Collins

We want our communities to be well connected and supportive of each other.
As town and village centres reopen, we will help them to be vibrant and accessible
places that are well used, clean, attractive and safe. We will support the most
vulnerable in our communities, particularly those socially isolating, shielding or
adversely affected financially.
These ambitions will be supported by a well-run
council with a good grip on its performance and
finances and which makes best use of our workforce
and technology to provide the best possible service we
can for our residents.
Our ambitions are fully supported by a delivery plan at
the end of this document.

Page 18

A Vision for County Durham

More and better jobs
People live long and independent lives
Connected communities

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

In October 2019, public, private and voluntary sector bodies that make up the County
Durham Partnership jointly agreed a Vision for County Durham 2035. This vision was
based on a strategic assessment of need using our intelligence platform Durham
Insight and was developed following extensive consultation with the public.
Residents, businesses and specific interest groups such as children and young
people and people with a disability were asked what they would like to see in a new
vision for the county and their views were incorporated into our final vision The vision
document that was agreed sets out our strategic direction and what we would like to
achieve over the next 15 years and is written around three broad ambitions for the
people of County Durham:




These three themes were developed following extensive public consultation
with almost 30,000 pieces of consultation evidence having fed into the
development of the vision. As well as being of key importance to local
people’s long-term priorities, they remain key strategic ambitions in our
response to the COVID-19 crisis, where key impacts relate to employment,
health and wellbeing, and communities. This document sets out the contributions
that Durham County Council will make over the next three years to help achieve
those ambitions.
Durham County Council has already delivered £232 million of savings and lost just
under 3,000 posts since the introduction of the Government’s austerity programme in
2011 and these savings are forecast to exceed £263 million by 2022/23. Despite
this, we will continue to aspire to work with partners to achieve our shared Vision for
County Durham, which reflects the views of our residents and communities. The
unprecedented financial challenges that we face, and uncertain times ahead mean
that like many public sector bodies, we will have to consider delivering some
services differently if we are to continue providing them at all. Therefore, in addition
to the three ambitions set out in the Vision for County Durham, this plan contains a
fourth ambition capturing our own organisational transformation agenda and this
ambition is to be an excellent council.
This Council Plan aligns to both the council’s Medium Term Financial Plan which
sets out how our priorities will be resourced and the County Durham Plan which is
the spatial representation of our ambitions contained within the Council Plan around
housing, jobs and the environment as well as the transport, schools and healthcare
to support it.

Page 19

Durham County Council 2

Durham County Council Ambitions

People Live
Long and
Independent
Lives

More and
Better Jobs

Durham
County
Councl
Ambitions

Excellent
Council

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Connected
Communities

This document sets out the strategic framework for all of our plans and strategies. It
sets out the council’s contribution to achieving the vision for County Durham as well
as our own improvement agenda and the major programmes of work that Durham
County Council will be undertaking over the medium term to recover from COVID-19.

Planning Assumptions
A whole range of factors will directly influence the delivery of this plan. The major
issues are identified here.

Durham County Council 3

Clearly, the ongoing pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) will
dominate the planning and delivery of our services over the lifetime of this plan and
frame everything that we do to support our recovery in County Durham and achieve
our vision. Our ongoing response to the global COVID-19 outbreak, how we support
recovery of business and the economy and our communities and the restoration of
council services features strongly during the period covered by this plan. It affects
our local economy, the health and wellbeing of our residents, our communities and
the delivery of services by the council. The council is playing a key role in
coordinating the response to the pandemic through its public health function and as
a first responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. We want to ensure that the
most vulnerable in our communities such as older people and those with pre-existing
conditions receive support and are best protected. We also want to ensure that we
continue to provide essential services in the event of a local outbreak and deliver a
range of programmes to help support business and individuals financially affected by
the crisis.

Page 20

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Durham is a large and diverse county with a very dispersed settlement pattern which
creates specific issues. A large proportion of the county, particularly to the west of
the A68 is rural and has some of the sparsest population densities in the country. It
is important to people that rural communities remain sustainable whilst maintaining
those characteristics that make them distinctive. The particular challenges of rural
communities are referenced throughout this Council Plan and a rural strategy and
rural proofing will be a major consideration in any policies that we develop.
Climate change is one of the most important issues facing humankind today. Whilst it
is a global issue, there is a lot that can be done locally to respond to this challenge.
Durham County Council declared a climate emergency in 2019. Our targets are to
reduce carbon emissions as an organisation by 80% (from a 2008/09 baseline) by
2030 and contribute towards and work with others to achieve a carbon neutral
county by 2050. These targets and the need to mitigate against the effects of climate
change through a commitment to a low carbon future and a challenging action plan
underpin the assumptions made in this document.
Everyone is justifiably proud of our beautiful countryside and coast. A large part of
the county is of significant landscape value including the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (also a designated UNESCO Global Geopark) and the
Durham Heritage Coast. Some parts of our county support unique combinations of
plant and animal species. Our natural environment contributes significantly to our
wellbeing and quality of life. Many feel that we need to commit to protecting this for
future generations. These views have been incorporated into our plans.
The pace of change is accelerating. New technologies such as artificial intelligence
and developing new insights from data have the potential to transform the global
economy and business models across many sectors, automating processes,
achieving efficiencies, enhancing service user experience and driving better decision
making. The county is well placed to develop new business opportunities in this
area. The council is also looking to provide more effective services using technology
whilst having regard to the ethical issues that they pose.
The UK’s exit from the European Union (EU) will affect the whole country over the
lifetime of this plan. County Durham benefits significantly from EU funding which is
used to develop infrastructure and services, support economic and social cohesion,
businesses, agriculture and the environment. The Government has announced a UK
Shared Prosperity Fund will replace farming subsidies and EU structural funding
after Brexit. However, neither the terms of our future trading relationship with the EU
or details of how the Shared Prosperity Fund will operate are known. This plan does
not reflect any potential effects from the changing relationship with the EU or new
government funding through the Shared Prosperity Fund. Our plans may need to be
revised in the event of any changes having a significant impact on our future work
programmes.
There are a number of uncertainties around local government finance with a
Comprehensive Spending Review which will set the quantum of funding available to
local government and the Fair Funding Review which will affect the distribution of

Page 21

Durham County Council 4

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
grant funding between local authorities and business rates retention. Assumptions
around these uncertainties are built into our Medium-Term Financial Plan.

Equality Objectives

We will improve employment opportunities for disabled people

It was apparent during the consultation on the County’s Vision that residents have a
tremendous sense of belonging and are rightly proud of their communities and the
county. Whilst many visitors to the county have commented on the friendliness of its
people, there have been a small number of examples where people have been less
welcoming. More integrated communities where everyone can feel safe and
included, regardless of their background or characteristics was seen as important
and in the tradition of tolerance and acceptance of the North East people and this
thinking has helped shape our plans. Local authorities have a duty to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and
promote good working relations between people. Following further consultation on
our vision with a number of groups, the following equality objectives have been
developed to help us achieve our vision and comply with our duties.


We will build inclusive communities

As a Disability Confident Leader, we will improve recruitment and retention rates of
disabled people within the council and work with businesses locally to improve
disability employment rates countywide and through our approach to procurement.


We will build an inclusive and welcoming employee culture

To connect our communities and improve levels of tolerance and integration for our
diverse communities we will support better partnership working on equality. This
work will support a series of events that foster good relations between groups.


Through our transformation programme we will develop our culture to be welcoming
and accepting of all, improving our staff engagement and support through the
development of staff networks and improving how we collect, monitor, analyse and
utilise staff diversity data.

Monitoring

Durham County Council 5

We will continue to monitor council performance against a comprehensive set of
performance indicators to Cabinet and scrutiny committees on a quarterly basis.
Key performance indicators are included within this plan for illustrative purposes.
Progress against key programmes of work included in this plan will be reported every
six months. The plan will be subject to an annual review process.

Page 22

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Council Plan Ambitions and Objectives
COVID-19: Response, Restoration/Reset, Recovery

More and
Better Jobs

 Delivery of a range of employment
sites across the county
 A strong, competitive economy
where County Durham is a
premier place in the North East to
do business
 A broader experience for residents
and visitors to the county
 Young people will have access to
good quality education, training
and employment
 Helping all people into rewarding
work
 Fewer people will be affected by
poverty and deprivation within the
county

People Live
Long and
Independent
Lives

 Children and young people will
enjoy the best start in life, good
health and emotional wellbeing
 Children and young people with
special educational needs and
disabilities will achieve the best
possible outcomes
 A physical environment that will
contribute to good health
 Promotion of positive behaviours
 Better integration of health and
social care services

Page 23

 People will be supported to live
independently for as long as
possible by delivering more
homes to meet the needs of older
and disabled people

Connected
Communities

Excellent
Council

 All children and young people will
have a safe childhood

 Our resources will be managed
effectively

 Standards will be maintained or
improved across County Durham’s
housing stock

 We will create a workforce for the
future

 Our towns and villages will be
vibrant, well used, clean, attractive
and safe
 People will have good access to
workplaces, services, retail and
leisure opportunities

 We will design our services with
service users
 We will use data and technology
more effectively
 We will actively performance
manage our services

 Communities will come together
and support each other
 Delivery of new high-quality
housing which is accessible and
meets the needs of our residents

Durham County Council 6

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 24

Context : COVID-19 – Response, Restoration/Reset, Recovery
The council’s approach to the COVID-19 pandemic is threefold around response, restoration and recovery. As lockdown was
announced then a rapid response was required to support businesses and communities through the immediate crisis and to
communicate public health messages to the people of County Durham.
The principles by which we will manage our response, restoration and recovery approach will be:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Close surveillance and management of the COVID-19 pandemic in County Durham;
Being responsive to where we are in our journey to recovery;
Taking a dynamic response to control the virus and to support businesses and communities;
Working in partnership with other statutory agencies on our Local Resilience Forum to coordinate our efforts.

As lockdown measures are relaxed then it is anticipated that there will be an increase in cases of COVID-9. There is no vaccine for
the SARS-CoV-2 virus or cure for COVID-19. Together with partners, we have developed a COVID-19 Outbreak Control Plan which
sets out how a local outbreak of the virus will be identified and managed jointly by the council and Public Health England’s North
East Health Protection Team.
As the country takes a phased approach to the lifting of lockdown regulations, the council will follow government guidelines and
restore council services that were previously restricted or suspended whilst at the same time reset some services to new ways of
working adopted through the pandemic where possible and appropriate. Service restoration and the reopening of buildings will
follow specific government guidance, a thorough assessment of risk and the introduction of necessary control measures to help
protect the public and our employees. Innovative approaches to service provision that have either been developed in response to or
enhanced because of the pandemic such as online services will be considered to see how they can transform our offer and culture
of working in the future and reduce our environmental impact.
The pandemic will impact on businesses. We will need to closely monitor the economy and coordinate local, regional and national
interventions to best support the business sector. Understanding the impact of the pandemic on our rural, urban and more deprived
areas will be a core part of the council’s recovery work and will inform the council’s poverty action strategy and how related council
services respond. We will reshape our services to vulnerable groups such as older people and those suffering from poor mental
health and those that are feeling lonely and isolated.

Durham County Council 7

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

COVID-19 Strategy: Response, Restoration/Reset and Recovery
Response

Restoration/Reset

Immediate council response
to the pandemic and
introduction of lockdown
(see Page 10)

Restoration of council services as government guidelines allows following introduction
of control measures to protect the public and employees whilst at the same time to reset
to new ways of working adopted through COVID-19 where possible and appropriate
Recovery
Supporting recovery of businesses and communities affected by the pandemic
Step 1

Step 2

Step 3
R less than 1

Caseload increasing

Time

Caseload decreasing

Page 25

Lockdown 23 March 2020

COVID-19
cases

R more than 1

Exercise more than
once a day
Outdoor public
places open

Phased return for
primary schools

Places of
worship

Non-essential retail

Hospitality

Response
Through our outbreak control plan, we will identify and manage any suspected local
outbreaks to protect the health of our communities
Durham County Council 8

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 26

COVID-19: Council Response So Far

Provided over 10,000
households with an
additional £2.5 million
through our Council Tax
Hardship Fund

Allocated an extra
£100,000 to each of our 14
Area Action Partnerships
to help community and
voluntary groups adversely
affected by the pandemic

Suspended debt recovery
for individuals in arrears
and offered three-month
rent referrals to business
tenants

Invested an extra £1
million in our Welfare
Assistance Scheme
providing short-term
support to people in crisis

Through smart use of
ICT, enabled remote
working for 5,000 staff.
Redeployed over 500
staff into priority service
areas

Continue to be one of the
few authorities in the
country that offer up to
100 per cent discount
on council tax bills

Supported over 8,600
businesses with total
COVID-19 related
grant payments of
around £97 million

Applied business rates
reductions to over 2,300
business totalling nearly
£50 million

Over £15 million
additional funding
given to adult social
care providers and
over 440,000 individual
items of PPE gone to
care homes

Developed a virtual hub,
County Durham
Together, helping over
3,700 vulnerable
residents with access to
essential services

Allocated over 1,400
laptops to
disadvantaged children
in year 10

Continued to provide a
range of services
remotely such as
employability sessions
and our Library Online
service
Durham County Council 9

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

COVID-19 Plan: Response, Restoration/Reset, Recovery
Our COVID-19 plan sets out how the council’s future plan to manage restoration of council services and recovery of daily life in the county whilst helping us
achieve our long-term vision set against national recovery strategy, government guidelines our public health duty protect our residents.

Response

Restoration/Reset

Recovery

Response to the COVID-19 pandemic and
outbreak control

Restart services and reset to new ways of
working adopted through COVID-19 where
possible and appropriate

Recovery of business and communities in
County Durham

Coordinate the public health response to the
COVID-19 pandemic

Review the approach to care home commissioning,
taking into account changes as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic to ensure a sustainable and
high-quality care market

Assess the economic implications of the
pandemic and assist businesses to restart
and grow the economy in County Durham

Development of the County Durham Together
community hub to promote and enable easier
access to preventative services available in local
communities

Provide employability support schemes and
a programme to help alleviate financial
hardship suffered by residents

Protect the health of local residents from
COVID-19 and reduce any onwards
transmission from the disease

Assess risks, protect and support public and
employees
Restoration of council services that have been
interrupted by the pandemic

Support mental health and wellbeing of
residents
Provide additional support to community
groups adversely affected
Deliver a programme to support individuals,
households and communities

Develop data and intelligence sharing and reporting arrangements to focus effort on restoration, recovery and response

County Vision:
Page 27

Key Enabler:

More and Better Jobs=

Long and Independent Lives =

Connected Communities =

An Excellent Council =
Durham County Council 10

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 28

Ambition: More and Better Jobs
We will continue our economic renaissance and ensure that people can enjoy a thriving economy with
more and better jobs, and reduced levels of poverty and deprivation. We will build on our existing
portfolio of businesses and will support the use of low carbon technologies and renewable energy.
Our county has some of the most beautiful countryside and coastal landscapes in Britain, a fascinating
history, a wealth of attractions and a regular events programme. We have made great strides to
improve our tourist economy. Our aim is to have Durham widely recognised as a leading centre for
culture and the arts, with a range of experiences that match and exceed the best offered in the
country.
Several of our villages were developed around collieries and homes which were built to house the
population boom at the peak of coal production. Some of these communities have suffered a decline
following the demise of these industries. We want to work with communities to address the underlying
causes of deprivation and poverty.
Achievements









The employment rate in County Durham has steadily
improved since a mid-recession low point in 2015 when it
stood at 66.6% and is now 74.1%, just 1.6 percentage
points behind the national average.
Outstanding success in attracting County-wide private
and public investment in enterprise and tourism.
£25 million invested on the Jade Enterprise Zone
£178 million invested on Integra 61 warehousing facility at
Bowburn, including facilitating internet giant, Amazon.
£271 million has been invested in one of Europe’s leading
technology parks at NETPark, Sedgefield
£13 million has been invested at Forrest Park in Aycliffe
preparing for further investment of over £140 million
£200 million in Bishop Auckland on Kynren, the Auckland
Project at the castle and Auckland Tower










£90 million spent in Barnard Castle by Glaxo Smith Kline
on a new manufacturing facility
Almost £1.5 billion in Durham City, £750 million by the
University and over £240 million on the Riverside and
other projects
Plans to create up to 6,000 jobs on the Aykley Heads
strategic employment site
£100 million invested through Project Genesis in Consett
£17 million spent at Beamish Museum on the 1950s town,
upland farm and Georgian coaching inn
Lumiere in Durham, the biggest light festival in Europe,
celebrated its 10th anniversary with 37 separate artworks
attracting thousands of visitors and boosting the local
economy in Durham City.
Successful food festivals held at Bishop Auckland and
Seaham
Durham County Council 11

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Ambition: More and Better Jobs
Issues to address













The lockdown will adversely affect both local
businesses and residents financially.
Increased uncertainty and lower confidence make the
size and duration of an economic downturn
unpredictable.
Businesses and individuals have relied on support
arrangements put in place to limit financial impact are
only for the short-term and will be phased out.
The ability of businesses to respond quickly to changes
in demand may be limited in the short-term.
Around 55,800 employments in County Durham have
been furloughed and 13,800 of self-employed people
have made claims under the Self-Employed Income
Support Scheme.
A weaker global economy will reduce export demand
and disrupt international supply chains.
Income levels are low in County Durham. The county is
the 42nd most income deprived out of 151 local
authorities nationally. Gross disposable household
incomes in Durham are 61% of the national average.
The gap between the employment rate for people with
a disability compared with those who are not disabled
stands at 38 percentage points which is one of the
highest differences in the country.














Page 29

GCSE results as measured through the average
attainment 8 score for the county are below the
regional and national average.
Only 64% of secondary schools in County Durham are
rated as good or outstanding.
1 in 5 of our school children are on free school meals
which is an indicator of the level of child poverty within
the county.
6% of 16-17-year olds within County Durham are not in
education, employment or training which is above the
regional and national average.
According to the latest figures, an estimated 11.8% of
households are in fuel poverty. This is defined as
where the householder, after paying fuel costs, would
be left with a disposable income which is below the
poverty line.
Day visitors to our county spend an average of £22.52
in the local economy per day whilst overnight visitors
will spend an average of £184.13 per trip. Only 8% of
visitors will stop overnight within the county.
Uncertainties around the United Kingdom’s exit from
the European Union, whether the government will
secure a favourable trade agreement with the EU and
whether the UK ends up leaving on a no deal Brexit is
impacting on the national and local economy.
Durham County Council 12

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 30

Ambition: More and Better Jobs
Approach
The national restrictions introduced as part of the COVID -19
pandemic has led to temporary business closures and
employees being furloughed. Priorities for the council are to
protect businesses and jobs and to alleviate financial hardship
suffered by our residents. The council has introduced a range
of measures to support local businesses in the current crisis.
The council has also worked hard to ease the pressure on
residents suffering financial hardship.
We have developed a COVID-19 Economic Recovery Plan to
help support businesses being released from lockdown,
manage the transition to stabilisation and to rebuild and grow
our places, services and industries. We have developed a
pipeline of projects which will serve as a roadmap to recovery
and deliver investment plans to help rebuild our economy.
We recognise that there will be job losses and that these are
anticipated to affect older people and the lower paid, which
disproportionately impacts on women and young people. We
will monitor changes in employment throughout the county
and develop and deliver employability support programmes to
help those who have lost their jobs back into employment.
Increasing employment in the county has a significant
multiplier effect in terms of its contribution to a range of other
quality of life issues such as improving mental and physical
health and reducing crime. Our ambition is to create more
jobs for our residents. Wages levels in the county lag behind

the national average and the gap is widening. We need to
address this by attracting high quality jobs to the area. We
want to create the ideal environment for businesses to thrive
in the county through ensuring that our workforce and our
young people entering the jobs market are equipped with the
necessary skills to access the jobs of today and the future.
The pipeline of investment projects in the county has never
been so high and we want to build on this by further
developing our strategic employment sites and supporting key
employment sectors. We will continue to deliver a range of
programmes to help people into rewarding work who are
finding it difficult to access the jobs market including reskilling
our labour force. Our plans will support rural growth whilst
preserving the quality of what makes these areas distinctive.
Our county has a rich historic and cultural heritage, some
enviable world class attractions and beautiful countryside. We
want to continue to develop the visitor economy for County
Durham. The historic collapse of heavy industry and the
impact that this has had on residents and communities is
apparent when we look at some of our communities which
have some of the worst indicators of deprivation in the
country. We want to address the gaps in inequality across our
county and make sure that no one is left behind and that the
benefits of a resurgent economy can be enjoyed by all
residents. Further detail of the programmes we plan to
implement to ensure that we create more and better jobs are
provided in our delivery plan.
Durham County Council 13

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Ambition: Long and Independent Lives
Good health is central to people’s happiness and has a significant impact on demand for services. Health is
determined by several factors including the community we live in, access to a good natural and built
environment and high-quality education and jobs and our network of friends and family. Both life expectancy
and the number of years a person remains in good health are lower in Durham than in other parts of the
country. The proportion of people with long-term limiting conditions is also higher than national levels. An ageing
society will create different demands for products and services including new care technologies and housing
models. Central to our plans is provide a more joined up service for health and social care. We also want to do
everything we can with partner organisations to improve the mental health and wellbeing of our residents and
prevent mental illness and suicide. We want all people to people lead independent and fulfilling lives and
continue to contribute to society.
Achievements









Life expectancy has increased by three years for men and
two years for women since 2001-02.
32,000 fewer people smoke now than in 2012.
Teenage pregnancies have halved since 2012.
Effective discharge planning and joint working between
health and social care services means that County
Durham is one of the best performing areas in the country
at delayed transfers of care from hospital.
We have excellent levels of satisfaction from clients in
receipt of adult social care services compared to national
figures.
We have turned around the lives of over 4,000 families
through our Stronger Families Programme.








100% of our maintained nursery education providers are
rated as good or outstanding by Ofsted.
The tonnage of carbon emissions from council operations
has been reduced by 47% since 2008-09.
The Council has actively worked to eliminate single use
plastics from all its operations encouraging over 200
organisations to sign up to our plastics pledge and work
to eradicate unnecessary plastics from their business.
Less than 5% of the household waste that we collect now
goes to landfill compared to over 60% in 2008.
To facilitate greater investment, over 18,000 council
houses were transferred to the social housing sector in
2015, one of the largest housing transfers in the country.

Page 31

Durham County Council 14

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 32

Ambition: Long and Independent Lives
Issues to address















The COVID-19 pandemic has led to challenges
regarding sustainability within the care home sector.
The risk of a second wave of the virus or a local
outbreak which will have major health impacts on
vulnerable people and possibly result in the
introduction of further restrictions.
The virus has led to changes in demand for social care
services.
COVID-19 affects more severely those in poor health,
those living with excess weight, those who are older,
those less economically advantaged and those from
black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.
Some environmental improvements in carbon
emissions in air quality have occurred during lockdown.
Life expectancy at birth is 1.3 years lower for males
and 1.5 years for females in County Durham compared
with the average for England.
Healthy life expectancy, the number of years a person
lives in good health, is around five years lower than
national figures and there is a 10-year difference in
healthy life expectancy between the most and least
deprived communities in County Durham.
A quarter of the population in the county will be aged
65+ by 2039.
One in four children are overweight in reception year
rising to over one in three at Year 6 and to two in three
in adulthood. These figures are above national levels.












Levels of women who are still smoking in pregnancy in
County Durham is significantly higher than the national
average. The rate in Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield area is one of the highest in the country.
Breastfeeding prevalence rates amongst new mothers
remain nearly 20 percentage points behind national
figures.
Increased responsibilities, changing needs and
reducing government funding are placing greater
pressure on our ability to support children and young
people with special educational needs and disabilities.
The Council has declared a climate emergency and
has set ambitious targets to further reduce its carbon
emissions to 80% by 2030 from 2008-09 baseline and
become carbon neutral by 2050.
Mental health is a priority. Indicators for hospital
admissions for self-harm, suicide rates and patients
registered with depression are high.
We need to diversify the range of older persons’
housing provision to meet growing demand from an
ageing population and free up larger family
accommodation.

Durham County Council 15

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Ambition: Long and Independent Lives
Approach
A critical issue for the lifetime of this plan is to mitigate the consequences of the COVID -19 outbreak and how it affects our
communities and residents. We want to develop our County Durham Together community hub to promote and enable easier
access to preventative services available in local communities The COVID-19 pandemic has led to challenges regarding
sustainability within the care home sector. We also need to review the approach to care home commissioning, taking into account
changes as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the aim of ensuring a sustainable and high-quality care market
The county has a legacy of heavy industry and suffers from poor health across a range of measures. We intend to tackle this
inequality through a number of programmes across the life course. We aim to support mothers to address tobacco dependency in
pregnancy and increase breastfeeding initiation for newborn babies. We will implement a range of measures to tackle oral health
inequality in children across the county and improve health protection by increasing take-up of vaccinations in children. We have a
range of measures to support children with special educational needs and disabilities to achieve the best possible outcomes.
It is important that our environment is conducive to good physical health. Poor air quality is a major contributor towards early deaths
globally. Levels of pollutants are low in the county but there are some hot spots where government standards are exceeded at
certain times and we have a plan to reduce these. Climate change caused by carbon emissions is a threat to health and wellbeing.
Through the council’s Climate Emergency, we plan to become carbon neutral as an organisation by 2050 with an interim target to
reduce our carbon emissions by 80% from a 2008-09 baseline by 2030. We recognise that we need to mitigate the effects of
climate change that we are already experiencing and have a series of planned flood mitigation works in place. We want to
encourage physical exercise in our residents and reduce unnecessary journeys by car. We will promote positive behaviours
through becoming a smoke free county and reducing dependency on, and deaths caused by drug and alcohol addiction. We want
to improve the mental health of young and old alike and tackle the stigma of mental health. We will provide a more integrated health
and social care model and both specialist housing and assistive technologies for older and disabled people to allow people to live
more independent lives into their old age. We will also review and transform leisure facilities in line with the needs of our residents.

Page 33

Further detail of the programmes we plan to implement to ensure that people live long and independent lives are provided in our
delivery plan.
Durham County Council 16

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 34

Ambition: Connected Communities
Our residents are rightly proud of their county. We want to have caring and welcoming communities
where everyone is valued, we can help and support each other. We want a county that gives everyone
the opportunity to realise their potential.
People want a range and choice of housing which is accessible, well designed and meets their future
needs. Our high streets and town centres retain an important place in our society, but they need to
adapt to ensure that they remain vibrant, safe and attractive social hubs that people want to use.
People also expect local travel to be convenient, with good quality direct links between centres of
population, to employment locations such as business parks and leisure opportunities. Communities
therefore need to be connected by appropriate transport and technological infrastructures.
Achievements








Significant investment in increasing workforce capacity
both at a managerial and social worker level and effective
workforce planning has led to reduced caseloads, better
quality and timeliness in children’s social care.
Investment in new IT systems has transformed children’s
social care performance information available and
management oversight has improved compliance in most
areas of performance.
Since 2016, the council in collaboration with a range of
partner organisations has played its part in the UK’s
commitment to support some of the world’s most
vulnerable refugees and has been recognised nationally
as best practice for its resettlement programme.
A local lettings agency has been established to help
secure suitable housing for homeless people and people
who find it difficult to access the housing market.








Durham County Council is only one of two local
authorities in the country to achieve the maximum under
the Department for Transport’s incentive fund in
recognition of its efficiency rating and has managed to
prioritise and increase investment in its highways.
The council invests £3.7 million per year on town centre
regeneration, purchasing derelict buildings and land and
environmental improvements.
Over the last 10 years our Area Action Partnerships have
completed over 6,000 community projects, benefiting over
30,000 people and helping to secure over £100 million
funding.
Over 30,000 people have taken part in volunteering
across all sectors in County Durham over the last two
years.

Durham County Council 17

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Issues to address








One of the biggest impacts on our communities is the
COVID-19 pandemic and the range of restrictions that
have been introduced by the Government to control the
spread of the virus and minimise its impact on health
and social care services.
There has been an increased demand for services
provided by voluntary and community sector
organisations just as the sector loses a significant
proportion of its revenue.
County Durham follows the national trend in seeing
large increases in demand for children’s social care,
whilst at the same time, suffering budget cuts in this
area.
Children’s social care services in Durham County
Council have been judged as requires improvement by
Ofsted although they have recognised that the local
authority has taken swift and decisive action to
strengthen services. Pace has increased and solid
improvements can be seen in many service areas
including at the front door and for children in care. They
have acknowledged that firm foundations are in place
to sustain and build on the improvements made.











Low house prices have resulted in a high proportion of
privately rented accommodation in the county and a
need for greater regulation to ensure more consistent
standards.
The national issue of high street decline with the
growth of online shopping and major retailers closing
stores has affected our town centres.
Internet sales as a percentage of total retail sales has
risen nationally from 2.5% in December 2006 to 21.3%
in December 2019. This poses increasing competition
to high street shops leading to major changes in our
high streets and town centres, the most visible effects
are store closures, empty shops and few shoppers.
The highly dispersed settlement pattern in County
Durham with over 300 recognised settlements, 21 of
which have a population of 5,000 or more presents a
challenge for the provision of transport and public
services, particularly in rural areas.
The county has good north-south transport links with
the A1(M) and East Coast Mainline but east-west links
are seen as an opportunity for development.

Page 35

Durham County Council 18

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 36

Ambition: Connected Communities
Approach
We want people in our communities to feel connected to, and
supportive of each other. We want to build on the indomitable
spirit of our people and ensure that the most vulnerable in our
communities are supported. Whether this is be children in
need of support, victims of crime, people with a disability or
different communities of identity.
The council has teamed up with charities, local groups and
volunteers to help with a range of requests for help through
County Durham Together, a virtual hub to help those most at
risk from coronavirus and has provided an additional £1.4
million funding to Area Action Partnerships to help residents
and businesses adversely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic
We are developing plans to further integrate health, social and
welfare support in a preventative way to help our local
communities. This means looking more closely at individuals’
and community needs to see where we can improve people’s
wellbeing and reduce inequalities in our county.
We are undertaking a programme to improve social care
services provided to children and young people and a range
of initiatives to tackle antisocial behaviour in our communities
in partnership with the police and others.
Some communities have been blighted by poor housing
management practice so we have plans to raise housing

standards in the private rented housing sector and help
improve these communities. We want to provide a range of
new housing to meet the needs and aspirations of our
residents. The design of new development in rural areas will
be sympathetic to the environment and reflect local
distinctiveness. We aim to deliver more affordable housing.
We expect all homes to be connected digitally and for speed
and capacity to keep pace with the latest developments. This
is the aim of our Digital Durham programme. These issues are
particularly acute in our rural areas.
High streets have seen some decline nationally and County
Durham is no exception to this. We have developed a
programme to regenerate our towns and villages and improve
their use, making them a more attractive proposition to visit
and spend time in. This includes a range of approaches
varying from introduction of free WiFi, changing the mix of
retail, leisure and residential use, making our centres more
attractive and tackling community safety concerns. Residents
and visitors need to be able to travel around our county and
get to and from our towns and villages. We have therefore
developed a pipeline of infrastructure projects and transport
plans to improve accessibility
Further detail of the programmes we plan to implement to
ensure that our communities are connected and
supportive of each other are provided in our delivery plan.
Durham County Council 19

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Ambition: An Excellent Council
The government’s programme of austerity has led to unprecedented reductions in public spending.
Technology has also been developing at pace and residents have come to expect that our services
will be provided digitally and on a 24/7 basis This required us to rethink the way in which many of our
services are delivered. There is a history of good partnership working in County Durham. In a time
when resources are scarce, it is even more important that organisations work more collaboratively and
that our efforts are focused on the right things. Working more seamlessly across organisational
boundaries and delivering services differently that are designed with residents is at the heart of our
ambitions. We need to equip ourselves with the skills to be able to achieve this and develop a
workforce for the future. Delivering existing services in different ways and developing new services for
the benefit of our residents is both challenging and exciting and something that we need to excel at in
order to become recognised as an excellent council.
Achievements







Page 37

Durham County Council has delivered £232 million of
savings and lost just under 3,000 posts since the
introduction of the Government’s austerity programme in
2011.
Durham County Council leads on Digital Durham, a £35
million initiative to transform broadband speeds for
residents and business across the North East which has
already provided access to fibre broadband to over
105,000 properties.
Over 100 council services are available digitally and 40%
of residents access our services this way.
The council has had almost 450 apprenticeship starts
since 2017-18. We have 268 people employed in
apprenticeship posts and 233 existing staff are accessing
the apprenticeship levy to increase their skills.






The Council holds gold status in the Better Health at Work
Award, which recognises the efforts of employers
regionally in helping to address health issues of its
workforce. We also work with local companies and other
organisations to help them achieve the award.
The council has 200 trained mental health first aiders and
80 time to change (mental health) champions.
The Council has been awarded the Disability Confident
Leader status by the Department for Work and Pensions
in recognition of its commitment to be a good employer of
people with a disability and will support local businesses
to become Disability Confident.



Durham County Council 20

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 38

Ambition: An Excellent Council
Issues to address












Financial effects of the pandemic on the council in
terms of additional expenditure pressures and loss of
income are forecast to be around £67.5 million.
There have been several changes to the delivery of
frontline council services to comply with government
regulations and to prioritise essential services. This has
included the introduction or expansion of online service
delivery.
It is expected that the council will lose a further £10
million of funding as a result of the fair funding review
and that this will be transitioned over a five-year period
from 2022-23.
Anticipated changes to the public health grant are
forecast to result in a loss of £18 million (37%) of the
council’s public health funding.
Major redeployment of 1,800 staff working at Durham
County Hall to the new headquarters in Durham City
(1,000 staff) and other strategic sites throughout the
county (800 staff)
Superfast broadband and the national rollout of 5G
networks will enable greater digital connectivity for our
residents and offer opportunities for new digital
services.









Durham County Council has an ageing workforce with
41% of its staff at the end of 2018-19 being over the
age of 50 which has an impact on sickness absence
rates and requires effective workforce planning.
Society is experiencing a technological revolution
where progress is accelerating, and innovations can be
identified and rapidly deployed making it difficult to
keep pace and ensure that the skills of our staff are up
to date.
The Council should seek to maximise the value of
every pound it spends and seek to deliver social value
outcomes. Social, economic and environmental
outcomes should be delivered for the local community
by adopting a strategic approach during its
commissioning, procurement, development and
planning projects.
The council needs to recognise the data we hold is an
asset and manage it more efficiently to better
understand service users, generating benefits such as
predicting and managing demand, providing the
services that residents want and supporting better
decision making
.
Age Profile of Durham County Council workforce
Employee Age Profile
Q3 19/20
% of staff under 25
% of staff over 50

Q3 18/19

7.28%
6.85%
Durham County Council 21
41.64%
40.90%

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Ambition: An Excellent Council
Approach
The COVID-19 crisis has required the council to adapt working practices to continue to deliver services safely. Buildings such as
leisure centres, theatres and libraries have had to be closed. Our ICT infrastructure is allowing many of our employees to work
remotely. Many employees who cannot work in their substantive role have also been redeployed in priority areas. Several services
have now moved online. Our challenge is to restore council services as government guidelines allows following introduction of
control measures to protect the public and employees whilst at the same time to reset to new ways of working adopted through
COVID-19 where possible and appropriate. The pandemic has had a significant financial impact in terms of additional expenditure
incurred and loss of income. However, there have been some unintended benefits such as reductions in carbon emissions. The
council will look to build on this and use technology to reduce our impact on the environment.
The council has faced significant cuts to its funding through austerity over the last 10 years. Uncertainties with future local
government funding make financial planning extremely difficult. We still await both the government’s Comprehensive Spending
Review and Fair Funding Review which will determine our future funding. This means that we have been unable to plan for the
long-term with most of our financial planning being limited to only one year of certainty. Key actions for us will be to assess the
implications of these reviews when they are published and to amend our Medium-Term Financial Plan accordingly.
We want our workforce to be fit for any future challenges and so we need to ensure that our plans recognise and address any risks
such as skills shortages, ageing workforce, recruitment difficulties and changes in service user behaviour and demand. The health
and welfare of our workforce is important, and we have plans to support the physical and mental health and wellbeing of employees
and ensure that we have an inclusive employee culture. We are also committed to delivering a comprehensive development
programme to support our elected members.
People expect to be able to do business with the council on a 24/7 basis and to self-serve online. Our services should be codesigned with users and we plan to improve our engagement mechanisms. Managers need access to real-time data to support
good decision making. We want to develop our business intelligence capability and provide better analysis to help understand
performance and support better planning and service delivery. Some services are delivered in partnership with other agencies and
we have plans to further join up our delivery to offer a more seamless approach for the benefit of our residents.
Page 39

Further detail of the programmes we plan to implement to be an excellent council are provided in our delivery plan.
Durham County Council 22

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 40

Council Plan Key Performance Indicators
More and Better
Jobs

Employment rate
Jobs created
Business space created
Occupancy rates of strategic
employment sites
Productivity rates
Gross value added
Superfast broadband
coverage
Visitor economy numbers
Educational attainment rates
Inequality gap in educational
attainment
Secondary school Ofsted
ratings
Disability employment rate
Average income levels
Deprivation indices
Child poverty rate
Fuel poverty rate
Benefit processing times

People Live Long and
Independent Lives

Life and healthy life expectancy
Smoking at the time of delivery
Breastfeeding prevalence
Childhood obesity rates
Early years foundation stage
Early years and childcare
Ofsted ratings
Primary school Ofsted ratings
Key Stage 1 and 2 attainment
Education and healthcare
planning for SEND
Attainment rates for children
with SEND
Adult obesity rate
Mortality rates
Smoking prevalence
Drug and alcohol treatment
rates
Suicide rate
Self-reported life satisfaction
Older persons housing
80% reduction in carbon
emissions (from 2009 levels) by
2030 and carbon neutrality by
2050

Connected
Communities

Ofsted rating for children’s
services
Children’s social care
assessment times
Children’s social care
demand measures
Care leaver progression
Looked after children
attainment and health
assessments
Youth offending rates
Low housing demand
Town centre vacancy rates
Travel times
Overall crime rate and subanalysis
Anti-social behaviour
Hate crime rates
New housing completions
Affordable housing
completions

An Excellent
Council

Collection rates
MTFP targets achieved
Audit opinion
Employee absence rates
Employee satisfaction
Service response rates
Satisfaction levels
Complaints
Channel shift
Self-service rates
Transformation programme
progress reporting

Durham County Council 23

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: More and Better Jobs
Key programmes of work
Employment sites

Competitive economy

Visitor experience

 Preparation of the County Durham
Plan (2020)
 Developing key locations for
business including Aykley Heads,
Forrest Park, Jade Enterprise Zone,
NETPark Phase 3, Merchant Park,
Peterlee Industrial Estate, Low
Copelaw and Station Place (2023)
 Relocate council headquarters to
facilitate development of Aykley
Heads strategic employment site
(2021)
 Development and delivery of
pipeline of major transport
infrastructure projects to support
employment sites (2023)
 Develop key locations for business
attraction and growth (2023)
 Deliver sites within Business
Durham remit and enhance
Business Durham Property Portfolio
(2023)

 Support business to achieve growth
through the County Durham Growth
Fund, Finance Durham, Business
Durham key account management
programme and enterprise and start
up offers (2023)
 Develop an Economic Strategy for
County Durham that integrates with
national, regional, sub-regional and
local strategies. (2020)
 Support local businesses with
regulatory issues associated with the
exit of the UK from the European
Union. (2020)
 Develop online licensing products
and further services under the ‘Better
Business for All’ initiative to help
reduce the burden of regulation on
local businesses (2023)
 Assess and address the economic
implications of the pandemic and
provide assistance to business needs
to restart and grow the economy in
County Durham (2020-23)

 Review the County Durham
Tourism Management Plan (2021)
 Bring together the history and
heritage of the county into the
Durham History Centre. (2023)
 Review the programme of events
and festivals and prepare for lottery
submissions for 2022-2026.
 Support the delivery of a new visitor
offer across County Durham (2023)

Page 41

Durham County Council 24

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 42

Delivery Plan: More and Better Jobs
Key programmes of work
Education, training and
employment
 Implement an Inclusion Strategy
following development of a new
approach to inclusion and use of
alternative provision in County
Durham (2022)
 Ensure the effective delivery of
the DurhamWorks programme to
support 10,000 young people
(2021)
 Support more young people with
vulnerable characteristics into
employment, including young
people who are looked after, care
leavers, young people who have
SEND and young people
supervised by the Youth Justice
Service (2023)
 Support care leavers to achieve
good education and employment
opportunities, including work
experience and apprenticeships
(2023)

Helping people into work

Reducing deprivation and poverty

 Deliver employability programmes
that help people access and
sustain regular employment (2022)
 Focus on closing the gap in
employment opportunities for those
with a long-term health condition or
disability, through the development
of supported employment and the
rollout of a pilot with learning
disability day services to support
people into volunteering and
employment (2022)
 Support carers to gain and
maintain employment across work
sectors, through Job Centre Plus
and the Adult Learning and Skills
service (2023)
 Increase the number of businesses
in the county achieving the North
East Better Health at Work Award
(2022)

 Review the Poverty Action Plan
Steering Group and coordinate
delivery of the work programme
(2020)
 Deliver initiatives that support rough
sleepers, ex-offenders and other
vulnerable people into
accommodation (2021)
 Delivery of a range of initiatives to
alleviate fuel poverty (2021)
 Increase income levels for the most
vulnerable through greater
awareness of and access to benefit
eligibility (2022)
 Development of reducing parental
conflict multi-agency working group,
planning tool, training programme,
County Durham Local Family offer
and Reducing Parental Conflict Plan
on Page (2021)
 Provide a programme to help
alleviate financial hardship suffered
by residents (2021)

Durham County Council 25

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: More and Better Jobs
Key programmes of work

Education, training and
employment

Helping people into work

Reducing deprivation and poverty

 Continuously review school
organisation and the education
estate across the county and
develop options to help address
school provision in areas where
unsustainable financial issues are
being experienced (2020-23)

 Increase the number of
organisations involved in career
development related to mental
health (2022)
 Improve access to high quality and
impartial careers education,
information, advice and guidance in
schools and further education
settings to ensure young people are
clear about progression pathways,
including apprenticeship
opportunities (2022)
 Through commissioned services,
write into every contract that
providers will commit to improving
the health and wellbeing of their
workforce, either through ‘Thriving at
Work’ standards or by achieving the
Better Health at Work Award (2022)

Implementation of Earned
Autonomy Plan to help families
achieve significant and sustained
change as described in County
Durham Family Outcomes as per
Stronger Families programme
(2021)

Page 43

Durham County Council 26

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 44

Delivery Plan: People Live Long and Independent Lives
Key programmes of work
Best start in life

Special educational needs and
disabilities

 Improve health protection for
children and young people and
reduce inequality by increasing
immunisation levels (e.g. flu vaccine
uptake) (2023)
 Introduce a healthy schools
programme and health standards
into early years and schools (2023)
 Reduce unintentional injuries in the
0-19 population, through the County
Durham Prevention of Unintentional
Injuries Framework (2022)
 Consider a range of population
approaches to improve children’s
oral health (2023)
 Improve mental health support for
children and young people through
the implementation of the Mental
Health, Emotional Wellbeing and
Resilience Local Transformation
Plan (2023)
 Complete a Health Needs
Assessment of further education,
with a focus on 16 to 18-year olds
(2021)










Co-produce a revised SEND
Strategy for County Durham (2020)
Embed and maintain a joint
commissioning cycle that improves
access to integrated support in
Education Health and Care Plans
(2020)
Increase speech, language and
communication skills in the early
years to ensure that children are
ready to learn at two and ready for
school at five by improving access
to local speech enrichment services
across each locality, according to
identified need (2023)
Introduce a County Durham
approach to improving the ability of
young people with SEND to travel
independently to access education,
employment and training
opportunities. (2020)
Develop and deliver a post local
area SEND re-inspection plan
(2021)

Physical environment

 Implement the local Air Quality
Action Plan and improve air quality
within Durham City to meet the
standards set within the National Air
Quality Strategy (2021)
 We will review our local flood risk
management strategy and surface
water management plan and deliver
flood prevention schemes. (2021)
 We will implement our climate
change emergency action plan.
(2023)
 We will develop a countywide
strategy for woodland and trees.
(2022)
 Develop a countywide offer around
physical activity and good nutrition,
specifically targeting vulnerable
communities (2022)
 Increase the use of active travel to
encourage physical activity
(including cycling and walking) to
reduce traffic emissions related to
respiratory illness and carbon
emissions (2023)
Durham County Council 27

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: People Live Long and Independent Lives
Key programmes of work
Best start in life

Special educational needs and
disabilities

 Develop a sexual health strategy for Implement the High Needs Block
County Durham, to ensure equitable Sustainability Plan (2020-23)
access to services and focus on
good contraceptive health (2023)
 Support women to achieve a
smoke-free pregnancy through
whole system change and tackling
tobacco dependency in pregnancy
as an addiction, not a lifestyle
choice (2023)
 Increase the percentage of women
who initiate breastfeeding and
continue at 6-8 weeks, through the
County Durham ‘Call to Action’ to
change the culture of breastfeeding
in the county (2023)
 Ensure children and young people
residing in Aycliffe Secure Centre
have access to high quality
emotional and mental health
support, drug and alcohol services,
physical health care and specialist
health interventions (2020)

Physical environment

 Work with a range of partners to
increase physical activity by
promoting Active 30 in schools
(2022)
 Delivery of transport infrastructure
projects to encourage more
sustainable transport choices (2023)
 Deliver flood risk mitigation schemes
(2021)
 Re-procure our waste contracts
(2023)
 Coordinate the public health
response to the COVID-19
pandemic (2020)

Page 45

Durham County Council 28

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 46

Delivery Plan: People Live Long and Independent Lives
Key programmes of work
Positive behaviours

Mental health

Health and social care
integration

Homes for older and
disabled people

 To support the ambition to
reduce smoking in County
Durham to 5% by 2025,
ensure that the redesigned
Stop Smoking Service is
effectively reaching people
in our local communities
(2023)
 Encourage people to
reduce the amount of
alcohol they drink through
targeted campaigns for
council staff and our local
communities and by
promoting and supporting
Dry January and National
Alcohol Awareness Week
(2023)
 Deliver Making Every
Contact Count training to
staff, enabling every
contact to be a health
contact (2022)

 Deliver homes to meet
 Improve children and young  Implement an Integrated
Strategic Commissioning
the needs of older
people’s emotional
Function for the county, to
people within our
wellbeing and resilience by
ensure more effective
communities and
delivering the Durham
management of resources,
support people to live
Resilience Programme to
joint contract monitoring and
independently for as
schools and increasing the
improved quality of service
long as possible (2023)
uptake of the Youth Aware
provision (2023)
 Work with partners and
of Mental Health (YAM)
 Further develop the Trusted
providers to reduce the
Initiative (2021)
Assessor model to facilitate
incidence of falls and
 Develop and implement a
fractures in older
smooth transfers of care
strategy to support and
people, through
between primary and social
sustain the Voluntary and
training and assistive /
Community Sector in County care and improve service
digital technologies
users’ and carers’
Durham, enabling resilience
(2023)
experiences of these services
of our wider communities
 Provide equipment to
(2022)
(2023)
support reablement,
 Deliver the key components  Work with Primary Care
progression and
Networks to ensure that
of the ‘Time to Change’
sustainable outcomes,
social prescribing provides
programme and increase
including community
new opportunities for support
the number of mental health
equipment and
within the community and the
champions within the
provision in care
Voluntary and Community
council, to encourage open
homes (2023)
Sector (2023)
conversations about mental
health and signpost
employees (2021)
Durham County Council 29

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: People Live Long and Independent Lives
Key programmes of work
Positive behaviours

Mental health

 Complete a Sector Led
Improvement peer
review on drug-related
deaths, to inform
service delivery (2022)

 Support schools to
develop their ability to
promote the mental
health and wellbeing of
staff and pupils (2020)
 Support mental health
and wellbeing of
residents following
COVID-19 pandemic
(2021)

Page 47

Health and social care
integration

Homes for older and disabled
people

 Support providers through the
changing, complex health and
social care system to ensure
that they are equipped to
deliver the volume and
standards of care required
(2022)
 Identify gaps across the county
regarding communities yet to
become dementia friendly and
provide support to help them
achieve dementia friendly
status (2023)
 Provide training and resources
to staff in frontline services, to
enable them to make
reasonable adjustments for
those with social,
communication and sensory
needs relating to autism (2021)
 People of all ages with autism
are given inclusive access to
initiatives such as the
Wellbeing for Life Service and
the Active Durham Partnership
(2021)

 Change our social care model
and ensure that people have
access to robust advice and
information to enable them to
live healthy and independent
lives in their community,
preventing delaying the need
for formal service provision
(2022)
 Engage with stakeholders to
develop, test and deliver
future provider / partner /
service user portals for better
information-sharing and to
streamline processes (2023)
 Develop the Personal
Assistants market for direct
payment users (2022)
 Review the approach to care
home commissioning, taking
into account changes as a
result of the COVID-19
pandemic, with the aim of
ensuring a sustainable and
high-quality care market.
(2023)
Durham County Council 30

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 48

Delivery Plan: Connected Communities
Key programmes of work
A safe childhood








Deliver our Children’s Social Care
Improvement Plan to ensure we
provide good and outstanding social
care services to children, young
people and their families who need
social care support (2023)
Improve support to children and
families across our early help and
social care services through the
continued implementation and
embedding of strength-based and
relationship focused practice (Signs
of Safety) (2021)
Continue to recruit, develop and
support a skilled, experienced and
confident social care workforce
(2023)
Implement and embed a Quality
Assurance Framework across our
early help and social care services
to ensure we provide high-quality
practice (2021)

Housing standards

Towns and villages

 Raise standards across the private
rented sector through seeking
greater licensing powers in order to
tackle poor landlords as well as
continuous engagement with
landlords and the extension of the
accredited landlord scheme for
responsible landlords (2021)
 Deliver a range of targeted
interventions to improve housing
and living standards (2021)
 Work with those communities most
affected by long-term empty
properties including working with
property owners and landlords with
the aim of bringing empty properties
back into use wherever possible
(2023)









Deliver a programme of
regeneration within town centres
and wider towns and villages by
encouraging new town centre
business, establishing a network of
town centre WiFi systems,
facilitating the reoccupation/re-use
or clearance of vacant and
vulnerable property (2022)
Deliver the Auckland Castle, Bishop
Auckland Heritage Action Zone,
Future High Street Fund and
Stronger Towns Fund (2023)
Review and transform leisure
facilities in line with the needs of our
residents (2020)
Review and transform library
services in line with the needs of
our residents (2020)
Develop and deliver in collaboration
with partners a programme of area
based initiatives to improve local
environments and community safety
(2021)

Durham County Council 31

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: Connected Communities
Key programmes of work
Safe childhood









Housing standards

Towns and villages

Page 49

Continue to promote the role and
responsibility of the council as a
corporate parent ensuring we are
committed and ambitious for all
our children in care and care
leavers. (2023)
Target our resources on those
young people committing the most
offences (2023)
Put victims, especially young
victims and restorative justice at
the heart of everything we do
(2023)
Develop and deliver a post Ofsted
inspection of local authority
children’s services improvement
plan (2021)
Work in partnership with external
providers to develop and shape
Durham County Council 32

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 50

the market to ensure the most
appropriate, local and value for
money placements are available
which meet the needs of our
children and young people who
are looked after (2023)

Durham County Council 33

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Delivery Plan: Connected Communities
Key programmes of work
Access to services

Community cohesion

New housing

 Construction of new bus station in
Durham City (2021)
 Development of North East Strategic
Transport Plan and supporting
County Durham delivery plans (2020)
 Development and delivery of pipeline
of major transport infrastructure
projects to improve connectivity
across the County (2023)
 Development of the County Durham
Together community hub to promote
and enable easier access to
preventative services available in
local communities (2022)

 Extend the wellbeing approach
across the council and within
commissioned services (2023)
 Develop and deliver in partnership
with other agencies a model to
prevent and manage antisocial
behaviour across the county (2021)
 Establish a multi-agency task force to
deliver a local problem-solving
approach within our most deprived
areas and through integrated working
and community engagement restore
cultural norms and build cohesive
communities (2021)
 Provide additional support to
community groups adversely affected
by the pandemic. (2021)
 Develop and deliver a programme to
help manage individuals, households
and communities through recovery
from the pandemic (2021)

 Maximise opportunities for North
East One Public Estate Partnership
to realise estates savings and
delivery of shared objectives (2022)
 Delivery of the Chapter Homes
Business Plan (2020)
 Delivery of the Housing Strategy
(2023)
 Supplying Seaham Garden Village
development with geothermal heat
from mine water treatment scheme
(2023)
 Manage and deliver the Housing
Infrastructure Fund Newton Aycliffe
Housing Growth Programme (2021)
 Maximise the delivery of affordable
homes, both by securing developer
contributions as part of new housing
development and through close
partnership with registered providers
and Homes England (2023)
 Deliver community housing
schemes through the town and
village centres programme (see
above) (2022)

Page 51

Durham County Council 34

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 52

Delivery Plan: An Excellent Council
Key programmes of work
Resource management

A workforce for the future

Services designed with service users

 Review implications of
anticipated legislation for the
long-term reform of the social
care system (2021)
 Support teams to develop
smarter ways of working in
preparation for the move to
transformed strategic sites and
new headquarters (2021)
 Complete the Polling Place
Review (2021)
 Review the implications of the
government’s fair funding review
(2023)

 Extend the mental health
workforce development
programme across the council, to
increase awareness and support
available for staff (2023)
 Achieve the Better Health at
Work Award ‘Continuing
Excellence’ status for the council
(2022)
 Develop a strategy for employee
health and wellbeing (2022)
 Support our staff to work flexibly
by developing plans for modern
ways of working (2021)
 Assess risks, protect and support
public and employees during
COVID-19 pandemic and through
the restoration of services (2021)

 Work towards the sharing of information
about a person’s assessments, treatment
and care through the Great North Care
Record, to ensure that staff, patients and
service users can make informed
decisions about services (2022)
 Review the assistive technologies offer for
adult care and develop a new Assistive
Technology Strategy (2023)
 Prepare to relocate the registration service
to Mount Oswald whilst maintaining
service delivery and income generation
(2021)
 Increase self-service of performance data
by developing business intelligence
dashboards (2023)
 Produce a scope and outline plan for
delivering the integrated service user
service model (2021)
 Continue to deliver the digital
transformation programme at a service
level (2023)
 Further develop specific engagement
mechanisms with children and young
people to understand the voice of the child
Durham County Council 35

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
in service provision including development
of a Youth Council (2022)
 Restoration of council services that have
been interrupted by the pandemic as
government guidelines allow (2021)
 Plan and deliver effective communications
to build trust, support and keep
stakeholders informed and promote safety
messages (2020-23)

Page 53

Durham County Council 36

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 54

Delivery Plan: An Excellent Council
Key programmes of work
Use of data and technology

Performance management

 Implement and realise the benefits for staff and
managers of a new adult care case management
system (2021)
 Maximise the use of existing technology and trial
new technologies to improve efficiency (2023)
 Work with NHS partners to roll out Health Call in
care homes, to improve the transfer of information
to health professionals (2022)
 Develop a strategy for a ‘smart city’ type
infrastructure (2020)
 Develop a digital skills programme and invest in
new ways of working (2023)
 Expand automation and self-service to employees
(2023)
 Develop a road map for the comprehensive rollout
of business intelligence capability across all
services and systems within the council (2021)
 Develop a broadband services business plan
(2021)
 Implementation of modern electronic systems and
mobile technologies to help deliver operational
efficiencies and high-quality services (2021)

 Implement a new performance
management framework for Adult and
Health Services, to enable more timely
analysis of data, improved business
intelligence and real time presentation of
data (2022)
 Further develop the performance
management framework for children and
young people’s services linked to the new
case recording system to improve
managers’ grip on all areas of
performance (2022)
 Develop a well-managed strategic
planning framework (2020)
 Review performance management
arrangements to focus on restoration and
recovery from the pandemic (2020)

Durham County Council 37

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023

Glossary of Terms

Page 55

5G

Fifth generation or latest iteration of telecommunications networks which is designed to
greatly increase the speed and responsiveness of wireless networks

Attainment 8 score

A measure of the average attainment of pupils in up to eight qualifications at KS 4

Better Health at Work Award

An award recognising the efforts of employers in the North East and Cumbria in
addressing health issues within the workplace

Bishop Auckland Heritage
Action Zone

A regeneration area in Bishop Auckland's conservation area that has been agreed by
Historic England and has been created to improve the town's historic centre and bring it
back to be a vibrant market town for both locals and visitors

Brexit

The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union

Channel shift

The degree to which residents are moving to dealing with the council through digital
means from more traditional methods such as face-to-face and telephone

Council Tax Hardship Fund

A reduction of £300 on your Council Tax bill awarded to people who have been
significantly financially impacted by COVID-19

County Durham Together

A virtual hub developed to help support people to stay in their own home and protect
them from contracting the coronavirus by putting them in touch with people who can
support with access to food and essential supplies, medicines, financial help and social
interaction for those experiencing loneliness and isolation

COVID-19

Coronavirus Disease 2019, the respiratory disease caused by the new strain of the
coronavirus

Deprivation indices

Widely used datasets used to classify the relative deprivation of an area. The latest
Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) measures relative deprivation for small areas or
neighbourhoods and ranks every area from the most deprived to the least deprived in
England

Disability Confident

A government scheme designed to encourage employers to recruit and retain disabled
people and those with health conditions. Level 3 or highest level of the Disability
Durham County Council 38

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
Page 56

Confident scheme which recognises the commitment towards disabled staff and acting
as a champion for Disability Confident within local and business communities
Education and health care plan A legal document that describes a child or young person's special educational needs,
the support they need and the outcomes that they would like to achieve
Furlough

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme operated by HMRC. All Up employers will be able
to access support to continue paying part of their employee's salary for those
employees that would otherwise be laid off during the COVID-19 crisis

GCSEs

General Certificate of Secondary Education

Great North Care Record

An initiative to allow healthcare practitioners from emergency departments, mental
health, 111 services, ambulance and out of hours services access information from a
patient's GP record

Hate crime

A range of criminal behaviour where the perpetrator is motivated by hostility or
demonstrates hostility towards the victim's disability, race, religion, sexual orientation or
transgender identify

Healthy life expectancy

The proportion of life spent in good health or free from a limiting illness, disability

HMRC

Her Majesty's Customs and Revenue

Homes England

A non-departmental public body that funds new affordable housing in England

MTFP

Medium Term Financial Plan. This is a three-year plan sets out the council's funding
outlook, spending priorities and planned efficiencies over the medium-term

Ofsted

The Office of Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills. The organisation
responsible for inspecting services providing education and skills for learners of all
ages and inspection and regulation of services that care for children and young people

Ofsted rating

The rating scale that Ofsted use in their inspections of education providers such as
schools and children's social care providers such as the council. There are four grades:
1. Outstanding; 2. Good; 3. Requires Improvement and; 4. Inadequate

Durham County Council 39

COUNCIL PLAN 2020 -2023
R number

The reproduction number is the average number of secondary infections produced by a
single infected person. An R number of 1 means that on average, every person who is
infected will infect one other person meaning that the number of infections is stable. If
R is greater than 1 then the epidemic is growing. If R is less than 1 then the epidemic is
shrinking.

Reablement

Services for people with poor physical or mental health to help them accommodate
their illness by learning or re-learning the skills necessary for daily living

SARS-CoV-2

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 is the strain of coronavirus that
causes COVID-19, the respiratory illness responsible for the COVID-19 pandemic

SATs

Standard Assessment Test

SEND

Special Educational Needs and Disability

Signs of Safety

A strength based and safety focused approach to child protection casework originally
developed in Australia and now adopted and used by local authorities in many other
countries including the UK

Trusted assessor model

Trusted Assessor' schemes are a national initiative designed to reduce delays when
people are ready for discharge from hospital.

Welfare Assistance Scheme

Short term support for people in crisis. There are two types; daily living expenses for up
to seven days when your circumstances change unexpectedly and settlement grants to
help you stay at home or move back into housing

WiFi

A wireless network allowing computers, tablets, smartphones and other devices to
connect to the Internet or communicate with one another wirelessly within an area

Youth Aware of Mental Health
(YAM) Imitative

A programme for helping teenagers explore how to protect their own mental health and
support those around them. YAM shows promising results – groups that have
completed the programme show with significantly reduced levels of moderate to
extreme depression, and reductions in suicide attempts and ideation

Page 57

Durham County Council 40

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3: Equality Policy

Durham County
Council
Equality Policy
2020

Page 59

Email: equalities@durham.gov.uk
Telephone: 03000 268019

If you would like to contact the equality team please contact us as follows:
Email: equalities@durham.gov.uk
Post: Equality Office, Resources, Durham County Council, County Hall,
Durham, DH1 5UF
Telephone: 03000 268019

Version Date
5 August 2020

Version
number
V1

Reviser

Approver

Review date

J Haworth

Cabinet 16.09.20

September 2022

2
Page 60

Equality and inclusion are at the heart of Durham County Council’s vision and core
values. We recognise that inequality continues to affect different people and communities
in different ways. We are committed to creating and sustaining a modern and supportive
working environment for our employees and tackling the inequalities, prejudice and
discrimination affecting the diverse communities which we serve.

Background
The Equality Act 2010 brought together a number of existing laws making it a more
streamlined piece of legislation. It sets out the personal characteristics that are protected
by the law and behaviour that is unlawful. The protected characteristics under the Act
are; age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation.
Under the Act people are not allowed to discriminate, harass or victimise another person
because they have any of the protected characteristics. There is also protection against
discrimination where someone is perceived to have one of the protected characteristics
or where they are associated with someone who has a protected characteristic. As a
major employer and provider of services Durham County Council is committed to
advancing equality of opportunity and providing fair access and treatment in employment
and when delivering or procuring services or working in partnership.
This policy reinforces our responsibility under the public sector equality duty (PSED)
which was created under the Equality Act 2010. It consists of a general equality duty and
specific duties.
General Duty
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not; and
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.
Specific Duties
 To publish information to demonstrate how we are complying with the Public
Sector Equality Duty, and
 To prepare and publish equality objectives (at least every four years).
The specific duties help us to improve performance on the general duty, by improving
focus and transparency.

Policy statement
Our policy is to treat people fairly, with respect and dignity. We believe that everyone in
County Durham deserves excellent public services which take account of their needs and
circumstances. As an employer, service provider, partner and community leader we will
ensure that all communities have opportunities to access our services, be involved in
decision making and be part of our workforce.
3
Page 61

Responsibilities
Our policy applies to every elected member, employee, volunteer and any other person
or organisation employed by the council to work or to deliver services on its behalf. This
includes contractual and commissioning arrangements. The policy applies to all workrelated situations including social events and the use of electronic communications and
social media.
It is the individual’s responsibility to:
 Treat others fairly, with dignity and respect,
 Follow council policies and procedures,
 Ensure documentation, information and activity is lawful,
 Consider reasonable adjustments and other requirements relating to disabled
people,
 Challenge discrimination and unfair treatment, reporting it where appropriate,
and
 Attend relevant training and ask for advice where necessary.
All actions, which are intentionally contrary to this policy, will be dealt with under the
appropriate disciplinary procedure.

Our commitment
We know that some people face inequality and disadvantage1, prejudice and
discrimination and we are committed to tackling this and use a variety of methods to
demonstrate and progress our commitment. We understand the challenges some groups
experience, including the social and physical barriers experienced by disabled people,
which limit opportunities or choices. We are committed to integrating equality into
mainstream service planning, development, delivery and management. This is evident
through our policy documentation and budgetary decisions and allocation.
As part of our specific duties we must develop and deliver equality objectives at least
every four years, our equality objectives for 2020-24 are set out below. This helps us to
focus our attention on specific equality issues in order to deliver real improvement.
We will take all reasonable steps to ensure that discrimination is prevented, such as staff
training and inclusive service design and delivery. We perceive discriminatory bullying,
harassment and unfair treatment of any individual as contradictory to our core values
which will not be tolerated and have processes in place to investigate complaints.
We have described below some of the ways we meet our commitment to equality.
Equality objectives
Our equality objectives (2020-24) were identified through recent public consultation with
a wide range of stakeholders for a shared vision for the county for the next 15 years2.

1
2

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/britain-fairer
https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision

4
Page 62

Analysis of evidence including countywide data sets3 and national policy has also
influenced our priorities.
Our equality objectives support the 2035 vision that County Durham is a place where
there are more and better jobs, people live long and independent lives and our
communities are well connected and supportive of each other. The council plan reflects
this vison and includes a fourth ambition to be an excellent council. Our equality
objectives align to the vision and corporate planning framework with supporting
outcomes and actions, which will be used as a framework to illustrate how the council
complies with the Public Sector Equality Duty.
Our equality objectives are:






We will improve employment opportunities for disabled people
o As a Disability Confident Leader, we will improve recruitment and retention
rates of disabled people within the council and work with businesses locally
to improve disability employment rates countywide and through our
approach to procurement.
We will build inclusive communities
o To connect our communities and improve levels of tolerance and
integration for our diverse communities we will support better partnership
working on equality. This work will support a series of events that foster
good relations between groups.
We will build an inclusive and welcoming employee culture
o Through our transformation programme we will become a more inclusive
organisation by improving our staff engagement through the development
of staff networks and improving how we collect, monitor, analyse and utilise
staff diversity data.

Our values
The culture of our council is created by the way we behave. To help develop a positive
culture, four core values and a behaviour framework have been developed to describe
the sort of organisation we want to be. Our ‘open’ values focus on creating a positive
working environment by setting guidelines for the way staff should approach their work
which underpin our approach to equality and inclusion:
Outcome focussed – we work together to achieve the best for people
People focussed – we put people and communities at the heart of everything we do
Empowering – we value trust and support each other
iNnovative – we embrace change and look for better ways to deliver services
Impact assessment and equality analysis
We use a process of equality impact assessment (EIA) to support the development of
inclusive and responsive policies, procedures and service provision. These are carried
out when a new policy, procedure or service is being developed or significantly changed,
where a service review is taking place or where a potential inequality has been identified.
The assessment involves an evidence based analysis of impact across the protected

3

https://www.durhaminsight.info/

5
Page 63

characteristics. This is carried out for all medium-term financial plan (MTFP) proposals as
well as Cabinet and delegated decisions where there is a relevance to equality.
Integrated communities
We know that people in our communities can face prejudice and discrimination. This can
be due to fear, a lack of understanding or intolerance which may be linked to a person’s
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation or transgender identity. We recognise that
some people express fear, lack of respect and contempt towards people from other
groups and communities.
To tackle this, we work closely with a range of agencies including Durham Police under
the banner of the Safe Durham Partnership to tackle the underlying causes of crime and
behaviour adversely affecting our communities. Our tension monitoring toolkit responds
to the Government’s Integrated Communities Action Plan4 and sets out how the council
will respond to incidents. It acts as a guidance tool for those responding to hate incidents
and facilitating community cohesion.
We actively facilitate integration, with programmes that build intercultural awareness and
via activities such as the refugee mentoring project. We mark specific events such as
Holocaust Memorial Day and Durham Pride. We have also adopted the working definition
of anti-Semitism as set out by International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance5.
Consultation and involving others
To ensure our services are inclusive and responsive we involve and consult employees,
elected members, trade unions and people who use our services, on service changes,
including communities and organisations who represent protected groups, e.g. Area
Action Partnerships, Disability Partnership, People’s Parliament. Engaging with
communities of interest allows us to gain focussed customer insight and, where required,
external validation for schemes such as our Disability Confident Leader application.
Commissioning and procurement
Integrating equality considerations into our commissioning and procurement work
improves services by making them more appropriate and responsive to the needs of
different groups. Use of our procurement award criteria helps us to engage with
organisations who drive equality through schemes such as Disability Confident and
Stonewall Diversity Champions.
Employee policies and practices
As an inclusive and supportive employer, we ensure our policies and practices do not
discriminate and treat staff with dignity and respect. The principles of equality are
embedded within our employment policies. All staff and elected members receive
mandatory equality training. Additional specific and tailored equality training modules or
sessions and awareness raising events are also available to staff and members.
We ensure a fair and inclusive recruitment and selection process to attract applicants
from different backgrounds and remove any bias. This takes into consideration the way

4
5

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-communities-action-plan
https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-antisemitism

6
Page 64

employment is structured, removing barriers to employment and providing specific
support. As a Disability Confident Leader6 organisation, disabled job applicants who
meet the essential criteria in the person specification are guaranteed an interview.
We offer a wide range of apprenticeship opportunities at the council for all ages. We also
offer internships and supported employment placements. This includes placements for
young people with SEND and the Change 100 internship programme for talented
students and graduates with disabilities or long-term health conditions.
We have achieved gold status of the Better Health at Work Award7 and have a
programme of activities and support available to staff to promote and sustain wellbeing.
As part of our approach to staff wellbeing we carry out regular staff surveys.
As an employer we provide a safe and accessible working environment, creating a
culture which is free from discrimination, harassment, bullying and victimisation. We are
members of the Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme8 to help us ensure that all
LGBT+ staff are accepted without exception in the workplace.
All employees will receive fair and transparent pay, reward and employment conditions, as
well as options to work flexibly and access to learning and development opportunities.
We will monitor our employment procedures to avoid unlawful discrimination and ensure
consistent treatment.

Dealing with complaints
Any allegations of discrimination, harassment and/or unfair treatment will be investigated
with disciplinary action taken where necessary. There are a number of ways to report
equality related issues or complaints:
 Employees can raise issues informally with their line manager or Head of Service.
Formal complaints should follow the resolution policy:
http://intranet/pages/Resolution.aspx
 Councillors can report issues through the member officer protocol or the code of
conduct depending on the nature of the complaint.
 Members of the public can use the corporate and statutory complaints procedures.
http://www.durham.gov.uk/complaints
We will take prompt action to investigate any complaints. Anyone who has complained
will not be treated unfavourably or victimised. However, if a complaint is found to be
malicious this will be dealt with under the appropriate disciplinary procedure.

Monitoring
This policy links to identified actions within the corporate planning framework. Relevant
actions will be monitored on a quarterly basis, and, also through our annual updates to
demonstrate compliance with the public sector equality duty. We also produce mandatory
gender pay gap reporting9, as required on an annual basis.

6

https://disabilityconfident.campaign.gov.uk/
http://www.betterhealthatworkne.org/
8 https://www.stonewall.org.uk/diversity-champions-programme
9 https://www.durham.gov.uk/genderpaygap
7

7
Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Selective Licencing Scheme
Key Decision No. REG/03/20

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth
Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic
Housing and Assets
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide – but not all areas included.

Purpose of the Report
1

This report proposes a Selective Licensing scheme for homes which are
privately rented in some parts of County Durham. The proposed
scheme will cover 42% of the private rented sector (PRS) in the county
and, as this is over 20%, it is a legislative requirement to obtain
Government approval. Prior to the application being made to
Government the Council has consulted on the proposals and gathered
and analysed the results.

2

Details of the reasons for implementing the scheme, the proposed
scope of the scheme, the costs of licensing, the operational structure of
the scheme and the timetable are contained in the report. Subject to
Cabinet approval these will form the basis of the submission to the
Secretary of State for the implementation of selective licensing in
County Durham.

Executive Summary
3

In County Durham there is a growing number of private rented sector
landlords, with many concentrated in some of the most deprived and
low value areas. Unfortunately, anti-social behaviour is also blighting
some communities and as a result we are seeing the confidence in
areas reduce, with growing numbers of empty properties, and rent and
house values reducing.

Page 67

4

A key objective of The County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 to 2024
is to maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s housing
stock and the wider housing environment which includes developing an
approach to selective licensing, addressing empty homes, improving
energy efficiency of properties and supporting and maintaining
communities. The scheme will make a significant contribution to a
wider strategy of improving the county’s towns and villages by
improving both housing conditions and access to quality housing.

5

Tenure intelligence modelling work carried out before consultation
means the PRS levels are even greater than originally estimated when
looking into the business case for selective licensing. In County
Durham the PRS is significant with an estimated total of 68,516
properties representing 28% of the total homes in the county, above the
current national average of 19.46%.

6

As the private sector grows, so does the number of private landlords.
That increase has brought with it with it a rise in unreputable landlords
looking to acquire low cost homes at little expense – poorly managing
their properties and tenants.

7

One bad landlord can disproportionately affect an area and negativity
can quickly spread between owners and tenants – all affected by
dropping house prices and increased empty homes. ASB and crime
can lead to empty homes as good tenants and owners leave an area
and further bad landlords (and tenants) take their place. This cycle
dents the confidence of the remaining residents in the local authority but
also in landlords and tenants.

8

The introduction of selective licensing in areas where there is a high
proportion of PRS stock can help to create sustainable neighbourhoods.
This will be achieved by improving housing standards as well as
providing tenants with a greater choice of safe, good quality and well
managed accommodation. Proactive enforcement action will be taken
against both unlicensed properties and/or where there are breaches of
the licence conditions. A recently commissioned review by MHCLG
which considered the Use and Effectiveness of Selective Licensing
concluded that selective licensing can be an effective policy tool with
many schemes achieving demonstrable positive outcomes.

9

The conditions of the licence will require that the property is managed
effectively and will give tenants added protection against poor landlords.
When applying, the council will need to be satisfied that proposed
licence holders are 'fit and proper persons' to hold a licence, and that
they have satisfactory management arrangements in place including for
dealing with anti-social behaviour.

Page 68

10

There are areas within the county that do not form part of the proposal
for selective licensing. They do not currently meet the statutory or
guidance criteria set out by the Secretary of State. Officers will monitor
various datasets relating to these areas and, should any meet the
criteria in the future, Cabinet will be asked to consider a separate
application to the Secretary of State to extend the scheme in the county.

11

The licence will last for five years and the Council will set a charge that
the landlord must pay for each property in ownership that is rented. A
licence fee of £500 is proposed but discounts will be available which
could reduce the fee to £350. The income received from the scheme is
ring fenced to the administration of the scheme and will fund the staffing
infrastructure and associated costs. The body of the report will provide
a high-level understanding of the staffing and support infrastructure that
will be put in place.

12

The application to the Secretary of State must be robust and clearly
demonstrate that the tests and criteria set out in the legislation and the
Government guidance have been met and have clarity in terms of the
areas included. Robust consultation must have taken place and any
concerns expressed properly considered.

13

Consultation has taken place proposing 43 of the 66 Middle Super
Output Areas (MSOAs) within County Durham as the basis for data
collection and analysis. A list of the 43 MSOAs consulted on can be
found at Appendix 3. Consultation provided more information as to the
relative issues within each MSOA and, partly as a result, areas have
changed (to LSOAs) to reflect a more detailed analysis.

14

MSOAs can vary in size but most contain approximately 3,000 to 4,000
residential addresses. Generally, each MSOA can contain four to six
LSOAs, which can often be a village, or for larger villages or towns
these can still be broken down into LSOAs of generally 500 to 800
residential addresses.

15

Analysing at these smaller areas (LSOAs) shows transparency and
fairness, and that the Council are only targeting the areas that require a
scheme now and can be improved because of it.

16

Subject to authorisation from Cabinet and the Secretary of State, the
scheme is expected to go live around April 2021. It is important to note
that the Ministry of Housing and Local Communities (MHCLG) is
responsible for determining the application.

17

The scheme will benefit from close partnership working both internally
(HMO licencing, private sector housing, etc.) and externally (Safe
Durham Partnership, Police, Fire & Rescue Service, Probation Service,
and housing providers etc.).
Page 69

Recommendations
18

Page 70

Cabinet is recommended to authorise:
(a)

the proposed areas to be designated and submitted in a formal
application to the Secretary of State for confirmation;

(b)

the proposed licence fee of £500 with discounts, as set out in the
report;

(c)

the scheme service proposals outlined in the report.

(d)

delegated powers for the Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth to amend selective licensing conditions, in conjunction
with the portfolio holder for strategic housing and assets, in line
with legislation and/or best practice.

Background
19

This report proposes a scheme for homes which are privately rented in
parts of County Durham. The proposed scheme covers 42% of the
PRS in the county and, as this is over 20%, it is a legislative
requirement to obtain Government approval. Prior to the application
being made to Government, the Council is required to consult on the
proposals and take into account the responses to that consultation.

20

The Cabinet report in January 2020 set out the proposals for
consultation including the proposed size of area, the proposed licence
fee, and the proposed licence conditions. The report asked for approval
from Cabinet to consult on these items and approval was given.

21

This report will address the following:


demographic change and tenure;



strategic context;



benefits of introducing scheme;



Government guidance and consultation;



the proposed designated area;



scheme operational structure;



scheme operational costs and proposed licence fee;



consultation process; and



implementation timetable.

22

The legal powers to set up a scheme for the licensing of properties in
the PRS is contained in Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004. This allows a
local housing authority the ability to designate an area which will be
subject to selective licencing. The proposed scheme will last for the
maximum period available under the 2004 Act: five years.

23

Since April 2015 it is required to apply to the Secretary of State for
approval of any scheme which covers more than 20% of the privately
rented homes in the local authority area. This is the case in Durham
and, to introduce the scheme proposed in this report, Secretary of State
approval is required.

24

The submission has been considered against the relevant legislation
and guidance. The guidance for selective licensing is available at
Appendix 2.
Page 71

The changing private sector
25

The PRS in Durham is significant and continues to grow. It is an
important tenure choice for many households, but this significance
brings its own problems.

26

Although it is accepted there are many good landlords, who manage
their properties and tenancies responsibly, there are also rogue
landlords who flout the law and avoid accountability to their tenants and
the neighbourhoods they obtain homes within.

27

Many of the bad landlords are concentrated in some of the most
deprived and low value areas. Unfortunately, anti-social behaviour is
also blighting some communities and as a result we are seeing the
confidence in areas reduce, with growing numbers of empty properties,
and rent and house values reducing.

28

Currently, the Council relies on complaints and requests from tenants
(or other residents) for issues to come to light and for DCC to act.
Selective licensing allows for a pro-active service, with staffing
resourced accordingly – and issues with rogue landlords can be tackled
head on.

29

The number of socially rented properties has fallen by 6% since 2001
which is in part due to properties being sold under the ‘Right to Buy’
legislation, the selling of properties to private companies and the
transfer of housing stock to registered social housing providers.

30

The PRS has seen massive growth despite the population in County
Durham remaining relatively steady.

31

The map detailed below shows the percentage change in the PRS by
MSOAs across the whole of the county. The darker the shading for the
MSOA indicates the higher the percentage change. As can be seen, all
but two MSOAs have increases of over 40% with a majority
experiencing an increase of over 80%. 51 out of 66 MSOAs have
experienced an increase of over 120% of homes in the PRS.

Page 72

Map 1: Percentage Change in PRS by MSOAs

32

Map 2 below detailed the estimated distribution of private rented stock
by MSOA.

Map 2: Distribution of PRS Stock

Page 73

33

In summary the estimated number of households within the county has
increased steadily by 34,070 since 2001. This is a 16.4% increase over
the period. During the same timeframe there has been a 6% (3,161)
reduction in social rented homes however the PRS has increased by a
massive 333% to 68,516.

34

This increase in the numbers of properties being let in the private sector
is not uniform across the county and the maps above provide a
graphical depiction of the distribution of properties in the PRS by
MSOA.

Government Research
35

MHCLG commissioned an Independent Review of the Use and
Effectiveness of Selective Licensing which concluded in June 2019. The

research overall indicates that selective licensing can be an effective
policy tool with many schemes achieving demonstrable positive
outcomes. However, this study also indicates that when implemented in
isolation, the effectiveness of selective licensing is often limited.
Schemes appear to be more successful as part of a wider, well planned,
coherent initiative with an associated commitment of resources – a
finding entirely consistent with the aims of the Housing Act. The report
highlights the particular advantages of introducing selective licence
scheme as;

Page 74



Selective licensing focuses resources on areas of concern
- authorities can concentrate efforts and resources on a specific
area with identified problems, whilst simultaneously generating
revenue to contribute to the costs involved;



Licensing provides a clear licensed/unlicensed offence this clarity simplifies the enforcement process. Where a
landlord is intentionally operating without a licence, it is
considered likely that there are other violations present which
can then be investigated and pursued as necessary;



Licensing allows authorities a simple route to access
properties of concern – with other Housing Act powers,
authorities need to give at least 24 hours’ notice to inspect a
property. Inspections conducted under licensing regimes do
not require such notice. This is particularly important in areas
where there are landlords more likely to disregard statutory
obligations (‘rogue’ or criminal landlords);



Proactive not reactive approach – Proactive inspection of
properties to establish if they are unlicensed or otherwise not
compliant with licence conditions will also tend to bring to light

other significant problems of which the authority was previously
unaware, and appropriate action can then follow;


Licensing provides a clear mechanism and driver for
landlord engagement – the requirement for landlords to
license properties leads to engagement with the local authority.
The authority can then provide training and support as
necessary to encourage a more professional sector and drive
up standards.

Strategic Context
36

The County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 to 2024 has been
developed in partnership with residents, parish councils, registered
providers, private landlords and Area Action Partnerships to consider
and address a range of housing issues across County Durham. There
are four objectives included within the strategy:
(i)

to provide housing advice, assistance, and support for vulnerable
people;

(ii)

to improve access to housing;

(iii)

to deliver homes to meet housing need and demand; and

(iv)

to maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s
housing stock and the wider housing environment. This aim
addresses raising standards in the PRS, developing an approach
to selective licensing, addressing empty homes, improving energy
efficiency of properties, and supporting and maintaining
communities.

37

The proposal to introduce selective licensing is a significant practical
policy intervention and is complementary to other actions in the
strategy. The scale and nature of the proposal will operate alongside
other initiatives to address homelessness, poverty, health, and
community development. This will be achieved by working with key
partners including the Police, Fire & Rescue Service, health, housing
providers, private landlords and the voluntary sector.

38

One of the biggest challenges for the Council relates to the limited
number of good quality homes available in the PRS and the growing
number of absent or poor-quality landlords. The current growing market
is dominated by smaller terraced properties offering two to three
bedrooms and is often the target for rogue landlords. Much of the
existing stock is older, thermally inefficient and in need of repair or
refurbishment.

Page 75

39

Colliery villages grew in County Durham from the 1950s around a core
of densely packed terraced housing which can still be seen in many of
our towns and villages, leaving a legacy of poor quality older terraced
housing with a lasting public health impact. Whilst we accept that
selective licensing cannot overhaul the makeup of the buildings
themselves, and have decided to not submit to government using the
poor property condition criteria, what licensing can provide is steps
towards ensuring that landlords are managing these properties to a
standard that ensures the wellbeing of the tenants living there.

40

The lack of access to good quality housing is accepted to be a
contributing factor to inequalities in health, educational attainment, and
disposable income (poverty).

41

With growth in the PRS since 2001 and indications that the sector will
continue to grow, the recently approved Housing Strategy for County
Durham recognises the strategic importance of the PRS. One of the
aims/outcomes in the strategy is to raise standards in the PRS and a
scheme will make a significant contribution to this.

42

Its direct value will be enhanced by ensuring synergy with strategies
such as homelessness, empty homes and other activities leading to
mixed, balanced, and sustainable communities.

43

The scheme will make a significant contribution to a wider strategy of
improving the county’s towns and villages by improving both housing
conditions and access to quality housing. Linking with existing
initiatives including Registered Providers (RP) new development, Local
Lettings Agency (LLA), Buy to Lease Scheme, Rough Sleepers Initiative
(RSI) and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing that are
closely aligned to the ambition to improve the ability to access a good
quality home in the county.

Existing measures
44

Page 76

The Council encourages the development of a more consistent and
good quality PRS through advice, guidance and negotiation and the
introduction of initiatives. Over the last 5 years the council has tried
alternatives to combat low demand, anti-social behaviour, and
deprivation in the PRS. Many of these will continue and include:


advice and information- provided to both landlords and tenants
regarding their rights and responsibilities of renting a property;



empty homes: working with property owners through engagement
and encouragement including the provision of financial assistance
such as targeted loans and grants to bring empty properties back
into use;



financial assistance;



accreditation: voluntary scheme whereby landlords state that they
are of good character and sign up to a code of conduct, they are
offered benefits such as advice and support, tenant referencing,
training, landlords forum and quarterly newsletters as well as
template documentation;



tenant training;



targeted intervention: time limited projects incorporating regular
multi-agency intervention through the Safe Durham Partnership
and Community Action Team. This includes a range of Council
services and partners working together to address specific
ongoing problems or where an area needs some additional
support and focus. This is a mixture of engagement and targeted
enforcement; and



support services: both low level and intense support is available
to tenants whose behaviour impacts on their tenancy or the
surrounding neighbourhood, providing help with managing
tenancies, help with finances, substance misuse and
homelessness.

45

The voluntary accreditation scheme has, like others around the country
had limited success with low numbers (estimated 4%) of professional
landlords signing up. As a result, the Council, with limited resources,
has not been able to tackle the ever-growing number of poor landlords
buying into the low demand areas, further impacting the confidence and
viability through poor management of both property and tenant.

46

In addition, the Council has several initiatives currently being introduced
that will assist with some of the challenges in local communities. These
measures will work in conjunction with the Council’s selective licencing
proposals. These include:

47



local lettings agency;



buy to lease; and



rough sleepers’ initiative

Legislation currently provide councils with a range of tools and powers
to regulate landlords however as identified in the Government review
and as evidenced in the growing level of concern in Durham these have
limitations, do not provide resources to assist and are reactive. The
outcome is that whilst they provide the remedy for individual issues,

Page 77

they do not provide the necessary consistent proactive approach in
improving standards across a community or wider area.
48

Localised small-scale selective licensing schemes have been relatively
successful in Durham stabilising particular streets in an area, providing
some confidence to residents but limited in terms of the overall impact
on a town or village sometimes displacing issues around anti-social
behaviours or environmental issues. The issues around the private
rented sector are now affecting numerous communities within the
county and require further intervention.

49

Selective licensing provides a regulatory framework which allows for
proactive monitoring of the private rented sector and the opportunity for
enforcement against poor landlords at the earliest opportunity. It
provides clarity to landlords on what is expected, supporting landlords
where necessary, and facilitates a full multi-agency approach making
the best use of a range of powers available in addition to selective
licensing. It is acknowledged however that this is part of the solution
and all of the previous interventions are still needed to not just stabilise
but enhance our communities moving forward.

Consultation
50

Guidance states the consultation should include local residents
including tenants, landlords and managing agents. It should also
include other members of the community who live or operate or provide
services within the proposed designated area.

51

Our consultation exercise used the following channels of
communication and reflected Government and legal advice to consider
Covid and appropriate measures to ensure consultation was
appropriate and in line with guidance:

Page 78



online information webpage;



online consultation questionnaire;



hard copies of consultation questionnaire to be made available in
various Council customer access points and libraries;



specific events to target relevant groups (i.e. landlords);



drop-in sessions (pre-COVID) in various geographic locations
across the county; and



direct correspondence to stakeholders including Town and Parish
Councils, registered housing providers, neighbouring local
authorities and Members of Parliament.

52

An insert on the consultation was included in every single council tax bill
and email in March, and a leaflet drop was carried out to 200,000
homes in July. Social media promoted the consultation in February and
again, in July.

53

Throughout the period of Covid ‘lockdown’, the DCC website gave
access to the questionnaire and the deadline for consultation was
extended twice (from 27 April to 24 May, and then to 2 August).

54

At the start of consultation, two face to face landlord events were
scheduled – one in the east of Durham at the start of the consultation
period (February) and one in central Durham towards the end of
consultation (at that time, this was due to be April). The first event took
place prior to Covid and approximately 20 landlords attended in person,
with all landlord questions answered on the day. The second event was
rescheduled for May and to offer greater choice to landlords, a third
event was added so a choice of day, and either afternoon or after
working hours, could be offered.

55

As the situation with Covid escalated, the deadline was extended for a
further 10 weeks and the two-landlord face to face events were
replaced with two webinars, one mid-afternoon and one at 5pm, across
two different days. It was the first time that the DCC had held
consultation via this method on such a large scale, with 85 landlords
and agents attending the first event and 101 attending the second. A
presentation was given and a ‘Q and A session’ was carried out.

56

Over 500 comments and questions were received at these two later
landlord events, many of which the Head of Service answered on the
day, with all remaining questions answered and published on the DCC
website alongside the consultation return. A recording of the event was
also made available on DCC’s YouTube channel, to complement the
consultation report. The numbers attending the webinar events were
much greater than expected - compared to the likely numbers if the
events were held in person.

57

At the point of lockdown, only 12 of the 23 resident drops-ins at libraries
had taken place. Covid has meant that no more drop-ins have taken
place. Instead, a process was set up with Customer Services for
residents to call and ask questions and/or complete questionnaires over
the telephone. Call backs (by phone or tele-call) were offered where
further detail and discussion was required, and dedicated officers
responded to these requests.

58

Durham County Council received the following numbers of stated items
during the consultation period:


1187 online and paper questionnaires;
Page 79



more than 300 emails opposing or supporting the proposals;



50 letters/written literature.

59

40% of the questionnaires (472) were completed by landlords and 3%
(32) by letting agents, with 90% opposed to the introduction of the
scheme.

60

A summary of the results from landlords and agents is:


79% strongly disagree and 10% disagree with introducing the
scheme;



61% strongly disagree and 14% disagree with the areas – a
further 19% neither agreed nor disagreed;



98% think the proposed fee is too much, and 2% said ‘about
right’.

61

20% of the questionnaires (241) were completed by private tenants and
41% (482) by residents of County Durham (not private tenants). This
question is multiple choice so someone could state they were a landlord
as well as a resident.

62

A summary of the results from these two groups is:

Page 80



53% of private tenants disagreed or strongly disagreed with the
proposals to introduce the scheme, with 44% strongly agreeing or
agreeing with the proposals – the majority in disagreement cited
the reason as potential rent increases if their landlord passed on
the licence fee and/or being made homeless if their landlord sold
up. Many advised they had discussed the consultation and
impact on rent with their landlords. Some declared their landlord
as ‘already a good landlord’. Many landlords responded to advise
us they had informed their tenants that a rent increase would
occur if licensing were to be introduced;



52% of private tenants also disagreed with the proposed areas
and 61% thought the proposed fee was too high;



70% of County Durham residents (not living in the PRS) strongly
agree with the proposed introduction of the scheme and 8%
agree. 21% disagree or strongly disagree;



52% of County Durham residents (not living in the PRS) strongly
agree with the areas proposed in the scheme and 15% agree.
20% disagree or strongly disagree;



43% of residents felt the proposed fee was ‘about right’ but 30%
also felt the fee was too little.

63

The full consultation feedback report is available at Appendix 4
(attached to Cabinet papers).

64

Landlords told us through the consultation that they felt the scheme
proposed by DCC was too vast, too expensive and disagreed with many
of the areas proposed – mainly as they were not selective enough.

65

Partly as a result of consultation, we have now:


moved from MSOA analysis to Lower Super Output Area (LSOA)
(to ‘drill down’ in greater detail in all areas);



reduced the coverage of the designation from 74% of PRS stock
(originally believed to be around 64% before the previously
mentioned tenure intelligence modelling) to 42% reflecting the
more detailed analysis of the individual areas;



increased the level of discounts available, including for those
accredited by the National Residential Landlords’ Association
(NRLA) and for landlords who have more than one property,
alongside the earlier proposed discounts for ‘early bird’ and DCC
accreditation.

Areas for submission
66

It is proposed that all PRS properties in (all or part of) the 43 areas of
proposed at consultation will be designated under the conditions of low
housing demand, anti-social-behaviour, and deprivation. A full list of the
areas can be found at Appendix 5.

67

The new analysis means that approximately 30,000 properties across
the 43 MSOAs consulted upon will now be included (42% of PRS
stock). Some parts of the originally proposed MSOAs will not be
included as they do not meet the criteria at the lower level and are
separate in type and nature to the stock in the areas to be included.

68

An extension to the evidence report provided for consultation is included
at Appendix 6 (attached to the Cabinet report).

69

There are other areas within the county that do not form part of the
designation for selective licensing and were not included in consultation
proposals. At this point in time they do not meet the guidance criteria
set out by the Secretary of State.

70

Officers will monitor various datasets relating to all areas not proposed
for designation nor included in the submission and, should any meet the
Page 81

criteria in the future, Cabinet will be asked to consider a separate report
if it is considered appropriate at that time, for a further designation and
application to the Secretary of State to extend the scheme in the county.
71

For those Landlords within these areas, an accreditation scheme is to
be developed with the NRLA which the landlords will be encouraged to
join. This will be no cost to DCC and release staff resource to
concentrate on pro-active private sector work, although enforcement will
still take place where applicable.

Selective Licencing Scheme Operational Costs and Proposed
Licence Fee
72

The scale of the proposed scheme requires a robust operational
infrastructure, and this will include:






staffing;
office accommodation;
IT software and hardware;
professional support (legal, financial, and marketing etc); and
associated close-down costs.

73

The licensing fee is to be set at a maximum of £500, with discount
available for each of the following: accreditation of either DCC or NRLA
(£55 discount per licence), landlords with two or more properties (£35
discount for each licence after the first property) and if registered within
3 months of the start date (£60 discount per licence). If all three
discounts apply, the fee will be £350 per licence.

74

Staffing of approximately 50 persons will be required split across
applications, monitoring & compliance, and enforcement. Other
professional services such as legal, HR and management has also
been accounted for, as has accommodation and other overheads
associated.

75

In terms of accommodation, most of the work can be carried out flexibly,
although an office base or bases will be required. This is being
considered as part of the office accommodation review.

76

Detailed work on the operational costs of the service is ongoing
however initial indications show that it will be approximately £13 million
over the 5 years. This however will be tailored to ensure that the scale
of the staffing/accommodation is in line with the fees accrued.

77

The scheme costs can be met from the fees paid for the licences
granted. The Council is unable to make a profit from the licence fees
but can fully fund the operational costs.

Page 82

Submission to the Secretary of State
78

The Council’s aim is to raise the standard and quality of housing
available in the PRS. A Selective Licensing Scheme would provide the
opportunity for the Council to introduce quality standards than can be
effectively regulated and is mandatory to all landlords in the area to
apply. Landlords would be required, and given support, to comply with
the terms of the licence and an inspection and enforcement service
would ensure compliance.

79

There are many benefits linked to selective licencing including:


providing tenants with a greater choice of safe; good quality and
well managed homes;



better community and cross tenure relations;



reduced anti-social behaviour;



help to stabilise and improve local neighbourhoods; and



provide more long-term stability and confidence in the market.

80

The standards of PRS properties will improve through establishing clear
minimum physical and management standards which can be controlled
through the licencing framework. Proactive enforcement action will be
taken against both unlicensed properties and/or where there are
breaches to the licencing conditions.

81

The scheme will make a significant contribution to a wider strategy of
improving the county’s towns and villages by improving both housing
conditions and access to quality housing.

82

In addition to the existing measures, the key elements of this scheme in
Durham will be:


approximately 30,000 properties will be licensed within the PRS
stock;



promotion of good practice in terms of management and
maintenance which is capable of being enforced;



mandatory licence application for every PRS property within the
defined scheme;



landlords must pass a ‘fit and proper person’ test in advance of
receiving a licence;

Page 83

83



appropriate staffing structure in place to support scheme
administration, inspection, and enforcement;



property inspection regime in place;



support for landlords to comply with licence; and



enforcement in cases where appropriate.

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed to ensure our
Public Sector Equality Duty is fulfilled when submitting proposals to the
Secretary of State. The key findings of the assessment are:
 Attached as background paper.

Conclusion
84

The introduction of a scheme across the stated geographic areas of
County Durham provides the opportunity to introduce regulation into this
sector where it is needed most and, as a result, lead to long term
improvements in the quality of life for private sector tenants and
improvements to our communities in our towns and villages.

85

As the proposed area represents more than 20% of the PRS the final
decision on the declaration of the scheme must be made by the
Secretary of State.

86

The staffing infrastructure will be significant to enable the scheme to
operate successfully and the costs will be met in full by the income
received from licence fees associated with the scheme.

Background papers




Cabinet Report – January 2020
EqIA for Selective Licensing consultation
MHCLG Independent Review of the Use and Effectiveness of
Selective Licensing
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/syst
em/uploads/attachment_data/file/833217/Selective_Licensing_Re
view_2019.pdf)

Other useful documents


None

Authors
Stuart Timmiss

Page 84

Tel: 03000 267334

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The legislation supporting the introduction of the scheme is detailed in
paragraph 14 of the report. Prior to applying to the Secretary of State the
Council must undertake a consultation process in accordance with guidance
issued by MHCLG. In view of the complex nature of the data analysis, and
the need to satisfy compliance with legislation and government guidance,
legal advice has been sought throughout the process.

Finance
Licence fee income over the period of the scheme will fully cover the
operational costs.
Income is based on 30,000 licence fee applications received which assumes
some properties will be exempt from the fee however for some properties we
will receive duplicate fees where the ownership of the property changes.

Consultation
The consultation period was from 17 February 2020 until 2 August 2020 –
extended on two occasions from the original closing date of 27 April 2020, due
to pre-election publicity period, which did not take place (due to COVID) and
due to COVID itself.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Assessment attached.

Climate Change
None.

Human Rights
The scheme aims to ensure that private sector tenants will benefit from the
protection offered in their tenancy agreements.

Crime and Disorder
It is anticipated that there will be positive benefits in relation to crime and
disorder and anti-social behaviour.

Staffing
A new staffing structure will require to be agreed and implemented in advance
of the scheme commencing.

Page 85

Accommodation
Accommodation for the new staff will be required for April 2021.

Risk
Cabinet will be asked to consider risks in advance of making the final decision
to submit a proposal to the Secretary of State.

Procurement
A bespoke IT system, to support the operation of the scheme, has been
procured.

Page 86

Appendix 2: Department for Communities and Local Government
Selective Licensing in the Private Rented Sector Guide for Local
Authorities
Attached separately.

Page 87

Appendix 3: MSOAs included for consultation proposals

Attached separately.

Page 88

Appendix 4: Consultation feedback report

Attached separately.

Page 89

Appendix 5: LSOAs to be included for submission

Attached separately.

Page 90

Appendix 6: Extension to data following consultation

Attached separately.

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2: Department for Communities and Local Government
Selective Licensing in the Private Rented Sector Guide for Local
Authorities

Page 93

Page 94

Page 95

Page 96

Page 97

Page 98

Page 99

Page 100

Page 101

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Page 106

Page 107

Page 108

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Page 113

Page 114

Appendix 3: MSOAs included for consultation proposals







































Acre Rigg and Peterlee
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Aycliffe Village, Newton Aycliffe South
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Blackhalls
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Cassop and Coxhoe
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Chilton and Ferryhill Station
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Consett West and Castleside
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Coundon and Willington South
Craghead and South Stanley
Crook North, Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Crook South and Willington North
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Delves and Leadgate South
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor
Fishburn and Trimdons
Gilesgate Moor
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Horden
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Langley Park, Cornsay and Satley
Leadgate North and Consett East
Murton South and South Hetton
Newton Aycliffe Central
Passfield and Shotton
Pelton and Grange Villa
Sacriston and Waldridge
Sherburn and West Rainton
Page 115








Page 116

Shildon
Shotton Colliery
Spennymoor Green Lane and Dean Bank
Stanley North and Kip Hill
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland
Thornley, Deaf Hill and Wheatley Hill

Selective Licensing
in County Durham
Consultation Feedback - You Said, We Did
Durham County Council
September 2020
Page 117

Page 118

We asked you…
Between 17th February and 2nd August 2020, we asked for your views on a proposal to introduce a Selective
Licensing scheme that would cover 65% (by area) of the private rented sector (PRS) in County Durham (and 74% of
the PRS homes). As this coverage is over 20%, it is a legislative requirement to obtain Government approval for the
scheme.
In County Durham the private rented sector is significant, with an estimated total of 68,516 properties, representing
28% of the total homes in the county. As the private rented sector grows, the number of landlords increases.
Although there are many good landlords who manage their properties and tenancies responsibly, there are also
landlords who avoid accountability to their tenants and the neighbourhoods they buy properties in.
In our consultation, we proposed that all private rented sector properties in all of the 43 areas (out of 66 in County
Durham) consulted on would be designated under one or more conditions of low housing demand, anti-social
behaviour and deprivation.
The key elements of the proposed scheme in County Durham were:
• Approximately 51,000 private rented properties would require the landlord to obtain a licence
• Promotion of good practice in terms of management and maintenance
• Landlords must pass a ‘fit and proper person’ test, in advance, to hold a licence
• Appropriate staffing structure in place to support scheme administration, monitoring and enforcement

The way we asked you…
The consultation was undertaken using a variety of communication methods:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Online information available through our webpage and consultation questionnaire
Paper copies of questionnaire made available
Hard copies of evidence and information sent to all customer access points, libraries, foodbanks and One
Point centres in County Durham
Specific events to target relevant groups (eg landlords)
Drop-in sessions (pre-COVID) in various locations across the county
Direct correspondence with stakeholders including Town and Parish Councils, registered housing providers,
neighboring local authorities, and Members of Parliament.
An insert on the consultation was included in every single council tax bill across County Durham in March
A leaflet drop was carried out to 200,000 homes in July
Social media promoted the consultation across February (and shared by partners including police, Area Action
Partnerships, community groups and parishes, and letting agents) and again, in July

Page 119

Throughout the COVID lockdown, our website gave access to the questionnaire and the deadline was
extended twice until it ended on 2nd August.

Page 120

The way you responded to the proposals…
•
•
•
•

1187 people responded to the online and paper questionnaire
Over 300 emails and 50 letters were also received
66% of those responding live in an area that was proposed to be covered by selective licensing (and 22% did
not). 9% did not live in County Durham.
40% of the questionnaires were completed by Landlords and 3% by Letting Agents. 20% were completed by
Private Tenants and 41% by Residents (not private tenants).
People were able to select more than one choice eg someone could state they were a letting agent and a
resident of County Durham. Businesses (2.6%), organisations (0.4%) and people stating they were ‘other’
(2.4%) also responded.

When respondents were asked if they agree or disagree that Durham County Council should ensure that private
rented sector homes are properly managed, 59% of all respondents strongly agreed and agreed, and 29% strongly
disagreed or disagreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 50% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 30% Agree/strongly agree

Private tenants
• 56% Agree/strongly agree
• 27% Disagree/strongly disagree

Residents
• 85% Agree/strongly agree
• 11% Disagree/strongly disagree

When respondents were asked if they agree or disagree with the proposals to introduce a Selective Licensing scheme,
52% of all respondents disagreed and strongly disagreed, and 45% agreed and strongly agreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 89% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 7% Agree/strongly agreed

Private tenants
• 53% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 44% Agree/strongly agree

Residents
• 78% Agree/strongly agree
• 21% Disagree/strongly disagree

All respondents that disagreed or strongly disagreed, were asked to suggest other ways to improve the quality and
management of private rented properties in County Durham, and responded as follows:
•
•
•

35% of those who disagreed or strongly disagreed said alternative powers or methods were already available.
25% said that good landlords were being penalised and action should be taken against poor landlords only
7% said that tenants required greater support from DCC to be more responsible and better manage their
tenancy.

Page 121

Page 122

Private rented sector tenants responded from…
The highest number of responses were received in the darkest shaded areas.

Residents (not PRS) responded from…
This includes any landlords or businesses (or those stating ‘other’) living in County Durham. The highest number of
responses were received in the darkest shaded areas.

Page 123

Page 124

Low Demand - You told us…
Low demand can mean low property prices, empty properties, a high level of properties up for sale or to let and/or
high turnover of tenancies.
When respondents were asked if they felt private rented sector (PRS) properties contribute to low demand in their
local area, 49% of all respondents said they disagreed or strongly disagreed and 36% said they agreed or strongly
agreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 82% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 5% Agree/strongly agree

Private tenants
• 46% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 37% Agree/strongly agree

Residents
• 61% Agree/strongly agree
• 22% Disagree/strongly disagree

60% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area agreed or strongly agreed.
All respondents that agreed or strongly agreed were asked why they did so:
•
•
•

48% said private rented properties are poorly managed and/or maintained, leading to the area looking rundown
or neglected; and 20% said landlords “don’t care” about their area (or do not address issues).
28% said anti-social behaviour and/or crime from the private rented sector lead to low housing demand
26% feel there is a high turnover of tenants in the PRS and/or tenants do not care about the property or area

Anti-Social Behaviour - You told us…
Anti-Social behaviour means, noise, nuisance, rubbish dumping or untidy yards or gardens
When respondents were asked if they felt that private rented sector (PRS) properties contribute to significant and
persistent anti-social behaviour in their local area, 50% of all respondents said they disagreed or strongly disagreed
and 41% said they agreed or strongly agreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 82% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 8% Agree/strongly agree

Private tenants
• 59% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 34% Agree/strongly agree

Residents
• 75% Agree/strongly agree
• 19% Disagree/strongly disagree

70% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area agreed or strongly agreed.
All respondents that agreed/strongly agreed were asked why they did so:

•
•
Page 125

•
•

29% said private rented sector tenants contribute to increased anti-social behaviour and/or crime
28% said there is a high turnover of tenants in the private rented sector and/or tenants do not care about the
property or area
25% felt private rented properties are poorly managed and/or maintained
21% said the PRS contributes fly tipping, rubbish, and untidy yards/gardens

Page 126

Deprivation - You told us…
Deprivation means low income households, poor health, poor living conditions or high unemployment
When respondents were asked if they felt that private rented sector (PRS) properties contribute to deprivation in
their local area, 54% of all respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed and 32% of all respondents agreed or strongly
agreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 86% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 4% Agree/strongly agree

Private tenants
• 57% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 28% Agree/strongly agree

Residents
• 58% Agree/strongly agree
• 24% Disagree/strongly disagree

56% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area agreed or strongly agreed.
All respondents that agreed/strongly agreed were asked why they did so:
•
•

28% said households in the PRS consist of low-income families, residents that are in poor health and/or
unemployed.
10% said that drugs and alcohol are an issue in the PRS

The proposed areas - You told us...
When respondents were asked if they agree or disagree with the proposed areas for a selective licensing scheme,
46% of all respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed and 39% agreed or strongly agreed with the areas proposed.
The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 75% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 7% Agree/strongly agree

Private tenants
• 52% Disagree/strongly disagree
• 37% Agree/strongly agree

Residents
• 67% Agree/strongly agree
• 20% Disagree/strongly disagree

65% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area agreed or strongly agreed.
All of the respondents that disagreed/strongly disagreed were asked why they did not:
•
•
•
•

13% said the areas in the proposal were too large and needed to be more selective
7% did not agree with the areas generally and 6% said no area required licensing
5% said all areas across County Durham require licensing
5% disagreed with the areas included in the north of the County

Page 127

Page 128

Impact of introducing a scheme - You told us…
When respondents were asked what they thought the impact of introducing a selective licensing scheme would be on
them or their business, 50% said an extremely negative or negative impact and 36% said it would have an extremely
positive or positive impact (14% said neither positive or negative). The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 90% Negative/extremely negative
• 3% Extremely positive/positive

Private tenants
Residents
• 41% Extremely positive/positive
• 67% Extremely positive/positive
• 32% Negative/extremely negative • 18% Negative/extremely negative

65% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area said it would have an extremely
positive or positive impact.
The respondents gave the main reason for their answer as follows:
•
•
•

20% of all respondents said that selective licensing is a tax on landlords, has no benefit to them and/or landlords
will sell or not invest in the area (or leave properties empty)
18% said there will be a negative impact on tenants, due to increased rents, evictions, and/or reduced
maintenance and 9% said the cost of the licence was too high (unaffordable)
8% said the scheme should deter poor landlords and bad practice and 8% also said ASB will decrease and/or
areas improve

The fee - You told us…
When respondents were asked about the cost of the license of approximately £500, 60% said it was too much, 24%
said ‘about right’ and 16% said it was too little. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 98% Too much
• 0% Too little

Private tenants
• 61% Too much
• 14% Too little

Residents
• 27% Too much
• 30% Too little

When respondents were asked if they agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a discount for early license
applications, 36% agreed or strongly agreed and 32% disagreed or strongly disagreed. The breakdown was:
Landlords and Letting Agents
• 36% Agree/strongly agree
• 28% Disagree/strongly disagree

Private tenants
• 36% Agree/strongly agree
• 31% Disagree/strongly disagree

Residents
• 37% Agree/strongly agree
• 37% Disagree/strongly disagree

When respondents were asked if they agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a discount for landlords
accredited with DCC, 52% agreed or strongly agreed and 23% disagreed or strongly disagreed. The breakdown was:
Page 129

Landlords and Letting Agents
• 37% Agree/strongly agree
• 30% Disagree/strongly disagree

Private tenants
• 56% Agree/strongly agree
• 23% Disagree/strongly disagree

Residents
• 62% Agree/strongly agree
• 17% Disagree/strongly disagree

Page 130

What else did we ask? You told us…
Number of properties owned/managed by landlords and agents
•
34% of landlords/agents advised they owned/managed just one property, with 30% advising they had 2-4 each.
How PRS properties are managed contributes to the feel of your area
•
68% of all respondents agreed or strongly agreed that how well PRS properties are managed contributes to the
feel of their area and 17% disagreed or strongly disagreed.
•
81% of residents and PRS tenants agree or strongly agree.
How well managed are PRS properties
•
46% of all respondents say PRS properties are well managed in their area and 38% say they are poorly managed.
•
80% of agents/landlords say they are well managed.
•
72% of residents say they are poorly managed. 51% of PRS tenants advised they believe PRS properties in their
area are well managed.
•
65% of residents and private tenants living in a proposed selective licensing area said PRS was poorly managed in
their area.
Licence conditions
•
44% of all respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed with the proposed licence conditions. 43% agreed or
strongly agreed.
•
74% of agents/landlords disagreed or strongly disagreed.
•
73% of residents agreed/strongly agreed with the conditions. 49% of PRS tenants disagreed/strongly disagreed.

Any other comments - You told us…
When respondents were asked if they had any other comments about the need for licensing in your area and/or the
proposal for selective licensing within County Durham, 852 additional comments were received:

Page 131

•

10% said there will be a negative impact on tenants, due to increased rent, evictions, and/or reduced
maintenance

•

9% said there should be a breakdown of costs of the licence fee, as it is not value for money and/or landlords (or
tenants) are unable to afford the fee

•

8% said landlords have a responsibility to the community, tenants, and properties

•

8% said they were already good landlords and only the poor landlords should be punished

•

6% said enough powers already existed and there were other methods to try

•

6% said tenants have a responsibility too and DCC should support tenants more

•

5% said wider economic/social issues were to blame for ASB, deprivation and low demand

Page 132

What landlords said…
“Don’t include full villages that don’t have issues just because they are in similar post code area to ones that are!”
“Landlords are business owners - reduce their income, you are reducing their availability to spend. Similarly in areas
with high social issues landlords will simply either sell up or if they can afford it take only certain types of tenants.”
“It'll cost money that I then won’t be able to invest in maintain and improving my portfolio. My tenants and the
neighbourhoods they live in will lose out.”
“More selective, targeted intervention is needed, not a blanket approach. I do not however object to being
accountable for the way I operate as a landlord.”
“Certain landlords do not look after their properties. They do not address issues to their own properties and thereby
upset other landlords who try their best to look after their own properties and tenants. Some landlords are just lazy
and do not care about their properties. I am a landlord and I report untidy yards, fly tipping and problem
landlord/tenant houses to my local councillor.”
“I believe landlords should be individually accountable, and only those who do not show good management should
have their properties licensed.”

“The areas are a blanket cover for all private properties which is seen as punishing those landlords who keep
properties in good condition and up to date with safety measures i.e. gas checks etc. DCC should be focused on
confronting bad and absent landlords.”
“Don’t penalise landlords that are doing every to ensure their property and tenants are well looked after. Visit
properties/landlords that are not doing things correctly and put them on a register.”
“The scheme will do little to dissuade or prevent substandard rogue Landlords operating, as has been shown to be the
case in other parts of the country.”
“The fee is to too high. The idea is a positive one, but not at the total cost to landlords. I suggest the tenant, landlords
and council contribute to the financial costs of the scheme to make it fair for everyone.”
“As previously mentioned, the Authority already has powers to deal with any problems. The majority of any licence fee
will be taken by increased staff and administrative costs.”
“Over the past four years with tax changes meaning landlords pay a lot more tax this extra licence will just push up the
cost of renting property as the landlord already squeezed financially this extra cost will be passed onto the tenant and
more tenants will struggle.”
Page 133

Page 134

What residents/tenants/businesses said…
“As the area we live in has increased the numbers of rental properties available the instances of anti-social behaviour,
drug abuse and crime has increased. The quality of life in the area is much reduced forcing some people to move out,
other people feel trapped unable to move due to the value of their properties now much reduced. At the moment
there is a high number of properties standing empty.”
“I think that landlords need to take more responsibility but not punishing tenants or charging them more but to
actually take responsibility”
“Some tenants have no respect for the house, as they don’t own it”
“Often because there are no checks on new tenants and very low, if no deposit made, the tenants simply do not care
and if evicted move to another property, in addition many landlords are not local and do not check on tenants to see if
they are looking after the property and not causing a nuisance to neighbours and wider community.”
“The areas are much too far reaching. If SL [licensing] is to be used it should be much more specific”
“Some of the states of the property that respectable tenants live in are disgusting and the council do not enforce quick
enough whilst tenants are punished for withholding rent and then evicted.”
“Some rogue landlords do not undertake repairs and maintenance to properties, leading to poor living conditions.”

“The proposed Selective Licensing is not the answer. My landlord has said he will pass the cost on to me and I can’t
afford it.”
“I think this is a great idea, hopefully to stop lawless tenants becoming a nuisance and the landlords who just want
anyone in as long as they get their rent.”
“Use existing powers to control known problem properties.”
“This will in no doubt have an impact on household and my personal wellbeing if I incur any increase in rent in this
current economic climate. Please don’t do this - this tax is an unnecessary stress added to an already difficult time for
us all.”
“All areas of County Durham should be included when this is implemented.”
“In the past when selective licensing has been in place in the area I live I saw a big decrease in anti-social behaviour.
Because of this, both myself and partner were able to have better quality sleep on a night which improved our health.”
“Think the area will improve if landlords have to take more responsibility about the state of the properties and who
they have as tenants.”
Page 135

“Most of the private rentals in my area are either empty or unkempt. This drags the aesthetics of the area down and
then in my opinion leads to anti-social behaviour and a lack of community respect.”

Page 136

The changes we propose…
Landlords told us through the consultation that they felt the scheme proposed was too vast, too expensive and
disagreed with many of the areas proposed – mainly as they were not selective enough. Partly as a result of
consultation feedback, we have now:
•

moved from Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) analysis to Lower Super Output Area (LSOA), to drill down in
greater detail in all areas across the proposed areas.

•

reduced the coverage of licensing proposals in County Durham reflecting the more detailed analysis of the
individual areas.

•

added a discount for those accredited by the National Residential Landlords’ Association (NRLA) alongside the
discount for accreditation by Durham County Council.

•

added a discount for landlords who have more than one property.

The earlier proposed discount, which we consulted on, for ‘early bird’ applications remains in place.

You said:said:
Landlords
The
geography
to collate
thevast
dataand
was
too
They
felt
the schemeused
proposed
was too
disagreed
broad
andofthe
by Middle
Output
with
many
thedesignations
areas proposed,
mainly asSuper
they were
not
Area were
not fair and would not work. And that
selective
enough

1. The areas
1. The area boundaries
for designation

different villages were grouped together by MSOAs
even though they can be completely different.

Page 137

Council’s response:
We will now propose to designate on Lower Super
Output Areas (LSOA) instead of Middle Super Output
Areas (MSOA), so we can drill down in greater detail
for all areas – meaning that the data for one village
does not unduly sway the data for another.

Page 138

You said:
That the use of MSOAs meant the overall size of
designation, covering 74% of PRS homes and 65% of
the area of County Durham, was too large and
unwarranted. However, many areas would benefit
from selective licensing.

2. The area size
Council’s response:

The proposals will now cover 42% of PRS homes and 32%
of the area of County Durham. In terms of area this
means a reduction by about half compared to the
proposals made at consultation.

3. The fee/cost

You said:
The fee was too high and greater discount was
required for good landlords – those accredited and
those engaging early and not requiring enforcement.
Landlords with multiple properties will require the
same ‘fit and proper’ person test for each licence
they apply for – and this should be recognised in their
fee.
Council’s response:

Page 139

The accreditation discount now includes those accredited
with the NRLA. This discount will be £55 per licence. A
multiple property discount for each licence beyond the
first. This discount will be £35. The ‘early bird’ discount
remains in place but at £60 per licence. An accredited
landlord, applying early with multiple properties will pay
£350 per licence (£385 for their first property).

Page 140

You said:
1) The upfront cost of paying the licence fee was too great
for many landlords, particularly the larger size landlords
with many properties – and that instalments should be
considered.
2) Tenants require greater access to training to assist with
sustaining their tenancy.

4. Other important
items

Council’s response:
1)We are looking into how costs could be spread across
more than two instalments (the standard part A and B)
without a signification cost increase to cover additional fee
collection.
2) DCC are committed to sustainability of tenancies and
housing services will look to strengthen their tenancy
training plan and work with landlords.

Outcomes
Durham County Council’s Cabinet will approve or reject the areas for designation,
and the proposals for the scheme, on 16th September 2020.
A copy of the Cabinet report is available on our website from 8th September
2020.
If Cabinet agree the designated areas and proposals, they will be submitted to the
Secretary of State for final approval. Depending how long the decision takes, if
approved, the scheme may go live around April 2021.

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5: LSOAs to be included for submission

MSOA

LSOA

LSOA to be included
for submission

Pelton and Grange Villa

Grange Villa

Yes

Pelton and Grange Villa

Pelton North

Yes

Pelton and Grange Villa

Pelton South

No

Pelton and Grange Villa
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton
Fell

Pelton West

No

Sacriston and Waldridge

Edmondsley

No

Sacriston and Waldridge

Plawsworth

No

Sacriston and Waldridge

Sacriston West

No

Sacriston and Waldridge

Sacriston North

No

Sacriston and Waldridge

Sacriston East

No

Stanley North and Kip Hill

Havannah South

Yes

Stanley North and Kip Hill

Havannah Central

No

Stanley North and Kip Hill

Havannah North

No

Stanley North and Kip Hill

Stanley Hall East

No

Stanley North and Kip Hill

Tanfield Lea East

No

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South

Annfield Plain

Yes

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South

Catchgate South

No

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South

Catchgate North

Yes

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South

Dipton West

No

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South

Tanfield Lea West

No

Craghead and South Stanley

Stanley Hall South

No

Craghead and South Stanley

Craghead North

Yes

Craghead and South Stanley

Craghead South

No

Craghead and South Stanley

Stanley Hall West

Yes

Craghead and South Stanley

Stanley Hall North

Yes

Annfield Plain South and South Moor

New Kyo

Yes

Annfield Plain South and South Moor

Greencroft

No

Annfield Plain South and South Moor

South Moor North

Yes

No
Chester Central 1
Yes
Chester Central 2
No
Chester South 1
No
Chester West 1
Yes
Chester West 2
Yes
Pelton Fell

Page 143

Annfield Plain South and South Moor

South Moor Central

Yes

Annfield Plain South and South Moor

South Moor South

Yes

Leadgate North and Consett East

Blackhill East

No

Leadgate North and Consett East

Consett South

Yes

Leadgate North and Consett East

Consett East

No

Leadgate North and Consett East

Consett North

No

Leadgate North and Consett East

Consett West

Yes

Leadgate North and Consett East

Leadgate North

Yes

Delves and Leadgate South

Delves North

No

Delves and Leadgate South

Delves South

No

Delves and Leadgate South

Crookhall

No

Delves and Leadgate South

Leadgate Central

Yes

Delves and Leadgate South

Leadgate South

No

Consett West and Castleside

Blackhill West

No

Consett West and Castleside

Blackhill Central

No

Consett West and Castleside

Castleside

No

Consett West and Castleside

Moorside East

No

Consett West and Castleside

Moorside West

Yes

Langley Park Cornsay and Satley

Cornsay Colliery

No

Langley Park Cornsay and Satley

Langley Park East

No

Langley Park Cornsay and Satley

Langley Park West

No

Langley Park Cornsay and Satley

Quebec

No

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert

Bearpark

Yes

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert

Witton Gilbert South

No

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert

Witton Gilbert North

No

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert

Broompark

No

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert

Ushaw Moor East

Yes

Sherburn and West Rainton

Pittington

No

Sherburn and West Rainton

West Rainton

No

Sherburn and West Rainton

Leamside

No

Sherburn and West Rainton

Shadforth

No

Sherburn and West Rainton

Sherburn North

No

Sherburn and West Rainton

Sherburn South

No

Gilesgate Moor

Gilesgate Moor South

No

Gilesgate Moor

Gilesgate North

No

Gilesgate Moor

Gilesgate South

No

Gilesgate Moor

Sherburn Road

No

Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West

Esh Winning

Yes

Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West

Waterhouses

Yes

Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West

Ushaw Moor West

No

Cassop and Coxhoe

Cassop

No

Cassop and Coxhoe

Coxhoe South

No

Cassop and Coxhoe

Coxhoe North

No

Cassop and Coxhoe

Kelloe

Yes

Page 144

Cassop and Coxhoe

Coxhoe Central

No

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour

Dawdon North 1

No

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour

Dawdon North 2

Yes

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour

Yes

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour

Dawdon South 2
Seaham Harbour
Central 1
Seaham Harbour
Central 2
Seaham Harbour
South

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Dawdon South 1

Yes

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Deneside North

No

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Deneside West

No

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Deneside East

No

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Dalton le Dale

Yes

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside

Murton Central

Yes

Murton South and South Hetton

Murton West

No

Murton South and South Hetton

Dalton Park

Yes

Murton South and South Hetton

Murton East

Yes

Murton South and South Hetton

South Hetton East
Murton Moor & Sth
Hetton
Easington Colliery
Central
Easington Colliery
North

Yes

Easington Village North
Easington Village
South

No

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour

Murton South and South Hetton
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden
Hill

No
No
Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

No
Yes

Dene House Central
Easington Colliery
South

Yes
Yes

Eden Hill South
Yes
Eden Hill Central
Yes
Eden Hill North
Yes
Horden North

Shotton Colliery

Shotton Colliery West

No

Shotton Colliery

Yes

Shotton Colliery

Shotton East
Shotton Colliery
Central

Shotton Colliery

Haswell

Yes

Horden

Horden Central

Yes

Horden

Horden West

Yes

Horden

Horden East

Yes

Horden

Horden South

Yes

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Acre Rigg South

Yes

Yes

Page 145

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Acre Rigg North

Yes

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Acre Rigg Central

No

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Howletch East

Yes

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Howletch North

Yes

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central

Passfield North

Yes

Passfield and Shotton

Dene House West

No

Passfield and Shotton

Howletch South

No

Passfield and Shotton

Passfield East

Yes

Passfield and Shotton

Passfield South

No

Passfield and Shotton

Passfield West

No

Blackhalls

Blackhall Rocks South

Yes

Blackhalls

Blackhall Colliery North

Yes

Blackhalls

Yes

Blackhalls

Blackhall Rocks North
Blackhall Colliery
South

Blackhalls

Dene House East

Yes

Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll

Wheatley Hill North

Yes

Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll

Thornley South

No

Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll

Wheatley Hill South

Yes

Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll

Thornley North

No

Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll

Deaf Hill

Yes

Hutton Henry and Wingate

Castle Eden

No

Hutton Henry and Wingate

Wingate West

Yes

Hutton Henry and Wingate

Wingate East

No

Hutton Henry and Wingate

Station Town

Yes

Fishburn and Trimdons

Trimdon South

Yes

Fishburn and Trimdons

Fishburn

No

Fishburn and Trimdons

Fishburn Central

No

Fishburn and Trimdons

Trimdon North

No

Fishburn and Trimdons
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean
Bank
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean
Bank
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean
Bank
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean
Bank

Trimdon Grange
Ferryhill Dean Bank
South
Ferryhill Dean Bank
North

No

Low Spennymoor
Spennymoor Green
Lane

No

Cornforth and Ferryhill

West Cornforth

Yes

Cornforth and Ferryhill

Ferryhill Central East

No

Cornforth and Ferryhill

Ferryhill Central West

No

Cornforth and Ferryhill

Ferryhill North

No

Byers Green and Spennymoor

Byers Green

No

Byers Green and Spennymoor

Kirk Merrington

No

Byers Green and Spennymoor

Middlestone Moor

Yes

Byers Green and Spennymoor

Spennymoor Central

Yes

Page 146

Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

Spennymoor Whitworth
Hall

No

Byers Green and Spennymoor
Chilton and Ferryhill Station

Rushyford

No

Chilton and Ferryhill Station

No
Yes

Chilton and Ferryhill Station

Chilton
Ferryhill South &
Station

Shildon

Shildon West

Yes

Shildon

New Shildon

Yes

Shildon

Eldon

Yes

Shildon

Sunnydale

Yes

Shildon

Thickley

Yes

Shildon

Shildon East

Yes

Newton Aycliffe Central

Midridge South

Yes

Newton Aycliffe Central

West South

Yes

Newton Aycliffe Central

West North

Yes

Newton Aycliffe Central

Yes

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South

Woodham Village SW
Neville & Simpasture
West

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South

Aycliffe Ind Estate

No

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South

Shafto St Marys West

No

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South

West Central

Yes

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and
Tow Law

School Aycliffe

No

No

Yes
Roddymoor
No
Crook Central 1
No
Howden le Wear
Yes
Tow Law Central
Yes
Tow Law Rural
Yes
Crook East

Crook South and Willington North

Crook Central 2

Yes

Crook South and Willington North

Crook West

No

Crook South and Willington North

Stanley Crook

Yes

Crook South and Willington North

Helmington row

No

Crook South and Willington North

Oakenshaw

No

Crook South and Willington North

Willington West

No

Coundon and Willington South

Coundon North

No

Coundon and Willington South

Newfield

Yes

Coundon and Willington South

Willington East

No

Coundon and Willington South

Willington Central

Yes

Coundon and Willington South

Sunnybrow

Yes

Bishop Auckland and South Church

Bishop Auckland Town

No

Bishop Auckland and South Church

Toronto

Yes

Bishop Auckland and South Church

Coundon South

Yes

Bishop Auckland and South Church

Coundon Grange

Yes

Page 147

Bishop Auckland and South Church

South Church

No

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene

Cockton Hill West

No

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene

Cockton Hill East

Yes

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene

Cockton Hill North

Yes

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene

Escomb East

No

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
St Helens Auckland and West
Auckland
St Helens Auckland and West
Auckland
St Helens Auckland and West
Auckland
St Helens Auckland and West
Auckland
St Helens Auckland and West
Auckland

Henknowle North

Yes
No

Escomb West
Yes
Hunwick
Yes
West Auckland East
No
West Auckland West
No
St Helens Auckland

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close

Henknowle South

Yes

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close

Henknowle Central
Woodhouse Close
South
Woodhouse Close
North
Woodhouse Close
Central

No

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close

Page 148

Yes
No
No

Selective Licensing in County Durham

Extension to data following consultation
September 2020

1
Page 149

Contents
The PRS in County Durham ............................................................................................................................................... 3
Our proposal for Selective Licensing - final....................................................................................................................... 5
Low Demand designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within)............................................................................. 5
Anti-social behaviour (ASB) designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within) ...................................................... 6
Deprivation designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within) ............................................................................... 6
Low housing demand, ASB and deprivation designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within) ........................... 7
Areas consulted upon but not included for designation .............................................................................................. 8
Analysis of designations .................................................................................................................................................. 11
Evidence of low demand in County Durham .......................................................................................................... 13
Evidence of anti-social behaviour (ASB) in County Durham ................................................................................... 17
Evidence of deprivation in the consulted areas within County Durham ................................................................ 21

2
Page 150

This is an extension to the data for the proposal of selective licensing within County Durham.
The information for the tenure change between 2001 and 2020 in County Durham, alternative measures,
and the strategic case for selective licensing in County Durham can all be found in the Evidence Report
presented for consultation (attached to the Cabinet report in January 2020, where approval was given to
consult), along with previously presented data relevant to our selective licensing proposals.
All other below sections have been updated following consultation.

The PRS in County Durham
To analyse areas within the county we consulted using the Office for National Statistics’ Middle Super
Output Area (MSOA) - Census defined geographical areas - as this provided a robust and stable basis
against which analysis and future monitoring could be applied. These areas are similar in size to electoral
wards, of which County Durham has 63.
Following consultation, it was decided to analyse all data for submission to the Secretary of State at Lower
Super Output Areas (LSOAs) to assist with better examination of the issues discussed (targeting specific
areas of low housing demand, anti-social behaviour and deprivation). Only areas within the original
consulted area (43 MSOAs from the 66 that exist in County Durham) are put forward for approval by
Cabinet and the Secretary of State.
Within County Durham there are 324 LSOAs, of which 234 are estimated to have a higher proportion of
private rented sector (PRS) properties than the national average for private rented (19.46%). This means
72% of County Durham’s LSOAs are above the national average for PRS properties.
Modelling work estimated that across the County 28.4% (68,516 properties) of residential properties were
privately rented, above the current national average of 19.46%1. However, looking across the 324 LSOAs
covering the county, some areas indicated that the percentage was over 60%, (the LSOA estimates ranged
from a minimum of 2% to a maximum of 76%), with 211 LSOAs having a higher proportion than the County
Durham average.
The following map shows the distribution of the 324 LSOAs.

1

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, (2019), English Household Survey 2017/18:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_201718_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx , Table AT 1.5

3
Page 151

Map 1: LSOAs in County Durham with a PRS proportion higher than England.

4
Page 152

Our proposal for Selective Licensing - final
The council are proposing to introduce a selective licensing scheme into 104 areas (LSOAs) across the
county where we feel we can meet the necessary conditions set out and that the scheme will contribute to
the overall objectives in the Council Vision for 2035 and the County Durham Plan, which are intrinsically
linked; along with the Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy.
The Council is seeking four designations on the conditions of:
•
•
•
•

low housing demand;
anti-social behaviour;
deprivation, and
low housing demand, ASB and deprivation (meeting all three conditions)

We propose all private rented sector properties in the following areas (LSOAs) be designated under the
stated condition:

Low Demand designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within)
There are 26 LSOAs in this designation.
LSOA
Chester Central 2
Consett South
Consett West
Havannah South
Leadgate Central
Leadgate North
Kelloe
Waterhouses
Dawdon South 2
Dalton Park
Murton East
Blackhall Rocks North
South Hetton East
Haswell
Horden South
Shildon West
West Cornforth
Cockton Hill East
Cockton Hill North
Henknowle North
Tow Law Rural
Newfield
Roddymoor
Tow Law Central
Stanley Crook
Hunwick

MSOA
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Leadgate North and Consett East
Leadgate North and Consett East
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Delves and Leadgate South
Leadgate North and Consett East
Cassop and Coxhoe
Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Murton South and South Hetton
Murton South and South Hetton
Blackhalls
Murton South and South Hetton
Shotton Colliery
Horden
Shildon
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Coundon and Willington South
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Crook South and Willington North
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland

5
Page 153

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within)
There are 6 LSOAs in this designation.
LSOA
Catchgate North
Howletch North
Passfield North
Murton Central
Ferryhill Dean Bank South
Sunnybrow

MSOA
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean Bank
Coundon and Willington South

Deprivation designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within)
There are 46 LSOAs in this designation.
LSOA
Chester West 2
Pelton Fell
Pelton North
Annfield Plain
Stanley Hall North
Moorside West
Craghead North
Stanley Hall West
Bearpark
Esh Winning
Ushaw Moor East
Wheatley Hill South
Howletch East
Easington Colliery South
Blackhall Colliery North
Blackhall Rocks South
Dene House East
Dalton le dale
Dawdon South 1
Seaham Harbour South
Horden West
Wingate West
Acre Rigg North
Acre Rigg South
Dene House Central
Eden Hill Central
Eden Hill North
Eden Hill South
Horden North
Murton Moor & South Hetton

MSOA
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Pelton and Grange Villa
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Craghead and South Stanley
Consett West and Castleside
Craghead and South Stanley
Craghead and South Stanley
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Blackhalls
Blackhalls
Blackhalls
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Horden
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Murton South and South Hetton
6

Page 154

Passfield East
Shotton Colliery Central
Shotton East
Middlestone Moor
Trimdon South
Thickley
Low Spennymoor
West Central
Middridge South
West North
West South
Woodham Village South West
Shildon East
Woodhouse Close South
Crook East
Willington Central

Passfield and Shotton
Shotton Colliery
Shotton Colliery
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Fishburn and Trimdons
Shildon
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean Bank
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Newton Aycliffe Central
Newton Aycliffe Central
Newton Aycliffe Central
Newton Aycliffe Central
Shildon
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Coundon and Willington South

Low housing demand, ASB and deprivation designation by LSOA (and the MSOA they lie within)
There are 26 LSOAs in this designation.
LSOA
Grange Villa
New Kyo
South Moor Central
South Moor North
South Moor South
Blackhall Colliery South
Dawdon North 2
Easington Colliery Central
Easington Colliery North
Horden Central
Horden East
Station Town
Deaf Hill
Wheatley Hill North
Spennymoor Central
Ferryhill South & Station
Eldon
Sunnydale
New Shildon
Ferryhill Dean Bank North
Coundon Grange
Coundon South
Toronto
Crook Central 2

MSOA
Pelton and Grange Villa
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Blackhalls
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery North
Horden
Horden
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Chilton and Ferryhill Station
Shildon
Shildon
Shildon
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean Bank
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Crook South and Willington North
7
Page 155

Henknowle South
West Auckland East

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland

The map below shows all areas within County Durham and our proposed designations for low housing
demand, ASB, deprivation, and low housing demand, ASB and deprivation (meeting all three criteria).
Map 2: Proposed designations in County Durham by LSOA

Areas consulted upon but not included for designation
The 43 MSOAs included in the consultation proposals are made up of 211 LSOAs. Of these areas, 107 LSOAs are not
included in our final designation proposals. These are:
LSOA
Pelton South
Sacriston North
Sacriston West
Chester Central 1
Chester South 1
Chester West 1
Pelton West
Edmonsley
Plawsworth
Sacriston East

MSOA
Pelton and Grange Villa
Sacriston and Waldridge
Sacriston and Waldridge
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Pelton and Grange Villa
Sacriston and Waldridge
Sacriston and Waldridge
Sacriston and Waldridge
8

Page 156

Greencroft
Moorside East
Catchgate South
Dipton West
Tanfield Lea West
Blackhill Central
Blackhill West
Castleside
Craghead South
Stanley Hall South
Crookhall
Delves North
Delves South
Leadgate South
Cornsay Colliery
Langley Park East
Langley Park West
Quebec
Blackhill East
Consett East
Consett North
Havannah North
Havannah Central
Stanley Hall East
Tanfield Lea East
Gilesgate Moor South
Gilesgate South
Shadforth
Leamside
Broompark
Witton Gilbert South
Witton Gilbert South
Cassop
Coxhoe Central
Coxhoe North
Coxhoe South
Ushaw Moor West
Gilesgate North
Sherburn Road
Pittington
Sherburn North
Sherburn South
West Rainton
Acre Rigg Central
Deneside North
Deneside East
Deneside West

Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Consett West and Castleside
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Consett West and Castleside
Consett West and Castleside
Consett West and Castleside
Craghead and South Stanley
Craghead and South Stanley
Delves and Leadgate South
Delves and Leadgate South
Delves and Leadgate South
Delves and Leadgate South
Langley Park Cornsay and Satley
Langley Park Cornsay and Satley
Langley Park Cornsay and Satley
Langley Park Cornsay and Satley
Leadgate North and Consett East
Leadgate North and Consett East
Leadgate North and Consett East
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Gilesgate Moor
Gilesgate Moor
Sherburn and West Rainton
Sherburn and West Rainton
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Cassop and Coxhoe
Cassop and Coxhoe
Cassop and Coxhoe
Cassop and Coxhoe
Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West
Gilesgate Moor
Gilesgate Moor
Sherburn and West Rainton
Sherburn and West Rainton
Sherburn and West Rainton
Sherburn and West Rainton
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
9
Page 157

Dawdon North 1
Seaham Harbour Central 1
Seaham Harbour Central 2
Easington Village North
Easington Village South
Castle Eden
Wingate East
Murton West
Dene House West
Howletch South
Passfield South
Passfield West
Shotton Colliery West
Thornley North
Thornley South
Neville & Simpasture West
Shafto St Marys West
Ferryhill North
Aycliffe Ind Est
School Aycliffe
Byers Green
Kirl Merrington
Spennymoor Whitworth Hall
Rushyford
Chilton
Ferryhill Central East
Ferryhill Central West
Fishburn
Fishburn Central
Trimdon Grange
Trimdon North
Spennymoor Green Lane
Willington West
St Helens Auckland
Coundon North
Bishop Auckland Town
South Church
Cockton Hill West
Escomb East
Willington East
Crook Central 1
Howden le Wear
Crook West
Helmington Row
Oakenshaw
Henknowle Central
Woodhouse Close Central

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery North
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Murton South and South Hetton
Passfield and Shotton
Passfield and Shotton
Passfield and Shotton
Passfield and Shotton
Shotton Colliery
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Byers Green and Spennymoor
Chilton and Ferryhill Station
Chilton and Ferryhill Station
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Fishburn and Trimdons
Fishburn and Trimdons
Fishburn and Trimdons
Fishburn and Trimdons
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean Bank
Crook South and Willington North
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland
Coundon and Willington South
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Coundon and Willington South
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law
Crook South and Willington North
Crook South and Willington North
Crook South and Willington North
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
10

Page 158

Woodhouse Close North
West Auckland West
Escomb West

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland

Analysis of designations
The graph below shows the 211 LSOAs consulted on and the percentage of PRS properties in each area.
The red line denotes the national average (19.46%) for PRS properties.

11
Page 159

Graph 1: PRS percentage per LSOA included in final proposals
Proportion Private Landlord
Tow Law Rural
Tow Law Central
Murton Central
Crook East
Sunnybrow
Passfield North
Dawdon South 1
Easington Colliery South
Hunwick
Blackhall Rocks South
Deaf Hill
Shotton Colliery Central
Ferryhill Dene Bank South
Dalton le Dale
Haswell
Esh Winning
Chester West 2
Kelloe
Stanley Crook
Dene House East
Eden Hill North
Pelton Fell
Eden Hill Central
Henknowle South
Horden North
Wheatley Hill South
Shildon East
Passfield East
Ushaw Moor East
Roddymoor
Cockton Hill North
Wingate West
Pelton North
Waterhouses
Moorside West
Middlestone Moor
Murton Moor & Sth Hetton
Trimdon South
Dene House Central
Howletch East
Woodhouse Close South
Dalton Park
Wheatley Hill North
West South
Craghead North
South Hetton East
Eden Hill South
Acre Rigg North
Midridge South
Woodham Village SW
South Moor North
West Auckland East
Horden West
Stanley Hall North
Blackhall Rocks North
Coundon South
Acre Rigg South
Blackhall Colliery North
Spennymoor Central
West North
Stanley Hall West
Station Town
Horden South
Consett South
Catchgate North
West Cornforth
Sunnydale
Annfield Plain
Newfield
Willington Central
Coundon Grange
Howletch North
Seaham Harbour South
West Central
Ferryhill South & Station
Low Spennymoor
Crook Central 2
Havannah South
New Shildon
Horden East
Bearpark
Cockton Hill East
Thickley
Consett West
Blackhall Colliery South
Dawdon South 2
Grange Villa
Eldon
Ferryhill Dene Bank North
Chester Central 2
Leadgate Central
South Moor South
Shildon West
Shotton East
Henknowle North
New Kyo
Easington Colliery Centra
Leadgate North
Horden Central
Easington Colliery North
Toronto
South Moor Central
Murton East
Dawdon North 2

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

Proportion Private Landlord

12
Page 160

Evidence of low demand in County Durham
In accordance with the General Approval guidance, the below are the tests that local authorities should
apply when seeking designation for selective licensing based on low demand:
The value of residential premises in the area, in comparison to the value of similar premises in other areas
which the authority considers to be comparable (whether in terms of type of housing, local amenities,
availability of transport):
•
•
•
•

The median house price for County Durham (£109,000) is some way below the North-East median
house price (£133,000). 185 of the 211 (88%) areas consulted on (43 MSOAs made up of 211 LSOAs)
in County Durham are below this North-East median figure.
The median house price in 161 of these 211 areas is below the County Durham average.
98 of the 104 LSOAs included in the final proposals have a median house price lower than the
County average.
The average median monthly rent in the North-East of England, is £4952. In County Durham it is
£450, nearly 10% lower.

The graph below shows the median house price for all areas included in our final proposals for designation. The red
line denotes the County Durham average (£109,500).
All areas proposed for designation under low housing demand or the designation of low housing demand,

ASB and deprivation are below the average house price for County Durham.

2

Rental market statistics:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-rental-market-summary-statistics-april-2018-to-march-2019

13
Page 161

Graph 2: Median house prices in County Durham by LSOA included in final proposals
Horden Central
Ferryhill Dean Bank North
Horden East
Coundon Grange
Blackhall Colliery South
Easington Colliery North
Easington Colliery Centra
Ferryhill South & Station
South Moor South
Spennymoor Central
South Moor Central
Shildon East
New Shildon
Willington Central
West Cornforth
Haswell
Dawdon North 2
Eldon
Sunnydale
Wheatley Hill North
Tow Law Central
Dene House Central
Wingate West
Wheatley Hill South
Sunnybrow
Horden North
Murton East
Shotton Colliery Central
Crook East
Stanley Hall West
Kelloe
Acre Rigg North
West North
Horden South
Eden Hill Central
Ushaw Moor East
Shildon West
Henknowle North
Deaf Hill
Trimdon South
Toronto
Coundon South
Annfield Plain
West Auckland East
Eden Hill South
Woodham Village SW
South Moor North
Station Town
Leadgate Central
Midridge South
Howletch East
Easington Colliery South
Moorside West
Grange Villa
Horden West
Acre Rigg South
Murton Central
West Central
South Hetton East
Stanley Crook
Murton Moor & Sth Hetton
Passfield East
Consett South
Howletch North
Bearpark
Henknowle South
Blackhall Rocks North
Blackhall Colliery North
Dawdon South 2
Roddymoor
Pelton North
Dalton Park
Cockton Hill East
Waterhouses
Crook Central 2
Shotton East
Catchgate North
Chester West 2
West South
Ferryhill Dean Bank South
Passfield North
Stanley Hall North
Seaham Harbour South
Woodhouse Close South
Chester Central 2
Esh Winning
Tow Law Rural
Consett West
Leadgate North
Newfield
Hunwick
Dene House East
Cockton Hill North
New Kyo
Low Spennymoor
Havannah South
Eden Hill North
Pelton Fell
Middlestone Moor
Dawdon South 1
Blackhall Rocks South
Dalton le Dale
Craghead North
Thickley

£0

£20,000

£40,000

£60,000

£80,000

£100,000

£120,000

£140,000

£160,000

14
Page 162

The number of residential premises which are available to buy or rent, and the length of time for which they
remain unoccupied:
•

The overall vacancy rate across the county is 4.6% which is higher than both the national and
regional average with 2.6% being vacant for 6 months or more

The latest data used (see table below) in this analysis covered up to 31st March 2019 and showed that in
total there were 11,178 empty homes in County Durham out of a potential 241,600 residential addresses,
(4.6%); of these empty homes, 55.3% have been vacant for over 6 months (6,184).
Table 1: Vacant Dwellings

All vacant
Vacant >6
months
Vacant >12
months

Count
% of homes in the area
Count
% of homes in the area
% of all vacant
Count
% of homes in the area
% of all vacant

County Durham

North-East (2018)

11,178
4.6
6,184
2.6
55.3
4,410
1.8
39.5

44,672
3.6
16,979
1.4
38.0
-

Although graph 2 above shows many areas proposed for designation are affected by low house prices,
regardless of their designation, it is accepted that not all proposed areas in County Durham have an issue
with empty homes.
Graph 3 below shows the empty homes rate for all areas proposed for designation under low housing
demand or the designation of low housing demand, ASB and deprivation. All these areas meet or are above
the County Durham average of 2.6.

15
Page 163

Graph 3: Empty homes in County Durham by LSOA included in a low housing demand designation

Empty rate %
Wheatley Hill North
Chester Central 2
Consett South
Kelloe
Leadgate North
Murton East
Roddymoor
Horden South
Hunwick
Cockton Hill North
West Cornforth
Haswell
Consett West
Dawdon South 2
Sunnydale
Henknowle South
Blackhall Rocks North
South Moor North
West Auckland East
New Shildon
Waterhouses
Blackhall Colliery South
Henknowle North
Dalton Park
Ferryhill South & Station
Crook Central 2
South Hetton East
Leadgate Central
Stanley Crook
Spennymoor Central
Havannah South
Dawdon North 2
Newfield
Station Town
Tow Law Rural
New Kyo
Shildon West
South Moor South
Cockton Hill East
Deaf Hill
Grange Villa
Coundon South
Toronto
Easington Colliery Centra
Horden East
South Moor Central
Eldon
Tow Law Central
Coundon Grange
Horden Central
Easington Colliery North
Ferryhill Dean Bank North

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

16
Page 164

The turnover of occupiers of residential premises (in both rented and owner-occupied properties):
•
•

The total number of sales in 2018 was 8288 (3.4% of total properties, all tenure type), compared
with 41,281 in the North-East (3.4% of total properties, all tenure type).
Over this period nearly 27,000 dwellings had two or more changes of occupier in County Durham,
(a rate of 1094.1 per 10,000 residential dwellings).

The turnover rate is the rate at which the occupiers in a residential dwelling change and can be used as
supplemental evidence rather than a statutory measure of ‘Low Demand’.
The turnover rate in County Durham was estimated using council tax data by looking at the number of
changes of a dwellings status within the council tax database. Over the three-year period April 2016 to
March 2019 dwellings that showed two or more changes in occupier were counted and aggregated up to
LSOA and the county.
The general appearance of the locality and the number of boarded up shops and properties:
When considering the appearance of each locality, we have taken the following into consideration when
designating an area on low demand:
• Vacant properties
• Fly tipping
• Pests
By addressing the issues associated with low demand, such as anti-social behaviour and empty properties,
selective licensing should make our communities safer and a more desirable place to live and work.
Evidence of anti-social behaviour (ASB) in County Durham
An area can be designated under ASB if it can be shown the area is experiencing a significant and persistent
problem caused by anti-social behaviour. In seeking a ‘ASB’ designation we have considered the following:
•
•
•

Police ASB – three years of data covering 2015/16 to 2017/18 for comparison purposes with the
North-East, with data available for 2018/19 for persistence analysis.
Fire Brigade Secondary Fires - three years of data covering 2016/17 to 2018/19 for comparison
purposes with the North-East.
Durham County Council (DCC) – ASB and noise complaints (July 2016 to July 2019 and 2016/17 to
2018/19 respectively).

We have used the most up to date information available - in the case of Police ASB, data covering 2015/16
to 2017/18 was used to enable comparisons against the region, as regional data was not available for
2018/19 at the time of this analysis. In addition, the DCC ASB was extracted from a new system which
came online in July 2016.
In the evidence report published for consultation, ASB rates were shown for all MSOAs in County Durham.
The graph below now shows the same collated ASB data broken down for all LSOAs that are included in our
final proposals (all designations).
All areas proposed for designation under ASB or the designation of low housing demand, ASB and

deprivation are above the average ASB rate (1,374 per 10,000 residents) for County Durham. All areas are
also above the national average for PRS (19.46%).

17
Page 165

Graph 4: ASB incident rates per LSOA

Rate per 10,000 popn
Hunwick
Blackhall Colliery North
Waterhouses
Newfield
Stanley Crook
Leadgate North
South Hetton East
Howletch East
Esh Winning
Roddymoor
Tow Law Central
Blackhall Rocks North
Bearpark
Easington Colliery South
Stanley Hall North
Annfield Plain
Leadgate Central
Middlestone Moor
Dawdon South 1
Chester West 2
West Cornforth
Thickley
Crook East
Woodhouse Close South
South Moor North
Ushaw Moor East
Sunnydale
Trimdon South
Dalton le Dale
Horden North
Murton Central
Dalton Park
Haswell
Craghead North
Dawdon South 2
Horden West
Henknowle South
Acre Rigg South
Ferryhill Dene Bank South
Horden South
Wingate West
Tow Law Rural
Catchgate North
West Central
Stanley Hall West
Shildon West
Woodham Village SW
Blackhall Rocks South
New Kyo
Moorside West
Acre Rigg North
Spennymoor Central
Pelton North
New Shildon
Easington Colliery Centra
Coundon South
Dene House East
Consett South
Murton Moor & Sth Hetton
Ferryhill South & Station
Howletch North
Shildon East
Deaf Hill
South Moor Central
Consett West
Henknowle North
Toronto
Kelloe
Dawdon North 2
South Moor South
Murton East
West South
Pelton Fell
Cockton Hill North
Coundon Grange
Passfield North
Sunnybrow
Blackhall Colliery South
Seaham Harbour South
Wheatley Hill North
Eldon
Grange Villa
West North
Passfield East
Dene House Central
Horden East
Shotton Colliery Central
Crook Central 2
Eden Hill Central
Horden Central
Eden Hill South
Station Town
Wheatley Hill South
Ferryhill Dene Bank North
Willington Central
Low Spennymoor
Shotton East
West Auckland East
Havannah South
Cockton Hill East
Midridge South
Eden Hill North
Chester Central 2
Easington Colliery North

0.0

1000.0

2000.0

3000.0

4000.0

5000.0

6000.0

7000.0

18
Page 166

The graph below shows the relationship between the PRS and ASB in County Durham (LSOA level) and the
trend is that where the PRS is higher, so is the ASB rate for the area.
Graph 5: Relationship between private rented sector and ASB by LSOA in County Durham

Prevalence of ASB in the PRS
Guidance advises that for an area to meet the condition for ASB it must be prevalent in the PRS. We have
mapped each incident of ASB and fly tipping across all tenures and broken this down by LSOA – only
including areas in the designation of ASB or the designation of low housing demand, ASB and deprivation if
the prevalence for that area is above the County Durham average (28%). The graph below shows all LSOAs
above the 28% (the red line denotes the County average).
No area is proposed to be designated under ASB or the designation of low housing demand, ASB and
deprivation unless the anti-social behaviour is prevalent in the PRS.
Areas where the ASB rate is high but the prevalence is predominantly in the social housing sector (or
owner occupier) may be proposed in another designation but if they do not meet the conditions for low
housing demand or deprivation they have been left out of the final proposed areas.

19
Page 167

Graph 6: Prevalence of ASB in the private rented sector (only LSOAs above the County Durham PRS prevalence average)
Wheatley Hill South
Horden South
Wingate West
Pelton North
South Moor North
Horden North
Cockton Hill East
Shildon East
Seaham Harbour South
West Central
Murton Central
Murton Moor & Sth Hetton
Midridge South
Catchgate North
Sunnydale
Eden Hill South
West South
Coundon South
New Kyo
Deaf Hill
Shotton East
Woodham Village SW
Passfield East
Station Town
Dawdon North 2
Shotton Colliery Central
Willington Central
Acre Rigg South
Henknowle South
Eldon
Acre Rigg North
West North
South Moor South
New Shildon
Sunnybrow
Easington Colliery Centra
Crook Central 2
West Auckland East
South Moor Central
Ferryhill Dene Bank South
Eden Hill North
Ferryhill South & Station
Dene House Central
Toronto
Spennymoor Central
Wheatley Hill North
Coundon Grange
Eden Hill Central
Passfield North
Grange Villa
Horden Central
Blackhall Colliery South
Easington Colliery North
Horden East
Ferryhill Dene Bank North
Howletch North

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

20
Page 168

Evidence of deprivation in the consulted areas within County Durham
The guidance states that an area can be designation under the ‘Deprivation’ criteria if:
•

that the area is suffering from a high level of deprivation, which affects a significant number of the
occupiers of properties.

For the purposes of this analysis the Index of Deprivation 20153 was used as a basis to evaluate the areas
experiencing higher levels of deprivation and it was determined, using this indicator, that this area does in
fact experience higher levels of deprivation.
The Indices of Multiple Deprivation measure is based on a range of factors including income, health,
employment, housing, and crime.
Of the 211 LSOAs in County Durham that were consulted (43 MSOAs), 143 are in the top 30% most
deprived LSOAs nationally. Of these 143 LSOAs, 38 are in the top 10% of deprived LSOAs nationally.
32 of these 38 LSOAs are in the top 10% of deprived areas nationally and have higher levels of PRS
properties; and have been included in our designation areas.
The table below shows all LSOAs that were included in the consultation for County Durham that are in the
top 20% most deprived nationally.
Table 2: LSOAs included in the consultation and in the top 20% most deprived nationally

LSOA Name

Index of deprivation

Chester Central 1

Top 10%

Stanley Hall West

Top 10%

South Moor Central

Top 10%

Ushaw Moor East

Top 10%

Leamside

Top 10%

Sherburn Road

Top 10%

Deneside North

Top 10%

Deneside East

Top 10%

Murton Central

Top 10%

Easington Colliery North

Top 10%

Dene House Central

Top 10%

Eden Hill South

Top 10%

Eden Hill Central

Top 10%

Eden Hill North

Top 10%

Horden North

Top 10%

Shotton Colliery Central

Top 10%

Horden Central

Top 10%

Horden East

Top 10%

Passfield East

Top 10%

3

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government Index of Deprivation 2015:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
21
Page 169

Blackhall Rocks South

Top 10%

Blackhall Colliery South

Top 10%

Wheatley Hill South

Top 10%

Ferryhill Dene Bank North

Top 10%

Middlestone Moor

Top 10%

Sunnydale

Top 10%

Shildon East

Top 10%

Midridge South

Top 10%

West South

Top 10%

West North

Top 10%

Woodham Village SW

Top 10%

Crook East

Top 10%

Coundon North

Top 10%

Willington Central

Top 10%

Sunnybrow

Top 10%

Coundon Grange

Top 10%

Henknowle Central

Top 10%

Woodhouse Close South

Top 10%

Woodhouse Close Central

Top 10%

Grange Villa

Top 10 to 20%

Pelton North

Top 10 to 20%

Chester South 1

Top 10 to 20%

Chester West 2

Top 10 to 20%

Pelton Fell

Top 10 to 20%

Annfield Plain

Top 10 to 20%

Catchgate North

Top 10 to 20%

Stanley Hall South

Top 10 to 20%

Craghead North

Top 10 to 20%

Stanley Hall North

Top 10 to 20%

New Kyo

Top 10 to 20%

South Moor North

Top 10 to 20%

South Moor South

Top 10 to 20%

Leadgate Central

Top 10 to 20%

Moorside West

Top 10 to 20%

Bearpark

Top 10 to 20%

Esh Winning

Top 10 to 20%

Kelloe

Top 10 to 20%

Dawdon North 2

Top 10 to 20%

Seaham Harbour South

Top 10 to 20%

Dawdon South 1

Top 10 to 20%

Deneside West

Top 10 to 20%

Dalton le Dale

Top 10 to 20%

Murton Moor & Sth Hetton

Top 10 to 20%

Easington Colliery Centra

Top 10 to 20%
22

Page 170

Easington Colliery South

Top 10 to 20%

Shotton East

Top 10 to 20%

Haswell

Top 10 to 20%

Horden West

Top 10 to 20%

Horden South

Top 10 to 20%

Acre Rigg South

Top 10 to 20%

Acre Rigg North

Top 10 to 20%

Howletch East

Top 10 to 20%

Howletch North

Top 10 to 20%

Passfield North

Top 10 to 20%

Howletch South

Top 10 to 20%

Blackhall Colliery North

Top 10 to 20%

Dene House East

Top 10 to 20%

Wheatley Hill North

Top 10 to 20%

Deaf Hill

Top 10 to 20%

Wingate West

Top 10 to 20%

Station Town

Top 10 to 20%

Trimdon South

Top 10 to 20%

Ferryhill Dene Bank South

Top 10 to 20%

Low Spennymoor

Top 10 to 20%

Spennymoor Green Lane

Top 10 to 20%

West Cornforth

Top 10 to 20%

Ferryhill Central East

Top 10 to 20%

Spennymoor Central

Top 10 to 20%

Chilton

Top 10 to 20%

Ferryhill South & Station

Top 10 to 20%

New Shildon

Top 10 to 20%

Eldon

Top 10 to 20%

Thickley

Top 10 to 20%

West Central

Top 10 to 20%

Crook Central 1

Top 10 to 20%

Tow Law Central

Top 10 to 20%

Tow Law Rural

Top 10 to 20%

Crook Central 2

Top 10 to 20%

Toronto

Top 10 to 20%

Coundon South

Top 10 to 20%

West Auckland East

Top 10 to 20%

Henknowle South

Top 10 to 20%

Woodhouse Close North

Top 10 to 20%

23
Page 171

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 June
2020 and Update on Progress towards
achieving MTFP(10) savings
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide Cabinet with information on the:
(a)

forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21;

(b)

forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund
position at 31 March 2021;

(c)

forecast use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves and
estimated balances to be held at 31 March 2021.

2

To seek approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums
outside of the cash limit.

3

To provide Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving
MTFP(10) savings.

Executive summary
4

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council, partners and local
communities have been working tirelessly to respond to the pandemic
and to put steps in place for recovery. The financial implications of
COVID-19 are significant and complex which makes forecasting the
council’s outturn position even more challenging than usual. The
Page 173

financial position of the council will need to be monitored very closely
over the coming months to ensure that steps can be taken to maintain
spending within available budgets and to reallocate resources as
required.
5

It is currently forecast that service grouping budgets will overspend by
£43.3 million. This overspend position results from additional
expenditure and loss of income associated with the COVID-19
outbreak.

6

The government has provided three tranches of funding for local
authorities for additional costs incurred as a result of COVID-19. This
funding is allocated based upon formulae and to date the council has
received £38.1 million. Of this, £1.1 million was to cover costs incurred
in 2019/20. This leaves funding available of £37 million to be applied in
2020/21.

7

The government has also announced an ‘Income Guarantee Scheme’
to provide financial support for lost sales, fees and charges income. The
details of the scheme were published on 23 August 2020. The scheme
requires councils to bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after
which the government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent
losses. A number of areas of income loss such as commercial income
and rental income are not covered by the scheme. In addition, any
underspends generated in the areas in question must be utilised to
offset any lost income

8

The guidance details that an initial return will be required for the period
April 2020 to July 2020 and submitted by the end of September. The
council will then expect to be advised by government in October if this
initial claim is successful. Subsequently returns would then be
submitted in December and finally April 2021. Whilst the Income
Guarantee Scheme will enable the council to reclaim a proportion of lost
income, at this stage the forecasts do not include an estimate of the
amount that will be recovered as this will be dependent upon the
content of the September and later returns and their acceptance by
government.

9

The government has also indicated that the financial impact of any
Collection Fund deficits for council tax and business rates can be
spread over three years. At this stage, after netting off additional
Section 31 grant for extended business rate reliefs, the council is
forecasting its share of the in year Collection Fund deficit at £4.1 million.
This position could further deteriorate however if the county experiences
further job losses or business failure over the coming months.

Page 174

10

After taking account of estimates of cost, lost income and additional
government funding, it is forecast that the council will overspend by
£6.16 million. This position is heavily caveated at this stage because of
the wide range of assumptions that have been made in relation to
expenditure and income over the remainder of the financial year and the
uncertainty over the level of additional government funding that will be
made available through the Income Guarantee Scheme.

11

In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is
a forecast cash limit underspend of £1.024 million (0.23%). The cash
limit position excludes COVID-19 related issues which are considered to
be outside of the control of budget managers.

12

The total forecast net overspend of £6.16 million represents 1.4% of the
net expenditure budget of £440.890 million.

13

Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves)
are forecast to reduce by £24.571 million in 2020/21, from £204.697
million to £180.126 million. This mainly results from the utilisation of the
£17.5 million held in earmarked reserves in relation to Tranche 1 of the
government COVID-19 Support Grant.

14

The projected capital outturn is £155.780 million.

15

The estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund is a deficit of
£5.576 million after taking into account the in year position and deficit
brought forward from 2019/20. Durham County Council’s share of this
forecasted deficit is £4.670 million.

16

The estimated outturn for the Business Rates Collection Fund is a
deficit of £41.563 million after taking into account the in year position
and the surplus brought forward from 2019/20. Durham County
Council’s share (49%) of this estimated deficit is £20.366 million, before
accounting for the receipt of compensating Section 31 grant for
extended business rate reliefs and discounts.

17

For MTFP(10), the council has delivered quarter one savings of £7.033
million which is 88% of the £8.010 million target. Since 2011, the
council has delivered over £241 million in savings.

Recommendations
18

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a)

note the council’s overall financial position for 2020/21 and the
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the
impact of the COVID-19 outbreak as set out in the report;

(b)

agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval;
Page 175

Page 176

(c)

agree the proposed reallocation of the former Regeneration and
Local Services and Transformation and Partnerships cash limit
reserves;

(d)

agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments;

(e)

note the forecast use of earmarked reserves;

(f)

note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and
general reserves;

(g)

note the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of
COVID-19 which is offset by additional grant funding provide by
government

(h)

note the position on the capital programme and the Collection
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates;

(i)

note the amount of savings delivered during quarter one of the
MTFP(10) period;

Background
19

In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which incorporates the revenue
and capital budgets for 2020/21, on 26 February 2020.

20

The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly
basis.

21

This report provides a forecast of the revenue and capital outturn for
2020/21, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 June 2020. This
is the first report on forecast financial performance against the 2020/21
budgets this financial year.

22

This report also provides an update on the delivery of MTFP(10)
savings. The planned MTFP(10) savings were agreed by Council in
February 2020 with a savings target of more than £8 million for 2020/21.
This brings the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12 to
2020/21 to circa £241 million. Significant progress has been made
towards achieving these savings.

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 June 2020
23

The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised
budget. Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3.

24

The following adjustments have been made to the original budget
agreed by Council on 26 February 2020:
(a)

agreed budget transfers between service groupings;

(b)

additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet
consideration and recommended approval);

(c)

planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please
refer to Appendix 4).

Page 177

Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2020/21
Original
Budget
2020/21

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

129,627
1,823
123,877
108,622
52,770
25,705

126,927
1,842
126,846
108,963
53,405
25,539

139,840
1,964
133,914
118,992
64,786
27,289

12,913
122
7,068
10,029
11,381
1,750

Cash Limit Position

442,424

443,522

486,785

43,263

8,155
4,498

8,228
4,408

8,228
4,450

0
42

NET COST OF SERVICES

455,077

456,158

499,463

43,305

Capital charges
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-65,068
-2,900
36,614
15,991

-65,068
-2,900
36,709
15,991

-65,068
-2,300
36,709
15,991

0
600
0
0

Net Expenditure

439,714

440,890

484,795

43,905

-234,458
-7,700
0
0
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-11,713
-17,652
-1,954
0

-234,458
-8,632
0
0
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-11,713
-17,652
-2,198
0

-234,458
-8,632
-17,521
-19,524
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-12,413
-17,652
-1,174
-7,184

0
0
-17,521
-19,524
0
0
0
0
0
-700
0
1,024
-7,184

0

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1 - use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2 and 3
Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves
TOTAL

25

The above table identifies a forecast overspend of £6.160 million which
would contribute to a decrease in General and Cash Limit Reserves.
The forecast cash limit underspend is £1.024 million (0.23%). The cash
limit position excludes COVID-19 related costs and lost income.

26

This total net overspend of £6.160 million represents 1.4% of the net
expenditure budget of £440.890 million. The forecast position at this
stage necessarily includes a number of assumptions in relation to costs
and lost income resulting from COVID-19 and at this stage assumes no
further government support. It should be acknowledged however that
the council will receive compensation for lost income through the
Income Guarantee Scheme – details of which are awaited – which will
assist with managing the financial position in 2020/21.

Page 178

27

Before taking into account and Collection Fund carry forwards from
2019/20 the council is also forecasting an in year deficit on the
Collection Fund of £4.1 million resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak.
The impact of COVID-19 upon the Collection Fund will be closely
monitored throughout 2020/21 to determine the final outturn and also
upon the base budget for 2021/22. The government has intimated that
some flexibility may be provided to account for any Collection Fund
deficits over the next three years.

28

The forecasts set out in this report could deteriorate if there are further
local or national lockdowns of if the county experiences additional job
losses and business failures. The position is uncertain and will become
clearer as the furlough scheme is withdrawn and as businesses fully
return to trading.

29

Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from, or
transferred to, general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be
outside of service grouping cash limits.
Service
Grouping

Proposal

AHS

Transforming Care

0.366

CYPS

Virtual School

0.077

NCC

VE day refuse collection

0.058

REG

Concessionary Fares

-0.519

Resources

LCTSS grant

0.001

TOTAL

Amount
£ million

-0.017

Page 179

30

After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised
in the following table.
Type of Reserve

Opening
Reallocation of Budgeted
Balance as at former REAL
use at
1 April 2020 and T&P Cash 1 April 2020
Limits
£ million
£ million
£ million

Movement
during
2020/21

2020/21
Forecast
of Outturn

£ million

£ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit
Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

-8.354
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
-2.758

-0.197
-0.164
-0.113

Former Regeneration and Local Services
Former Transformation and Partnerships

-0.329
-0.318

0.329
0.318

Total Cash Limit Reserve

-11.759

General Reserve

-23.950

31

1.867

0.087

-1.693
-0.027
2.896
-0.531
-0.617
-0.808

-8.180
-0.153
2.896
-0.728
-0.781
-3.592

0.047

1.954

-0.780

-10.538

0.000

0.000

7.184

-16.766

-0.126

The above table includes the proposed reallocation of the former
Regeneration and Local Services and Transformation and Partnerships
cash limits reserves, as follows:
(a)

Regeneration and Local Services (£0.329 million): to be split
equally between Regeneration, Economy and Growth and
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change.

(b)

Transformation and Partnerships (£0.318 million):
 Chief Executive’s Office cash limit reserve: £0.126 million;
 Neighbourhoods and Climate Change cash limit reserve:
£0.032 million;
 Resources cash limit reserve: £0.113 million;
 AAP reserve (NCC): £0.047 million

32

The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government. In
MTFP(10) the council forecast that additional savings of £32.457
million would be required over the period 2020/21 to 2023/24 with the
delivery of further savings becoming ever more challenging to achieve.
Since that time COVID-19 has had a significant negative impact on the
national finances with the government deficit in 2020/21 forecast to be
the largest in year deficit ever recorded.

33

With this in mind there is a heightened risk that funding will be restricted
for some public services in the future which could require the council to
identify and deliver significant additional savings in future years.

Page 180

34

The table above highlights that CYPS are forecast to have a deficit cash
limit reserve of £2.896 million at the end of 2020/21. Consideration will
need to be given at Final Outturn as to how this deficit cash limit reserve
position is addressed.

COVID-19 Impact
35

The council has faced significant additional costs in relation to the
outbreak and significant loss of income. In many areas the costs and
loss of income for the first quarter are known. The likely impact over the
remainder of the year however is much more uncertain. The major
areas of forecast additional cost and loss of income are as follows:
(a)

Adult Social Care Provider Support £17.7 million – it is
forecast that during 2020/21 additional financial support of circa
£17.7 million will have been paid to providers. This support
includes a temporary 10% uplift in fees and targeted support
being given to residential care homes where occupancy levels
have dropped significantly,

(b)

PPE £2.6 million – the council has purchased stocks of PPE for
utilisation across a range of settings.

(c)

Waste Disposal and Refuse Collection £3.8 million – a range
of additional costs have been incurred such as increased waste
tonnages, garden waste pick ups over weekends and on
Mondays and the costs associated with reopening household
waste recycling centres.

(d)

In house Highways and Buildings teams £3.8 million – during
late March, April and May teams were in lockdown and not
generating income. In addition for a period after the teams
restarted work in many areas the costs of materials have
increased.

(e)

AAP and Member Neighbourhood Budgets £3.2 million – an
additional £0.1 million has been provided to each AAP whilst
Members are able to invest their Members Neighbourhood capital
allocation on revenue.

(f)

Leisure Income £6.7 million – the closure of facilities and the
likely reduced income once reopened is expected to have a
significant impact upon forecast income levels

(g)

Car Park Income £2 million – the closure and reduced volume
of traffic in town centres will reduce income levels.

(h)

Theatres £1.8 million – there continues to be uncertainty as to
when our theatres will reopen

(i)

Planning Fees and Building Control £1.4 million – reduced
volume of submissions during lockdown
Page 181

(j)
36

Aycliffe Secure £1.4 million – reduced income due to social
distancing within the facility

The forecast position on COVID-19 costs and income losses will
continue to be closely monitored.

Cash Limit Position
37

The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are
detailed below. It is important to note that the cash limit positions
exclude all COVID-19 related issues which are outside the control of
budget managers.

Adult and Health Services (AHS)
38

The 2020/21 updated projected outturn for AHS is a cash limit
underspend of £1.785 million, representing circa 1.4% of the total
budget for AHS.

39

The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of
income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

40

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash
limit. The outturn position is accounted for as follows:

Page 182

(a)

Careful management and control of vacant posts and supplies
and services budgets across the service together with
uncommitted budgets, results in an estimated net under budget
position for the year of £1.408 million;

(b)

Net spend on adult care packages is £0.377 million under budget.
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the
impact of COVID-19 as well as ongoing demographic and
procedural/operational changes, where significant MTFP savings
have been taken over recent years. The underspends that have
been generated as a result of reductions in occupancy of
residential and nursing care homes due to COVID-19 have been
reinvested in sustainability payments to providers pending a
strategic review of the overall market planned over the coming
months;

(c)

Net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with
grant allocations.

41

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has estimated
£21.093 million of additional costs and lost income and relating to
COVID-19 and £6.395 million of COVID-19 related underspends. The
net COVID-19 impact is £14.698 million which will be met corporately by
utilising central government grants wherever possible.

42

In addition, a net £3.046 million relating to contributions to and from
reserves and contingencies has been excluded from the cash limit
outturn forecasts, details as follows:

43

(a)

A contribution of £2.757 million to the Adult Social Care reserve;

(b)

A contribution of £0.598 million to Public Health reserves for
Public Health projects;

(c)

Use of AHS cash limit reserve of £92,000 to fund a temporary
staffing arrangement;

(d)

Use of £0.217 million of the corporate ER/VR reserve to fund
redundancy payments.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer
to/from reserves in year the estimated cash limit reserve to be carried
forward for AHS is forecast to be £8.180 million.

Chief Executive’s Office (CEO)
44

The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 is a cash limit underspend of
£27,000 for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves
and items outside the cash limit.

45

The forecast underspend reflects the proactive management of activity
across the service to try and remain within the cash limit.

46

A summary of the forecast outturn position across the service is
provided below:
(a)

Communications and Marketing is forecast to be over budget by
£8,000, primarily due to an overspend on employee costs
(£34,000), partially offset by a forecast underspend on supplies
and services (£26,000).

(b)

Service Management is forecast to be under budget by £35,000,
primarily due to an underspend on employee costs amounting to
£36,000. There are also a number of other minor variances in this
service area.
Page 183

47

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has estimated a
net £0.149 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to
COVID-19. This will be met corporately by utilising central government
grants wherever possible.

48

In addition, circa £20,000 of costs relating to contributions to and from
reserves and cash limits have been excluded from the outturn, details
as follows:
(a)

49

£20,140 transfer from the Promoting Durham Reserve to help
Durham raise its profile both regionally and nationally so it can
continue to attract inward investment and build a bright and stable
economic future;

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items
proposed to be treated as outside the cash limit, the total cash limit
reserve forecasted to be carried forward for the service at 31 March
2021 is £0.153 million.

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)
50

The projected outturn for CYPS is a cash limit overspend of £2.896
million in 2020/21, representing circa 2.33% of the total budget for
CYPS.

51

The outturn projection excludes costs and savings directly attributable
to the to COVID-19 -and adjustments for sums outside the cash limit,
such as MTFP related redundancy costs, which are met from the
strategic reserve, year end capital entries and contributions to and from
earmarked reserves.

52

The updated position is primarily as a result of overspends within
Education of £0.510 million and Children’s Services of £2.386 million.
Further details are provided below:

Page 184

(a)

The Education Service is forecast to be £0.510 million over
budget. This overspend is primarily related to £1.083 million
overspend on Home to School Transport, a forecasted shortfall in
school and academy SLA income / fees and charges income of
£0.532 million and £0.792 million staff related underspend related
to the early achievement of 2021/22 savings. Adjusting for net
COVID-19 related expenditure estimated at £0.313 million, the
overspend is reduced to £0.510 million.

(b)

Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care and Early Help &
Intervention) is forecast to be a net £2.386 million over budget for
the year. The Service is forecasting an overspend of £6.245
million primarily related to the forecast cost of children’s

placements which have increased to circa 940. The direct
financial impact of COVID-19 is estimated at £3.859 million,
mainly related to a forecast shortfall in income from the sale of
beds in the Aycliffe Secure Centre to other local authorities in the
first few months of the new financial year and additional staffing
and children’s placement costs in Children’s Social Care.
53

The pressure on the budget in children’s social care has been evident
over the last few years, as the number of children in the care system
has increased significantly and their needs have become more
complex. There are now circa 940 looked after children, compared to an
average of 877 in 2019/20. This budget was increased by £5.5 million in
2018/19 and by £6.5 million in 2019/20 to cover care costs, as well as
additional costs for staffing in order to meet the expected challenges
and pressures identified in 2019/20. The 2020/21 budget also includes
an additional increase for placement costs of £3.417 million.

54

The 2020/21 budgets also include additional budget growth of £3.2
million to recognise the financial pressures being experienced in
delivering home to school transport, which has seen costs increase by
54% over the last two years.

55

In arriving at the forecast outturn position it is of note that CYPS
accessed a net £0.261 million use of CYPS reserves as detailed below:

56

(a)

£71,000 use of Tackling Troubled Families Reserve linked to
temporary posts in the current financial year

(b)

£58,000 use of Extended Personal Advisor Reserve to cover the
costs of temporary posts in the current financial year

(c)

£0.114 million use of Emotional Well Being Reserve to fund a
forecast shortfall in income in the current financial year.

(d)

£0.167 million contribution to the Secure Services Reserve from
anticipated surplus income in the last quarter of the current
financial year.

(e)

£0.185 million use of Durham Music Service reserve to fund a
forecast shortfall in income in the current financial year.

In 2019/20 £6.217 million was transferred from general reserves to the
CYPS cash limit reserve to prevent the service having a deficit reserve
balance carried forward at 31 March 2020 and to balance the CYPS
cash limit reserve to zero. Taking the forecast outturn position into
account, there is a forecast £2.896 million deficit cash limit position at
year end. Consideration will need to be given at Final Outturn as to how
to address this issue.

Page 185

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC)
57

The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the position to 30
June 2020, is a cash limit underspend of £0.531 million, after taking
account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the cash limit,
including COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income.

58

The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows:
(a) Environmental Services is forecast to underspend by £14,000.
Within this area there are overspends relating to unbudgeted pay
costs of £0.403 million, and unachieved MTFP savings from
previous years within Fleet of £0.166 million and Clean & Green of
£73,000 that have not yet been addressed in the base budget.
These base budget overspends have however been offset by
savings because of delays in implementing the two new refuse
collection rounds resulting in an underspend of £0.137 million; a
delay in the procurement of the Household Waste Recycling Centre
contract resulting in a saving of £0.346 million and savings due to
vacancies within the service. . The service received full year
budget growth in 2020/21 for the new refuse rounds and the
additional Neighbourhood Wardens, meaning that the delays in
implementation are producing one-off underspends.
(b) Technical Services is forecast to underspend by £0.411million.
There is an additional trading surplus within Highways Services of
£0.326 million forecast, and employee vacancy savings of £0.306
million, along with additional income of £0.292m relating to
additional permit income and other fees and charges in Strategic
Highways. There is also a £0.109m underspend due to savings on
electricity charges forecast. These savings are partially offset
however by a predicted overspend in winter maintenance costs of
£0.446 million after utilising the remaining winter maintenance
reserve and overspends of £0.167million on agency costs relating
to condition surveys, contractor costs and rechargeable works.
(c) Partnerships & Community Engagement is forecast to underspend
by £77,000. This is mainly due to a managed underspend in
Supplies and Services, that will be utilised in 2021/22 for a delayed
MTFP saving.

59

Page 186

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is estimating
£10.560 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID19. This will be met corporately by utilising central government grants
wherever possible.

60

61

In addition, £0.457 million relating to use of reserves and cash limits has
been excluded from the outturn. The major items being:
(a)

£0.546 million contribution to reserves relating to forecast
underspending against the one-off investments relating to Climate
Change and Find & Fix projects;

(b)

£0.658 million use of reserves in respect of Winter Maintenance;

(c)

£0.345 million use of reserves relating to Community Protection
and Community Engagement

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve to be carried forward for Neighbourhoods & Climate
Change is £0.728 million.

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG)
62

The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21, based on the position to 30
June 2020, is a cash limit underspend of £0.617 million, after taking
account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the cash limit,
including redundancy costs which are met from the corporate reserve,
capital accounting entries and use of / contributions to earmarked
reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also
been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

63

The outturn position reflects the proactive management of activity by
Heads of Service across REG to remain within the cash limit. The main
reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows:
(a) Culture & Sport is forecast to be overspent by £0.478 million. This
is mainly the result of an overspend of £0.796 million relating to the
former Derwentside Leisureworks facilities. This has been offset by
other underspends across the service of approximately £0.318
million in relation to employee costs in Wellbeing (£0.111 million),
Leisure Centres (£70,000), Libraries (£51,000) and the partial
closure of Bishop Auckland Town Hall (£74,000). There are also a
number of other minor overspends across the service. To ensure
the development of Beamish Museum can be completed the
council has been approached to contribute a one-off sum of £1.5
million in 2020/21. This will be financed from the one-off funding for
Culture and Sport included in the 2020/21 budget.
(b) Business Durham is forecast to be £0.731 million underspent.
Within this area there is an underspend of £0.753 million relating to
Business Space due to higher than budgeted income of £0.748
million, after adjusting for £0.400 million for COVID-19 related lost
income across industrial estates and other trading areas;

Page 187

(c) Transport and Contracted services is forecast to be £0.118 million
overspent. This is mainly due to overspends in Sustainable
Transport of £38,000; within Traffic of £55,000; and within Care
Connect of £42,000, offset by savings on supplies and servicers in
respect of the Head of Transport.
(d) Development and Housing is forecast to be broadly on budget, with
a small net underspend of £3,000 forecasted. Within this area
Economic Development is forecasting an overspend of £0.132m,
offset by a projected underspend in Planning Development of
£82,000, and an underspend in Housing Solutions of £90,000.
There are also a number of other minor overspends across the
service.
(e) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to be £0.334 million
underspent, mainly resulting from an underspend of £0.174 million
relating to an insurance claim, unbudgeted rental income in Assets
of £97,000 and business rate refunds of £62,000 relating to the
previous financial year.
64

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is estimating
£16.211 million of additional costs, and lost income and relating to
COVID-19 and £4.213 million of COVID-19 related underspends. The
net COVID-19 impact is therefore £11.998 million, and this will be met
corporately by utilising central government grants wherever possible.

65

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £0.562 million relating to use
of reserves and cash limits has been excluded from the outturn. The
major items being:

66

Page 188

(a)

£0.190 million use of reserves relating to Development and
Housing;

(b)

£0.350 million contribution to reserves in respect of Culture and
Sport;

(c)

£0.200 million use of reserves relating to Transport and
Contracted Services;

(d)

£1.041 million use of reserves relating to Corporate Property and
Land;

(e)

£0.519 million to Corporate Contingencies in respect of the
underspend on Concessionary Fares.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration, Economy and
Growth is £0.781 million.

Resources
67

The 2020/21 forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit
underspend of £0.960 million. This takes into account adjustments for
sums outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs which are met
from corporate reserves and use of / contributions to earmarked
reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also
been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

68

The projected under budget position is the net effect of the following
items:
(a)

Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be
over budget by £17,000, with managed overspending on
employee costs in Strategic Finance of £30,000 and a managed
overspend in Occupational Health of £34,000 more than offset by
a forecast underspend in Health and Safety of £44,000 and a
number of other minor variances in this service area.

(b)

Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be under
budget by £0.550 million, primarily due to underspends on
employee costs of £0.240 million and supplies and services costs
of £44,000 plus additional income of £0.315 million in Revenues
and Benefits. There are also a number of other minor variances in
this service area. Payroll & Employee Services is forecasting to
be over budget by £23,000 mainly due to unachievable income.
Financial Management is forecasting to be over budget by
£34,000 mainly due to a managed overspend on employee costs.

(c)

Digital and Customer Services is forecast to be under budget by
£0.240 million. Within this area underachievement of income is
forecast to be £0.145 million, but this is more than offset by a
forecast underspends on supplies and services of £0.295 million
and employee costs of £0.109 million. There are also a number of
other minor variances in this service area.

(d)

Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be under
budget by £65,000, comprising of a managed overspend of
£8,000 on employee related expenditure which has been offset by
a £5,000 underspend on supplies and services. The service is
also forecasting £68,000 of additional income.

(e)

Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be under budget by
£43,000. This includes a £22,000 managed overspend on
employee related expenditure and underachieved income
amounting to £41,000. These overspends have been more than
offset by a forecast underspend of £86,000 on supplies and
services and £20,000 on premises.

Page 189

(f)

People and Talent Management is forecast to be under budget by
£65,000, which includes a £96,000 managed underspend on
employee related expenditure and a £48,000 overspend on
supplies and services. The service is also forecasting an
overachievement of income of £17,000.

(g)

Strategy is forecast to be over budget by £18,000, primarily due to
a managed overspend on employee related costs of £28,000
which has been offset by a forecast underspend of £10,000 on
supplies and services.

(h)

Transformation is forecast to be under budget by £32,000,
primarily due to a managed overspend on employee costs of
£26,000 and supplies and services of £9,000, offset by additional
income amounting to £67,000.

(i)

There are no material variances in Service Management.

69

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is estimating
£3.012 million of additional costs, and lost income and relating to
COVID-19 and £0.302 million of COVID-19 related underspends. The
net COVID-19 impact is therefore £2.710 million, and this will be met
corporately by utilising central government grants wherever possible.

70

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £0.189
million of contributions to / from reserves, cash limits and contingencies
have been applied to finance the following items:

Page 190

(a)

£57,080 from Corporate Contingencies in respect of the
Apprentice Pay Award;

(b)

£41,289 to Corporate Contingencies in respect of the National
Insurance (NI) adjustment;

(c)

£0.100 million to the ICT Reserve to support ICT developments;

(d)

£0.153 million to the Business Support Reserve in respect of the
forecast underspend on the unitised Business Support Function in
lieu of future MTFP savings;

(e)

£0.127 million to the Transformation Programme Reserve. The
contribution reflects the forecast underspend on employee costs
in 2020/21 associated with the Transformation Team;

(f)

£55,676 from the ER/VR Reserve to fund the cost of early
retirements/voluntary redundancies;

71

(g)

£31,774 from the Legal Expenses Reserve to fund the costs of
additional legal employees to deal with increased activity arising
from Deprivation of Liberty Standards requirements;

(h)

£50,000 from the Benefit Take Up Reserve (iBCF) to support the
work from the ongoing impact of welfare reforms;

(i)

£69,802 to the HR Reserve in respect of the forecast underspend
on the Workforce Development Programme;

(j)

£45,000 to the Residents Research Reserve as part of the
funding received from CYPS to fund research work;

(k)

£31,552 from the Cash Limit Reserve in respect of a temporary
post in the CYPS Finance Team;

(l)

£7,387 from the Cash Limit Reserve in respect of the purchase of
office furniture for the Coroners service;

(m)

£72,381 agreed contribution from the Cash Limit Reserve in
respect of Workforce Development;

(n)

£40,429 from the Cash Limit Reserve in respect of a temporary
Information Management post;

Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the
cash limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit
reserve to be carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £3.592
million.

Corporate Costs
72

The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 for Resources – Centrally
Administered Costs is an underspend of £0.208 million. This takes into
account adjustments such as the use of / contribution to earmarked
reserves.

73

The forecast outturn position is mainly due to reduced expenditure on
bank charges (£18,000), payment card fees (£53,000), corporate
subscriptions (£25,000), expenses associated with raising loans
(£22,000) and legal expenses (£42,000). In addition, there is a
projected overachievement of income from de-minimis capital receipts
(£50,000) arising from the sale of assets. There are also a few other
minor variances in this service area.

Page 191

Central Budgets
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing
74

There is a budget of £36.709 million for these costs. The forecast
outturn position is expected to be in line with the budget.

Interest and Investment Income
75

The forecast income of £2.300 million is £0.600 million less than the
£2.900 million budget. The forecast shortfall reflects reduced
investment returns as interest rates achievable on short term
investments have reduced significantly. This economic downturn is also
reflected in lower than expected income from dividends.

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast
76

Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2020, the
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing
balance as at 31 March 2021.

77

A summary of the latest forecast of council reserves (excluding school
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £24.571
million in 2020/21, from £204.697 million to £180.126 million mainly
resulting from the utilisation of £17.5 million held in earmarked reserves
from Tranche 1 of the COVID-19 Support Grant received in 2019/20.
The movement in earmarked reserves is explained in the service
grouping commentaries. This utilisation is to be expected as these
funds are applied to the expenditure for which they were earmarked.
Earmarked
£ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2020
Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked
Reserves
Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 March
2021

Cash Limit
£ million

Total
£ million

-192.938

-11.759

-204.697

23.350

1.221

24.571

-169.588

-10.538

-180.126

Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools
78

Page 192

The council currently maintains 216 schools, including nursery, primary,
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP)
school. The one AP school is for pupils who have been permanently
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.

79

The initial budget for 2020/21, for the current 216 maintained schools
was £305 million, funded by income of £76 million, budget shares of
£221 million (from central government funding), and £8 million use of
accumulated schools’ surplus balances. The table below summarises
the schools’ initial budgets.

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Contribution to/from
reserves
Balance at 31 March 2020
Balance at 31 March 2021

80

Alternative
Provision

Primary

Secondary

Special

(£ million)
3.387
0.169
0.843
2.051
(0.673)
5.776
(5.776)

(£ million)
4.463
0.275
0.002
0.525
(3.862)
1.404
(1.064)

(£ million)
162.268
10.037
0.432
31.255
(49.425)
154.568
(149.107)

(£ million)
45.843
3.576
0.789
8.579
(16.583)
42.203
(42.083)

(£ million)
25.824
1.077
0.297
2.830
(4.911)
25.118
(22.848)

Original
Annual
Budget
(£ million)
241.786
15.133
2.362
45.240
(75.453)
229.069
(220.879)

-

(0.339)

(5.547)

(0.207)

(2.267)

(8.360)

-

0.937
0.598

18.085
12.539

(5.316)
(5.523)

2.772
0.505

16.478
8.118

Historically, school budget plans overstate the use of reserves, usually
by a considerable amount. The council’s forecast for the use of reserves
is that only £2.3 million of reserves will be used. The table below
summarises the council’s forecast.

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Contribution to/from
reserves
Balance at 31 March 2020
Balance at 31 March 2021

81

Nursery

Nursery

Alternative
Provision

Primary

Secondary

Special

(£ million)
3.321
0.199
0.706
2.497
(0.674)
6.048
(5.776)

(£ million)
4.502
0.395
0.002
0.468
(3.815)
1.552
(1.064)

(£ million)
162.816
9.985
0.362
26.522
(48.557)
151.127
(149.231)

(£ million)
45.489
3.522
0.683
7.613
(17.181)
40.126
(42.108)

(£ million)
25.086
1.030
0.253
2.598
(4.502)
24.464
(22.848)

Original
Annual
Budget
(£ million)
241.213
15.131
2.005
39.696
(74.730)
223.317
(221.027)

(0.272)

(0.487)

(1.896)

1.982

(1.617)

(2.290)

(0.272)

0.937
0.450

18.085
16.190

(5.316)
(3.334)

2.772
1.155

16.478
14.188

The council’s forecast takes account of past experience and current
information the most up to date information from ledgers. This year’s
outturn is likely to be affected by the effect of the COVID-19 lockdown
on income and expenditure, and changes to ways of working when
schools return in the autumn. Accordingly, there is significant
uncertainty about the final outturn. Schools can claim funding for
exceptional lockdown costs, but the categories are tightly defined and
Page 193

there are likely to be significant net costs that cannot be claimed.
Schools will not be able to claim for additional costs arising from new
ways of working; these costs might include additional cleaning, hand
sanitizers and signage ( for information, one-way systems etc.).
82

The School Finance Team will conduct autumn budget reviews with
each school, to help schools determine the steps they need to take if
they if they need to make savings to balance their budgets in the
coming financial year (2021/22).

83

With the exception of eight schools, all schools prepared budget plans
that could be delivered within available funding. The council’s S.151
officer has given approval to eight schools to set deficit budgets where
planned expenditure during 2020/21 would result in a deficit balance at
31 March 2021 (known as a licensed deficit). These are summarised in
the table below.
School Name

Phase

Type

Bluebell Meadow
Ferryhill Station
St. Thomas More RC
Wolsingham
Wellfield
St. Bede's RC, Peterlee
The Durham Federation
Windlestone

Primary
Primary
Primary
Secondary
Secondary
Secondary
Secondary
Special

Community
Community
Aided – RC
Community
Community
Aided - RC
Community
Community

84

Balance
at 31
March
2020

Planned
in-year
use of
reserves

Licensed
deficit

(£ million)
(0.078)
(0.023)
(0.025)
(1.709)
(3.406)
(1.400)
(0.414)
0.326

(£ million)
(0.141)
(0.009)
(0.078)
(0.112)
0.222
(0.210)
(0.191)
(0.628)

(£ million)
(0.219)
(0.032)
(0.103)
(1.821)
(3.184)
(1.609)
(0.605)
(0.302)

It is of note that Bluebell Meadow, Wolsingham, and St Bede’s RC are
all expected to convert to academies during the autumn term and the
licensed deficits shown in the table are to the point of conversion only.

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block
85

Page 194

The quarter one financial forecasts for the centrally retained DSG
budgets show an overspend of £0.468 million against a total budget of
£61.766 million to year end, which represents a 1% overspend.

DSG Block
Schools de-delegated
High Needs
Early Years
Central Schools Services
Total

Budget

Outturn

(£ million)

(£ million)

0.562
27.006
31.489
2.709
61.766

Over / (Under)
Spend

0.562
27.474
31.489
2.709
62.234

(£ million)

0.468
0.468

86

The forecast overspend position relates to spending against the High
Needs Block (HNB), which is forecast to overspend by £0.468 million.

87

The current forecast identifies an overspend of £0.675 million against
budgets for top-up funding for mainstream schools. This is partially
offset by a sum of £0.207 million set aside as a contingency budget at
the start of the financial year.

88

All areas of HNB expenditure will be kept under close review in light of
COVID-19 issues, with particular attention on the impact of schools
returning in September where it is possible we will see an upward trend
in the volume of requests for additional support for high needs pupils.

89

The impact of the current forecast on the DSG reserves position is
shown in the table below:
DSG Reserves

Balance as at 1 April 2017
Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2017/18
Balance as at 1 April 2018
Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2018/19
Transfer from COLs
Transfer from PFI re-financing
Balance as at 1 April 2019
Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2019/20
Contribution from general reserves
Balance as at 1 April 2020
Forecast Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2020/21
Forecast balance as at 31 March 2021

90

High
Needs
Block

Early
Years
Block

(£ million)

(£ million)

6.070
(4.652)
1.418
(7.411)
0.384
2.881
(2.728)
(8.598)
5.600
(5.726)
(0.468)
(6.194)

2.361
(0.286)
2.075
(0.705)
1.370
(0.095)
1.275
1.275

Schools
Block

Total DSG

(£ million)

(£ million)

2.728
(1.488)
1.240
(0.231)
1.009
(0.365)
0.644
0.644

11.159
(6.426)
4.734
(8.347)
0.384
2.881
(0.348)
(9.058)
5.600
(3.806)
(0.468)
(4.274)

The council has a five-year plan for spending on HNB activities, which
includes recovery of the HNB deficit by the end of 2024/25. This will
continue to be reviewed in light of revised forecast information and
funding announcements from central government.

Page 195

Capital
Background
91

On 8 July 2020 Cabinet received a report which provided details of the
final outturn position of the 2019/20 capital programme. This included a
reprofiling exercise where £10.978 million from 2019/20 was reprofiled
over future years. The existing 2020/21 budget of £180.102 million was
increased by the new 2020/21 capital allocations of £18.941 million
approved by full Council on 26 February 2020. The 2020/21 budget
was reprofiled at May MOWG, with net reprofiling of £41.335 million
being moved into future years. Additions of £11.148 million to the
2020/21 budget were also actioned. These changes give an original
budget of £168.856 million for 2020/21 which is shown in the table
below.

92

The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) that closely
monitors the capital programme has since considered further revisions
to the capital programme, taking into account additional resources
received by the authority and further requests for reprofiling as Service
Management Teams continue to monitor and review their capital
schemes.

Current Position
93

The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital
spend as at 30 June 2020.
Service Grouping

Original
Budget
2020/21

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG

Revised
Budget
2020/21
Quarter 1

Actual
Spend to
30 June
2020

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Adult and Health Services

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

Children and Young
People's Services

31.945

-3.883

28.062

2.830

Neighbourhoods and
Climate Change

43.270

1.362

44.632

2.039

Regeneration, Economy
and Growth

85.435

-10.355

75.080

11.124

Resources

8.206

-0.200

8.006

1.174

168.856

-13.076

155.780

17.167

TOTAL

Page 196

94

Since the original 2020/21 budget was agreed, MOWG has considered
a number of variations to the capital programme which are a result of
additions and reductions in resources received by the council and
reprofiling of budgets over future years. The variations of note are as
follows:
Additions and Reductions
(a)

CYPS – the service has received the following additional funding:
(i) School Devolved Capital – £2,882 additional School
Devolved Capital grant has been received from DfE,
following correction of an error in their calculation of grant
entitlement.
(ii) Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children – One
Point - £90,000 from capital contingencies for building works
to the former Sherburn Hill Children’s Centre to allow the
relocation of the Family First Team from Chester-le-Street
and the formation of a Care Leavers Hub.

(b)

NCC – the service has received notice of additional funding as
follows:
(i) Technical Services - £1.000 million for Highways Structures
and Pothole Repairs, £0.350 million for Gully Repairs and
£0.150 million for Road Markings, all to be funded from
direct revenue funding. A sum of £20,000 has been
transferred from the Local Accessibility budget in REG
Transport and Contracted Services to the Dropped
Crossings – Countywide scheme.

(c)

REG – the service has the following additions and reductions:
(i) Development and Housing – new grant allocations from
Homes England of £0.600 million for the Homelessness Buy to Lease scheme and £0.271 million for the Accelerated
Construction Scheme on the former Free School site at
Gilesgate, which is being delivered by Chapter Homes. A
grant of £4,300 will be received from Historic England for the
Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone – Community
Engagement project. Transfers of £95,858 towards
photovoltaics at the new Council Headquarters and £58,000
for installing ductwork for electric vehicle charging points in
the multi storey car park for the new Council Headquarters
from Energy Efficiency budgets in NCC Environmental
Services.

Page 197

(ii) Business Durham – a budget reduction of £0.384 million for
LED lighting schemes at Salvus House, Netpark Discovery 1
and 2 and Netpark Plexus 1 and 2.
(iii) Transport and Contracted Services - £5,963 for the Call
Handling System, funded from direct revenue funding.
(d)

95

Resources - £0.200 million from the End User Equipment
Replacement budget is not required so will be returned to capital
contingencies.

Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2020/21:
(a)

CYPS – £4.843 million has been re-profiled from 2020/21 into
2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 to cover expected expenditure on
a number of schemes. This includes £3.719 million for Escomb
Primary School new build, £0.840 million for the replacement of
heating blocks at Belmont School and £0.284 million to replace
the heating system at Coxhoe Primary. £0.900 million of the
School Capital Grant Unprogrammed budget has been re-profiled
from 2021/22 to 2020/21 to cover expected spend.

(b)

NCC - £4,414 was re-profiled from 2020/21 to 2021/22 for street
lighting replacement works on Old Elvet, due to the proximity to
the proposed works on New Elvet Bridge.

(c)

REG - £10.986 million (net) has been re-profiled from 2020/21
across the period from 2021/22 to 2022/23. Significant amounts
include £6.778 million for the Leisure Transformation project
being re-profiled from 2020/21 into 2021/22 and 2022/23. £3.159
million for Jade Business Park Infrastructure and £0.500 for
Meadowfield Depot Strategic Site being re-profiled from 2020/21
into 2021/22 and £0.863 million for Jade Business Park Factory
Build being re-profiled from 2020/21 into 2022/23. £0.191 million
for the A19/A182 Hawthorn Junction – Jade Highways scheme
was re-profiled from 2021/22 into 2020/21.

Capital Financing
96

Page 198

The following table summarises the recommended financing of the
revised capital programme:

Financed By:

Original
Budget
2020/21

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG

Revised
Budget
2020/21
Quarter 1

£ million

£ million

£ million

Grants and Contributions

44.010

-2.087

41.923

Revenue and Reserves

36.321

1.506

37.827

Capital Receipts

11.325

-5.522

5.803

Borrowing

77.200

-6.973

70.227

TOTAL

168.856

-13.076

155.780

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds
Council Tax
97

Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs (HMRC). Exemptions, reliefs and discounts
are awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and
occupiers’ personal circumstances.

98

The collection rate at 30 June 2020 was 27.72%, which is 0.79% points
below the same position in 2019/20, reflecting the impact of COVID-19,
and a cessation of any recovery action for unpaid Council Tax. Many
households have been severely impacted by the pandemic, with the
council experiencing a 4% increase in claims for Council Tax Reduction
(CTR) in quarter one. In total, 6,000 residents have chosen to defer
their Council Tax payments until later in the year and the council is
providing support to those impacted by COVID-19 through Hardship
payments of up to £300 for those in receipt of council tax support, with
12,000 payments totalling £2.824 million having been awarded to date.

99

The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter one for the current and
last two financial years, are detailed below:
Billing Year

Position at 30 June
Each Year %

2020/21

27.72

2019/20

28.51

2018/19

28.79

Page 199

100

The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the
actual cash collected in the year the charges are raised. Likely bad
debts are accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision. The
amount estimated to be collectable is calculated each year by reference
to the actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for
non-collection.

101

Actual cash collected as at 30 June 2020 was £79.707 million
compared with £80.355 million as at 30 June 2019, however, when the
Council Tax increases for 2020/21 are factored in this represents a year
on year real terms reduction of £4.718 million in terms of Council Tax
income received.

102

Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on
a day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing years
take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments mean
that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the estimate.

103

Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into
account the calculated change required in the bad debt provision,
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority.

104

At 30 June 20, the estimated in year outturn for the Council Tax
Collection Fund is a deficit of £4.722 million as shown in the table
below. The council’s share of the in year deficit is £3.955 million which
is caused in the main by the impact of COVID-19. The forecast position
after taking into account the undeclared deficit as at 31 March 2020 of
£0.854 million is a total deficit of £5.576 million. Durham County
Council’s share of this forecasted deficit is £4.670 million.

Page 200

£ million
Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2020/21

354.558

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments

-62.076

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and
write offs
Net income receivable (a)

-3.649
288.833

Precepts and Demands
Durham County Council

234.458

Parish and Town Councils

13.637

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner

30.509

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority

14.951

Total Precepts and Demands (b)

293.555

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b)

-4.722

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2019/20

-0.854

Estimated year end deficit

-5.576

105

Prior to each year, the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund
Council Tax Account is notified to the two major preceptors for inclusion
in the budget setting process for the following year as an additional
income or expenditure item.

106

The council is required to determine and declare the forecast surplus or
deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund for 2021/22 by 15 January
2021. Normally, this would then be taken into account in the budget
setting process for the following year, with any difference between this
and the actual surplus at 31 March 2021 being carried forward to the
next financial year and taken into account in estimating the
surplus/deficit position for that year.

107

In July 2020 the government announced that they are proposing that
repayments to meet any collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 will
instead be phased over a three-year period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to
ease immediate pressures on budgets. MHCLG will work with CIPFA
and local government on the detailed operation of this scheme and
provide guidance to councils later in the year.

Page 201

Business Rates
108

Business Rates Retention was implemented in 2013/14 and the council
now has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of business rate
yield, as income generated from Business Rates is shared between
Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and County
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is
not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is
monitored and audited, but also the level of income anticipated for the
year is important.

109

In 2017/18, following consultation, the government implemented the first
revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.

110

The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency and, along with national
changes to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds and Transitional
Arrangements, came into effect from April 2017. The overall effect of
the revaluation on the Collection Fund saw a decrease of an estimated
£9.3 million in rates yield/liability when compared to 2016/17. The
revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham County Council and
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. Therefore,
compensation arrangements are made through adjustments to Section
31 grants and Top Ups for their shares of losses of income.

111

Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with
local knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory
Charitable Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to
enable a comparison with the January 2020 estimate of 2020/21
Business Rates income that was used for budget setting purposes.

112

On Monday 27 January 2020, the government announced additional
business rates measures that would apply from 1 April 2020. The
Budget on Wednesday 11 March 2020 confirmed the measures and on
17 March 2020 the Chancellor set out a further package of targeted
measures to support businesses through this period of disruption
caused by COVID-19:

Page 202

(a)

increasing the retail discount from one-third to 50 per cent for
eligible retail businesses occupying a property with a rateable
value less than £51,000;

(b)

extending the retail discount to eligible music venues and
cinemas with a rateable value less than £51,000;

(c)

introducing a pub discount of £1,000 to eligible pubs with a
rateable value of less than £100,000 - this being in addition to the
retail discount and will apply after the retail discount.

(d)

113

114

Extending the £1,500 business rates discount for office space
occupied by local newspapers for an additional 5 years until 31
March 2025.

In response to COVID-19, the government went further than previously
announced and made the following commitments:
(a)

the retail discount will increase to 100% for 2020/21

(b)

the relief will be expanded to the leisure and hospitality sectors

(c)

the pub discounts will increase to £5,000

Further measures announced on 17 March and 18 March 2020 were:
(a)

A 12 month business rates holiday for all retail, hospitality and
leisure businesses

(b)

A business rate holiday for non-local authority child care providers
in 20/21

115

In making these series of announcements the government stated that
local authorities would be fully compensated for these Business Rate
measures, which have the impact of significantly reducing the business
rates chargeable / business rates yield, via a Section 31 grant in
2020/21.

116

At 30 June 2020, the estimated outturn for the Collection Fund Business
Rates is an in year deficit of £49.796 million of which the council’s 49%
share of £24.4 million. This deficit is offset by the receipt of additional
Section 31 grant of £24.271 million due to the additional business rate
reliefs. At this stage it is therefore forecast that there will be small deficit
of £0.129 million although this forecast would be significantly impacted
by any business closures over the remainder of 2020/21.

117

The total deficit for 2020/21 taking into account the undeclared surplus
position as at 31 March 2020 of £8.233 million is a deficit of £41.563
million as calculated in the following table.

Page 203

£ million
Net rate yield for 2020/21 including previous year adjustments

70.167

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals

-4.309

Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and
Write-offs

-0.744

Net income receivable (a)

65.114

Agreed allocated shares:
Central Government (50%)

55.912

Durham County Council (49%)

57.053

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%)

1.141

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to
Durham County Council)

0.804

Total fixed payments (b)

114.910

Net deficit for year (a) – (b)

-49.796

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2019/20
Estimated year end deficit

8.233
-41.563

118

The in-year estimated deficit of £49.796 million and the total undeclared
surplus brought forward from 2019/20, leaves an estimated net deficit of
£41.563 million at 31 March 2021.

119

The surplus/deficit at 31 March in any year is shared proportionately
between Durham County Council, Central Government and County
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, Durham County Council’s
share being 49%. Durham County Council’s share of the estimated
year end deficit will therefore be £20.366 million before we account for
the receipt of the compensating Section 31 grant.

Page 204

120

As with residents, local businesses have also been severely impacted
by the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly during the national lockdown
period. The in-year collection rate at 30 June 2020 was 33.80%, which
is 0.56% points below the same position last year. A number of
businesses have chosen to defer their payments until later in the year
and the council has moved quickly to make payments to eligible
businesses under the national Small Business Grant Fund and Retail
Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund. Circa £99m of grants have paid
out, with a further circa £5m of support also being provided under the
Local Discretional Grants Fund. As with Council Tax, there has been
no recovery action for unpaid Business Rates in the year to date. The
in-year collection rates at the end of quarter one for the current and last
two financial years, are as follows:
Billing year

Position at 30 June
Each Year %

2020/21

33.80

2019/20

34.36

2018/19

34.42

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief
121

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under
£15,000 benefit from relief on their rates payable. The government has
awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the
shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place.

122

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.

123

The government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt
with as part of the normal rate retention shares.

124

At 30 June 2020, the gross small business relief awarded against
2020/21 business rates bills and adjustments to 2013/14-2019/20 bills is
£17.797 million, and the council will receive £5.721 million in Section 31
grant, including the capping adjustment and threshold change
adjustments, in this regard.

Page 205

Other Section 31 Grants
125

In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs,
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. Funding for these schemes is
provided through Section 31 grants.

126

In response to the economic impact of COVID-19, the government has
introduced the expanded retail discount. The business rates retail
discount has been increased to 100% and now covers the leisure and
hospitality sectors. The £51,000 rateable value threshold has also been
removed. This relief will apply to occupied retail, leisure and hospitality
properties in the year 2020/21 only, and will be fully funded by way of
Section 31 grant.

127

A nursery discount has also been introduced for 2020/21, as a response
to COVID-19, which will be fully reimbursed by Section 31 grant.

128

When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs
will have on the Section 31 grants. When the additional Section 31
grants to compensate for the extended retail, hospitality and leisure
discounts and the extended nursery discounts are factored in the net
impact is an increase in Durham County Council’s Section 31 grants of
£24.577 million of which £24.271 million relates to the additional reliefs
in response to COVID-19.

Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings
129

130

Page 206

The delivery of the MTFP savings considers:
(a)

the duties under the Equality Act;

(b)

appropriate consultation;

(c)

the HR implications of the change including consultation with
employees and trade unions;

(d)

communication of the change and the consultation results;

(e)

sound risk management.

The development of MTFP(10) proposals for 2020/21 has been
underway since the 2019/20 proposals were agreed.

131

For MTFP(10), the council has delivered quarter one savings of £7.033
million which is 88% of the £8.010 million target.

Consultation
132

There has not been any public consultation on MTFP10 proposals in the
last quarter.

HR implications
133

Equality data relating to the 12 staff leaving through voluntary
redundancy, early retirement and ER/VR during quarter one of
MTFP(10) showed that 50% were female and 50% were male. In terms
of race, all leavers have disclosed their ethnicity, 83% stated that they
were white British or white English. Regarding disability status 17% said
they had a disability,17% had no disability and 66% did not disclose
their disability status. No staff have left through compulsory redundancy
in quarter one.

134

Since austerity began in 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving
through voluntary redundancy, showed that 63% were female and 37%
were male. The higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the
exercises which took place in previous years which focused on
traditionally female occupied professions. These included the closure of
care homes, reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service
and a restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect.

135

Since 2011, 31% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity, with 68%
stating that they were white British or white English. Regarding disability
status 4% said they had a disability, 16% had no disability and 80% did
not disclose their disability status.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIA)
136

Services have completed EIA screenings and assessments where
necessary as part of the decision-making process for 2020/21 MTFP10
proposals.

137

Projects to deliver growth proposals will be supported to ensure robust
planning and that EIA screening are also completed.

Other useful documents


County Council – 26 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial
Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget
2020/21.



Cabinet – 8 July 2020 - 2019/20 Final Outturn for the General
Fund and Collection Fund.

Page 207

Author(s)
Jeff Garfoot

Tel: 03000 261946

Paul Darby

Tel: 03000 261930

Page 208

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of
the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report
shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February
2020 in relation to the 2020/21 financial year. The forecasts contained within
this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting
policies and procedures.

Finance
The report details the 2020/21 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and
Capital and details the forecast movement on reserves.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information
supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders. The
projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date,

Page 209

trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.
This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams
and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of
the forecast outturn position.

Procurement
None.

Page 210

Appendix 2: Revenue Summary 2020/21
Original
Budget
2020/21

Proposed Budget
Revisions,
including sums
outside the cash
limit

Contribution
to / Use of
Cash Limit
Reserve

Contribution to
/ Use of
Earmarked
Reserves

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

129,627
1,823
123,877
108,622
52,770
25,705

347
-1
-50
-58
-446
40

92
0
0
0
0
152

-3,139
20
3,019
399
1,081
-358

126,927
1,842
126,846
108,963
53,405
25,539

139,840
1,964
133,914
118,992
64,786
27,289

12,913
122
7,068
10,029
11,381
1,750

Cash Limit Position

442,424

-168

244

1,022

443,522

486,785

43,263

8,155
4,498

73
0

0

-90

8,228
4,408

8,228
4,450

0
42

NET COST OF SERVICES

455,077

-95

244

932

456,158

499,463

43,305

Capital charges
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-65,068
-2,900
36,614
15,991

-65,068
-2,900
36,709
15,991

-65,068
-2,300
36,709
15,991

0
600
0
0

Net Expenditure

439,714

440,890

484,795

43,905

-234,458
-8,632
0
0
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-11,713
-17,652
-2,198
0

-234,458
-8,632
-17,521
-19,524
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-12,413
-17,652
-1,174
-7,184

0
0
-17,521
-19,524
0
0
0
0
0
-700
0
1,024
-7,184

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Page 211

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 1 - use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranches 2 and 3
Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves
TOTAL

95
0

-234,458
-7,700
0
0
-1,740
-56,083
-72,780
-28,070
-7,564
-11,713
-17,652
-1,954
0
0

244

932

-932

-244
0

0

0

Page 212

Appendix 3: Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income for the period ended 31 March 2021
Original
Budget 2020/21

£'000
Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies & Services
Agency & Contracted
Transfer Payments
Central Costs
DRF
Other
Capital Charges
GROSS EXPENDITURE
Income
Government Grants
Other Grants and Contributions
Sales
Fees and Charges
Rents
Recharges To Other Services
Other
Total Income
NET EXPENDITURE

Proposed
Contribution to /
Contribution to /
Budget
Use of Cash Limit Use of Earmarked
Revisions,
Reserve
Reserves
including
sums outside
the cash limit

£'000

£'000

£'000

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Corporate
Costs
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecast of
Outturn
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance Corporate
Costs

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

561,387
53,923
46,738
130,374
417,221
163,446
106,669
2,330
0
65,068

-29,811
-3,548
-446
-16,671
3,594
-2,120
7,493
127
0
0

237
0
0
7
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,418
53
-18
152
5,507
202
2,979
-50
0
0

533,231
50,428
46,274
113,862
426,322
161,528
117,141
2,407
0
65,068

531,043
52,515
46,725
113,978
449,431
162,871
117,416
2,337
0
65,068

344
0
0
1,342
2,744
6,964
115
70
0
0

531,387
52,515
46,725
115,320
452,175
169,835
117,531
2,407
0
65,068

-1,844
2,087
451
1,458
25,853
8,307
390
0
0
0

0
0
0
-207
250
6,964
0
0
0
0

1,547,156

-41,382

244

10,243

1,516,261

1,541,384

11,579

1,552,963

36,702

7,007

607,033
78,298
11,349
103,391
9,208
282,668
8,287

-35,795
-476
-5,025
927
-637
2,123
-2,331

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

6,434
2,266
0
-185
0
1,150
-354

577,672
80,088
6,324
104,133
8,571
285,941
5,602

587,357
82,005
4,398
88,352
8,958
276,415
7,114

6,964
0
200
-35
0
0
0

594,321
82,005
4,598
88,317
8,958
276,415
7,114

16,649
1,917
-1,726
-15,816
387
-9,526
1,512

-6,950
0
-50
35
0
0
0

1,100,234

-41,214

0

9,311

1,068,331

1,054,599

7,129

1,061,728

-6,603

-6,965

446,922

-168

244

932

447,930

486,785

4,450

491,235

43,305

42

Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 June 2020
EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT
RESERVES

SERVICE
GROUPING

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

£'000

£'000

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

TRANSFERS
BETWEEN
RESERVES

£'000

£'000

TOTAL
2020/21 CLOSING
MOVEMENT ON
BALANCE
RESERVES
AS AT 30 JUNE
2020
£'000
£'000

Social Care Reserve

AHS

-25,671

0

-699

50

-649

-26,320

Public Health Reserve

AHS

-5,246

1,190

-695

70

565

-4,681

CEO Grant Reserve

CEO

-86

0

0

0

0

-86

CEO Operational Reserve

CEO

-119

20

0

0

20

-99

Children's Services Reserve

CYPS

-1,785

527

-167

0

360

-1,425

Education Reserve

CYPS

-12,629

185

0

0

185

-12,444

AAP/Members Reserve

NCC

-2,033

119

0

-47

72

-1,961

Community Protection Reserve

NCC

-575

115

0

-70

45

-530

Environmental Services Reserve

NCC

-1,483

297

-843

0

-546

-2,029

NCC Grant Reserve

NCC

-689

0

0

0

0

-689

NCC Operational Reserve

NCC

-2,881

565

0

0

565

-2,316

North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve

NCC

-1,911

0

0

0

0

-1,911

Technical Services Reserve

NCC

-802

658

0

0

658

-144

Business Growth Fund Reserve

REG

-604

0

0

0

0

-604

Corporate Property & Land Reserve

REG

-1,356

759

0

0

759

-597

Culture and Sport Reserve

REG

-2,286

100

-450

0

-350

-2,636

Economic Development Reserve

REG

-2,123

12

0

0

12

-2,111

Employability and Training Reserve

REG

-276

77

0

0

77

-199

Funding and Programmes Management Reserve

REG

-506

0

0

0

0

-506

Housing Regeneration Reserve

REG

-473

0

0

0

0

-473

Housing Solutions Reserve

REG

-2,199

0

0

0

0

-2,199

Planning Reserve

REG

-862

100

0

0

100

-762

REAL Match Fund Programme Reserve

REG

-1,214

0

0

0

0

-1,214

Town and Villages Regeneration Reserve

REG

-19,767

0

0

0

0

-19,767

Transport Reserve

REG

-746

200

0

0

200

-546

Resources Corporate Reserve

Resources

-530

0

0

0

0

-530

Resources Customer Services Reserve

Resources

-315

0

0

0

0

-315

Resources DWP Grant Reserve

Resources

-573

0

-90

0

-90

-663

Resources Elections Reserve

Resources

-860

0

0

0

0

-860

Resources Grant Reserve

Resources

-154

0

0

0

0

-154

Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve

Resources

-1,542

0

0

0

0

-1,542

Resources Human Resources Reserves

Resources

-323

23

0

0

23

-300

Resources ICT Reserves

Resources

-1,242

153

-100

0

53

-1,189

Resources Internal Audit & Corporate Fraud Reserve

Resources

-80

0

0

0

0

-80

Resources Legal Reserves

Resources

-451

116

0

0

116

-335

Resources Operational Reserve

Resources

-58

0

-45

0

-45

-103

Resources Operations and Data Reserve

Resources

-38

0

0

0

0

-38

Resources Registrars Trading Reserve

Resources

-200

0

0

0

0

-200

Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve

Resources

-854

189

0

-50

139

-715

Resources System Development Reserve

Resources

-354

0

0

0

0

-354

Resources Transformation Reserve

Resources

-1,277

394

0

0

394

-883

Budget Support Reserve

Corporate

-19,172

2,733

0

0

2,733

-16,439

Business Support Reserve

Corporate

-1,032

0

-152

0

-152

-1,184

Capital Reserve

Corporate

-700

0

0

0

0

-700

Commercialisation Support Reserve

Corporate

-8,376

0

0

0

0

-8,376

COVID-19 Support Grant Reserve

Corporate

-17,521

17,521

0

0

17,521

0

Equal Pay Reserve

Corporate

-9,979

0

0

0

0

-9,979

ER/VR Reserve

Corporate

-3,346

273

0

0

273

-3,073

Feasibility Study Reserve

Corporate

-500

0

0

0

0

-500

Inspire Programme Reserve

Corporate

-330

132

0

0

132

-198

Insurance Reserve

Corporate

-10,070

0

0

0

0

-10,070

Office Accommodation Capital Reserve

Corporate

-24,739

180

0

0

180

-24,559

-192,938

26,638

-3,241

-47

23,350

-169,588

-8,180

Total Earmarked Reserves
Cash Limit Reserves
Adult and Health Services

-8,354

1,959

-1,785

0

174

Chief Executive's Office

0

0

-27

-126

-153

-153

Children and Young People's Services

0

0

2,896

0

2,896

2,896

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change

0

0

-531

-197

-728

-728

Regeneration, Economy and Growth

0

0

-617

-164

-781

-781

-2,758

239

-960

-113

-834

-3,592

Regeneration and Local Services

-329

0

0

329

329

0

Transformation and Partnerships

-318

0

0

318

318

0

-11,759

2,198

-1,024

47

1,221

-10,538

-204,697

28,836

-4,265

0

24,571

-180,126

-13,659

Resources

Total Cash Limit Reserves
Total Council Reserves
Schools' Balances
Schools' Revenue Balance

CYPS

-15,949

2,290

0

0

2,290

DSG Reserve

CYPS

3,807

468

0

0

468

4,275

-12,142

2,758

0

0

2,758

-9,384

Total Schools and DSG Reserve

Page 213

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Annual Enforcement Programme
Children and Young Persons
(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 and
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
Ordinary Decision

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods
and Climate Change
Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

This report reviews enforcement activities under the Children and
Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991, the Anti-Social
Behaviour Act 2003 and the Licensing Act 2003 for the period April
2019 to March 2020 and seeks approval of a new enforcement
programme for 2020/21.

2

The County Council has statutory responsibility for enforcement of age
restricted products, namely tobacco, spray paint containers, alcohol,
videos and DVDs, cigarette lighter refills, fireworks and the proxy sale of
tobacco products and supply of nicotine inhaling products to under 18s.

3

The Authority has also elected to enforce the age-restricted sales of
solvents and glue, knives, access to gaming establishments and access
to sunbed premises.

4

For many years the Authority has taken a proactive approach to tackling
the harms and criminality associated with the illegal supply and misuse
of alcohol and tobacco within County Durham. Together with our
partners in the Police Harm Reduction Unit and the County Durham
Tobacco Alliance, we continue to conduct high visibility enforcement
campaigns to tackle the health inequalities and links with organised
crime associated with these products. Protection of children is also a

Page 215

high priority. This forms part of a holistic approach the County Council
has adopted to tackle the harms caused by alcohol and tobacco as well
as tackling the wider determinants of health.

Executive summary
5

This report provides details of enforcement activity during 2019/2020, in
relation to age restricted products and tackling supplies of illicit tobacco.

6

Information is provided in relation to complaints, test purchase and
seizure activity for this period.

7

Details of the outcomes of enforcement action are provided.

8

The proposed enforcement programme for 2020/2021 is detailed.

9

Information is provided on the Offensive Weapons Act 2019.

Recommendation(s)
10

Page 216

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the enforcement activity undertaken during 2019/2020;

(b)

approve the proposed enforcement programme for 2020/2021;

(c)

note the anticipated changes in enforcement action upon a
commencement order being made in respect of the Offensive
Weapons Act 2019.

Background
Underage Sales Enforcement Activity
11

2019/2020 complaints and enforcement during the financial year:

12

Our team work closely in partnership with the Police Harm Reduction
Unit in matters relating to allegations of underage sales from licensed
retail premises.

13

Where premises make two underage sales over a short period of time,
formal action is taken by our service, bringing the facts before Durham
County Council’s General Licensing and Registration Committee by
means of a review of the Premise Licence.

14

During 2019/2020, 4 premises were taken to a review in relation to
underage sales of alcohol, resulting in more robust licensing conditions
being attached to prevent future non-compliance with legal obligations.
3 other premises have also been the subject of mediated reviews to
implement corrective action.
Summary by product type
Alcohol

67 Complaints / Intelligence Reports relating to
Off Licence premises
46 Test purchase attempts
17 fails / 9 Pass = 37 % failure rate on test
purchase attempts
4 taken to review – conditions imposed
3 mediated reviews

Tobacco

1 Complaint / 14 Compliance checks
15 Test Purchase attempts
2 failures being investigated
13 % failure rate

Knives

No complaints / intelligence reports received.

Page 217

E Cigarettes/ Nicotine
Inhaling products

No complaints
8 intelligence reports
8 Test purchase Attempts
2 Failures
25 %

Fireworks

No Complaints received
6 Intelligence reports
6 Test Purchase attempts – PASS

Spray paints

No Complaints received

Age Restricted Computer
Games

No complaints or intelligence received.

Gambling

No Complaints –
9 Notifications from Industry compliance checks
-following test purchase attempts- PASS.

15

Our enforcement activity into our regulatory activity for some of the
above age restricted products during 2019/2020 has been somewhat
limited in light of the lack of complaints from the public and intelligence
from partners.

16

We continue to seek avenues to develop sources of community
intelligence through the wider working of our service, other County
Council service teams and project partners.

17

Project work is also planned to be undertaken by the Trading Standards
Business Compliance Team around the issues of market surveillance of
trader compliance in relation to age restricted products where
intelligence has not been forthcoming.

Page 218

Tackling illicit tobacco during 2019/2020

18

Since April 2019, action has been taken in respect of 31 intelligence
reports, which have led to criminal investigations and cease and desist
warnings. 6 Investigation report files have been submitted for
consideration of commencement of criminal proceedings.

19

11 seizures being made from private dwellings, 2 from commercial
premises and one from a vehicle travelling through the county.

20

3 matters have been before the criminal courts in that time.

21

Outcomes: 2019/2020









1 custodial sentence imposed by the courts, totalling 30 months;
A 3-month probation order including 5 rehabilitation days;
12-month community order, with 250 hours of unpaid work;
2 Proceeds of Crime Act confiscations totalling - £ 37,000;
A proceeds of crime investigation, which led to the disclaiming of
£1,228;
Another proceeds of crime matter is ongoing through the courts,
following the seizure of £ 4,067;
2 Simple cautions were issued in relation to tobacco offences;
5 prosecution reports are ongoing through the criminal justice
process.

22

A criminal investigation into the supply of tobacco products remains
ongoing in the above matter.

23

During 2019/2020 a total of:
 14,890 Cigarettes;
 41.5 Kg of Hand Rolling Tobacco
have been seized as a result of 14 intelligence led targeted operations.

Page 219

Partnerships
Keep It Out Illegal Tobacco Campaign

24

During January 2020, saw the relaunch of the Keep it Out campaign, in
partnership with FRESH NE, the regional tobacco control programme.
This campaign raises awareness of the harms of illegal tobacco,
particularly in relation to the availability to young people. The campaign
has been promoted regionally by FRESH through the press and local
radio. This aims to promote reporting of concerns as to sources of
illegal tobacco, by legitimate retailers and the public to an anonymous
reporting Hotline.

25

At a more local level, the campaign is driven by participating local
authorities. Within County Durham, this has seen the issue of a press
release, circulation of a Member’s Briefing, information on the DCC
Intranet and school’s extranet as well as engagement with partners in
regulatory and educational fields.

26

The County Durham Tobacco Control Alliance, which we continue to
support and participate in, has distributed campaign materials to
Housing Providers, the Area Action Partnerships and smoking cessation
services.

27

The wider Community Protection Service is distributing leaflets and
posters on the campaign and reporting mechanisms to residents and
businesses it engages with. Partners within the County Durham
Organised Crime Group Disruption and Intervention Panel and the
Police led Pubwatch scheme as also assisting with our efforts. The
Keep in the Know Neighbourhood Alert system has also circulated
campaign information on illegal tobacco to over 6,000 residents.

28

During 2019/2020, 87 intelligence reports have been received relating
to illegal tobacco.

Page 220

29

These have been actioned or are being developed with a view to
carrying out future enforcement operations to tackle illegal tobacco
sales.

30

The reliance on community intelligence is crucial to the continued
successes in tackling this type of crime. We will continue to encourage
members of the public to report any illegal or suspicious activity as it
plays a integral part in keeping these types of products out of the supply
chain and allows the service to target resources effectively.

Emerging Issues:
Knife Crime and Corrosive substances- Offensive Weapons Act 2019
31

This legislation was introduced, following Government consultation
undertaken in relation to violent crime involving knives/bladed articles
and corrosive substances, which formed part of the Serious Violence
Strategy.

32

Knife crime and corrosive attacks are issues of public concern, with
these crimes having a devasting impact on victims, families and their
communities.

33

This has resulted in the introduction of the Offensive Weapons Act
2019, which received Royal Assent on 16 May 2019.

34

Section 64 of this Act, which is currently awaiting introduction via a
commencement order, allows local authorities – weights and measures
authorities - to enforce within its area the new offences under the Act
and existing offences relating to the sale, delivery etc. of knives,
corrosive products and other offensive weapons.
35





These new provisions being as followsSection 1 Prohibiting the sale of corrosive products to persons under
18;
Section 3 The delivery of corrosive products to residential premises;
Section 4 The delivery of corrosive products to persons under 18;
Section 38 The delivery of bladed products to residential premises;

Page 221




Section 39 The delivery of bladed products to persons under 18;
Section 32 The delivery of bladed articles to persons under 18.

36

New criminal offences are being created prohibiting the delivery of
bladed products sold online to a residential address, providing a
defence where age verification takes place upon delivery.

37

Upon introduction of Section 64, local authorities, will also have the
power to deal with matters falling under the following legislation:





Section 1 of the Restriction of Offensive Weapons Act 1959 – penalties
in relation to dangerous weapons;
Section 1 of the Crossbows Act 1987 dealing with the sale of
crossbows to persons under 18;
Section 141 of the Criminal Justice Act 1988 and Section 141 A sale of
bladed articles to persons under 18;
Section 1 of the Knives Act 1997 the unlawful marketing of knives.

Sale and Delivery of Corrosive Products
38

The purpose being to restrict access to products which contain the most
harmful corrosive substances by persons under the age of 18, both over
the counter and through online sales.

39

Corrosive products are defined within the legislation by reference to
their chemical abstracts, registry number and concentration limits – thus
catching those that contain corrosive substances at levels which, if
misused, could cause serious harm and life changing injuries. This
approach has been taken rather than a list of products by name, which
would require continual update.

40

Products such as normal strength household bleach and cleaners will
not be caught, whereas high strength drain cleaners, rust removers and
limescale removers could be, dependent on inclusion in the schedule of
products and concentrations, covering several acids and hydroxides.

41

Retailers must therefore take steps to understand and train their staff,
which of their product lines are caught and subject to the age restriction.
It will also be a good policy to operate a Challenge 25 approach similar
to other age restricted products already under legal controls. Online
sales should implement measures to ensure that age verification checks
are made at the point of delivery. Several major retailers have already
signed up to a voluntary code.

42

It is an offence to deliver corrosive products to residential premises and
steps must be taken to ensure that they are not delivered to collection
lockers.

Page 222

43

For distance sales, where the seller is outside of the UK, steps must
also be taken to ensure that the specified corrosive products are not
delivered into the hands of a person under 18 years of age.

44

Defences exist by ensuring that all reasonable precautions and all due
diligence are exercised to avoid the commission of the offence.

45

Prosecution in the courts can lead to unlimited fines and/or up to 51
weeks imprisonment being imposed.

Sale and Delivery of Knives

46

This aspect of the Offensive Weapons Act 2019 strengthens legislation
in relation to age restricted sales of knives, remote sales, requiring that
age verification takes place both when a sale is accepted and at the
point when the item is delivered. These are both important steps in
preventing the sale of knives to persons under 18.

47

Bladed articles include any knife, knife blade or razor blade, axe, any
other article which has a blade, or which is sharply pointed, and which is
made or adapted for causing injury to a person.

48

Retailers are expected to act responsibly and carefully consider whether
an item could commonly be defined as a knife.

49

Bladed products cannot be delivered to residential premises or
collection lockers, unless the seller can be sure that it will not be
delivered to a person under 18 otherwise it will need to be collected in
person from a collection point.

Defences and Penalties
50

A defence exists for sellers and delivery companies, where they can
show that they took all reasonable precautions and all due diligence to
prevent the offence. Upon conviction in the courts, penalties range from
a fine up to 51 weeks imprisonment, or both.

51

Our service works closely with the Police and is set to keep under
review any data relating to knife crime to determine if any intelligence as
to the retail source of knives may be identified and where any
enforcement action may be targeted.

Page 223

52

A good practice guide for knife retailers has been developed by
colleagues in London Trading Standards Authorities, in partnership with
the Metropolitan Police, the Mayor’s Office for Police and Crime.

53

We will look in the coming year to develop such a guide for retailers as
part of our business information webpages to advise traders of their
legal obligations.

54

It is perhaps reassuring that the incidences of knife crime across County
Durham are low in terms of violent crime amongst young people.

55

As such it does not feature as a priority crime area identified by the
Community Safety partnership at this time.

56

Adoption of this legislation will serve to future proof the ability of our
Trading Standards Team to be able to respond to any complaints as to
underage sales of bladed articles or corrosive products and conduct
education and compliance checks with retailers. To be able to respond
to issues relating to online sales and other distance sales, when the
commencement order for this legislation is introduced, providing trading
standards with the power to enforcement the relevant parts of the Act.

57

Such an approach will avoid any delays to obtaining authorisation to
address what is a serious and emotive area of legislation and social
concern.

58

Officers enforcement powers will be derived from those already
contained within the Consumer Rights Act 2015.

Main implications
59

The proposed enforcement programme for 2020/2021 consists of the
activities detailed below:
(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

Page 224

An intelligence led approach to underage sales enforcement and
illegal tobacco.
This will continue to develop the intelligence from the “Keep it Out
Campaign” to deliver enforcement action where possible.
Continue to develop sources of community intelligence through
partnership working and publicity activity.
Working in partnership with the Police and other enforcement
agencies to identify and disrupt the involvement of organised
criminality in the illicit tobacco supply chain.
Investigation of all consumer and trader complaints.
Undertaking market surveillance project activity in relation to age
restricted products.

(e)

(f)

(g)
(h)

(i)

(j)
(k)

(l)

Continuation of our joint working with the Police Harm Reduction
Unit and other agencies to adopt a holistic approach to solving
problems associated with the accessibility and misuse of age
restricted products.
Hold events to raise public awareness of the harms associated
with illicit tobacco, to publicise the work of the service and
encourage reporting of this criminal activity.
Continuation of the ‘Do You Pass’ retailer training as a way of
assisting business.
Continuation of our work in partnership with the Police, HMRC
and other agencies to tackle sales from private premises to
children, particularly in relation to alcohol and tobacco.
Working with the County Durham Tobacco Alliance partners,
provide guidance to traders on the legal requirements
surrounding E Cigarettes/Vaping equipment and products and
access of their customers to advice on smoking cessation
support.
Continuation with a practice of reviewing premises when
appropriate, following incidents of the underage sale of alcohol.
Continuation of our work to tackle health inequalities and
antisocial behaviour associated with the misuse and illegal supply
of age-restricted products, in particular alcohol and tobacco.
Deliver business advice on and carry out enforcement of new
legislation for which we may be statutorily responsible including
all new legislation, which may emerge in relation to knife sales
and corrosive substances, once these provisions commence in
law.

Conclusion
60

The agreement of the proposed Enforcement Programme for 2020/2021
will ensure that the Council continues to address the problem of
underage sales and access to age restricted products by those
underage as well as the wider health and criminal issues surrounding
these products.

61

Adoption of the Offensive Weapons Act 2019 will ensure that the
service can respond to complaints and address any compliance issues
relating to the sale of bladed articles and corrosive products from retail
and remote sellers in a timely manner.

Background papers
None.

Other useful documents
None.

Page 225

Page 226

Author(s)
Joanne Waller

Tel: 03000 260924

Owen Cleugh

Tel: 03000 260925

Craig Hudson

Tel: 03000 260938

Page 227

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
In relation to instituting criminal legal proceedings/licence reviews and other
sanctions, within existing infrastructure with DCC Legal Services.

Finance
No additional implications beyond existing funding/staffing arrangements.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not Applicable.

Climate Change
Not applicable.

Human Rights
Enforcement activity to be undertaken with due regard to the Human Rights
Act 1998, The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

Crime and Disorder
This area of proposed enforcement activity seeks to protect residents, young
people and legitimate businesses from criminal activity and disorder linked to
the matters concerned. Partnership working with Durham Police on these
issues.

Staffing
Undertaken within existing staffing establishment.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
If proposed enforcement activity is not undertaken, reputational risk, potential
health and crime and disorder harms taking place in communities. Growth in
criminality and involvement of Organised Crime Groups.

Page 228

Procurement
Not Applicable

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Treasury Management Outturn 2019/20
Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
None.

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide information on the treasury management outturn position for
2019/20.

Executive Summary
2

This report provides a summary of the Council’s treasury position,
borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management and
prudential indicators.

3

The Council held £359 million in borrowing and £232 million of
investments at 31 March 2020. During 2019/20 borrowing of £40 million
was taken out from the PWLB at rates of between 1.75% to 2.23%. A
further £20m of borrowing was taken out with Phoenix Life at a rate of
2.73%, the first tranche of a forward borrowing agreement of £60m.

4

Investments have been undertaken in line with both the CIPFA Code
and government guidance which require the Council to invest its funds
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.

5

During the year ending 31 March 2020 the Council has complied with
Treasury Management Indicators relating to interest rate exposure,
maturity structure of borrowing and sums invested for more than one
year. The Council has also complied with Prudential Code Indicators
which relate to the capital programme and how much the Council can
afford to borrow.

Recommendation
6

Cabinet is asked to note the contents of the report.
Page 231

Background
7

Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent
with those risks’.

8

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the
treasury management operation is to ensure this cash flow is
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk
counterparties, with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of
the achievement of the best possible investment returns.

9

The second main function of the treasury management service is to
arrange the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital
programme provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council and
there needs to be longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital
spending requirements can be met. The management of longer term
cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer
term cash flow surpluses and occasionally debt restructuring to meet
Council risk or cost objectives.

10

The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and its
Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree the
following reports, as a minimum:

11

Page 232

(a)

An annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year
(reported to the County Council on 20 February 2019 for the
2019/20 financial year);

(b)

a mid-year Treasury Management Review report (reported to the
County Council on 4 December 2019);

(c)

an annual review following the end of the year describing the
activity compared to the strategy (this report);

This report provides a summary of the following:
(a)

summary treasury position;

(b)

borrowing activity;

(c)

investment activity;

(d)

treasury management indicators;

(e)

prudential indicators;

Summary Treasury Position
12

The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure
adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management
activities.

13

At the beginning and end point of 2019/20 the Council’s treasury
position (excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows:

Total Debt
Total
Investments
Net Debt
14

31.03.19

Rate
Average
Rate
Average
31.03.20
/Return
Life
/Return
Life

£
million
311

%
3.75

years
17.99

£
million
359

%
3.42

years
22.93

245

0.97

0.32

232

1.05

0.53

66

127

As at 31 March 2020, the Council held £359 million in borrowing and
£232 million in investments.

Borrowing Activity
15

At 31 March 2020, the Council held £358.580 million of loans, an
increase of £47.975 million from the start of the year. The borrowing
position and the change since the start of the year is shown in the
following table:
31.3.19

In-year

Balance Movement
£
million
Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB)
Private Sector
Pension Fund
Total borrowing

£ million

31.3.20

Average

31.3.20
Average
Life

Balance

Rate

£ million

%

years

258.977

29.998

288.975

3.31%

20.33

51.428
0.200
310.605

17.992
(0.015)
47.975

69.420
0.185
358.580

4.41%
8.05%
3.42%

26.23
8.06
22.93

Page 233

16

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an
appropriate risk balance between securing low interest costs and
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required.

17

To take advantage of historically low rates of interest, new borrowing of
£40 million was raised with the PWLB in 2019/20 with details in the
following table.
Lender

Principal

PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
PWLB
Total

£ million
10.00
5.00
5.00
5.00
5.00
10.00
40.00

Interest
Rate
%
2.23
2.12
1.85
1.82
1.76
1.75

Start Date

Length

29/05/2019
11/06/2019
9/8/2019
16/8/2019
20/08/2019
27/9/2019

40 years
45 years
46 years
44 years
30 years
30 years

18

A further £20 million at a rate of 2.733% had been raised previously with
Phoenix Life under a forward borrowing arrangement and this was
received on 13 February 2020.

19

The key maturity during the year was a £10 million PWLB loan at 2.79%
that was taken out in November 2011 and matured in April 2019.

20

No rescheduling was undertaken during the year as the differential
between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates
made rescheduling unviable.

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities
21

Although not classed as borrowing, the Council also raised £5.639
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment
via finance leases during the year to 31 March 2020.

22

Total debt other than borrowing stood at £79.835 million on 31 March
2020, taking total debt to £438.415 million.

Investment Activity
23

The Council has held significant funds invested representing funds
received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.
During 2019/20, investment balances ranged between £232 million and
£326 million.

24

As at 31 March 2020 the Council held investments totalling £232.250
million. The following table provides a breakdown of these investments
split by the type of financial institution and maturity period.

Page 234

Financial
Institution
Banks
Building Societies
Central
Government
Other Local
Authorities
Money Market
Funds
Total
% of total
25

12-24
6-12
Total
months months
£ million
43.730
4.373
117.677
15.306

0-3
months

3-6
months

30.217
15.306

39.357
-

0.875

-

-

-

0.875

48.103

4.373

24.051

21.865

98.392

-

-

-

-

-

94.501
41%

43.730
19%

67.781
29%

26.238
11%

232.250

The Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance, which has
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the
Council on 20 February 2019. Both the CIPFA Code and government
guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the
highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when investing
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return,
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of
receiving unsuitably low investment income.

Treasury Management Indicators
26

There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in
interest rates.
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s
exposure to interest rate risk. The upper limits on fixed and variable rate
interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net principle
invested was:

Upper limit on fixed
interest rate exposure
Upper limit on variable
interest rate exposure

31.3.20
Actual

31.3.20 2019/20
Complied
Actual
Limit

£319.1m

89.0%

100%



£39.5m

11.0%

70%



Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the
maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were:
Page 235

Under 12 months
12 months to 2 years
2 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
10 years and above

Lower
Limit
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Upper
Limit
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

31.3.20
Actual
3%
0%
17%
11%
69%

Complied






Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The
purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments:

Actual principal invested beyond
one year

Limit

As at
31.3.20

Complied

£75m

£26.238m



Prudential Code Indicators
27

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when
determining how much money it can afford to borrow.

28

The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear
framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored
each year.
Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises capital expenditure
incurred and how the expenditure was financed:

Capital Expenditure
Capital Programme
Financed by:
Capital receipts
Capital grants
Revenue and reserves
Net borrowing financing need
for the year

Page 236

2019/20 2019/20
Estimate Actual Difference
£ Million £ Million £ Million
117.574

110.128

(7.446)

10.439
44.604
16.021

10.471
49.032
23.745

0.032
4.428
7.724

46.510

26.880

(19.630)

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR): The CFR is a measure of the
Council’s underlying borrowing need for a capital purpose. The CFR
includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance
leases). The actual outturn position compared to the estimate in February
2020 is set out in the following table:
2019/20 2019/20
Estimate Actual Difference
£ Million £ Million £ Million
Capital Financing Requirement
496.026 476.095 (19.931)
Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 31 March 2020 compared to
the estimate in February 2020 is as follows:

Borrowing
Finance leases
PFI liabilities
Total Debt

Revised
Estimate
£ Million

Final
Outturn
£ Million

Difference
£ Million

358.580
42.961
37.454
438.995

358.580
42.665
37.170
438.415

0.000
(0.296)
(0.284)
(0.580)

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to
ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital
purpose, the Council should ensure that debt does not, except in the
short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing
requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key
indicator of prudence. The actual outturn position compared to the
estimate in February 2020 is set out in the following table:

Total debt
Capital financing requirement
Headroom (Under borrowed)

2019/20
Estimate
£ Million

2019/20
Actual
£ Million

Difference
£ Million

438.995
496.026
57.031

438.415
476.095
37.680

(0.580)
(19.931)
(19.351)

Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the actual
position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to
the authorised limit not being breached.

Page 237

2019/20
Estimate
£ Million

2019/20
Actual
£ Million

Complied

Borrowing
416.000 358.580

Other long term liabilities*
81.000
79.835

Total
497.000 438.415

Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a control on
the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit determined
under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects the
level of external borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in
the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

Borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Total

2019/20
Estimate
£ Million

2019/20
Actual
£ Million

Complied

466.000
86.000
552.000

358.580
79.835
438.415





Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue
stream: This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital
(borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment
income) against the net revenue stream.

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

2019/20
Estimate
%

2019/20
Actual
%

Difference
%

7.62

7.29

(0.33)

Conclusion
29

The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy
2019/20 for its full year activity covering the period to 31 March 2020.

Background Papers
a) 20 February 2019 – County Council – Appendix 13: Durham County
Council 2019/20 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the
Medium Term Financial Plan, 2019/20 to 2022/23 and Revenue and
Capital Budget 2019/20
b) 4 December 2018 – County Council – Mid Year Treasury Management
Review 2019/20.
Page 238

c) 26 February 2020 – County Council – Appendix 15: Durham County
Council 2020/21 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the
Medium Term Financial Plan, 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and
Capital Budget 2020/21.
Contact:

Jeff Garfoot
Azhar Rafiq

Tel:
Tel:

03000 261946
03000 263480

Page 239

Appendix 1: Implications

Legal Implications
None

Finance
The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment
activity during 2019/20. The report also provides the overall financing of the
Council’s capital expenditure, along with borrowing and investment income
returns.

Consultation
None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Risk
None

Procurement
None

Page 240

Agenda Item 9

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Quarter One, 2020/21
Performance Management Report
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the
council’s corporate performance framework.

The impact of COVID-19
2

A highly infectious virus (SARS-CoV-2) causing respiratory illness
(COVID-19) spread rapidly across the world during 2020. This resulted
in a global pandemic being declared by the World Health Organisation
on 11 March 2020.

3

Significant restrictions to normal ways of life, travel and business were
introduced by the government to try to contain the spread of the virus,
minimise deaths and prevent COVID-19 cases overwhelming our health
and social care systems.

4

It was necessary for the Council to adapt and we significantly changed
our service provision and ways of working. Some services were closed,
others changed and began to operate remotely. Gold command
arrangements were activated nationwide to respond to the emergency.
Locally, this involved the council working in partnership with other
agencies on the local resilience forum which covers both County
Durham and Darlington to protect our communities and support those
affected by the pandemic.

Page 241

5

Although our regular quarterly corporate reporting cycle was suspended,
we are now able to resume quarterly performance reporting with this
report which combines quarter four, 2019/20 and quarter one, 2020/21.

Performance Reporting
6

This performance report is structured around the three externally
focused results-based ambitions of the County Durham Vision 2035
alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme, and also includes an
overview of the impact of COVID-19 on council services, our staff and
residents.

7

The report will be further developed to reflect the reporting requirements
of the Council Plan 2020-2023 (subject to Cabinet approval in
September), cultural change resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic,
COVID-19 Recovery and Restoration, which is likely to run over the
medium term, and the council’s new senior management structure
(particularly ‘Regeneration and Economic Growth’ and ‘Neighbourhoods
and Climate Change’).

8

These changes will commence from quarter three onwards to align with
new corporate planning arrangements and developments in business
analytics.

More and Better Jobs
(a) The UK economy has experienced a significant shock since the start
of the COVID-19 pandemic. GDP has fallen dramatically, with
significant falls in output. April 2020 experienced sharper falls than
March as the negative impacts of business slow down led to a
significant fall in consumer demand, business and factory closures,
and supply chain disruptions.
(b) Across the county, and in-line with the national picture,
unemployment has risen (and, if this mirrors the 2008 recession in
scale, is projected to double by March 2021, an increase of around
13,000 people1) and almost one in three jobs has been furloughed
(with 33% of businesses expecting to make redundancies in the
next three months). The impact has been greater across the 18-24
age range and for women and older people. There has been an
increase of 74% in universal credit claims for people aged 18-24,
compared to June 2019.
(c)

1

The economic impacts of COVID-19 are expected to be severe,
wide-ranging and long term. More than half of businesses across
Durham indicated (via Business Durham survey in June 2020) that

Experimental estimates of unemployment across County Durham

Page 242

their turnover was impacted by more than 50% and 25% stated they
remained closed.
(d) The leisure, tourism and cultural sector has been particularly hard
hit. Although some events moved online, the majority were either
cancelled or rescheduled. The Empire and Gala theatres will remain
closed until January 2021.
(e) We therefore remain extremely concerned about poverty pressures
across the county (pre-COVID data placed us within the top 40%
most deprived upper-tier authorities across England), the impact of
school closures on the education of our children and young people,
and the increasing employment gaps between those with a disability
and those without, and the overall employment rate and especially
for those aged 16-24.
(f)

To mitigate against these challenges, we are continuing to support
employees and businesses through a variety of projects and grants,
with a specific focus on addressing inequality across employment
for those aged 16-24. We have developed a COVID-19 economic
recovery plan and are identifying a pipeline of investment projects
which will stimulate the economy. We are also developing
employability programmes to support those who have been left with
no employment because of the crisis.

Long and Independent Lives
(g) The UK care sector has been significantly affected by the COVID-19
pandemic. In County Durham supporting our care market has been
a priority. As a system the County Durham Care Partnership has put
in place a range of financial and practical support for our care
providers to enable them to continue to provide care and support to
our residents in line with national guidance.
(h) Care providers across County Durham have experienced issues
relating to rates of infection, supply of personal protective equipment
or staffing. However, with the targeted support, 90% currently have
no or very low concerns. We continue to work nationally to increase
the quality of the data to identify and address infection and risk of
infection amongst staff and patients.
(i)

The council continues to assess the impact of falling occupancy
rates within care homes and is providing short-term financial support
to providers to ensure sustainability of the market pending
conclusion of a review of our approach to commissioning care.

(j)

The consequences of COVID-19 on the health needs of our
residents has led to initially reduced referrals across adult social

Page 243

care, specifically older people and those with learning disabilities.
However, referrals for those who have problems with substance
misuse have increased by 58% compared to last year. There is a
GP referral backlog of more than 40,000 urgent and non-urgent
secondary care, and reports that children and young people are
suffering increased levels of anxiety. Predictive analysis by Tees,
Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust suggests there will be significant
increases in demand for mental health support.
(k)

In addition, pre-COVID data estimates that 6% of children across
the county (more than 4,000) are eligible for, but not claiming, free
school meals. We anticipate food pressures will increase as the
economic situation worsens. To help mitigate this issue, more than
50 ‘holiday hunger’ programmes have taken place during the school
holidays.

(l)

There are areas where we continue to make positive progress and
help people to live long and independent lives. We remain on track
to achieve our stronger families programme target, achieving
‘significant and sustained outcomes’ for more than 4,600 families,
have put additional support in place for pregnant smokers and new
mothers who smoke, with a doubling of those setting a quit date
during lockdown, and continue to offer infant-feeding support at
home to those who need it.

Connected Communities – Safer focus
(m) In relation to keeping children and young people safe, there are
many positives across this area. We continue to perform well in
relation to the timeliness of processing statutory referrals (first
contact) and single assessments (and are carrying out audits to
ensure quality of assessments remains consistently high). However,
demand for children’s social care remained high throughout
2019/20, with an increasing trend in the number of children on a
child protection plan and children looked after.
(n) Overall crime levels remain relatively static. However, anti-social
behaviour incidents have increased, peaking in April before
declining as lockdown restrictions were lifted. There were increases
to both domestic violence (up 8%) and hate crime (up 30%) during
lockdown, reflecting the national picture.
(o) During quarter one, we used our focused improvement plans,
initiatives and interventions to mitigate against the challenges we
face. For example, multi-agency screening of all domestic violence
incidents, setting up a Child Exploitation Vulnerability Tracker, and
water safety actions both in Durham City and countywide.

Page 244

Connected Communities – Sustainable Communities focus
(p) Actions aimed at controlling the spread of COVID-19 have brought
about unexpected consequences. The sudden, significant drop in
carbon emissions as businesses closed and people stayed at home.
The reduction in road traffic has also led to improvements in air
quality, a reduction in environmental noise and the more visible
wildlife. Negative impacts of COVID-19 include increased waste and
reduced recycling. These changes are mirrored across County
Durham.
(q) Most council services falling under this ambition showed a
significant decrease in demand during quarter one. Exceptions were
reports of fly-tips and smoke from garden fires – issues which are
being addressed through multi-agency problem solving. Although
there were fewer presentations to our Housing Solutions Service,
we are concerned numbers will increase once the government’s
temporary eviction ban is lifted, mortgage payment holidays end and
‘normal service’ resumes across the sector. We will be working with
both landlords and supporting tenants, as far as possible, to
minimise the impact.
(r)

To maintain an essential travel network, we have provided financial
support to our local bus companies, which are currently operating to
approximately 10% of normal service. As lockdown measures are
relaxed, the volume and frequency of services will increase.

An Excellent Council
(s)

Since the start of the pandemic, the council has been continually
adapting its service provision and ways of working to help slow the
spread of COVID-19, prevent our health and social care systems
being overwhelmed, and protect our staff and residents.

(t)

Although we are successfully maintaining essential services, such
as refuse collection and social care, other non-essential services
had to be closed or delivered remotely. In addition, new services
were developed to meet growing needs of our residents who were
shielding, self-isolating or experiencing loneliness. To manage the
risk of transmitting COVID-19 and to safeguard our employees, our
staff continued to work from home wherever possible. A recent staff
survey, focusing on the pandemic, highlighted many positives in our
response, however it raised concerns, most specifically around
mental health and well-being.

(u) Our COVID-19 response involved rapidly expanding our online
service delivery and developing digital alternatives to face-to-face
contact. Our COVID-19 response, detailed in a report to Cabinet in

Page 245

June, involved rapidly expanding our online service delivery and
developing digital alternatives to face-to-face contact. More
residents created online accounts and our council meetings were
live streamed online, with residents participating and submitting
questions remotely. We created a community support hub (staffed
by redeployed council employees) to protect those clinically
vulnerable, experiencing hardship or who needed help when selfisolating, and we provided financial assistance to both residents and
businesses.
(v)

During quarter one, we also continued with our programme of
cultural change, digital development and training and organisational
development. However, challenges remain. To truly understand our
customers, we need to bring together and analyse data from across
the entire council. We are also concerned about response rates for
the CRM satisfaction surveys - satisfaction is good but the response
rate is low.

(w) For some services the impact of new working arrangements via
telephone, digital and social media channel has been a more flexible
and responsive service, and some of these changes may be
beneficial to maintain once the impact has been properly evaluated
e.g. support for young people via online mechanisms, schools,
breastfeeding mothers.

Risk Management
9

Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda.
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and
improvement projects. Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering
the ambitions and how we are managing them.

Recommendation
10

That Cabinet considers the overall position and direction of travel in
relation to quarter one performance, the impact of COVID-19 on
performance, and the actions being taken to address areas of
underperformance including the significant economic and well-being
challenges because of the pandemic.

Author
Jenny Haworth

Page 246

Tel: 03000 268071

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and
financial planning.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring
process.

Climate Change
We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications
of climate change in our reports and decision-making.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has
been included to monitor staffing issues.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is
integrated into the quarterly performance management report.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 247

Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Performance Management
Report
Quarter One, 2020/21

Page 248

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
(a) Do residents have good job prospects?

Employment impact of
COVID-19 (Apr-Jun 2020)

County
Durham

National

Jobs furloughed

29.8*

29.7*

Businesses utilising the
furlough/ job retention
scheme

50**

75***

Self-employed claiming on
income support scheme

71***

71***

* ONS
** Business Durham Survey (Jun-20: 180 responses^^)
*** ONS business Impact of COVID-19 Survey
^^as a large proportion of respondents were micro-businesses employing fewer than five people, the
results should not be considered as representative of the wider County Durham business population.

Key employment
rate stats %:
(Apr 19-Mar 20)

County
Durham

National

Male

73.9

80.0

Female

69

72.2

Private sector

73.4

78.9

Part-time

24.2

24.6

Without a disability

80.5

81.7

with Equality Act core or work
limiting disability

40.6

56.2

Age 16-24

46.8

53.9

Page 249

additional employment rate information available via Durham Insight
and Index of Deprivation in County Durham

Gross jobs created / safeguarded^
as a result of Business Durham activity

Employability
Programmes
(Apr 19-Mar 20)

3,167

1,519

registrations

2,404
1,866

1,567
1,128

309

progressed into
employment

1,066
164

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
(YTD)
^ job safeguarded: must be a permanent, paid, full time equivalent
(FTE) job which is at risk

14

progressed
into education
or training

More and Better Jobs
1

The ambition of More and Better Jobs is linked to the following key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Do residents have good job prospects?
Is County Durham a good place to do business?
How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?
Do our young people have access to good quality education and
training?

Do residents have good job prospects?
2

The employment rate data for March 2020 dropped, although is in line with
regional data. As there is a data lag in this information, and a need to
understand the impact of COVID-19, a June 2020 experimental estimate
using Labour Force Survey employment data has been produced. As this data
is only regional, the percentage change in the rate for the North East was
applied to the latest data for County Durham. The estimated ‘experimental’
employment rate for County Durham is 70.9% for June 2020), this is below
both regional and national rates but does not yet show a significant COVID-19
effect due to the support provided by the furlough and income support
schemes.

3

HM Revenue and Customs data show that around 64,000 jobs in County
Durham (29.8%) were ‘furloughed’ under the government’s Job Retention
Scheme. This is in line with both regional (29.6%) and England (29.7%) rates.

4

Throughout quarter one, Business Durham carried out two surveys which
assessed how many businesses had utilised the Job Retention Scheme. The
first survey in April (based on 279 responses) indicated 52% of businesses
had accessed the job furlough scheme, the second in June (based on 180
responses) indicated 50%. However, as a large proportion of respondents
were micro-businesses employing fewer than five people, the results should
not be considered as representative of the wider County Durham business
population.

5

In addition, around 14,000 self-employed people have made claims from the
Self Employment Income Support Scheme, representing 71% of those who
are potentially eligible for the scheme.

6

There is concern over the current and potential impact on jobs once these
schemes come to an end. The British Chambers of Commerce coronavirus
impact tracker (as at 22 July 2020) shows that, nationally, 13% of respondents
have made redundancies since the start of the crisis and 33% are intending to

Page 250

make redundancies over the next three months. Similarly, although
manufacturing businesses within County Durham remained reasonably
resilient in the early stages, and several manufacturers have seen new market
opportunities, some are now stating their intention to make redundancies.
7

We have undertaken work to estimate what the potential impact might be on
the levels of unemployment in County Durham. Using the rate of increase in
unemployment following the 2008 recession, if similar increases are seen,
estimates suggest that employment could rise to around 27,000 by March
2021 from around 14,000 (December 2019).

8

Working with the National Careers Service and the Department for Work and
Pensions, we have launched County Durham Jobs Fuse to support employers
and help individuals whose jobs have been affected as a result of COVID-19.
Additional resource is available to provide triage to those who have lost their
jobs, been furloughed and in fear of job loss.

Is County Durham a good place to do business?
9

The economic impacts of COVID-19 are expected to be severe, wide-ranging
and long term. The latest results of the ONS Business Impact of COVID-19
Survey (survey reference period of 29 June to 12 July) shows that almost 7%
of industries have temporarily closed or paused trading and of those
continuing to trade almost 15% reported that turnover had decreased by more
than 50%.

10

Of the businesses who responded to the second Business Durham survey in
June 2020: 51% indicated that the impact of COVID-19 on revenue has been
greater than 50%; 25% stated that their business was still closed and 12%
stated it was closed, but they intended to re-open in July.

11

As part of its response, the government launched several financial support
measures for businesses. 73% of businesses in County Durham responded
that they had been able to access a local authority grant, either small business
grant, retail, hospitality and leisure grant or a discretionary grant.

12

Take-up levels of the government loan schemes were low amongst those
responding, with only 22% having accessed a Bounce Back loan and less than
1% reporting they had accessed the coronavirus business interruption loan
scheme (CBILS), however these take-up rates are likely to reflect the high
level of responses to the survey from smaller businesses employing fewer
than five people.

Page 251

13

The impact of COVID-19 has varied across different business sectors, many
manufacturing and engineering businesses which account for a significant
proportion of our GVA have had to furlough staff and operate at a reduced
capacity; similarly, in the construction sector, work either ceased temporarily
or continued at a slower pace. However, anecdotal evidence from businesses
in the IT/digital and business and professional services sectors indicates they
have not been hit as hard as other sectors, with operations continuing
effectively from home and some productivity gains and innovation being
experienced. The contact centre sector has largely managed to maintain
operations by deploying home working for large numbers of staff.

14

There has been some business diversification and expansion leading to job
creation in response to the pandemic:
(a)

Bishop Auckland-based carton manufacturer JSB Enterprises, diversified
into PPE production by adapting a number of its cardboard cutting
machines to create protective visors, which has enabled the business to
safeguard six jobs including those of two staff members recruited through
the council’s Employability Durham scheme.

(b)

A Seaham-based company that is a sub-contractor to Serco has won a
contract under the national test and trace programme, creating 170 new
jobs over a 12-week period.

(c)

Technimark in Middleton-in-Teesdale is producing filters for ventilators as
part of the COVID-19 response. The council’s planning team has
provided advice to enable the company to maximise its space and
consider options to increase manufacturing capacity on-site.

15

Business Durham’s properties, including its business centres, NETPark and
other industrial property remained open throughout the lockdown for those
tenants that required access to continue their business operations, and to
accommodate requests for additional space from some businesses.

16

In relation to the re-opening of town centres across the county, we coordinated plans to ensure all necessary measures were in place including
changes to roads and footpaths; leaflets were delivered to town centre
premises with guidance and support for opening safely and webinars to
support the retail sector to help them embrace online selling and find new
ways to market their product or service.

17

The Durham Ambitious Business Starts (DABS) ERDF project, was launched
in June 2020, to support an anticipated increase in people looking to start a
business in the county, linked to the likely rise in redundancies. The
programme includes several innovative approaches to supporting ambitious

Page 252

start-up businesses and newly established businesses in their first 12 months
of trading.
18

Business Durham and the economic development team have provided support
and advice to approximately 400 businesses in relation to COVID-19.

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local
economy?
19

During the lockdown, there were some innovative initiatives to encourage
cultural activities including online exhibition content to replace the planned
physical exhibition for VE Day 75th Anniversary, there were 3,000 online visits
during May alone. An online pilot of archive education resources and online
workshops were developed in partnership with schools and the Humanities
Network with activities for children in school in July. Remote volunteering
opportunities were developed for the Durham History Centre NHLF project
while lockdown restrictions were in place, including for students who had been
due to undertake work experience over the summer holidays.

20

The visitor economy has been significantly affected. The latest results from the
ONS Business Impact of COVID-19 Survey (survey reference period of 29
June to 12 July) show that accommodation and food service and the arts,
entertainment and recreation industries were more severely affected due to
the temporary cessation of trading.

21

A Visit County Durham survey in May 2020 showed local impacts: 78% of
respondents stated that income had been reduced by more than 50% and
34% did not know when they would re-open. The main concerns when
considering re-opening were lack of demand, social distancing requirements,
stringent cleaning measures and cashflow.

22

With an estimated 30% of accommodation providers open during July and with
others opening by the end of 2020, it is estimated that there would be a
potential drop of 7.4 million (37.5%) in visitor numbers compared to 2018 and
a drop of £399 million in spend in the local economy.

23

Festivals and events have been cancelled since the end of March, however
where possible, we are looking at alternative dates. For example, we are
working with British Cycling and other stakeholders to identify suitable
alternatives dates for the Tour Series and Durham City Run Festival has been
rescheduled for 8-11 October.

Page 253

24

Alternative formats are also being utilised, Durham BRASS moved to Online
Durham BRASS in July and Durham Book Festival will move online, a digital
programme is currently being developed.

Do our young people have access to good quality education and
training?
25

Due to COVID-19, early years providers, schools, colleges and universities
closed on 20 March 2020 and the subsequent cancellation of examinations
means limited education data is currently available.

26

Ofsted inspection activity was also suspended. There are three primary and
three secondary schools judged to be inadequate at their last inspection.
Education Durham continue to work closely with schools across the county,
with our Education Development Partners offering support, particularly to
those schools judged as requires improvement or inadequate.

27

During COVID-19 support to schools has been maintained virtually with
remote visits with 367 primary schools, 26 secondary schools and 10 special
schools. Support was also provided to 18 academies in County Durham. Onsite visits were also made to all our special schools and 99.5% of primary
schools receiving at least one visit and three-quarters of secondary schools
receiving two visits. Support was also provided to early years providers across
the county.

28

Our virtual school for children looked after has worked with schools and given
them an additional £50 for each child to purchase either a licence for home
learning, or to provide other materials to support carers. Caseworkers are
working with schools to complete the summer Personal Education Plan (PEP)
for children. This is very different to the usual PEP due to the experiences the
children have had over recent months. This will also inform a plan for the
autumn term, allowing us to put in support depending upon the area of need.
This PEP involves conversations with school, social worker, child and
caseworker. Our virtual school have worked with staff to prepare a transition
workbook for Year 6 children moving to secondary school in September. A
“Returning to school safe, happy and settled” document has been developed
with the SEND and Inclusion Team to support some of our most vulnerable
children on their return to school.

Page 254

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
(b) Is County Durham a good place to do business, (c) How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy and
(d) do our young people have access to good quality education and training?
Apr-Jun
2020

Business Durham Activity

3 inward investments secured
410 businesses engaged
131 businesses received intensive support
92% floor space occupied
£8.2 GVA from jobs created/safeguarded (million)

compared
last year

2

28

28

businesses supported as a
result of targeted business
improvement schemes

new businesses supported
through advice, grant support
and access to training

5.9pp

(Apr-Jun 2020)

(Apr-Jun 2020)

↔

3






198

£12.6

Schools judged good or outstanding

change in visitor numbers
compared to 2018

(as at June 2020)

(based on estimate for 2020)

COVID-19 Impact Survey*
(Visit County Durham)

 37.5% (7.4m) in visitors

78% responded
 42.7% (£399m) in spend
50% income affected
34% did not know when
they would re-open

based on 30%
accommodation providers
re-opening in July

Page 255

*from 13 May to 31 May
(79 responses)

additional information on businesses is available via Durham Insight

100%

Maintained
nurseries

89%

Primary

64%

Secondary

There are three primary and three secondary schools rated
as inadequate (all under the former inspection framework).
Click for the latest Ofsted school ratings in County Durham

better than last year

worse than last year

29

There has been considerable activity to support children and young people in
their homes through a revised service delivery offer from the Specialist Inclusion
Support Teams and the development and publication of resources to support
learning at home for children with a range of additional needs. These have been
shared directly with families as well as being available on the Local Offer. There
has also been direct support work undertaken with children and their families
using virtual platforms including therapeutic support and direct teaching e.g.
braille, emotional well-being etc.

30

We have strengthened our response to children missing from education (CME)
and children who are electively home educated (EHE): In 2019/20, 382 CME
referrals were received, 368 children were located and 14 remain open cases
(five left county, three travelling and six recent referrals). 53 EHE children were
successfully reintegrated to schools in 2019/20, although a reduction from 68 in
2018/19 this is in the context of COVID-19.

31

We continue to progress our Inclusion Strategy which aims to achieve fewer
exclusions, fewer children seeking EHE and more children and young people in
mainstream or appropriate specialist settings. We will look to build on the
strengths of our Primary and Secondary School Behaviour/Inclusion Panels by
reframing the remit and extending membership and develop a countywide Reintegration Protocol to enable children and young people in alternative provision
to reintegrate into mainstream schools.

32

COVID-19 had a significant impact on youth unemployment with the number of
18-24 year old Universal Credit claimants rising from 6,305 in March to 9,121 in
June. The June 2020 figure represents a 74% increase on the position in June
2019 when there were 5,247 young people claiming Universal Credit.

33

DurhamWorks continue to support 16-24 year olds in County Durham who are
not in education, employment or training. At the start of lockdown, DurhamWorks
commenced a digital only offer, supporting young people via telephone, text,
email, video chat (24,950 interventions in April, May and June). Schools have
been submitting Year 11 intended destinations to identify those who are
unconfirmed or have no plans and may benefit from DurhamWorks support.
DurhamWorks are also bidding for additional resources to address youth
unemployment, including a £4 million bid recently submitted to the Youth Futures
Foundation.

34

DurhamWorks are offering a £2,500 grant for small businesses, to support a
young person into employment. It is designed to help employers create jobs for
unemployed 16-24 year olds who are currently on the DurhamWorks
programme. The grant lasts for six months and offers up to £2,500 towards
salary costs.

Page 256

35

The council is looking to recruit 30+ apprentices across a wide range of
occupations with opportunities at Levels 2, 3 and Degree (Level 6) to work
towards. DurhamWorks delivery partner, Citizens Advice County Durham, will be
holding online sessions to help DurhamWorks participants understand and
successfully complete the DCC Apprenticeship application process.

36

The Government recently announced a new £2 billion ‘Kickstart Scheme’ will be
launched in August 2020, subsidising employers who offer six-month work
placements for 16-24 year olds. It will be targeted at young people who are
claiming Universal Credit and “at risk of long-term unemployment”. The
government will cover the cost of paying the national minimum wage for 25
hours a week, with employers able, though not required, to pay more on top.

37

Progression and Learning are working with Jobcentre Plus to establish three
DurhamWorks Youth Hubs in the county (Bishop Auckland, Peterlee, Stanley).
The Youth Hubs will co-locate DurhamWorks and Jobcentre Plus staff and will
seek to provide a ‘one stop shop’ for young people who are
unemployed. Partners, including DurhamWorks delivery partners/subcontractors and the National Careers Service, will spend several days a week in
the hub. Young people will have access on site to one-to-one
mentoring/coaching; job search skills; digital skills; interview practice, etc.

Long and Independent Lives
38

The ambition of Long and Independent Lives is linked to the following key
questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services
appropriately supported?
Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services
appropriately supported?
Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and
independent lives?

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal and
early help services appropriately supported?
39

We achieved our 2019/20 Stronger Families Programme target, with ‘significant
and sustained outcomes’ made for 4,360 families in areas such as
worklessness, school attendance and domestic abuse. This success is due, in
part, to embedding whole family working across all partners in our early help
Page 257

system, our ability to successfully capture evidence of impact and well attended
multi-agency forums which facilitate networking and sharing good practice.
40

Additional government funding for the National Troubled Families Programme
has been agreed until March 2021. A target of helping a further 1,050 families to
achieve significant and sustained outcomes was set by government, however
due to the impact of COVID-19 this target has been reduced to 730 and we are
well on our way to achieving this at quarter one.

41

The introduction of multi-agency locality early help conversations commenced in
three localities in October 2019 and this was rolled out countywide at the
beginning of March 2020. These early help conversations were postponed in
light of COVID-19 but have started to take place virtually since June 2020. Early
help conversations provide an opportunity for genuine collaboration across the
early help system in County Durham facilitating a more proportionate response
to meet the needs of children, young people and their families, reducing
duplication, maximizing use of our collective local resources and building family
and community resilience.

42

Our early help One Point service has continued to undertake virtual and physical
visits to children and families and are working closely with statutory social care
teams to offer support to those families who may benefit from additional services
once closed to a statutory team.

43

Almost one in four children, 17,543 (24%) across the county are eligible for free
school meals (FSM), an increase on last year (20%). This is higher than
nationally but in line with our regional neighbours. The take-up rate (based on
the census day 16 January 2020) has decreased to 76% (80% last year). This
means that there were over 4,000 children attending County Durham schools
that were known to be eligible for, but not claiming free school meals. This was
pre-lockdown and the position will have worsened with the increase in Universal
Credit claimants. Since April 2018, transitional protections have been in place for
FSM eligibility while Universal Credit is introduced nationwide. This has been the
main driver in the increase in the proportion of pupils eligible for and claiming
free school meals as pupils continue to become eligible but fewer pupils stop
being eligible even if a family’s circumstances improve financially2.

44

Unfortunately, we were unsuccessful in our bid for Department for Education
funding for the Holiday Activity with Food Programme for 2020, however funding
from Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and Public Health has enabled over 50
‘holiday hunger’ programmes to take place across the county during the school
holidays.

2

Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2019

Page 258

45

According to the Children’s Society “the rapid spread of the COVID-19 virus is
resulting in massive and widespread changes to daily life and will have
consequences for children’s well-being. For young people with mental ill-health
the effects of the virus may be particularly challenging. There are currently one
in eight children aged 5-19 in England who have a diagnosable mental health
condition. COVID-19 may result in heightened feelings of anxiety and worry and
could exacerbate low-mood and other mental health conditions”.

46

Schools are now closed for the summer holidays, but prior to this, school was
closed for most pupils; young people are directly experiencing social distancing,
high levels of isolation, and the wider social and economic dislocation COVID-19
will cause. Already there have been reports of COVID-19 related anxiety3.

47

Existing early help provision, such as the Young People’s Support Cafés (YASC)
offered by Investing in Children, have now moved online. This is in addition to
existing online support, such as Rollercoaster and Kooth.

48

Youth Access conducted a rapid review4 of remote mental health interventions
for young people. Initial findings suggest these forms of support can lead to
positive outcomes amongst young people, including reductions in the severity of
clinical symptoms, increased well-being, and lower levels of suicidality and
stigma.

49

The SEND revisit from Ofsted and CQC took place in January which found that
significant progress had been made in the four areas for improvement identified
at the previous inspection. County Durham is one of eight local authority areas in
the country with a revisit to have all areas deemed to have made sufficient
progress.

50

Requests for assessment for an education, health and care plan (EHCP) had a
record spike in March last year. This spike has not been repeated this year with
requests reducing by 10% up to June and being spread more evenly across the
year so far. However, performance in terms of requests completed in 20 weeks
has remained the same as for the same period last year (64%), although this
remains higher than the national rate. Despite schools being shut due to COVID19, requests have still been received at similar levels for the April to June period
compared to last year. The impact of COVID-19 is not yet known due to the
timeframe to complete assessments.

3
4

Children’s Society impact of COVID-19 on CYP
Youth Access review

Page 259

Page 260

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported and (b) are children, young people
and families in receipt of early help appropriately supported?

Target

348 families
achieved significant
and sustained
outcomes

2,204

1,865

workless families progress to work
following intervention

families reported reduced mental
health issues following
intervention

(Apr-Jun 2020)

(as at 30 Jun 2020)

% of free school meals
eligible pupils taking free
school meals
(as at census day
16 Jan 2020)

100%
Early help
assessments
completed within
45 working days
(Apr-Jun 2020)

families reported reduced
substance misuse following
intervention

Aprilas
2015
to 30 March
at March
20202020

1,315
cases open to
One Point

803

75.8%

% EHCP completed within
20 week timescale
Over 4,000
children are
known to
eligible for but
not claiming
free school
meals

Durham
(Jan-Jun 2020)

Durham
(Jan-Jun 2019)

64% ↔

64%

North East
(2019)

England
(2019)

70%

60%

Are our services improving the health of our residents?
51

Having reviewed the countywide specialist Stop Smoking Service, additional
support is now in place for pregnant smokers and new mothers who smoke. A
new provider (ABL Health) commenced delivery of the contract on 1 April
2020, for an initial period of three years.

52

In response to COVID-19, the service moved to a proactive telephone support
model in April 2020. This has allowed for evidence-based behavioural support
to continue to be offered to pregnant smokers through weekly telephone
consultations. All pregnant smokers are contacted within 24 hours of referral
and remote working allows the service to offer same-day or next-day
appointments. Pharmacotherapy, in the form of Nicotine Replacement
Therapy (NRT5), continues to be provided through the voucher scheme, with
vouchers emailed directly to the client’s chosen pharmacy. Following the initial
12-week programme, further support is offered throughout the entire
pregnancy and the post-partum period as part of relapse prevention. The
service has seen a significant increase in engagement during the lockdown
period, with the percentage of pregnant women setting a quit date having
more than doubled compared to the same period last year.

53

The breastfeeding action plan has been reviewed, and a new approach is
being applied to identify key areas of focus by providing an overview of
breastfeeding activities, their impact and outcomes. In response to COVID-19,
the Infant Feeding Team now provides online support and daily social media
updates, asking new mums to pose infant-feeding questions. Infant-feeding
support continues to be offered at home to those who require it and new
mums can access support via WhatsApp and other social media.

54

As part of the County Durham response to COVID-19, the Local Resilience
Forum (LRF) established a community hub to protect those both clinically
vulnerable to COVID-19 (shielded) and socially vulnerable due to the
measures put in place to prevent the spread of the virus. The hub was
established to co-ordinate food provision, social contact, welfare support,
volunteering and to provide a central co-ordination function for the voluntary
and community sector (VCS).

55

Based on the principles of well-being, the hub was designed to reach those in
most need and encourage self-help through the VCS. Processes are in place
to identify and escalate the most vulnerable to appropriate support.

5

The enhanced provision of NRT through the new contract delivered by ABL includes an expanded formulary and
the offer of two NRT products to both the pregnant woman and her significant others.

Page 261

56

Whilst demand into the hub decreased throughout the pandemic, client
vulnerability has become more apparent. Clients have multiple and often
complex needs linked to social isolation, emotional and mental well-being and
wider financial hardship / resilience. Many of the people contacting the hub are
not known to services.

57

As part of the hub, the council provided a COVID-19 response fund through
the Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and elected member neighbourhood
budgets. A group6 was established to co-ordinate funding and to provide
advice and work to address the inequalities created by COVID-19 across
County Durham. This community grants group improved partnership working
and created greater solidarity, working to streamline activity and avoid
duplication in effort.

58

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the hub to date has resulted in the
following identified strengths, which will be used to take forward future work:


Staff training on Making Every Contact Count (MECC) has resulted in
effective conversations, brief intervention and positive advice for holistic
assessment of needs.



The well-being principles have supported the empowering of communities.

59

We supported Mental Health Awareness Week (18-24 May 2020), raising the
profile of mental health and inspiring actions to promote the message of good
mental health for all. The theme for this year was ‘kindness’ and the council’s
Corporate Management Team took part, promoting it through vlogs made
available on the staff intranet, sharing and talking about their experiences.

60

Council managers and employees were surveyed on their experiences
working through the pandemic and feedback has been very positive. There
has been regular communication led by the council’s senior management to
thank staff and support their physical and mental well-being throughout
lockdown and the wider period of the pandemic.

61

It is not known at this stage what impact COVID-19 will have on people’s
physical health but recent evidence suggests that people living with obesity
are significantly more likely to become seriously ill and to be admitted to
intensive care with COVID-19, compared to those with a healthy Body Mass
Index (BMI).

62

The government has recently published a national strategy, ‘Tackling obesity:
empowering adults and children to live healthier lives’, which includes making

6

Membership included County Durham Community Foundation, The Lottery, AAPs, Commissioning and Public
Health

Page 262

weight management services available from 2021 for people at risk living with
obesity, with type 2 diabetes and/or hypertension.
63

The latest data from the Sport England Active Lives Survey shows that County
Durham is the seventh most active local authority area in the north east with
almost 60% of respondents actively participating in more than 150 minutes of
moderate sport and physical activity every week, a drop from fifth when last
reported. Conversely, 28% of adults in County Durham participate in less than
30 minutes sport and physical activity per week. However, it should be noted
that the sample used for the Active Lives Survey is very small (0.08%) of the
population which makes it hard for us to influence the outcome. It also doesn’t
consider indices of deprivation etc. which is known to affect activity levels.

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy
and independent lives?
64

The COVID-19 crisis has brought about substantial direct and indirect impacts
on health and social care outcomes in the county. Care homes have been
impacted significantly, both locally and nationally, due to high infection and
death rates (COVID-19 surveillance dashboard)

65

To help us support the care home market during this period, Adult and Health
Services (with local health system teams) developed a local rating system
based on the national Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL)
system for health and social care. This uses data, collected daily directly from
local providers, focusing on infection rates, personal protective equipment
(PPE) and staffing levels in each care home and enables support to be
targeted according to individual needs and issues.

66

By the end of April 2020, our OPEL tracker showed around half of older
people care homes had significant issues with either COVID-19 infection, PPE
or staffing. Nationally collected data released later showed that by early May,
just over half of care homes had notified Public Health England of a
coronavirus outbreak7. Co-ordinated and targeted support to care providers
continued throughout this period. This remains a key priority of our local health
and social care system in conjunction with local CQC leads. By the end of
June, no County Durham care home was at the highest priority level - with
around nine out of ten of care homes having either no or very low-level
concerns.

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/COVID-19-number-of-outbreaks-in-care-homesmanagement-information
7

Page 263

Page 264

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
(c) Are our services improving the health of our residents and (d) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy
and independent lives?
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery
15.8

28.9

29.2

29.6

28.6

28.4

↑
Q4, 17/18

28.3

28.5

↑
Q4, 18/19

North East 36.0%

28.4

25.9

↑
Q4, 19/20

Q1

Q2

Q3

National 10.5%

Q4

Q1

County Durham

Q2

Q3
19/20
Target

75.3

adults aged 65+ per 100k population admitted to
residential or nursing care (Apr-Jun 2020)

Q4

Q1
20/21


(196.7)

52.8

Gateshead

56.3

Middlesbrough

57.5

Sunderland

57.7

County Durham

59.9

Darlington

60.7

North Tyneside

61.0

South Tyneside

61.6

Redcar and Cleveland

64.9

Newcastle upon Tyne

65.1
67.7

National
63.3%

81.1%

Adult Social Care

55.5



of patients discharged into reablement/
rehabilitation services still at home after 91 days

(87.2%)

93.2%



(Jan-Mar 2020)

of service users receiving an assessment or review
within the last 12 months (Apr-Jun 2020)

(87.6%)

94.5%



of individuals achieved their desired outcomes
from the adult safeguarding process (Apr-Jun 2020)

(95.7%)

compared to last year

Stockton-on-Tees

Northumberland

North East 15.4%

18/19

National 48.2%

Active participation in sport and
physical activity (Nov 18 to Nov 19)
Hartlepool

14.7

67

As a consequence of COVID-19, demand for social care has greatly changed
over this period. Admission rates April to June 2020 are less than half that of
the same period last year.

68

COVID-19 has also impacted on the level of referral rates for adult social care.
These are substantially lower in quarter one compared to the same period last
year, with a reduction of more than 2,700 referrals. Referrals involving older
people have reduced by 24% year-on-year, with learning disability referrals
also significantly reduced.

69

Substance misuse referrals, however, have seen a substantial increase of
58% in comparison to last year, although this continues to comprise a
relatively small proportion of adult care referrals overall.

70

In the short-term, changing demand is also likely to impact on the number of
assessments and reviews and subsequent provision - although these impacts
will take longer to emerge. However, over this period, frontline social care
teams have managed to improve the timeliness of their response, with the
proportion of reviews and assessments for service users completed on
schedule improving from 88% to 93%.

71

Lockdown may also be contributing to a slight drop in performance in the
reablement service. The percentage of reablement service users remaining at
home 91 days after their service has ended is 6.1pp lower compared to the
same period last year. This equates to 42 people (Jan-Mar 2020).

72

This may be due to indirect effects of COVID-19, as lockdown disrupted
service user routines and also the amount of help received from informal
carers during this time. This, in turn, can impact on service user health.
Performance will continue to be closely monitored.

73

Further information is awaited on the 2020/21 Better Care Fund (BCF) Policy
Framework. National data collection for delayed transfers of care has
temporarily been paused due to COVID-19. However, the last recorded data
for this (February 2020) demonstrate that County Durham continues to have
one of the lowest rates in the country.

Page 265

Connected Communities - Safer
74

The ambition of Connected Communities – Safer is linked to the following key
questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services
appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Are we being a good corporate parent for children looked after?
How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic
abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?
How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work
services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
75

Demand for children’s social care remained high through 2019/20, with an
increasing trend in the number of children on a child protection plan (CPP) and
children looked after (CLA). We do however remain the third lowest local
authority in the region for the rate of CPP and CLA. COVID-19 has had a
significant impact across children’s services, with referrals at the front door
decreasing. However, the ability to close cases has also been affected with
some work identified on children’s plans unable to be completed e.g. domestic
abuse perpetrator courses. The closure of the Family Courts in lockdown
impacted upon the number of children in care which brings with it budget and
placement pressures. The Family Courts are beginning to reopen, and some
hearings were held virtually. We anticipate further spikes in demand once
children return to school in September and work is ongoing to determine what
we can do to enable us to keep children safe and support our staff.

76

Children and Young People’s Services responded swiftly and decisively to all
the challenges of delivering safe services in the context of a global pandemic.

77

In March 2020 we established daily senior management meetings and held
several virtual engagement sessions with staff and managers across our
services. On the 1 April 2020 we published an operating framework
underpinned by a set of key principles. The framework has been designed
around ensuring that our most vulnerable children continue to receive the
highest level of support and protection. We committed from the very beginning
of COVID-19 to have a greater level of contact with our most vulnerable
children and young people. This covered both our early help and statutory
services.

Page 266

78

All children we were working with at the time, as well as any new children
referred, across both early help and children’s social care were rated as high,
medium or low risk. This determined new visiting frequencies and virtual visits
were introduced. Physical visits were maintained for the children who we were
most concerned about and all new children referred into statutory services. We
developed weekly monitoring of business-critical PIs with a focus on visits to
children as well as management oversight and levels of demand in addition to
the wider monthly performance framework.

79

We developed information sharing systems between social care and the
education sector to ensure that we know which individual children are
particularly vulnerable. This system has now been adapted and will become
part of our standard operating model. A protocol has been developed and
implemented to ensure that where children are not attending school and there
is a concern about their welfare a visit is undertaken by the Early Help service.
Where there is a specific safeguarding concern and it has not been possible to
access a household a protocol to ensure a joint response with police
colleagues is in place.

80

We have continued to create opportunities to learn from staff about how they
are adapting their practice and have produced comprehensive guidance to
support them to undertake this work with skill, confidence and support. We
have adapted tools from our practice framework to produce videos for children
and young people living in a range of different settings to help them
understand what COVID-19 is8.

81

Despite the impact of COVID-19 we have continued to perform well in relation
to many of our KPIs such as assessment and Initial Child Protection
Conference (ICPC) timeliness. ICPCs and CPP reviews continued virtually
and we are starting to move back to a hybrid/physical meeting.

82

We continue to implement the Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan,
including:

(a) Continued implementation of the Signs of Safety Practice Framework to
continue to drive practice improvement.
(b) Improving the quality of care planning for children, ensuring that children,
young people and their naturally connected network are at the centre of
this work. Some early indications are evident from our latest collaborative
evaluations “The improvement in planning and plans is encouraging. We
have a service wide focus on improving our planning and plans and have

8

An example video can be seen here

Page 267

undertaken significant work to improve this area of practice. As such, our
auditing expectations have heightened: we expect to see better plans and
are using the Planning Principles to help evaluate practice”
(c) Our re-referral rate remains a priority and a number of strategies have
been implemented to address it: audit of all cases where there was a
threshold challenge to ensure we are learning from cases that are rereferred; scrutiny of number of cases that step-down to early help through
our performance reporting; Team managers reviewing cases that are
referred for a second or subsequent time. These strategies are beginning
to have impact: the percentage of referrals that were re-referrals in June
2020 was 19% which is the lowest it has been in the last 12 months.
83

Following council investment into our workforce, since June 2019, 53 social
workers have joined the council. 38% (20 employees) have been recruited as
newly qualified social workers, 34% (18 employees) have joined with some
social work experience with a different employer and 22% (12 employees)
were previously agency workers within the council. A further 6% (three
employees) have returned to social work during COVID-19. Our social workers
consistently have lower caseloads than they did previously, however we will
continue to closely monitor this if demand increases as we aim to ensure our
staff have the capacity and ability to build and maintain effective relationships
with children and families.

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After
(CLA)?
84

Although the number of children in care has increased to its highest ever level
in County Durham, it remains the third lowest rate9 in the North East. National
research has linked these increases to areas with higher levels of deprivation.
COVID-19 has also had a direct impact as outlined above.

85

During lockdown, we continued to contact all children looked after and care
leavers in line with their assessed need (in some cases this increased in
frequency). Since June, face-to-face contact has resumed with social
distancing, generally involving visits in the garden or going out for walks.

86

Reviews for Children Looked After have continued virtually within timescales.
There were many positives to this approach, including more young people
attending their review and more discussions being held between the
Independent Reviewing Officer, the child or young person and their families.

9

Children in care per 10,000 population aged 0-17

Page 268

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
(a) Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Number of Open Cases

2020 Referrals (week 10 - week 27)
compared to same period last year

86% social work

 17% referrals (262) compared to same period last year

assessments
completed within
45 working days
(Apr-Jun 20)

`

Quality of case work
collaborative audits
(Jan-Jun20)

Journey of a child

Social Worker Caseload

84%
case files given a
scaling score of 6
or above

58% 56%
Under 20

(w/c 02/3/20 – w/c 29/6/20)

32% 31%

9% 13%

1% 1%

20-24

25-29

30+

Jun-20
Number of children on a Child Protection Plan

486

% of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15
days of Section 47 investigation commencing

480

471

89

368

358

79
79

Page 269

13-14
Q1

Jun-19

Q2

Q3

2016/17

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

2017/18

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

2018/19

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

2019/20

Q4

14-15

15-16

16-17

17-18

18-19

Q1

2020/21

Durham

nearest statistical neighbour

Apr 19 - Apr-Jun 20
Mar 20
England

87

Of the 27 children reported missing in the 12 weeks to 18 June 2020
(accounting for 58 individual missing episodes), 24 have accepted (89%) and
completed a return to home interview.

88

Those not completed involve young people with complex needs who go
missing from home regularly and refuse the return to home interview. In cases
such as this, where possible, social care will gather information from the police
and carers. Two Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) in the ERASE
team use this information to resolve any issues – this can involve working with
young people and their carers, as well as disrupting possible offenders and
locations.

89

Health colleagues continue to offer virtual appointments for Initial Health
Assessments (the initial mode of assessment for children and young people
coming into care), arranging face-to-face appointments for a later date, to
ensure the safety of patients, their parents, carers and staff within a hospital
setting. We are looking at options to re-establish face-to-face for Initial Health
Assessments in the medium term.

90

Except for children who are on a care order and resident at home, all children
in care are being contacted virtually for their Review Health Assessments.
However, this group will be offered a face-to-face appointment to review their
health care plan.

91

All children and young people who had a virtual Initial Health Assessment
between March and June 2020 will be offered a face-to-face appointment to
complete a physical assessment and review their health care plan summary
starting from July.

92

Additional supervisions between the fostering social worker and the fostering
families remain in place to provide support and ensure any issues are resolved
quickly. We continue to provide practical support to foster carers, e.g. access
to COVID-19 testing, baby formula, equipment, etc.

93

We are continuing to build enough capacity to meet the needs of all the
children and young people we look after. We have recently purchased a new
three bedroomed residential property in response to the identified need for
smaller residential homes that can meet the increasingly complex needs of
some of our young people that we care for. A foster carer recruitment
campaign is currently ongoing.

94

Although Ofsted has suspended routine inspections of children’s homes until
further notice, they are continuing to carry out unannounced visits where a
complaint has been made or the home was previously rated inadequate.

Page 270

95

During 2019/20, more children were adopted from care and the average time
between a child entering care and moving in with its adoptive family
decreased. We continue to recruit potential adopters virtually and, since 1
April, 13 prospective families have participated. Assessment visits and
adoption panels also continued virtually.

96

Our offer to care leavers continues to be strong. Of our 17-18 year old care
experienced young people, 96% are living in suitable accommodation and
78% are in employment, education or training. Of our 19-21 year old care
experienced young people, 95% are in living in suitable accommodation and
60% are in employment, education or training. 21 young people are at
University, with a further six due to start in September 2020. Support is
available to all our care leavers through DurhamWorks.

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and Anti-Social
Behaviour (ASB)?
97

The Police approach during the pandemic has been ‘Engage, Explain,
Encourage’ as their first considerations. However, if enforcement is the most
applicable route then the Police will issue a penalty notice for disorder. The
Police changed their operating model during COVID-19 in planning for the
response, and ensured they had an operational policing presence to respond
to calls for service enabling any problematic areas to be targeted as they
emerge. For example, those areas where they were seeing gatherings or had
intelligence that the public were not complying with the guidance.

98

Levels of anti-social behaviour (ASB) peaked in April but decreased
throughout May and June as restrictions were reduced. This was particularly
evident of incidents relating to COVID-19, although overall ASB remains
above pre-lockdown levels indicating that tensions remain within the
community but are not generally related to the lockdown.

99

Increases have been seen across all ASB categories but most notably in
relation to police reported environmental ASB. During quarter one, there were
576 environmental ASB incidents which were COVID-19 related; with 523
(91%) relating to non-compliance with Government guidelines, predominantly
these related to households holding parties.

100

Council reports of nuisance ASB predominately related to noise complaints as
well as young people gathering.

101

Despite the COVID-19 restrictions partnership work has continued to tackle
ASB. Specific examples include:
(a)

Responding to complaints regarding unauthorised people visiting the
vacant Windlestone Hall causing distress and concern to local

Page 271

residents. The building was secured, and legal notices have been
served on the owner. The police were fully updated about the outcome
of the site visits and were able to report back to residents, providing
community reassurance.
(b)

Reports are regularly received regarding off road motorcycles and quad
bikes for several areas. Working in partnership with Cleveland and
Durham Special Operations Unit and Bike Section regular patrols are
carried out. Identifying people/vehicles is very difficult as people are
often wearing scarves and balaclavas and bikes have no plates or false
plates. Where identification can be made and where relevant we link
with housing providers and warnings are issued on tenancies where
appropriate. £15,500 has been secured by the multi-agency partnership
from a local Member towards carrying out target hardening works in
Wingate.

(c)

Targeted work has been undertaken in the Peterlee area in response to
vehicle nuisance and vehicles driving over paths in estates. Footage
had been seen of cars and bikes riding over the grassed areas in front
of houses, were children play and it’s a busy area for dog walkers.
Bollards are to be installed and access points have been reviewed,
damaged fencing replaced, all funded by the council. Assessments are
ongoing for bollards at the two other access points. Additionally, in the
Peterlee area, a site visit was held with Peterlee Town Council and
Peterlee Beat Team in response to increased reports of ASB, drinking
and litter within a park. Several suggestions to make the youth pod
more visible were made and a multi-agency open air event / PACT will
be held once works have been completed so we can engage with
residents and park users.

102

In addition, Community Safety and Neighbourhood Policing Teams have
assisted with the delivery of free school meals while voucher schemes were
put in place. Through this, teams were also able to conduct welfare checks
with residents.

103

A new free phone helpline service, for people released from prison during the
pandemic, was launched across the North East in May. The helpline signposts
callers to community drug and alcohol service provision, local pharmacy
information, local authority housing support, support hubs for vulnerable
people, Job Centre Plus and a wide range of community support projects.

Page 272

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
(b) Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?
Children Looked After
1000
950
900
850
800
750
700
650
600
550
500

Age profile for Children Looked After
944
873

807

789
712
642

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
15/16

16/17

17/18

18/19

19/20

How far our children in care live?
Durham
2019/20
(prov.)
Over 20 miles and
outside LA boundary

8.7%

Durham
2018/19
7%

in education,
employment and training

20/21

Where our children in care live
Statistical
Neighbours
2018/19
10%

England
2018/19
15%

in suitable
accommodation

In-house foster care

43%

Friends and family

16%

Independent Fostering Agency

17%

Placed with parents

9%

External residential
(incl. children's homes and res school)
In-house residential
(incl. children's homes)

Page 273

Care Leavers

Placed for adoption
Independent living
(incl. supported lodgings)
Secure
(incl. YOI and prisons)
NHS / Health Trust

4%
3%
4%
3%
<0.5%
<0.5%

(As at 1 July 2020)

Page 274

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
(c) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and (d) anti-social behaviour?

49,711
recorded crimes

equivalent to 94.3
crimes per 1,000 population

+480

-1,776

Violence against the
person (+2%)

Theft
offences (-12%)

ASB incidents

13,174

+1,589

council reported

(+14%)

16,496

+2,810

police reported

(+21%)

-762
Criminal damage/
arson (-10%)

-11

-7

+300

Sexual offences (-1%)

Robbery (-4%)

Other crimes (+5%)

All recorded crime -1,517 (-3%) 

unless stated, data are Jul 2019 to Jun 2020 compared to
same period last year

29,670

^ Includes Environmental
Health & Consumer
Protection Noise

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
104

Police alcohol related ASB has increased by 76% compared to the same
period last year. Although this is within the context of increases in overall ASB,
alcohol related has increased at a greater rate causing the proportion of
alcohol related ASB to increase. The Police are monitoring ASB levels and
issues are being dealt with at a locality level.

105

During the lockdown period the County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery
Service (DARS) continued to be delivered from all three recovery centres
albeit on a reduced staff capacity and reduced opening hours. Clinical
appointments were delivered in recovery centres with appropriate PPE in
place while assessments and follow-ups were delivered over video and phone
calls. Recovery support groups and training continues to be delivered online
via Microsoft Teams. Service users on opioid substitution treatment received
7-day prescriptions as opposed to daily supervised consumption due to limited
access to pharmacies. Clients were segmented into risk categories and
increased support delivered as appropriate in partnership with social care.

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including
domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?
106

During quarter one, there was an 8% increase in domestic violence incidents
reported to the police (compared to the same period last year) which is slightly
above normal levels of variance. This reflects a rise nationally during the
lockdown period.

107

A new triage system for domestic abuse incidents is now operational with daily
multi-agency screening of all incidents. This is undertaken by children’s
services, child health and police staff from within the multi-agency
safeguarding hub (MASH). The benefit of using this operational model is the
multi-agency oversight of all domestic abuse incidents in Durham, sharing of
information and decision making on a daily basis which will ultimately reduce
any delay for children who need to be safeguarded.

108

Weekly referrals to Harbour have generally been higher than in the period
prior to lockdown: week commencing 6 July was the highest level seen since
February and the highest level of self-referrals since lockdown began.
Throughout the pandemic, Harbour has been offering digital support through
video calls and a live chat facility. Since 1 August, a new counselling service
has been available through either video/telephone calls or face to face with
social distancing measures.

Page 275

109

In November 2019, a Child Exploitation Vulnerability Tracker was set up as a
multi-agency risk triage process for all young people who are assessed as
being at risk of exploitation. Previously, only children who were assessed as
being at high-risk were referred to children’s social care Supporting Solutions
Team for ERASE one-to-one CSE support, However, now all children (high,
medium or low) are assessed on a weekly basis and referred.

110

There was a 30% increase in hate crimes during quarter one (compared to the
same period in the previous year). Many were neighbour disputes (fuelled by
erecting fences or by doing building work) and crimes against takeaway staff.
There were also reports of hate crimes linked to the Black Lives Matter
protests.

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and
waterways?
111

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown, traffic levels were reduced
across the county, and as such, the network wasn’t as congested. This
resulted in our vulnerable road users (pedestrians, cyclists and motorcycle
riders) not being exposed to higher volumes of traffic that would increase their
risk of being involved in a road traffic collision. However, as traffic levels start
to return to normal, and as schools begin to open, we expect to see an
increase in traffic collisions and injury on our roads. The council and its
partners have recognised this likely impact and will be delivering marketing
and social media campaigns to reaffirm safety messages as we approach the
autumn/winter months with the darker evenings and the worsening weather
conditions.

112

Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city
centre and countywide, continue to meet. The City Safety Group continues to
monitor the riverside development projects on a monthly basis, to ensure that
any public safety issues and impacts are identified with the developers, and
has started planning for freshers’ week, with a focus on the high footfall nighttime economy.

113

From a countywide perspective, a schedule of monitoring and prioritising risk
locations identified in the initial countywide assessment process continues to
be applied to provide assurance. Specifically, reassessments of priority
locations prior to the summer holiday periods are routinely completed to
ensure that safety controls remain in situ.

114

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and particularly following school closures, an
alternative approach to the water safety campaigns will be taken in 2020/21.
Key messages to raise awareness will still be issued as in previous years, but

Page 276

through a variation of social media and posters and alerts at high footfall open
water sites across the county.

Page 277

Page 278

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
(e) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol and (f) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?

31.1%

1 Apr – 30 Jun 2020



violent crime alcohol
related

0.9 pp

(Apr-Jun 2020)

1.7%

ASB* alcohol related

ASB* drug related

of DV referrals received high risk
Alcohol related Domestic Violence

(12 months rolling total)

16.7%

18.70%

16.1%

2017/18

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

2018/19

+441 (+ 76%)
Compared to same period last year

999

973

839

835

787

 +212 (+27%)
Compared to same period last year

Q1
Q3

in incidents involving alcohol

0.4 pp

% Alcohol related anti-social behaviour

Q2

0.3 pp

in DV incidents classified as
crimes

*police figures only

Q1

in incidents

9.8 pp

18.7%

15.2%

8%

Domestic Violence

Compared to same period
the previous year

Q2

Q3

2019/20

Q4

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

2019/20

Q1

2020/21

Referrals to Harbour in Durham in 2020

2020/21

123

111

w/c 24 Feb w/c 16 Mar

107

129

w/c 13 Apr

w/c 11 May

168

w/c 8 Jun

199

w/c 6 Jul

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
(g) How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways?

Road traffic accidents

Fatalities (rolling year)
22
16

18

16
11

Q1

All casualties

183
18 fatalities
165 injuries

Children

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

16/17

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

17/18

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

18/19

Q3

19/20

Q4

Q1
20/21

21
0 fatalities
21 injuries

Serious injuries (rolling year)

(1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020)

193
177

166

Q1

165

163

Q2

Q3

16/17

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

17/18

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

18/19

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

19/20

Q4

Q1
20/21

Page 279

Connected Communities - Sustainability
115

The ambition of Connected Communities – Sustainability is linked to the
following key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?
Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Is it easy to travel around the county?

How clean and tidy is my local environment?
116

Although there was a significant decrease in enviro-crime reports during
lockdown, there was an increase in fly-tipping; mainly black bags, old furniture,
fridges and other household items, predominantly across Bishop Auckland,
Coundon, Crook, Ferryhill, Pelton, Shildon and Dene Valley.

117

The most recent fly-tipping benchmarking data (2018/19), shows that County
Durham has a lower number of incidents per 1,000 hectares (33) compared to
England (81) and the North East (73). This is an improvement in County
Durham on the 2017/18 benchmarking position (34 incidents per 1,000
hectares), in contrast to the England and North East rates which have
increased over the same period. A similar picture is seen in relation to the rate
per 1,000 population where the County Durham position has decreased from
15 incidents per 1,000 population to 14 in 2018/19; and is again lower than
England (19) and North East (24).

118

During quarter one, in response to reports of fly-tipping and contaminated bins
in Ferryhill and Shildon, we carried out site visits and monthly walkabouts
which involved the local Councillor, Community Protection and the Private
Landlords Team.

119

Throughout June, we addressed arson and fly-tipping at North East Industrial
Estate (Peterlee) through a multi-agency problem solving initiative. We carried
out site visits with partners and tenants/owners of units on the estate over
several weeks. We are removing waste from all our sites and will locate two
CCTV cameras on the industrial estate.

120

During quarter one, 302 reports of bonfires were recorded, a 175% increase
on the same period last year. Most reports occurred in April and related to
smoke from garden fires.

Page 280

121

During quarter one, we received 731 reports of untidy gardens, a 27%
reduction on same period last year.

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate
change?
122

Latest carbon emission figures for County Durham show a 1.1 percentage
point improvement overall. Figures have a significant lag and relate to 2018,
which is before we declared a Climate Change Emergency. Emissions are
measured against the 1990 baseline and latest figures show reductions in all
categories: Industrial/Commercial (-74%); Domestic (-40%); Transport (-1%).
In addition, we saw a sudden and significant drop in carbon emissions during
COVID-19 lockdown as road traffic reduced and businesses temporarily
closed, the extent of this has not yet been measured and it is not yet clear if
any of the changes will see a long lasting impact.

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of
waste?
123

As our Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) closed early in
lockdown and were unable to operate as usual once they re-opened on 18
May, they recycled less waste than usual during quarter one. However, early
indications show an increased tonnage of waste, both residual and recycling,
was collected at the kerbside during quarter one. We are currently assessing
how this will affect our overall recycling rate10.

124

During quarter one, an increased number of households signed up to the
garden waste scheme. This could be attributed to the HWRCs being closed
and people spending more time in their gardens.

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
125

The number of net homes completed this quarter is significantly lower (77%,
330 homes) than last quarter and the average completions per quarter, which
is usually between 300-450 units. It is also down by 75% (300) compared to
same period last year. This is due to the impact of COVID-19, resulting in sites
temporarily closing and also building surveyors, who sign off the completions,
not being able to visit sites for a period of time. It is expected that the numbers
will increase over the next couple of months as sites resume.

126

Although presentations to our Housing Solutions Service were down by 17%,
we expect numbers to increase once the government’s eviction ban is lifted,

10

waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 31-Mar-20

Page 281

mortgage payment holidays end and ‘normal service’ resumes across the
sector.
127

Of the 177 households helped to stay in their home (39% more than quarter
four), 77% were Discretionary Housing Payments cases. This could be
attributed to Durham County Council encouraging households to contact the
service when in financial difficulty due to the impacts of COVID-19.

128

Our newly established Rough Sleeper Outreach Team placed 36 rough
sleepers in temporary accommodation during the first 48 hours of lockdown
(‘Everybody In’ campaign). Most moved into B&Bs, others to supported
accommodation and private rented tenancy.

129

This campaign incorporates the ‘Ready to Let’ scheme which provides move
on accommodation for rough sleepers. 27 clients were matched to new homes
with a further 35 properties identified and available.

130

In response to the eviction ban being lifted and the expectation of more
homelessness and households in financial difficulty, we have developed a new
‘StopB4UServe’ initiative. Launching in August with dedicated staff, a helpline
and dedicated webpage, we will work with landlords and tenants to mediate a
possible solution.

Is it easy to travel around the county?
131

Due to COVID-19, our Park and Ride Service was closed during quarter one.
The service partially re-opened on 29 June, with services resuming from
Belmont and Sniperley. Howlands remains a Park and Stride site, operating
solely as a car park.

132

During quarter one, local bus companies were operating between 30% and
40% of their buses as COVID-19 caused a fall in patronage to approximately
10% of normal service and reduced availability of bus drivers. To maintain an
essential network, we have provided financial support to operators through the
English National Concessionary Travel Scheme. As lockdown measures are
relaxed Arriva and Go North East are increasing the volume and frequencies
of their services to cater for increased demand, with the first of these changes
introduced on 1 June 2020.

133

Latest data from the 2019 Transport Annual Bus Passenger Survey shows a
small increase in overall satisfaction. However, satisfaction with punctuality
and journey time stayed relative static, and satisfaction in relation to value for
money decreased.

Page 282

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
(b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate
change?

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment?

Number of reported and responded to fly-tipping incidents
(12 month rolling trend)

Reduction in carbon emissions
(from 1990 baseline)

7,941

74% drop from Industrial/ Commercial

7,782

7,507

7,146

7,052

40% drop from Domestic

1,635
tonnes
CO2 saved by
SMEs

1% drop from Transport
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

During quarter 1

16/17

20 cameras
deployed

9 incidents
caught on
CCTV

17/18

18/19

19/20

20/21

1 stop and search
operations

482 further
investigations

3 duty of care

warning letters

0 producers
issued

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and
disposal of waste?

41% household waste

98% diverted from

0 prosecutions

reused, recycled or composted*

landfill*

 1.2pp on same period

 5.5pp on same

21 FPNs

last year

period last year

% of waste collected for recycling identified as
contaminated (12 months ending)*

302 bonfire incidents between Apr-Jun 2020
175% increase from same period last year

35%
30%

27.7%

29.0%

31.0% 30.9%

29.4% 29.4% 28.5% 28.9% 30.0%

25%

Page 283

*Waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 31-Mar-20

Page 284

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
(d) Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing and (e) is it easy to travel around the county?

Housing advice and support
(Apr–Jun 20, compared to same period last year)

properties improved, adapted or brought back into use

 57%

Bus passenger Survey

2,793

households accessed Housing Solutions

 7%

(2019 Annual)

325

households helped to stay in their homes

 16%

92% satisfied

207

households helped to move to alternative accommodation

17%

 1pp from 2018

236

No. of
households
supported under
HRA

170

relief
(within 56 days)

214

prevention

Average of 16 days
spent temporary
accommodation
(Apr-Jun 20)

8

main duty

to secure
accommodation

114 'new'
households placed
temporary
accommodation

For additional
housing information,
visit the Durham
Insight, Housing
factsheet

Park & Ride Journeys
230,041

248,700

Q4 18/19

Q1 19/20

73

56

Q1
2016/17

Q1
2017/18

0

Q4 19/20

Q1 20/21

Car Park Charges

59
£603,256

£609,210

Q4 18/19

Q1 19/20

29
Q1

175,990

(Apr-Jun 20)

Empty properties brought back into use through LA intervention each quarter
45

COVID-19 Impact on Journeys

Q1
2018/19

Q1
2019/20

2020/21

0
£464,248

Q4 19/20

Q1 20/21

An Excellent Council
134

The ambition of an Excellent Council is structured around the following key
questions:
(a) How well do we look after our people?
(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for
residents and customers?
(c) How good are our services to customers and the public?

How well do we look after our people?
135

Since March 2020, following government COVID-19 guidelines to reduce the
risk of transmitting the infection and to protect our employees, all staff who
could do so, worked from home. Our newly created ‘service restoration group’
is considering any requests for buildings to open and staff to return. This will
involve careful consideration of prepared business cases and risk
assessments and follow the latest government guidelines.

136

We have put in place an ‘Emergency HR Policy’ for COVID-19 to address the
HR issues that could arise whilst we maintain our key services and effectively
mobilise our staff.

137

This policy can be found, alongside an extensive range of staff advice and
guidance relating to the pandemic, on a dedicated section of our intranet. Key
topics covered include quarantine scenarios, coronavirus symptoms at work,
coronavirus testing programme, test and trace, working from home, health and
safety, handling information securely, employee well-being guide, mental
health, finances, and office buildings.

138

During the pandemic, we carried out a staff survey to gather views on our
response to COVID-19. We received 299 responses which highlighted many
areas of strength: our approach to social distancing and self-isolation, effective
and timely communications, enhanced demonstration of our values,
collaboration within the workplace and partnership working, IT and digital
adoption and support, positive impact of redeployment on job satisfaction and
personal development.

139

It also identified opportunities for further action and investigation, including
mental health and well-being, work-life balance, perceptions of the ability to
operate safely in the workplace and effectiveness of central government
communications.

Page 285

140

Following the staff survey, we have arranged a series of staff focus groups to
further understand how we can support mental health in light of the workplace
changes, working from home, re-deployment, furloughing and work-life
balance experiences during the pandemic. An update will be provided at
quarter two.

141

A new Black And Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff network has been established
across Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS). The network is an
opportunity for BAME staff to meet virtually to discuss COVID-19 related
issues, their own experiences within the council and how equality looks and
feels within the workplace. Our corporate equality team will link up with the
network as this will be a useful pilot for the wider development programme for
staff networks due to be rolled out later in the year.

142

Throughout the pandemic, staff absences have remained manageable. We
are aware that staff are delaying taking annual leave and we are continuing to
encourage staff to take their leave as normal. Not only will this help with their
general well-being, it will also ensure staff do not build up too much accrued
holiday which may have operational implications towards the end of the year.

143

To further support staff well-being, we have made our new e-learning training
courses, ‘coping during the pandemic’ and ‘building your personal resilience’,
available to all staff. These courses contain useful advice for preventing the
spread of COVID-19, managing concerns and supporting well-being, as well
as advice for supporting children and young people.

144

Having put all Personal Development Reviews on hold due to COVID-19, we
are now reinstating the process, starting with our leaders in October 2020.
Managers will follow in January 2021 and all other employees in April 2021.

145

During quarter one, we published our gender pay gap report which sets out
our data, analysis and plans for long-term improvements. Median comparator
data shows our headline figure is positive when compared to regional and
national levels. We have the fourth lowest median pay gap of the 12 North
East councils and sit mid-range amongst English councils11.

11

For more details, Durham County Council Gender Pay Gap.

Page 286

AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL
(a) How well do we look after our people?

Days lost to sickness

Staff Turnover*

(12 months rolling to 30 June)

11.10

10.32

7% 

Q1

Jun 19-Jun 20

Q1

2017/18

8.2%

*excluding school
staff

10.17

Apprentice
starts
% of
workforce*

2019

2020

207

132

272

1.32

1.65

days lost to sickness
b

days taken as
compassionate leave

days taken as
bereavement leave

60.4%

79.8%

Q1

time lost to sickness

staff with no
sickness

staff with 5 days or
less sickness

7.8%

14%

78.5%

short-term

medium-term

long-term
(20 days or more)

4.2%

8.8%

sickness

2018

3,805

2019/20 2020/21

3 reasons
for 64.2% of

Jun 18-Jun 19

508

10.65

Q1

2018/19

72,634

infections
incl. cold &
flu

(5 days or less)
worse than last
year

(6 to 19 days)
better than last
year

not comparable

11.1%

musculoskeletal

44.3% mental
health and
fatigue

+ 10.8 pp since
Q1 19/20

1.39

Mental Health & Well-being Training (to date)

963
568

Mental Health Awareness
(79% of managers)

Mental Health for life
(e-learning)

258 staff employed in

327

Zero Suicide

541

MECC training

(e-learning)

Trained to date

apprenticeship posts

Page 287

196 staff upskilling

similar to last
year

14%
level 2

57%
level 3

29%
level 4/4+

181
Mental Health
First Aiders

82
Time to Change
Champions

62
Health
advocates

Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes
for residents and customers?
146

During quarter one, COVID-19 changed our service provision and ways of
working. Although we successfully maintained essential services, such as
refuse collection and social care, other non-essential services had to be
closed or delivered remotely. In addition, due to lockdown and self-isolation,
some residents developed additional needs that needed to be met.

147

Overall, during quarter one, customer contact dropped by almost a quarter.
However, different services were impacted in different ways and to varying
extents. There were immediate decreases across services that were closed.
38 telephone lines did not receive any calls during quarter one: these included
leisure centres, theatres, environmental health customer support, ICT
helpdesk for schools and trade waste. Services which re-opened during
quarter one experienced lower volumes, including a 40% decrease in waste
permits (-3,600), a 24% decrease in bulky waste requests (-1,600). However,
service demand elsewhere increased. Missed bin reports doubled (+4,600),
50% more households joined our garden waste scheme (+3,600) and 42%
more fly-tips were reported (+1,200).

148

The closure of council buildings due to COVID-19 meant we had to rapidly
expand our online service delivery and develop digital alternatives to face-toface contact. Therefore, although fewer service requests were received during
quarter one, the number made online or by telephone increased. This is
reflected in the 42,560 new online accounts which were created during the
quarter, twice as many as quarter one last year.

149

We also moved our council meetings online: live streaming on YouTube, with
residents participating and submitting questions remotely.

150

To minimise the impact of COVID-19 on the most vulnerable in our
communities, we created a community support hub staffed by redeployed
council employees and also those undertaking the work in addition to their day
job. We identified our most clinically vulnerable residents from our databases
and national lists of ‘shielded people’ and pro-actively contacted them. Other
residents, experiencing hardship or unable to leave the house because they
were self-isolating, contacted us directly through the support hub. We provided
food parcels or matched people with community and volunteer groups/
businesses (e.g. food and medicine delivery) and services (e.g. welfare rights,
check in and chat services, befriending) which could help them.

Page 288

151

We also, at the start of the pandemic, established a volunteer bureau which
enabled local people, business and groups to offer time and resources: 29
businesses and more than 400 individuals offered support through this route.

152

Since the onset of COVID-19, we have been providing financial assistance to
both residents and businesses. Our Welfare Assistance Scheme has been
increased by an additional £1 million, £300 council tax relief and deferred
council tax payments are available for those in financial hardship and £1.5
million for the community response to COVID-19 is being distributed through
our Area Action Partnerships.

153

We helped local businesses by introducing immediate supplier payments and
rent deferrals for our commercial tenants. We distributed grant payments,
totalling £100 million, to around 9,000 businesses. Having paid 95% of
business grants by the fifth week, we were commended as being one of
fastest acting local authorities in the country. We also distributed business rate
reductions, totalling more than £49 million, to just under 2,300 businesses. An
extra £5 million for small businesses not liable for business rates, introduced in
June, benefitted around 300 businesses in the first month. We also agreed 10
percent funding increases for social care providers to help meet the additional
costs of dealing with the pandemic and paid £13 million upfront to help with
funding and cashflow issues.

154

In addition to COVID-19 issues, we also continued with ‘business as usual’
actions during quarter one.

155

We continued to transfer non-ACD telephone lines into the ACD system12
which will enable us to view telephony demand and performance across the
entire council and allow us to identify opportunities to improve and enhance
the customer experience. During quarter one, two non-ACD services were
transferred, both in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic, (COVID-19 support,
volunteers assistance). These lines combined, accounted for more than 1,000
calls during the first month.

156

During May 2020, we started trialling webchat on some of the most visited
pages on our website. The trial will run until 31 August after which it will be
evaluated (although early indications show it to be a success).

Broadly speaking, we receive telephone calls either through our Automatic Call Distribution (ACD)
system, which routes calls to groups of agents in line with ‘first-in-first-answered’ criteria, or directly to
a telephone extension (non-ACD).
12

Page 289

157

Our work to digitise document receipt is continuing and during lockdown we
developed a ‘customer document submission form’. This new form allows
customers to upload and return documents in a simple, standardised format.
Since going live on 10 June, we have received 285 submissions (129 relating
to bus passes, 77 to benefits and 46 to council tax).

158

Although we had difficulty accessing some records during lockdown,
throughout quarter one, we managed to respond to 75% of Freedom of
Information (FOI) / Environmental Information Regulations (EIR) requests
within 20 working days. This is in line with performance at the same time last
year.

159

COVID-19 has significantly impacted on council tax collection rates by
substantially increasing applications for welfare benefits. The amount of
council tax reduction had decreased year-on-year until the pandemic reversed
this trend during quarter one.

160

Despite an increase in applications, performance relating to council tax
reduction ‘changes in circumstances’ improved during quarter one, due to the
introduction of system automation measures. In response to COVID-19, we
ceased all recovery action in late March, and will commence our business
recovery plan by issuing soft letters during July and August to those
customers in arrears.

161

Public consultation has continued during the lockdown utilising digital
methods such as online surveys and video meetings with the public to replace
face-to-face events. More traditional methods such as gathering feedback
over the telephone has also been utilised to ensure consultation is as
inclusive as possible and allows a good cross section of the community to
participate.

Page 290

AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL
(b) Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?

Top 3 service request methods

6%

201,129

530,000

provided
advice

non-service requests
via our customer
services team

signposted

(All data is 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020,
compared to the same period last year)

transferred
call

booked
appointment

provided
progress
update

'do it online'

Top 10 service requests by channel

121,410

4%

telephone

32%

22,439
face to face

Document receipt
Account updates
Fly-tipping
General enquiry
Council tax account
Bin (not emptied)
Bin (new/replace/repair)
Bulky waste
Waste permits
Garden waste - join the scheme

Self-service portal
Telephone
Face to face
Other contact method

-

50%

179k

service requests
received through
self-service
portal

accounts in use

9,501

22%
contact via selfservice portal

Number of 'do it online' self-service
account creation requests (YTD)

25,319
Page 291

4,467
Apr

12,774
May

5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000 35,000 40,000

Jun

Customer Services (ACD)

• 556,854 calls
• 97% answered
• 90% answered within 3 minutes
Other ACD lines

• 585,329 calls
• 91% answered
• 88% answered within 3 minutes

document receipts

4,882

CT/HB appts

1,917

waste permits

1,414

bulky waste

664

general enquiries

Page 292

AN EXCELLENT COUNCIL

(c) How good are our services to customers and the public?

83%

Customer Satisfaction:

satisfied with
service
delivery

from the CRM closure process
(based on 8,163 responses)

93%
found it easy
to contact the
right service

Customer Feedback: from the CRM including compliments,
suggestions and complaints

1,064

620

compliments

suggestions

(+99)

(+74)

97

82

objections to our
decisions

dissatisfied with
fees and charges

(-9)

(-16)

162 comments
about policies and
procedures

77%
informed of
progress

74%
informed of
length of time
to resolve task

86%

94%

felt they were
provided with
clear
information

felt they were
treated with
dignity and
respect

96%

89%

86%

felt request was
knowledgeably
& effectively
handled

satisfied with
the handling
of their initial
contact

satisfied with
time taken to
complete their
task

(-17)

Customer experience of
completing online request

2,364

(based on 69,501 customers)

corporate
complaints

 - 62%

(-83)

 - 17%

83% investigated &
50% upheld*

 - 13%
 - 3%

151

statutory
complaints
(-33)

170

independent
investigation
requests

77

 - 5%

decisions from the
Ombudsman
3 complaints upheld
Q1
Unless stated data is Jul-19 to Jun-20,
compared to previous year

How good are our services to customers and the public?
162

Customers can now provide feedback in relation to 90 different service
requests (via automated customer satisfaction surveys at CRM closure).

163

Over the last 12 months, we received 8,163 responses to our automated
customer satisfaction survey (from the CRM closure process), which we
acknowledge is a relatively small proportion of overall service delivery. We
are continuing to explore options to increase the response rate (including
improved capture of e-mail addresses and exploration of other contact
channels) to expand the range of customer feedback and insight received.

164

We believe the variation in number of responses and satisfaction levels is due
to the emotiveness of the issue, with more emotive requests encouraging
greater participation.

165

In line with previous reports, two thirds of corporate complaints relate to our
waste collection service, predominantly missed collections and
correspondence issues surrounding contaminated bins. However, it should be
noted that this highly visible frontline service completes more than 13 million
waste collections annually, and of the 13,683 contamination letters issued in
the 12 months ending 30 June, 98% reach the correct recipient with the
disputed 2% arising from difficulties identifying the house to which the bin
belongs, which is most noticeable in back streets.

166

To help reduce this type of avoidable customer contact, we are continuing to
send text messages to households (where we are able) when crews are
unable to collect a bin due to, for example, access issues, informing them of
the situation and what we will do to resolve it. Crews are also checking
addresses before logging contamination.

Page 293

Page 294

Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables (Quarter One 2020/21)

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(a)

Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its
partners; and

(b)

Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the
council and its partners.

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk
KEY TO SYMBOLS
Direction of travel

Benchmarking

Performance against target

GREEN

Same or better than comparable period

Same or better than comparable group

Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER

Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group
(within 2% tolerance)

Performance within 2% of target

RED

Worse than comparable period
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group
(greater than 2%)

Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary
councils.
North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead,
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside,
Sunderland.
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Do residents have good job prospects?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

71.4

2019/20

16,542

2018

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

73

74.2

76.1

71.1

78.0

AMBER

RED

RED

GREEN

RED

Tracker

15,875

21,609

16,995

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

1

% of working age population in
employment

2

Per capita household disposable
income (£)

3

Number of gross jobs created or
safeguarded as a result of Business
Durham activity

280

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

2,429

N/a

RED

4

% of 16 to 17 year olds in an
apprenticeship

6.8

as at Jun
2020

Tracker

7.8

5.1

6.9

6.9

N/a

RED

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita
in County Durham (£)

16,718

2017

6

Number of registered businesses in
County Durham

17,180

Mar
2020

7.08

Apr-Jun
2020

Page 295

5

7

Value (£M) of new contracts secured

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

16,513

27,430

20,121

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

17,120

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
No

No

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Page 296

Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref

Description

8

Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs
created

9

Number of Inward Investments
secured

10

% of Business Durham business floor
space that is occupied

Latest
data

Period
covered

8.2

Apr-Jun
2020

3

Jan-Mar
2020

92.0

Apr-Jun
2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

6

12.6

GREEN

RED

6

3

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

86.1

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
Yes

Yes

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

11

Number of visitors to County Durham
(million)

19.71

2018

12

Number of jobs supported by the visitor
economy

11,998

2018

13

Amount (£ million) generated by the
visitor economy

913.84

2017

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

19.71

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

11,682

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

866.71

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No

No

No

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?
Ref

Description

14

Average Attainment 8 score

15

Average point score per A level entry
of state-funded school students

16
17

18

19

20

% of pupils achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (KS2)
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in
education, employment or training
(NEET)
Gap between average Attainment 8
score of Durham disadvantaged
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils
nationally (KS4)
% of children in the Early Years
Foundation Stage achieving a Good
Level of Development
Gap between % of Durham
disadvantaged pupils and % of nondisadvantaged pupils nationally who
achieve expected standard in reading,
writing and maths (KS2)

Latest
data

Period
covered

45

(academic
year)

35.5

(academic
year)

65

(academic
year)

4.8

-12.7

71.8

-19.3*

Ofsted % of Primary schools judged
good or better

89

22

Ofsted % of secondary schools
judged good or better

64

Page 297

21

*provisional data

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

44.4

46.8

44.7

45.3

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

AMBER

Tracker

33.4

33.1

33.3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

67

65

67

61

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

GREEN

Apr-June
2020

Tracker

5.3

3.1

4.7

7.4

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

2018/19

Tracker

-14.5

-13.7

-14.5

2017/18
(academic
year)

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

No
2017/18
(academic
year)

GREEN

(academic
year)

64

72.8

71.8

71.8

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

Tracker

-15.1

-20

-16

(academic
year)

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

Tracker

91

87

91

88

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

GREEN

Tracker

61

76

60

56

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

as at
30 Jun
2020
as at
30 Jun
2020

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

No

No
2019

Yes

No

No

No

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Page 298

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?
Ref

23

Description
Exclusion from school of all Durham
children - percentage of children with
at least one fixed exclusion

Latest
data

Period
covered

2.1*

(academic
year)

2018/19

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

2.1

2.33

2.81

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
2017/18
7.5
No
(academic
GREEN
year)

*provisional data

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Latest
data

Period
covered

Ref

Description

24

% of free school meals (FSM) eligible
pupils taking FSM

75.8

Jan 2020

25

Under-18 conception rate per 1,000
girls aged 15 to 17

26.4

2018

26

% of five year old children free from
dental decay^

74.2

2016/17

27

Alcohol specific hospital admissions
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)^^

54.7

2016/172018/19

28

Young people aged 10-24 admitted
to hospital as a result of self-harm
(rate per 100,000)^^

354.3

2018/19

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

79.4

78.7

78.7

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

23.7

16.7

24.9

25.0

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

64.9

76.7

76.1

71.8

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

GREEN

Tracker

53.1

31.6

60.0

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

Tracker

350.1

444.0

536.5

N/a

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

^ Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme biennial survey. 2018/19 survey not yet published by Public Health England
^^next update due quarter four

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

2018

No

2016/17

No

No

No

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Latest
data

Period
covered

Ref

Description

29

% of children aged 4 to 5 years
classified as overweight or obese**

24.0

2018/19

30

% of children aged 10 to 11 years
classified as overweight or obese**

37.7

2018/19

31

% of Education Health and Care
Plans completed in the statutory 20
week time period (excl. exceptions)

64.0

Jan-Jun
2020

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

25.0

22.6

24.3

25.0

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

37.1

34.3

37.5

37.2

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

63.9

60.4

69.8

68.9

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

RED

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

No

2019

Yes

**next update due quarter two

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?
Ref

32

Page 299

33

Description
% of successful interventions
(families turned around) via the
Stronger Families Programme
(Phase 2) [number]
% of children aged 0-2 years in the
top 30% IMD registered with a
Family Centre and having sustained
contact

Latest
data

Period
covered

48%
[348]

Apr-Jun
2020

89.8

Apr-Dec
2019

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

730

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

Mar-21
target

N/a

90

88.3

GREEN

AMBER

No

Page 300

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

34

% of mothers smoking at time of
delivery

15.8*

Apr-Jun
2020

35

Four week smoking quitters per
100,000 smoking population
[number of quitters]

1,554
[1,009]

Apr-Sept
2019

36

Male life expectancy at birth (years)

78.2

2016-18

37

Female life expectancy at birth
(years)

81.5

2016-18

38

Female healthy life expectancy at
birth (years)

58.4

2016-18

39

Male healthy life expectancy at birth
(years)

59.3

2016-18

40

Excess weight in adults (Proportion
of adults classified as overweight or
obese)

63.3

2018/19

41

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide
and injury of undetermined intent)
per 100,000 population

12.8

2016-18

42

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8
weeks from birth

25.9

Jan-Mar
2020

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

14.7

16.6

10.5

15.4

15.0

RED

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

1,785
[1,104]

820

1,111

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

78.3

79.6

77.9

78.2

N/a

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

81.4

83.2

81.7

81.9

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

58.7

63.9

59.7

61.0

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

58.9

63.4

59.4

60.5

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

66.7

62.3

64.9

67.3

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

Tracker

12.0

9.6

11.3

11.6

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

28.6

48.2

36.0

34

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Jan-Mar
20

Yes

No

No
No
No
No

Yes

No

Q3
2019/20

No

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
15.2
No
RED

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

15.0

13.9

15.3

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

8.9

7.8

9.7

9.5

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

GREEN

43

Estimated smoking prevalence of
persons aged 18 and over

17.0

2019

44

Self-reported well-being - people
with a low happiness score

9.5

2018/19

45

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: active

59.9

Nov 2018Nov 2019

Tracker

58.5

63.3

60.7

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

46

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: inactive

28.0

Nov 2018Nov 2019

Tracker

29.9

24.6

27.5

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

No

No

No

*provisional data

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
Ref

47

Page 301

48

Latest
data

Period
covered

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000
population admitted on a permanent
basis in the year to residential or
nursing care

75.3

Apr-Jun
2020

% of older people who were still at
home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation
services

81.1

Description

Jan-Mar
2020

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

National
figure

North
East
figure

GREEN

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

TBD

87.2

82.4

83.0

80.7*

N/a

RED

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Period
target

12 months
earlier

TBD

196.7

N/a

Yes

2018/19

Yes

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Page 302

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
Latest
data

Period
covered

% of individuals who achieved their
desired outcomes from the adult
safeguarding process

94.5

Apr-Jun
2020

50

% of service users receiving an
assessment or review within the last
12 months

93.2

Apr-Jun
2020

51

Overall satisfaction of people who use
services with their care and support

67.8

2018/19

52

Overall satisfaction of carers with the
support and services they receive
(Biennial survey)

51.2

2018/19

53

Daily delayed transfers of care beds,
all, per 100,000 population age 18+

2.9

Feb 2020

54

% of adult social care service users
who report they have enough choice
over the care and support services
they receive

75.1

2018/19

Ref

49

Description

*unitary authorities
** results from 2016/17 survey

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

95.7

92.4

93.9

93.5*

N/a

AMBER

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Tracker

87.6

N/a

GREEN

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Tracker

66.6

64.3

66.2

66.0*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

43.3**

38.6

47.2

41.8*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

1.5

11.0

7.0

11.0*

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

74.9

67.5

71.8

69.3*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

55

% of statutory referrals received by the
First Contact Team or Emergency
Duty Team processed within 1 working
day

94%
[953]

Apr-Jun
2020

% of statutory children in need
referrals occurring within 12 months of
a previous referral

23%
[273]

56

57

58

59

60

61

62
Page 303

63

Period
covered

Comparison to
Period
target

Tracker

12
months
earlier
93.1%
[1,207]

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

N/a

GREEN

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

33.2
[440]

21

21

19

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

85.5
[1,098]

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

90.5
[1,285]

83

83

84

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

47.7
[480]

as at
Jun 2020

Tracker

36.4
[368]

44

63

54

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

Rate of children in need per 10,000
population aged under 18 (statutory L4
open cases) [number of children]

357.7
[3,596]

as at
Jun 2020

Tracker

346.9
[3,478]

334

445

391

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per
10,000 population aged under 18 (One
Point open cases) [number of children]

147.7
[1,485]

as at
Jun 2020

Tracker

219.8
[2,210]

N/a

N/a

% of strategy meetings initiated which
led to an initial child protection
conference being held within 15
working days

89%
[156 of
176]

Apr-June
2020

75

92.5
[147]

79

82

79

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

58

as at
Jun 2020

Tracker

52.1

N/a

GREEN

84.1

Jan-Jun
2020

80

85.7

GREEN

GREEN

% of single assessments completed
within 45 working days
Rate of children subject to a child
protection plan per 10,000 population
aged under 18 [number of children]

% of Social Workers with fewer than
20 cases
% of Statutory Case File Audits which
are given a scaling score of 6 or above

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

as at
31 Mar 19

Yes

as at
31 Mar 19

Yes

Yes

2018/19

Yes

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 304

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

64

Rate of children looked after per 10,000
population aged under 18 [number of
children]

93.8
[944]

% of children adopted from care (as %
of total children leaving care)
[number of children]

18.2
[53 of 291]

2019/20

% of CLA who are fostered incl. friends
and family

76
[716]

% of external residential placements

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

% of children looked after continuously
for 12 months or more who had a dental
check
% of children looked after continuously
for 12 months or more who have had
the required number of health
assessments
Emotional and behavioural health of
children looked after continuously for 12
months or more (score between 0 to
40)
Average Attainment 8 score of Children
Looked After

Period
covered
as at
31 Mar
2020

Comparison to

Data
updated
this
quarter

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Tracker

86.9
[873]

65

101

94

Yes

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

as at
31 Mar 19

15

12.3
[39 of 316]

12

13

16

2018/19

No

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

as at
3 July
2020

Tracker

73.4
[613]

72

74

72

2018/19

Yes

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

4
[34]

as at
3 July
2020

Tracker

2.4
[20]

N/a

N/A

60

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

94.7

85

87

89

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

94.7

90

95

95

90

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

15.5

14.2

14.1

14.0

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

24.8

18.9

20.8

19.5

2017/18

GREEN

(academic
year)

13.5

20.5*

Yes

2019/20

2018/19
N/a

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

No

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER
Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?
Ref

72

73

74

Description
% of CLA achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (at KS2)
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
education, employment or training
(EET)
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
education, employment or training
(EET)

Latest
data

Period
covered

55*

2018/19

78*

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

39.5

36

47

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

N/a

64

63

63

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

60*

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

N/a

52

50

52

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

75

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
suitable accommodation

96*

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

N/a

88

93

91

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

76

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
suitable accommodation

95*

as at
Jul 2020

Tracker

N/a

85

90

87

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

*provisional data

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

First time entrants to the youth justice
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000
population aged 10 to 17)

78

Overall crime rate per 1,000
population

Page 305

77

Latest
data

Period
covered

213

20.18

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Oct 18 –
Sep 19

Tracker

250

220

303

231

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

25.8

N/a

GREEN

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 306

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?

Ref

Comparison to
Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

79

Rate of theft offences per 1,000
population

4.24

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

7.3

N/a

GREEN

80

Proportion of all offenders who reoffend in a 12 month period (%)

30.6

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

30.8

31.7

35.7

30.0

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

RED

81

Proven re-offending by young people
(who offend) in a 12 month period (%)

51.9

2017/18

Tracker

41.4

38.4

41.8

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

2016/17

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
Ref

82

Description
Satisfaction with the way that the
council and police are dealing with
local concerns about ASB and crime
issues in your area.

Latest
data

Period
covered

56.4

Mar 2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

50.1

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
53.7
Jun 2019

N/a

RED

83

Number of police reported incidents of
anti-social behaviour

16,496

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Tracker

13,573

N/a

RED

84

Number of council reported incidents
of anti-social behaviour

13,174

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Tracker

11,585

N/a

GREEN

No

RED
Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER
How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

28

32

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

6

5.5

5.7

4.0

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

26.4

29.2

34.2

26.2

GREEN

GREEN

RED

GREEN

85

% of successful completions of those
in alcohol treatment

27.3

Oct 2018Sep 2019*

86

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - opiates

5.9

Apr 2019Mar 2020*

87

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - non-opiates

29.9

Oct 2018Sep 2019*

88

% of anti-social behaviour incidents
that are alcohol related

18.7

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

16.1

N/a

RED

89

% of violent crime that is alcohol
related

32.6

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

17

N/a

RED

90

Alcohol seizures

194**

Apr-Jun
2018

Tracker

398

N/a

GREEN

*with rep to March 2020
**under review

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure
37.9
30.7

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No
No
No
Yes
Yes
No

Page 307

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 308

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?
Ref

91
92

Description

Building resilience to terrorism (selfassessment). Score - level 1(low) to 5(high)

No of individuals with a referral for 1:1
CSE Support from Supporting
Solutions Team**

*under review

Latest
data

Period
covered

3*

2017/18

41

Apr-Jun
2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

New**

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No
Yes

** New definition – Includes all children - High/Medium/Low Risk (Previously only High-Risk referred to Supporting Solutions)

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER
How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?
Ref

93

94

Description

Number of people killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

Latest
data

171

-

Number of fatalities

17

-

Number of seriously injured

154

Number of children killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

22

-

Number of fatalities

0

-

Number of seriously injured

22

Period
covered

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

209

N/a

GREEN
16

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

Yes

193

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Tracker

28

N/a

GREEN
0
28

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Ref

95

96

97

98

Description
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of litter
that fall below an acceptable level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of
detritus that fall below an acceptable
level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of dog
fouling that fall below an acceptable
level
Number of fly-tipping incidents

Latest
data

Period
covered

6.64

2019/20

14.17

2019/20

0.98

7,146

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

6.24

N/a

AMBER

Tracker

12.61

N/a

AMBER

Tracker

1.08

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

7,052

N/a

AMBER

National
figure

North
East
figure

No

No

2019/20

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

No

Yes

*not directly comparable

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SUSTAINABILITY
Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

99

% reduction in CO₂ emissions in
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and
55% by March 2031)

55.2

Page 309

100

% change in CO₂ emissions from local
authority operations

-7

Period
covered

2018

2018/19

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

54

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

-9

N/a

RED

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

No

% of municipal waste diverted from
landfill

97.8

2019/20

102

% of household waste that is re-used,
recycled or composted

41.1

2019/20

Page 310

101

95

95.3

87.3

92

32.2

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

42.3

43.2

34.5

N/a

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

103

Number of properties improved,
adapted or brought back into use

236

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

546

N/a

RED

104

Number of empty properties brought
back into use as a result of local
authority intervention

59

Apr-Jun
2020

50

73

GREEN

RED

105

Number of net homes completed

101

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

401

N/a

RED

106

Number of affordable homes
delivered

532

2018/19

200

473

GREEN

N/a

107

Number of households accessing the
Housing Solutions Service

2,793

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

3,019

N/a

RED

108

Number of households helped to stay
in their home

325

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

260

N/a

GREEN

109

Number of households helped to
move to alternative accommodation

207

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

249

N/a

RED

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Is it easy to travel around the county?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

110

% of A roads where maintenance is
recommended

2.6

2018

111

% of B and C roads where
maintenance is recommended

4.7

2018

112

% of unclassified roads where
maintenance is recommended

21

2018

113

Highways maintenance backlog
(£millions)

179.7

2018

114

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal
Roads*

80.7

2018

115

Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal
Roads*

79.9

2018

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

2.6

3

2

3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

Tracker

4.7

6

3

4

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

20

17

16

18

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

187.6

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

80.0

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

81.0

N/a

AMBER

* Bridge Stock Condition (>=90 very good condition / >=80 good condition / >=65 fair condition / >=40 poor condition / <40 very poor condition)

2018

No

2018

No

2018

No

No

No

No

Page 311

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
Page 312

How well do we look after our people?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

11.20

10.17

9.2**

GREEN

RED

RED

116

% of performance appraisals
completed on current posts in rolling
year period (excluding schools)***

N/a*

-

117

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence
(all services excluding schools)

10.65

Jul 2019Jun 2020

118

% posts with no absence in rolling
year (excluding schools)

60.35

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Tracker

59.13

N/a

GREEN

119

% of sickness absence which is short
term

7.76

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

13.88

N/a

N/a

120

% of sickness absence which is
medium term

13.76

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

17.74

N/a

N/a

121

% of sickness absence which is long
term

78.48

Apr-Jun
2020

Tracker

68.38

N/a

N/a

122

% of employees having five days or
less sickness per 12 month period

79.83

Jul 2019Jun 2020

Tracker

78.98

N/a

AMBER

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
N/a

2017/18

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

*Due to new system introduction
**includes school support staff but excludes teachers. All single/upper tier councils Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18
*** Having put all Personal Development Reviews on hold due to COVID-19, we are now reinstating the process, starting with our leaders in October 2020. Managers will follow in January 2021 and all other
employees in April 2021.

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

123

% of council tax collected in-year

27.72

Apr-Jun
2020

Not Set

28.51

N/a

AMBER

124

% of business rates collected in-year

33.8

Apr-Jun
2020

Not Set

34.36

N/a

RED

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
How good are our services to customers and the public?
Ref

125

Description
% of Freedom of Information and
Environmental Information
Regulations requests responded to
within 20 working days

Period
covered

75

Apr-Jun
2019

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

90

76

RED

AMBER

Tracker

979,984*

N/a

N/a

Customer contacts: face to face**

89,205

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

124,062

N/a

N/a
135,402

192,513

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

Customer contacts: web forms

N/a

N/a

127
Page 313

Jul 19Jun 20

Customer contacts: telephone

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

1,142,183

126

128

Latest
data

Yes

Yes

Yes

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
Page 314

How good are our services to customers and the public?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

129

Customer contacts: emails

52,361

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

41,373

N/a

N/a

130

Customer contacts: social media

4,562

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

2,898

N/a

N/a

131

% of calls answered

94

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

96*

N/a

N/a

132

% of calls answered within 3 minutes

89

Jul 19Jun 20

Tracker

92*

N/a

N/a

*data is not comparable as new telephony lines are continuing to be added to ACD
** data is not comparable as customer access points were closed during quarter one, 2020/21

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables (Quarter Four 2019/20)
There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(c)

Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its
partners; and

(d)

Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the
council and its partners.

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk
KEY TO SYMBOLS
Direction of travel

Benchmarking

Performance against target

GREEN

Same or better than comparable period

Same or better than comparable group

Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER

Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group
(within 2% tolerance)

Performance within 2% of target

RED

Worse than comparable period
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group
(greater than 2%)

Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary
councils.
North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead,
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside,
Sunderland.
Page 315

More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Page 316

Do residents have good job prospects?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

71.2

2019

1

% of working age population in
employment

2

Per capita household disposable
income (£)

15,445

2017

3

Number of gross jobs created or
safeguarded as a result of Business
Durham activity

4,108

2019/20

4

% of 16 to 17 year olds in an
apprenticeship

6.8

as at
March
2020

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

73

74.6

75.8

70.5

78.0

AMBER

RED

RED

GREEN

RED

Tracker

15,166

19,988

15,809

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

3,866

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

7.9

5.1

6.8

6.9

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

Amber

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

5

Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita
in County Durham (£)

16,718

2017

6

Number of registered businesses in
County Durham

17,150

2019

7

Value (£M) of new contracts secured

0.91

2019/20

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

16,513

27,430

20,121

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

17,120

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

8.1

N/a

N/a

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
No

No

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref

Description

8

Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs
created

9

Number of Inward Investments
secured

10

% of Business Durham business floor
space that is occupied

Latest
data

Period
covered

120.6

2019/20

8

2019/20

86.4

Jan-Mar
2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

44

113.5

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

6

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

84.0

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
Period
this
covered if
quarter
different
Yes

Yes

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

11

Number of visitors to County Durham
(million)

19.71

2018

12

Number of jobs supported by the visitor
economy

11,998

2018

13

Amount (£ million) generated by the
visitor economy

913.84

2017

Comparison to
Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

19.71

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

11,682

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

866.71

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No

No

No

Page 317

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Page 318

Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?
Ref

Description

14

Average Attainment 8 score

15

Average point score per A level entry
of state-funded school students

16
17

18

19

20

% of pupils achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (KS2)
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in
education, employment or training
(NEET)
Gap between average Attainment 8
score of Durham disadvantaged
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils
nationally (KS4)
% of children in the Early Years
Foundation Stage achieving a Good
Level of Development
Gap between % of Durham
disadvantaged pupils and % of nondisadvantaged pupils nationally who
achieve expected standard in reading,
writing and maths (KS2)

Latest
data

Period
covered

45

(academic
year)

35.5

(academic
year)

65

(academic
year)

4.1

-12.7

71.8

-19.3*

21

Ofsted % of Primary schools judged
good or better

89

22

Ofsted % of secondary schools
judged good or better

64

*provisional data

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

44.4

46.8

44.7

45.3

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

AMBER

Tracker

33.4

33.1

33.3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

67

65

67

61

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

GREEN

Apr-Mar
2020

Tracker

4.7

2.8

4.2

7.4

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

Tracker

-14.5

-13.7

-14.5

2017/18
(academic
year)

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

No
2017/18
(academic
year)

(academic
year)

64

72.8

71.8

71.8

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

2018/19

Tracker

-15.1

-20

-16

(academic
year)

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

Tracker

91

87

91

88

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

GREEN

Tracker

61

76

60

56

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

as at
31 Mar
2020
as at
31 Mar
2020

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

No

No
2019

Yes

No

No

No

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

MORE AND BETTER JOBS
Do our young people have access to good quality education and training?
Ref

23

Description
Exclusion from school of all Durham
children - percentage of children with
at least one fixed exclusion

Latest
data

Period
covered

2.1*

(academic
year)

2018/19

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

2.1

2.33

2.81

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
2017/18
7.5
No
(academic
GREEN
year)

*provisional data

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Latest
data

Period
covered

Description

24

% of free school meals (FSM) eligible
pupils taking FSM

75.8

Jan 2020

25

Under-18 conception rate per 1,000
girls aged 15 to 17

26.4

2018

26

% of five year old children free from
dental decay

74.2

2016/17

27

Alcohol specific hospital admissions
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)

54.7

2016/172018/19

28

Young people aged 10-24 admitted
to hospital as a result of self-harm
(rate per 100,000)

354.3

2018/19

% of children aged 4 to 5 years
classified as overweight or obese

24.0

2018/19

Page 319

Ref

29

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

79.4

78.7

78.7

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

23.7

16.7

24.9

25.0

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

64.9

76.7

76.1

71.8

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

GREEN

Tracker

53.1

31.6

60.0

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

Tracker

350.1

444.0

536.5

N/a

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

25.0

22.6

24.3

25.0

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

2018

No

2016/17

No

No

No

No

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Page 320

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Latest
data

Period
covered

Ref

Description

30

% of children aged 10 to 11 years
classified as overweight or obese

37.7

2018/19

31

% of Education Health and Care
Plans completed in the statutory 20
week time period (excl. exceptions)

63.0

Jan-Mar
2020

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

37.1

34.3

37.5

37.2

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

68

60.4

69.8

68.9

N/a

RED

GREEN

RED

RED

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

2019

Yes

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?
Ref

32

33

Description
% of successful interventions
(families turned around) via the
Stronger Families Programme
(Phase 2) [number]
% of children aged 0-2 years in the
top 30% IMD registered with a
Family Centre and having sustained
contact

Latest
data

Period
covered

100%
[4,360]

2019/20

89.8

Apr-Dec
2019

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

TBC

N/a

88

90

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
99
Yes

N/a

N/a

90

88.3

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN
No

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

34

% of mothers smoking at time of
delivery

18.1

Jan-Mar
2020

35

Four week smoking quitters per
100,000 smoking population
[number of quitters]

1554
[1009]

Apr-Sept
2019

Male life expectancy at birth (years)

78.2

2016-18

37

Female life expectancy at birth
(years)

81.5

2016-18

38

Female healthy life expectancy at
birth (years)

58.4

2016-18

39

Male healthy life expectancy at birth
(years)

59.3

2016-18

40

Excess weight in adults (Proportion
of adults classified as overweight or
obese)

66.7

2017/18

41

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide
and injury of undetermined intent)
per 100,000 population

12.8

2016-18

42

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8
weeks from birth

25.9%

Jan-Mar
2020

Estimated smoking prevalence of
persons aged 18 and over

17.0

2019

Page 321

36

43

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

14.7

18.8

10.5

15.4

15

RED

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

1785
[1104]

820

1111

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

78.3

79.6

77.9

78.2

N/a

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

81.4

83.2

81.7

81.9

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

58.7

63.9

59.7

61.0

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

58.9

63.4

59.4

60.5

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

67.7

62.0

66.5

67.3

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

12.0

9.6

11.3

11.6

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

28.6%

48.2%

36.0%

34%

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

14.3

14.4

16.0

15.2

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

RED

Yes

No

No
No
No
No
No

No
Q3
2019/20

Yes

Yes

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Page 322

Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

8.9

7.8

9.7

9.5

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

GREEN

44

Self-reported well-being - people
with a low happiness score

9.5

2018/19

45

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: active

59.9

Nov 2018Nov 2019

Tracker

58.5

63.3

60.7

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

46

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: inactive

28.0

Nov 2018Nov 2019

Tracker

29.9

24.6

27.5

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

No

Yes

Yes

*provisional data

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
Ref

47

48

49

Description
Adults aged 65+ per 100,000
population admitted on a permanent
basis in the year to residential or
nursing care
% of older people who were still at
home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation
services
% of individuals who achieved their
desired outcomes from the adult
safeguarding process

Latest
data

Period
covered

757.3

2019/20

85.8

95.1

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

771.8

779.5

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

GREEN

GREEN

85.9

86.2

82.4

83.0

80.7*

AMBER

AMBER

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Tracker

95.1

92.4

93.9

93.5*

N/a

GREEN

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

2019

2019/20

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES
Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

50

% of service users receiving an
assessment or review within the last
12 months

87.8

2019/20

51

Overall satisfaction of people who use
services with their care and support

67.8

2018/19

52

Overall satisfaction of carers with the
support and services they receive
(Biennial survey)

51.2

2018/19

53

Daily delayed transfers of care beds,
all, per 100,000 population age 18+

2.9

Feb 2020

54

% of adult social care service users
who report they have enough choice
over the care and support services
they receive

75.1

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

National
figure

North
East
figure

GREEN

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Tracker

66.6

64.3

66.2

66.0*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

43.3**

38.6

47.2

41.8*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

1.5

11.0

7.0

11.0*

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

74.9

67.5

71.8

69.3*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

87.5

N/a

2018/19

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

*unitary authorities
** results from 2016/17 survey

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Ref
Page 323

55

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

% of statutory referrals received by the
First Contact Team or Emergency
Duty Team processed within 1 working
day

93
[5,441]

2019/20

Comparison to
Period
target

Tracker
N/a

12
months
earlier
85.2
[4,267]

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 324

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

56

% of statutory children in need
referrals occurring within 12 months of
a previous referral

29.1
[1,663]

% of single assessments completed
within 45 working days

94.3
[6,136]

2019/20

44.7
[452]

Rate of children in need per 10,000
population aged under 18 (statutory L4
open cases) [number of children]

57

58

59

60

61

Period
covered

2019/20

Comparison to
Period
target

Tracker

12
months
earlier
21.2
[1441]

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

National
figure

North
East
figure

21

21

19

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

77.6
[4,460]

83

83

84

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

as at
31 Mar
2020

Tracker

42.9
[431]

44

63

54

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

335.2
[3,387]

as at
31 Mar
2020

Tracker

376.5
[3,785]

334

445

391

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per
10,000 population aged under 18 (One
Point open cases) [number of children]

162.6
[1,643]

as at
31 Mar
2020

Tracker

233.5
[2,348]

N/a

N/a

% of strategy meetings initiated which
led to an initial child protection
conference being held within 15
working days

86.7
[615 of
709]

75

79

82

79

2019/20

69.2
[510]

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

62

as at Mar
2020

Tracker

56

N/a

GREEN

84.1

Jan-Jun
2020

80

86.5

GREEN

AMBER

Rate of children subject to a child
protection plan per 10,000 population
aged under 18 [number of children]

62

% of Social Workers with fewer than
20 cases

63

% of Statutory Case File Audits which
are given a scaling score of 6 or above

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

as at
31 Mar 19

Yes

as at
31 Mar 19

Yes

Yes

2018/19

Yes

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

64

Rate of children looked after per 10,000
population aged under 18 [number of
children]

91.3
[922]

% of children adopted from care (as %
of total children leaving care)
[number of children]

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

% of CLA who are fostered

% of external residential placements
% of children looked after continuously
for 12 months or more who had a dental
check
% of children looked after continuously
for 12 months or more who have had
the required number of health
assessments
Emotional and behavioural health of
children looked after continuously for 12
months or more (score between 0 to
40)
Average Attainment 8 score of Children
Looked After

Page 325

*provisional

Period
covered

Comparison to

Data
updated
this
quarter

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

as at
31 Mar
2020

Tracker

82.9
[833]

65

101

94

Yes

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

as at
31 Mar 19

18.2*
[53 of 291]

Jan-Mar
2020

15

12.3
[39 of 316]

12

13

16

2018/19

Yes

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

78.2
[703]

as at
9 Jan 2020

Tracker

73.4
[613]

72

74

72

2018/19

No

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

4.2
[38]

as at
9 Jan 2020

Tracker

2.4
[20]

N/a

N/A

87

April 2020

Tracker

91.3

85

87

89

N/a

RED

Green

Green

RED

Tracker

91.4

90

95

95

80

April 2020
N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

15.5

14.2

14.1

14.0

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

24.8

18.9

20.8

19.5

2017/18

GREEN

(academic
year)

13.5*

20.5*

No

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2019/20

Yes

2018/19
N/a

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

No

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 326

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After?
Ref

72

73

74

Description
% of CLA achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (at KS2)
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
education, employment or training
(EET)
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
education, employment or training
(EET)

Latest
data

Period
covered

55*

2018/19

68

Mar 2020

54

Mar 2020

75

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
suitable accommodation

93

Mar 2020

76

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
suitable accommodation

83

Mar 2020

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

39.5

36

47

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

61

64

63

63

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

51

52

50

52

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

86

88

93

91

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

86

85

90

87

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

2018/19

Yes

*provisional data

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

77

First time entrants to the youth justice
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000
population aged 10 to 17)

213

Oct 18 –
Sep 19

78

Overall crime rate per 1,000
population

97.8

2019/20

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

250

220

303

231

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

98

89.5

93.7

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

79

Rate of theft offences per 1,000
population

27.6

2019/20

80

Proportion of all offenders who reoffend in a 12 month period (%)

31.7

2017/18

81

Proven re-offending by young people
(who offend) in a 12 month period (%)

51.9

2017/18

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Tracker

28.3

29.7

32.2

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

30.8

29.2

35.7

30.0

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

RED

Tracker

41.4

38.4

41.8

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

2016/17

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

56.4

Mar 2020

83

Number of police reported incidents of
anti-social behaviour

14,626

2019/20

84

Number of council reported incidents
of anti-social behaviour

13,356

2019/20

Page 327

82

Satisfaction with the way that the
council and police are dealing with
local concerns about ASB and crime
issues in your area.

Comparison to
National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

50.1

53.7

N/a

RED

RED

Tracker

13,908

N/a

RED

Tracker

11,318

N/a

RED

Jun 2019

Yes

Yes

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
Page 328

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure
37.9
30.7

Period
target

12 months
earlier

28

32

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

6

5.5

5.7

4.0

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

26.4

29.2

34.2

26.2

GREEN

GREEN

RED

GREEN

85

% of successful completions of those
in alcohol treatment

27.3

Oct 2018Sep 2019*

86

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - opiates

5.9

Apr 2019Mar 2020*

87

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - non-opiates

29.0

Oct 2018Sep 2019*

88

% of anti-social behaviour incidents
that are alcohol related

15.0

Jan-Mar
2020

Tracker

17.6

N/a

GREEN

89

% of violent crime that is alcohol
related

31.1

Jan-Mar
2020

Tracker

27.2

N/a

RED

90

Alcohol seizures

194**

Apr-Jun
2018

Tracker

398

N/a

GREEN

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No

*with rep to March 2020
**under review

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?
Ref

91
92

Description

Building resilience to terrorism (selfassessment). Score - level 1(low) to 5(high)

No of children/young people referred
to Supporting Solutions for 1:1 ERASE
CSE support **

*under review

Latest
data

Period
covered

3*

2017/18

88

2019/20

** Change in November 2019 when all children referred (previously only high-risk)

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

New**

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No
Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER
How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?
Ref

93

94

Description

Number of people killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

Latest
data

197

-

Number of fatalities

18

-

Number of seriously injured

179

Number of children killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

Period
covered

2019/20

Number of fatalities

0

-

Number of seriously injured

30

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

194

N/a

AMBER

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

Yes

10
184

30

-

Comparison to

2019/20

Tracker

21

N/a

RED

Yes

0
21

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Ref

95

96
Page 329

97

Description
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of litter
that fall below an acceptable level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of
detritus that fall below an acceptable
level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of dog
fouling that fall below an acceptable
level

Latest
data

Period
covered

6.64

2019/20

14.17

2019/20

0.98

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

6.24

N/a

AMBER

Tracker

12.61

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

Yes
N/a

AMBER

Tracker

1.08

N/a

GREEN

2019/20

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Page 330

How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Ref

98

Description

Number of fly-tipping incidents

Latest
data

Period
covered

6,458

2019/20

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

7,269

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

*not directly comparable

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

99

% reduction in CO₂ emissions in
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and
55% by March 2031)

54

2017

100

% change in CO₂ emissions from local
authority operations

-7

2018/19

101

% of municipal waste diverted from
landfill

97.8

2019

102

% of household waste that is re-used,
recycled or composted

41.2

2019

Comparison to
National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

52.3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

-9

N/a

RED

95

96.3

87.3

92

96.1

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

42.4

43.2

34.5

N/a

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

No

No
Q4
2018/19

Yes

2017/18

Yes

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

2,046

2019/20

212

2019/20

1,642

2019/20

532

2018/19

103

Number of properties improved,
adapted or brought back into use

104

Number of empty properties brought
back into use as a result of local
authority intervention

105

Number of net homes completed

106

Number of affordable homes
delivered

107

Number of households accessing the
Housing Solutions Service

13,118

2019/20

108

Number of households helped to stay
in their home

1,388

2019/20

109

Number of households helped to
move to alternative accommodation

1,090

2019/20

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

1,914

N/a

GREEN

150

186

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

1,465

N/a

GREEN

200

473

GREEN

N/a

Tracker

12,264

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

1,007

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

1,036

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Page 331

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY
Page 332

Is it easy to travel around the county?

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

110

% of A roads where maintenance is
recommended

2.6

2018

111

% of B and C roads where
maintenance is recommended

4.7

2018

112

% of unclassified roads where
maintenance is recommended

21

2018

113

Highways maintenance backlog
(£millions)

179.7

2018

114

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal
Roads*

80.7

2018

115

Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal
Roads*

79.9

2018

Comparison to

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

2.6

3

2

3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

Tracker

4.7

6

3

4

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

Tracker

20

17

16

18

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

187.6

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

80.0

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

81.0

N/a

AMBER

* Bridge Stock Condition (>=90 very good condition / >=80 good condition / >=65 fair condition / >=40 poor condition / <40 very poor condition)

2018

No

2018

No

2018

No

No

No

No

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
How well do we look after our people?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

11.20

11.10

9.2**

GREEN

GREEN

RED

Tracker

59.40

N/a

RED

116

% of performance appraisals
completed on current posts in rolling
year period (excluding schools)***

N/a*

-

117

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence
(all services excluding schools)

10.87

2019/20

118

% posts with no absence in rolling
year (excluding schools)

57.42

2019

119

% of sickness absence which is short
term

14.67

Jan-Mar
2020

Tracker

14.52

N/a

N/a

120

% of sickness absence which is
medium term

14.04

Jan-Mar
2020

Tracker

16.59

N/a

N/a

121

% of sickness absence which is long
term

69.44

Jan-Mar
2020

Tracker

69.89

N/a

N/a

122

% of employees having five days or
less sickness per 12 month period

78.28

2019/20

Tracker

79

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
N/a
NA
2017/18

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

*Due to new system introduction
**includes school support staff but excludes teachers. All single/upper tier councils Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18
*** Having put all Personal Development Reviews on hold due to COVID-19, we are now reinstating the process, starting with our leaders in October 2020. Managers will follow in January 2021 and all other
employees in April 2021.

Page 333

Page 334

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

123

% of council tax collected in-year

96.37

2019/20

124

% of business rates collected in-year

97.91

2019/20

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

96.9

96.65

97.02

95.31

95.46

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

98.2

97.9

98.07

98.29

97.37

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
How good are our services to customers and the public?
Ref

125

Description
% of Freedom of Information and
Environmental Information
Regulations requests responded to
within 20 working days

126

Customer contacts: telephone

127

Latest
data

Period
covered

86

Jan-Mar
2020

1,223,144

2019-20

Customer contacts: face to face

116,711

2019-20

128

Customer contacts: web forms

177,662

2019-20

129

Customer contacts: emails

48,873

2019-20

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

90

83

RED

GREEN

Tracker

927,941*

N/a

N/a

Tracker

137,136

N/a

N/a

Tracker

123,803

N/a

N/a

Tracker

40,271

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

EXCELLENT COUNCIL
How good are our services to customers and the public?
Ref

Description

130

Customer contacts: social media

131

132

Latest
data

Period
covered

3,166

2019-20

% of calls answered

94

2019-20

% of calls answered within 3 minutes

90

2019-20

Comparison to
Period
target

12 months
earlier

N/a

N/a

Tracker

3,374

N/a

N/a

Tracker

95*

N/a

N/a

Tracker

90*

N/a

N/a

*it should be noted that data is not comparable as new telephony lines are continuing to be added to ACD

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

Page 335

Appendix 3: Risk Management

1. Effective risk management is a vital component of the Council’s challenging
improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified
and minimised. The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside
service improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and
improvement projects.
2. The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate ambition
are detailed against each ambition in the relevant sections of the report. These
risks have been identified using the following criteria: (a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or
possible.
(b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable.
(c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable.
3. On 31 May 2020, there were 28 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, one
more than as at 31 December 2019. During this period, one risk was added, and
none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks according
to their net risk evaluation as at 31 May 2020. The number of risks as at 31
December 2019 is shown in brackets.

Figure 4: Corporate Risk Heat Map
Impact
Critical

1 (1)

Major

4 (3)
5 (5)

Moderate

1 (1)

4 (5)

1 (0)

9 (9)

3 (3)

Possible

Probable

Minor
Insignificant
Likelihood

Remote

Unlikely

Key risks

Page 336

Highly
Probable

4. One risk was added:

‘Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of the
wider community’.
5. The Council’s response is being led by the Director of Public Health, supported by
an internal planning group, which is linked to planning arrangements at local,
regional and national levels. Formal internal governance arrangements to oversee
and manage risk are in place. Longer-term risks will be identified and managed,
including recovery of service delivery back to business as usual, dealing with the
impact on future local government funding from central government and the
economic impact on County Durham. This risk is long term.
6. As part of the council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the council has
developed register of COVID-19 related risks. These risks are managed and kept
under constant review with dedicated meetings being held fortnightly. The Audit
Committee which has responsibility for oversight of the council’s risk management
framework has also been provided with assurance on 29 June 2020.
7. The COVID-19 risk register feeds into the council’s overall Strategic Risk
Register. Officers are required to identify and assess the significant risks to both
the council and the wider community as a result of the pandemic.
8. At a strategic level, key risks to the Council, with their respective net risk
evaluations shown in brackets, are:
(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)

Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic,
leading to delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the
safety and welfare of the wider community (Critical / Possible);
If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the
council, required savings may not be achieved, requiring extensive
utilisation of reserves which may have been depleted during the
COVID-19 outbreak, to balance future years budgets (Critical /
Possible);
There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements
from government, which will be impacted by the upcoming
Comprehensive Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review
(Critical / Highly Probable);
Serious injury or loss of life due to the Council failing to meet its
statutory, regulatory and best practice responsibilities for property and
land (Major / Probable);
Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service
failure is a factor or issue) (Critical / Possible);
Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm (where
service failure is a factor or issue) (Critical / Possible).

9. The implementation of additional mitigation on several risks has enabled the
Council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is
detailed in the relevant sections of the report.

Page 337

More and Better Jobs: Overview
The key risk to successfully delivering this ambition is: Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of
the wider community. Management consider it is possible that this risk could
occur and have a critical impact on the economy within County Durham. A
COVID-19 Recovery Plan is being developed to help support businesses
being released from lockdown, manage the transition to stabilisation and then
to rebuild and grow our places, services and industries. A pipeline of projects
is also being developed to deliver investment plans to help stimulate the
economy. Employability support programmes are also being developed to help
those who have lost their jobs as a result of the pandemic, back into
employment.

Long and Independent Lives: Overview
The key risk to successfully delivering this ambition is: Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of
the wider community. Management consider it is possible that this risk could
occur and have a critical impact on the health of our employees and people
within County Durham. Plans are in place to ensure that we protect the safety
of our employees and mechanisms are in place for surveillance, early
detection and management of viral outbreaks in our communities.

Connected Communities: Overview
The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are: a. Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a
factor or issue). Management consider it possible that this risk could occur
which, in addition to the severe impacts on children, will result in serious
damage to the Council’s reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding
partners. To mitigate the risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case
Reviews and reported to the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership.
Lessons learned are fed into training for front line staff and regular staff
supervision takes place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed
regularly.
b. Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm. Management
consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to the severe
impacts on service users, will result in serious damage to the Council’s
reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. As the statutory
body, the multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan in
place for taking forward actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a

Page 338

comprehensive training programme for staff and regular supervision takes
place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed regularly.

Excellent Council: Overview

The key risks to successfully delivering this ambition are: a. ‘Failure to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
delayed economic recovery and adverse impacts on the safety and welfare of
the wider community’. The Council’s response is being led by the Director of
Public Health, supported by an internal planning group, which is linked to
planning arrangements at local, regional and national levels. Formal internal
governance arrangements to oversee and manage risk are in place. Longerterm risks will be identified and managed, including recovery of service
delivery back to business as usual, dealing with the impact on future local
government funding from central government and the economic impact on
County Durham. This risk is long term.
b. If timely and comprehensive savings plans are not in place across the council,
required savings may not be achieved, requiring extensive utilisation of
reserves which may have been depleted during the COVID-19 outbreak, to
balance future years budgets. The Delivery plan implementation will be
monitored by CMT and Cabinet. This will be a significant risk for at least the
next 4 years.
c. There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from
government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive
Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review. Management consider it
highly probable that this risk could occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound
financial forecasting is in place based on thorough examination of the
Government's "red book" plans. This will also be a significant risk for at least
the next 4 years.
d. Serious injury or loss of life due to the Council failing to meet its statutory,
regulatory and best practice responsibilities for property and land.
Management of the Council’s estate has been unitised under the recently
appointed Head of Corporate Property and Land, and a new Corporate
Landlord Service Delivery Model is being implemented during 2020/21. It is
anticipated that this risk will be managed down to an acceptable level during
2020 and 2021.

Page 339

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Maintained Schools Budget Plans and
Permission to Set Deficit Budgets
2020/21
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s
Services
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young
People’s Services
Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide an overview of maintained schools’ initial budget plans for
2020/21, as agreed by the relevant Governing Bodies.

2

The report highlights where the Corporate Director, Resources has
exercised his judgement in terms of approving the setting of deficit
budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme
of Financing for Schools.

Executive summary
3

Schools carry forward under and overspends against their budgets as
part of their retained balances. This is a concern for the Council,
because deficit balances could become a cost to the Council if a school
closes or becomes a sponsored academy.

4

Previous experience is that schools’ initial budget plans, and the
updated budget plans prepared during the autumn term, tend to

Page 341

underestimate final balances, which are usually significantly higher than
those included in the budget plans and forecasts.
5

At the end of 2019/20 the net balances carried forward by maintained
schools were £16.066 million. The Quarter 3 forecast of outturn
indicated that school balances would have retained net balances of
£15.548 million. Since the end of 2019/20, retained balances have
changed as a result of schools converting to academies, including one
school with a substantial deficit. The current net retained balances for
maintained schools come to £16.478 million.

6

The initial budget plans submitted by schools for 2020/21 again sees a
significant forecast use of schools’ reserves to balance individual
budgets. Plans agreed by individual governing bodies show that
schools are currently planning to utilise £8.002 million of their retained
balances as at 31 March 2020 in 2020/21, reducing the forecast
schools’ balances at 31 March 2021 to £8.476 million. Experience
suggests that schools will use much less than this and that the final
balance figure will be much higher.

7

Budget planning has been and will continue to be impacted by the
Covid-19 lockdown. Whilst many costs will not be affected, schools will
lose third-party income (from lettings and out-of-school childcare), and
planned savings through restructures have been delayed in some
cases, which will reduce in-year savings in 2020/21. Schools will not be
able to claim additional grant to offset these losses.

8

Eight schools submitted initial budget plans that would result in a deficit
balance being carried forward at the end of the current financial year.
Of these, seven had a deficit at 31 March 2020, with four of these being
schools with long standing financial issues.

9

Five of the schools that have submitted an initial budget plan with a
deficit carried forward at the end of this financial year were schools that
had a licensed deficit in 2019/20.

10

The Corporate Director for Resources has considered the initial budget
plans submitted by all schools where the school requested a deficit
budget plan.

11

The Corporate Director of Resources, who is the Council’s S.151 officer
and must approve licensed deficits has approved licensed deficits for
six schools and has provisionally approved a further two school
requests pending the outcome of further reviews.

Page 342

Recommendation(s)
12

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the contents of this report;

(b)

note the action taken under delegated powers by the Corporate
Director for Resources to approve licensed deficits for six schools
and to provisionally approve licensed deficits for two other
schools pending the outcome of further reviews for the reasons
set out in the report.

Page 343

Background
13

This report set outs a summary of school budget plans for 2020/21 and
details schools that have requested to set a licensed deficit, (i.e. those
whose plan will result in the school having a deficit balance at 31 March
2021).

14

Previous reports have outlined the significant financial difficulties being
experienced by a number of schools across the county as a result of
real terms reductions in schools funding, reductions in admission
numbers and to a lesser extent, school formula funding changes, which
has necessitated approval for the setting of licensed deficits within
some schools in previous years. To date licensed deficits have mainly
been allowed for secondary schools.

15

Setting a licenced deficit is a particular concern and risk, because
schools that have a poor OFSTED judgement are required to become
sponsored academies and if / when they do academise, any deficit
balance that they are carrying becomes a cost to the local authority and
is not transferred to the sponsoring academy.

School Budget Setting Processes and Challenges
16

School budget setting processes are governed by Education and Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA) regulations and funding timetables.

17

For mainstream primary and secondary schools, the formula funding
allocations for each school are not finalised until February. This follows
receipt of our Dedicated Schools Grant allocation in December along
with data from the EFA for each school. The data, which is based on
the October census, must be used in determining formula funding and
includes pupil numbers and the proportions of pupils qualifying for
different formula factors, e.g. deprivation.

18

At the same time, supporting information is prepared in respect of
payroll costs and the cost of Service Level Agreements. Detailed
budget information is issued to all maintained schools at the end of
February. The School Funding Team then visits each school for a
budget-setting visit in March and April. Schools vary in the extent to
which they need assistance and advice on budget-setting, from those
that do most of the work themselves, for which the visit is largely a
review of the plan and set-up of the school’s financial system for the
change of financial year, and those who do little work in advance of the
meeting, with most schools falling somewhere in between.

19

The timetable this year has been impacted by Covid-19, which has
meant that many schools have had to set budgets using online
meetings and electronic exchange of information instead of through

Page 344

face-to-face meetings with members of the Council’s School Funding
Team.
20

Budgets are set for the financial year, which covers elements of two
academic years. Staff restructuring, which is often necessary to
balance budgets, usually takes effect from September each year,
because schools operate on an academic year rather than a financial
year.

21

Funding for early years provision is allocated to nursery schools and
nursery units in primary schools. Most funding is in the form of an
hourly rate, which is updated termly to take account of termly
headcounts. In addition, nursery schools receive a formula funding
allocation, which is fixed for the year and which is notified at the end of
February.

22

Funding for pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in
mainstream schools varies during the year according to pupil
movements and changes in assessments. Initial funding is notified in
March and is updated on a monthly basis throughout the year.

23

For special schools and alternative provision (for excluded pupils),
funding is agreed based on anticipated numbers and a formula which
allocates funding according to the numbers of places required in each
category of need. Initial funding is notified in February.

24

Post-16 funding is determined by the EFA and allocations for the
coming academic year are not usually available at the time when
budget plans are being set.

25

Schools also budget for income from the Pupil Premium and other
income, including income from school meals.

26

Schools can set a budget with an in-year deficit, providing that they
have enough surplus retained balances (reserves) carried forward to do
so without this resulting in the school having a deficit balance at the end
of the financial year. Where a school cannot do this and therefore
wishes to set a licensed deficit, it must have permission from the S.151
officer to do so.

27

The respective duties and responsibilities of schools and local
authorities are determined by local schemes of delegation, prepared in
line with statutory guidance. These schemes confirm the arrangements
for delegation to governing bodies, but also give authorities powers to
monitor school budgets and determine whether a school is allowed to
set a licensed deficit. The scheme also sets out the procedure for
dealing with schools causing concern, including the power to require
schools to provide budget plans and, in extreme cases, to suspend
Page 345

delegation. Schemes also prohibit authorities from writing-off the
deficits of schools with deficit balances, in order that authorities cannot
favour one school over another by allowing one to overspend and writeoff the deficit.
28

Schools’ budget plans change over the course of the financial year, to
reflect changes such as:


staff movement, which can have a significant effect on a school;



changes in early years pupil numbers;



changes in numbers and needs of SEND pupils;



final allocations of post-16 funding.

29

Budgets are reviewed with the School Funding Team in the autumn
term, which includes a review of the current year and a projection for
the following year. This allows schools to start planning, particularly
where they will need to reduce staffing to balance their budget.

30

Where schools need to reduce staffing, this process begins with a
strategy meeting involving governors and the head teacher, supported
by the School Governor Support Service and Human Resources, with
advice from the School Funding Team. If it is agreed that the school
needs to change or reduce staffing then it forms a first committee to
begin the formal process of staff reduction, which includes the issue of
s.188 notices and usually culminates in either voluntary or compulsory
redundancy.

Overview – School Budget Planning and Final Outturn 2019/20
31

The initial budget plans for 2019/20 prepared by the schools forecast
that their retained balances at 31 March 2020 would be an overall net
surplus balance of £7.343 million. This was revised at Quarter 3 to
£10.142 million. The Council’s own forecast was that the actual
retained balances would be £15.548 million.

32

The 2019/20 outturn in relation to schools-related balances showed that
retained net surplus balances at 31 March 2020 were £16.066 million,
significantly higher than schools were forecasting, but closer to the
Council’s own forecast. The variation from the Council’s forecast was
0.17% of gross expenditure.

33

The table below summarises the changes in schools-related balances,
including changes in respect of schools that have now converted to
academies and the old school loans scheme:

Page 346

Balance

31 March
2019
(£ million)

Maintained schools’ balances

Movement
in Year
(£ million)

31 March
2020
(£ million)

17.116

(1.523)

15.592

Balances transferred to academies on
conversion in 2019/20

0.237

(0.237)

0.000

Balance held at 31 March 2020 in respect
of a school that converted in March 2020

0.345

0.130

0.475

Loans to schools

(0.007)

0.007

0.000

Total

17.690

(1.624)

16.066

34

Loans to schools represent the remaining loans outstanding from the
old loan scheme, which was financed from the surplus balances of
maintained schools. All loans have been repaid and this scheme is no
longer available, although schools can borrow under a new scheme,
financed by Council reserves.

35

Note that the retained balances for schools that were maintained
schools at 31 March 2020 were £15.592 million and the table below
analyses the change in their balances by phase of school:
Phase

31 March
2019
(£ million)

Movement
in Year
(£ million)

31 March
2020
(£ million)

0.874

0.063

0.937

-

-

-

Primary

18.078)

0.078

18.157

Secondary

(4.122)

(2.151)

(6.273)

Special

2.285)

0.486

2.772

Total for maintained schools

17.116

(1.523)

15.592

Nursery
Alternative Provision

36

At 31 March 2020 there were 21 schools with a deficit balance carried
forward, with a total accumulated deficit balance of £8.402 million. For
comparison purposes, at 31 March 2019 there were also 21 schools in
deficit, with an aggregate deficit balance of £6.723 million. The
aggregated deficits carried forward at 31 March 2020 showed a
£1.679 million (25%) increase in 2019/20.

37

Of the 21 schools that carried forward a deficit balance at 31 March
2019, 16 still had a deficit carried forward at 31 March 2020, with 9 of
these having an increased deficit carried forward and 7 a reduced deficit
carried forward. There were 5 schools with a deficit carried forward at
Page 347

31 March 2020 that were not in a deficit position at the beginning of the
year. The table below summarises the instruction of the S.151 officer
and the school’s compliance with the permission given last year:
Schools in
Deficit at 31
March 2019

Licenced Deficit
agreed by S.151
Officer

Outcome / Compliance with s151
Determination

5

No

No Deficit as at 31/3/20

10

No

Still in Deficit as at 31/3/20

3

Yes

Deficit at a lower level than Licenced
Deficit Level

3

Yes

Exceeded Licenced Deficit Level

21

38

A further 7 schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2020, of which five
intend to clear their deficit balances by 31 March 2021.

Budget plans for 2020-21
39

Since the start of the financial year four primary schools and one
secondary school have converted to academies. The secondary school
had a substantial deficit balance, and the removal of this sum has
increased the net balances held from £15.592 million to £16.478 million.

40

The table below summarises the budget plans for the remaining
maintained schools:

Phase

Balance
Brought
Forward at
31 March
2020
(£ million)

Nursery

Annual
Pupil
funding Premium
(£ million) (£ million)

Other
Income
(£
million)

Total
Resources
Available
(£ million)

Total
Budgeted
Gross
Expenditure
(£ million)

Planned
Balance to
be Carried
Forward at
31 March
2021
(£ million)

0.937

1.064

0.035

3.827

5.863

(5.265)

0.598

-

5.776

0.150

0.523

6.449

(6.449)

-

Primary

18.085

148.480

14.433

34.705

215.703

(203.066)

12.637

Secondary

(5.316)

38.526

2.463

13.184

48.857

(54.092)

(5.235)

2.772

22.848

0.772

4.138

30.530

(30.053)

0.477

16.478

216.694

17.853

56.378

307.402

(298.926)

8.476

Alternative
Provision

Special
Total

41

Page 348

The initial budget plans agreed by the various governing bodies would
suggest an in-year use of retained balances of £8.002, reducing
retained balances to £8.476 million at 31 March 2020. Experience

suggests that schools will use much less of their balances in-year and
that the final balance figure will be much higher than the figure shown
above.

Licensed deficits
42

Several schools prepared initial budgets for 2019-20 that would have
resulted in a licensed deficit. The table below lists these schools and
their final balances at 31 March 2020.
Planned
balance at
31 March
2020
£

Actual
balance at
31 March
2020
£

Crook Primary

(8,000)

15,000

Broom Cottages Primary

(5,000)

75,000

St. Helens Auckland
Primary

(3,000)

(12,000)

(31,000)

(2,000)

(8,000)

22,000

(15,000)

(19,000)

(31,000)

72,000

(57,000)

(25,000)

Wolsingham School

(1,849,000)

(1,709,000)

Wellfield School

(3,363,000)

(3,406,000)

St. Bede's RC
Comprehensive, Peterlee

(1,353,000)

(1,400,000)

The Durham Federation

(120,000)

(414,000)

Croft Community School

(10,000)

120,000

No licensed deficit budget agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020

Durham Trinity School &
Sports College

(10,000)

270,000

No licensed deficit budget agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020

(7,377,000)

(6,413,000)

School

New Brancepeth Primary
Esh CE Primary
Our Lady & St. Thomas
RC Primary
St. Joseph's RC Primary,
Durham
St. Thomas More RC
Primary

Total

43

Comments

No licensed deficit budget agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020
No licensed deficit budget agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020
No license deficit budget agreed, deficit balance
at 31 March 2020, school has set a budget to
recover the deficit in 2020-21
School made savings to balance budget but has
overspent.
No licensed budget deficit agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020
No licensed deficit budget agreed, deficit budget
at 31 March 2020, school has set a budget to
recover the deficit in 2020-21
No licensed deficit budget agreed, achieved a
surplus balance at 31 March 2020
Licensed deficit budget agreed, final balance was
within the licensed deficit
Licensed deficit budget agreed, final balance was
within the licensed deficit
Licensed budget deficit agreed, final balance
exceeds licensed deficit by £143,000
Licensed deficit budget agreed, final balance
exceeds licensed deficit by £47,000
Licensed deficit budget agreed, final balance was
within the licensed deficit

In addition to those schools listed above, a licensed deficit was agreed
for Tanfield School, which has now converted to be a sponsored

Page 349

academy. The licensed deficit for this school was £512,000. Following
the identification of significant and urgent building problems, the school
had to make emergency repairs and as a result, at the end of the year
had a deficit balance of £957,000. The final deficit balance will be
written-off against the Schools Reserve.
44

The following schools have prepared initial budgets for 2020-21 that
would result in a licensed deficit. The table below lists these schools
their initial planned use of reserves in 2020-21.

School Name

Phase

Type
Balance
at 31
March
2020
£000s

Planned
in-year
use of
reserves
£000s

Planned
balance at 31
March 2021
or point of
conversion to
an academy
£000s

Bluebell Meadow

Primary

Community

(78)

(141)

(219)

Ferryhill Station

Primary

Community

(23)

(9)

(32)

St. Thomas More RC

Primary

Aided – RC

(25)

(78)

(103)

Wolsingham

Secondary

Community

(1,709)

(112)

(1,821)

Wellfield

Secondary

Community

(3,406)

222

(3,184)

St. Bede's RC, Peterlee

Secondary

Aided - RC

(1,400)

(210)

(1,609)

The Durham Federation

Secondary

Community

(414)

(191)

(605)

Windlestone

Special

Community

326

(628)

(302)

45

Schools can only set a deficit budget plan if the S.151 officer (Corporate
Director for Resources) gives permission to do so. The actions taken
for each school are set out below:
Bluebell Meadow Primary

46

This school is due to convert as a sponsored academy in September
2020. The forecast deficit at the point of conversion is £219,000 and
this is the licensed deficit that has been authorised. This will have to be
reconsidered should conversion be delayed. Because the school is
converting as a sponsored academy, the deficit at the point of
conversion will be a cost to the Council and will be charged to the
Schools Reserve.
Ferryhill Station Primary

47

Page 350

This school has been unable to set a balanced budget but is now
looking at options to recover the deficit in future years. Several
scenarios have been developed for different options, all of which include

either a part-time or shared Head Teacher. The S.151 officer has
approved a licensed deficit of £32,000 for the current year, subject to
the governing body agreeing to adopt a scenario that will recover the
deficit from 2021/22 onwards. The plans developed by the school will
be considered in the Autumn.
St Thomas More RC Primary
48

This school is one causing financial concern, because of its inability to
balance its budget. A licensed deficit of £103,000 has been agreed,
subject to the agreement of a long-term plan for this school with the
Diocesan authorities.
Wolsingham

49

This school is one that has been subject to previous reports to Cabinet
and is a continuing cause of financial concern due to its small size as a
result of the low population density in the area that it serves. For
several years now this school has struggled to set a balanced budget
whilst providing an appropriately broad and balanced curriculum.
The school is due to convert to an academy in September. Although
the school is not converting as a sponsored academy, the Council has
agreed to meet the cost of writing-off the deficit at the point of
conversion, which will be a charge to the Schools Reserve. In the
meantime, a licensed deficit to the value of £1.821 million has been
approved, which is the forecast deficit at the point of conversion. This
will have to be reconsidered should conversion be delayed. The deficit
at the point of conversion will be a cost to the Council and will be
charged to the Schools Reserve.
Wellfield

50

This school has a legacy of long-standing financial issues. The school
was granted a licensed deficit in 2019-20, which included a forecast inyear surplus which would have reduced its cumulative deficit by
£103,000.

51

The school did not comply with the condition of its licensed deficit and
instead increased the cumulative deficit by £43,000. For the current
year, a licensed deficit has been agreed and the school will be required
to reduce its cumulative deficit position by £225,000 in year.

52

The school will be more closely monitored to ensure that it complies
with this condition, with the option to remove its delegated budget
should it fail to comply.

Page 351

St Bede’s RC, Peterlee
53

This is another school with a legacy of long-standing financial issues. It
is due to convert to an academy in September and was subject to a
report to Cabinet in July.

54

Although the school is not converting as a sponsored academy, the
Council has agreed to meet the cost of writing-off the deficit at the point
of conversion, which will be a charge to the Schools Reserve.

55

The approved licensed deficit to the point of conversion is
£1.609 million. This will have to be reconsidered should conversion be
delayed.
The Durham Federation

56

This consists of two schools, Fyndoune Community College and
Durham Community Business College and is significant cause for
concern.

57

Following a report to Cabinet on 18 March 2020, the Council is
consulting on closing the Fyndoune site. In the meantime, a provisional
licensed deficit of £605,000 has been agreed, subject to the outcome of
a review of the school’s spending plans and its staffing structure by
Council officers.
Windlestone

58

This school was rated as inadequate in its recent Ofsted inspection and
the Council has been given an opportunity to reorganise the school as
an alternative to it becoming a sponsored academy. Several options
are being considered.

59

In the meantime, the school has seen its budget reduced considerably
following a review of special school places and associated budgets and
is currently unable to balance its budget. There is, however, some
scope to make savings to cover much of the current budget shortfall
and a provisional licensed deficit of £302,000 has been agreed, subject
to review once the future of the school has been determined.

60

A summary of all the schools with deficit balances is provided in
Appendix 2. This shows all the schools that had a deficit balance at 31
March 2019 and those with a deficit balance at 31 March 2020. The
appendix also shows which schools were granted a licensed deficit in
2019/20 and the schools for which a licensed deficit has been approved
for 2020/21.

Page 352

Main implications
Financial implications
61

The Council has a responsibility for the oversight of maintained schools,
including their financial planning.

62

If a school is allowed to set a deficit budget without good reason, then it
is likely that its financial position will deteriorate over time until it
reaches a point where it is unable to clear the accumulated deficit and
the only option for the school is to become part of a multi-academy trust
as a sponsored academy.

63

As noted above, where a school converts as sponsored academy the
deficit must be written-off by the Council from its own resources.

Schools Reserve
64

The Council has a Schools Reserve to fund the cost of writing-off
deficits of schools that are converting. The current balance on this
earmarked reserve is £7.7 million. The table below shows the potential
calls on that reserve for schools that either have already converted
(Tanfield) or are due to convert this year.

School

St Bede's
Bluebell
Meadow
Tanfield
Wolsingham
Total

65

Conversion plans

Planned conversion,
1 October 2020
Planned conversion,
1 September 2020
Converted (sponsored),
1 May 2020
Planned conversion,
1 September 2020

Potential
call on
School
Reserve (£)

Comments

Forecast of balance at
1 October 2020
Forecast of balance at 1
219,000
September 2020
Balance at 31 March 2020
1,030,000
1,609,000

1,821,000

Initial forecast of balance at
1 September 2020

4,679,000

Taking these schools into account will leave a balance in the Schools
Reserve of around £3 million for future conversions. Indication is that
the value of known deficits that may need to be written off because of
future conversions may exceed this by in excess of £3 million.

Conclusion
66

This report notes that schools have delegated budgets and carry
forward surpluses and deficits.

Page 353

67

At the end of 2019/20 the net surplus balances carried forward by
maintained schools showed a net decrease of £1.624 million in-year.
The Quarter 3 forecast of outturn, excluding schools that have now
converted, indicated that school balances would reduce by
£1.912 million in-year.

68

The initial budget plans agreed by schools again sees a significant
forecast use of schools’ reserves to balance individual budgets.
Schools are currently planning to utilise £8.002 million of their retained
balances at 31 March 2020 in 2020/21, reducing the forecast net
schools’ surplus balances at 31 March 2021 to £8.476 million.
Experience suggests that schools will use much less of their balances
in-year and that the final balance figure will be much higher than this.

69

Eight schools have set initial budget plans that would result in a deficit
balance being carried forward at the end of the current financial year.
Of these, seven had a deficit at 31 March 2020, with four of these being
schools with long standing financial issues.

70

Five of the schools that have set an initial budget plan with a deficit
carried forward at the end of this financial year were schools that had a
licensed deficit in 2019/20. The other school with a licensed deficit in
2019/20 is now an academy.

71

The Corporate Director of Resources has considered the initial budget
plans submitted by all schools where the school submitted a deficit
budget plan.

72

The Corporate Director of Resources must approve licensed deficits,
and has agreed licensed deficits for eight schools, two being provisional
approvals pending the outcome of further reviews.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents


None

Authors
Paul Darby Tel: 03000 261930
David Shirer Tel: 03000 268554

Page 354

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Section 15 of the Education and Inspections Act requires a Local Authority to
publish statutory proposals where it is considering discontinuing a maintained
school. Section 16 of the Act requires the Local Authority to consult such
people as they feel to be appropriate and to have regard to guidance
published by the Secretary of State before publishing such proposals.
The Corporate Director Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s
financial affairs. The Corporate Director Resources also has a duty to report
certain matters to the authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1988.
Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school closes or converts as a
sponsored academy then any deficit balance remains with the Council, which
must meet the cost of writing-off the deficit from its general funds. Surplus
balances of closing schools are credited to the Council, but it does not retain
any surplus balance for a school becoming a sponsored academy: the
academy receives the balance upon conversion.
The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections
45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Under this
legislation the Council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for
Schools. The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority
and the maintained schools which it funds, including the respective roles and
responsibilities of the authority and the schools. The scheme does not limit
unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control and deploy their budgets,
recognising the need for public monies are involved to be properly accounted
for and recorded. The scheme includes provisions which are binding on both
parties. Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against budget share
(formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial year will
be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following year’s
budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming
year.
Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of
the authority. For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure
in the budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance
(surplus or deficit) brought forward from the previous year. This consent is

Page 355

given by the Section 151 officer - Corporate Director, Resources; where
approval is given this is known as a licensed deficit.
The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets, but only for three years,
and no more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of
£750,000.

Finance
Schools are funded through Dedicated Schools Grant and operate to
delegated budgets, which are the responsibility of individual school governing
bodies. Where a school wishes to set a deficit budget (where its spending
exceeds it resources in year) it can only do so in accordance with EFA
guidance and the Scheme of Financing for Schools and with the permission of
the Council’s S151 Officer; where approval is given this is known as a
licensed deficit.
School budgets have come under increased pressure in recent years,
because of the cumulative effect of cash flat DSG funding. In addition,
changes (restrictions) placed on the Council through formula funding
regulations, has made funding for mainstream schools more sensitive to
changes in pupil numbers, and has reduced the scope of local authorities to
use its funding formulas to target funding to schools that are struggling
financially.
From April 2013 schools now have the powers to accept pupil numbers above
their Pupil Admission Number, which is what the Council (through the Schools
Admissions Team) previously used to cap the admission numbers to an
individual school and help manage demand across schools. In addition, from
April 2015 schools that had a poor Ofsted judgement were required to become
sponsored academies.
There are a number of schools in financial difficulty across the Council, with
insufficient capacity to accommodate the pupil numbers displaced should
these schools need to close. Notwithstanding this, should a school close, the
additional cost of providing home to school transport to pupils' nearest schools
can be significant. There would also need to be significant capital investment
to expand other secondary schools to accommodate additional pupils should a
secondary school close for financial reasons.
Where a school is in financial difficulties, officers from the Education Service
can advise schools about where there is scope to make savings, supporting
the Schools Finance Team.

Page 356

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Staffing within schools is continually reviewed as schools consider
arrangements for balancing their budgets on an annual basis. The fact that
the DSG has been cash flat for a number of years, together with formula
funding changes and changes to way admissions works, has meant that this is
becoming more prevalent and difficult to manage. Any staff restructuring
exercises are considered in line with the council's existing schemes and the
School Brokerage Scheme to minimise redundancies wherever possible.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
If schools become financially unsustainable there is a risk to their ability to
deliver a good standard of education. This would normally lead to a school
failing an Ofsted inspection and being required to become a sponsored
academy and the Council would have to meet the cost of writing-off the deficit.
In such a situation, the Council is at risk of damage to its reputation by being
perceived to have failed to monitor the performance and financial position of
maintained schools.

Procurement
None.

Page 357

Appendix 2: Summary of Schools with Deficit Balances
Balance
at 31
March
2019
£ million
2357 Bluebell Meadow

Primary

0.042

-

(0.078)

(0.219)

Planned
balance
at 31
March
2021
£ million
(0.219)

2368 Ferryhill Station

Primary

0.032

-

(0.023)

(0.032)

(0.032)

3492 St. Thomas More RC

Primary

(0.002)

(0.037)

(0.025)

(0.103)

(0.103)

4139 Wolsingham

Secondary

(1.559)

(1.853)

(1.709)

(1.821)

(1.821)

4218 Wellfield

Secondary

(3.365)

(3.263)

(3.406)

(3.181)

(3.184)

4693 St. Bede's RC, Peterlee

Secondary

(0.481)

(1.353)

(1.400)

(1.609)

(1.609)

6500 The Durham Federation

Secondary

(0.112)

(0.438)

(0.414)

(0.605)

(0.605)

7030 Windlestone

Special

0.358

-

0.326

(0.302)

(0.302)

4099 Tanfield (now an academy)

Secondary

(0.513)

(0.512)

(0.957)

-

-

2302 Hunwick

Primary

(0.059)

-

(0.025)

-

-

2308 Crook

Primary

(0.008)

-

0.015

-

0.002

2328 Witton-le-Wear

Primary

(0.012)

-

(0.009)

-

-

2394 Ox Close

Primary

(0.014)

-

0.002

-

0.010

2419 St. Helens Auckland

Primary

(0.042)

-

(0.012)

-

-

2453 New Brancepeth

Primary

(0.020)

-

(0.002)

-

0.013

3085 St. Stephen's CE

Primary

(0.011)

-

(0.006)

-

0.008

3087 Stanhope Barrington CE

Primary

(0.015)

-

(0.039)

-

-

3123 St. Anne's CE

Primary

(0.058)

-

(0.029)

-

0.018

3406 Esh CE

Primary

(0.004)

-

0.022

-

0.008

3425 Our Lady & St. Thomas RC

Primary

(0.009)

-

(0.019)

-

-

3506 St. Joseph's RC, Blackhall

Primary

(0.034)

-

0.026

-

0.001

3518 Woodham Burn

Primary

(0.025)

-

(0.003)

-

-

4162 Bishop Barrington

Secondary

(0.052)

-

(0.153)

-

0.035

7013 The Croft

Special

(0.325)

-

0.120

-

0.032

2311 Peases West

Primary

0.031

-

(0.033)

-

0.001

2388 Bowburn

Primary

0.279

-

(0.055)

-

0.397

2532 Cotsford

Primary

0.052

-

(0.109)

-

0.113

2708 Horndale Inf.

Primary

0.001

-

(0.016)

-

0.008

2737 Blackhall

Primary

0.067

-

(0.044)

-

0.024

Page 358

Licensed
deficit in
2019/20
£ million

Balance
at 31
March
2020
£ million

Proposed
licensed
deficit for
20/21
£ million

Agenda Item 11

Cabinet
16 September 2020
Weardale Railway: Request for
Financial Support
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economic
Growth
Councillor Alan Napier, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Portfolio Holder
for Finance
Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation,
Culture and Tourism
Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic
Regeneration

Electoral division(s) affected:
Weardale

Purpose of the Report
1

This report is to advise Cabinet on the current position and opportunity
regarding the development of Weardale Railway and of a request from
The Auckland Project (TAP) to support its future development.

Executive Summary
2

The Weardale Heritage Railway line stretches from Bishop Auckland to
Eastgate, a total of 19 miles although the most recent use of the line is
only 16 miles from Bishop Auckland to Stanhope.

3

This provides an important transport link between those areas as well
as an important asset to attract our visitor economy. The line connects
a number of towns and villages and has open stations at Witton le
Wear, Wolsingham, Frosterley and Stanhope.

Page 359

4

Weardale Railways CIC (Community Interest Company) is the holding
company for the railway. It is 75% owned by British American Rail
Services (BARS). The remaining 25% voting rights are shared between
the Weardale Railway Trust and Durham County Council. WRCIC
provides management services for the railway and is the responsible
body to the official Railway authorities.

5

The Auckland Project (TAP) has now concluded the purchase of the
Heritage Railway and is seeking to secure the required certificates and
authorisation from the Department of Transport to allow trains to run on
the line.

6

In December 2019 TAP provided the Council with a high level business
case with financial projections over a three year period. The intention is
to successfully develop the railway to protect and sustain this heritage
asset, provide employment and training opportunities, enhance the
wider visitor experience in Durham, develop the volunteer base and
eventually extend the passenger rail network to the west of Bishop
Auckland. if delivered successfully, directly support the local area,
economy and communities. The 5 objectives are described as:
(a)

provide a world class tourist attraction, made available for the
people of Bishop Auckland, Weardale and the wider area in
addition to national and international visitors;

(b)

economic regeneration of the areas served by the WR via
tourism;

(c)

employment for local people associated with a world class visitor
attraction;

(d)

the provision of education opportunities for local people;

(e)

the sustainable use of the natural environment in partnership with
heritage and commercial activities.

7

An additional 160,000 visitors to Bishop Auckland are estimated as a
result of the Weardale Railway increasing GVA by an estimated
£3.2 million. Successful delivery of the objectives above will result in a
sustainable future for an important heritage asset and will deliver a
number of economic and social benefits to the local area and wider
County.

8

In order to make the project viable, the Council is being asked to
provide financial support towards the costs of repairs to a number of
bridges along the line. The financial business plan provided to the
Council deals only with the first three years of operation and there are

Page 360

no guarantees of the longevity of the initiative. No financial projections
over the longer term have been provided.
9

In view of the limited detailed business case information, the current
Covid-19 environment and the historical difficulty associated with
creating a sustainable heritage offer at Weardale railway the provision
of £2.1 million financial support represents a significant commitment.

10

Cabinet is asked to consider the option of linking any financial support
to a requirement to repay the amount in the event of certain events
occurring.

11

The grant funding requested meets the relevant tests to constitute State
Aid. The General Block Exemptions Regulations allow aid to be
granted for culture and heritage conservation which this project falls
squarely within. The total amount of aid granted must not exceed the
difference between the eligible investment costs and the projected
operating profit.

12

There are a number of options for the Council to consider:

13

(a)

not providing support to TAP for the Heritage railway;

(b)

Provide the grant requested and enter into a formal agreement
that has conditions that mitigate risk to the Council.

The opening of the heritage railway and the continued investment and
associated economic leverage in Bishop Auckland is important to the
County and local area. The financial ask, however, is significant and
comes at an unprecedented time. Taking all factors into account it is
suggested that the Council supports the project and provides a grant of
£2.128 million subject to a formal grant agreement as referenced in the
body of the report.

Recommendation
14

Cabinet is recommended to agree:
(a)

to the provision of a grant totalling £2.128 million to Weardale
Railway / The Auckland Project as outlined in paragraph 42(b) of
the report; and

(b)

delegated powers to finalise the agreement be given to the
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance, the Portfolio
Holder for Economic Regeneration, the Portfolio Holder for
Transformation, Tourism and Culture, the Corporate Director of
Resources and the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy
and Growth.

Page 361

Background
16

The Weardale Heritage Railway line stretches from Bishop Auckland to
Eastgate, a total of 19 miles although the most recent use of the line is
only 16 miles from Bishop Auckland to Stanhope. The asset is
important to the overall visitor offer of County Durham and supports our
national heritage profile.

17

The line connects a number of towns and villages and has open
stations at Witton le Wear, Wolsingham, Frosterley and Stanhope,
providing an important sustainable transport connection between those
areas.

18

The proposal to support the development and sustainability of the
Weardale Railway, forms part of a wider investment in Bishop
Auckland’s visitor economy and town centre renewal.

19

In late 2019 the then main owners British American Railway Services
(BARS) entered into negotiations with The Auckland Project TAP).
BARS US based parent company, Iowa Pacific Holdings, was put into
receivership in October 2019 and this led to the potential collapse of the
‘Train to Christmas Town’ seasonal event with 12,500 pre booked
tickets having been purchased.

20

TAP’s intervention and financial support led to the event taking place
and acted as the catalyst for proposals to purchase the American
owners’ interest in the Railway and take control of the Weardale
Railway Community Interest Company.

21

Weardale Railways CIC (Community Interest Company) was the
holding company for the railway. It is now in administration and its
assets are now owned by the Weardale Railway Ltd which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Auckland Project.

22

TAP has now concluded the purchase of the Heritage Railway and is
seeking to secure the required certificates and authorisation from the
Dept of Transport to allow trains to run on the line.

TAP’s Ambitions for the Railway
23

In December 2019 TAP provided the Council with a high level business
case outlining the ambitions to develop and expand the Railway. The
document is at Appendix 2.

24

The business plan identifies 5 key objectives for the Weardale Railway:
(a)

Page 362

provide a world class tourist attraction, made available for the
people of Bishop Auckland, Weardale and the wider area in
addition to national and international visitors:

(b)

(c)

d)

i.

provide a rich calendar of events and experiences relating
to the love of the railways, trains and the heritage of the
Weardale Railway;

ii.

work in partnership with the National Railway Museum
Shildon to develop high profile, experiences and events;

iii.

provide a calendar of events and experiences relating to
food and drink, literature, culture and heritage;

economic regeneration of the areas served by the WR via
tourism:
i.

create a unified network of visitor attractions, including
Auckland Castle, Faith Exhibition, Kynren, the Mining Art
Gallery, Spanish Gallery, Kynren Park and others, so as to
encourage out-of-region visitors, longer dwell time and
overnight visits;

ii.

create a sustainable, profit making operation able to
contribute to the wider aims of TAP;

employment for local people associated with a world class visitor
attraction:
i.

provide sustainable job opportunities associated with the
management of, and running of the railway;

ii.

offer apprenticeships associated with the running of the
railway, including the maintenance and construction of
associated rolling stock and locomotive engines;

iii.

provide a range of volunteering opportunities structured
around the needs and of the railway operation, focused on
specific job roles and with a view to preparing people for
the world of work;

the provision of education opportunities for local people:
i.

create a vibrant calendar of information events, talks,
lectures and exhibitions relating to the railway and wider
area;

ii.

create and install a range of information panels relating to
the heritage line and the natural environment;

iii.

produce literature in a range of forms relating to the
heritage line and the natural environment;

Page 363

iv.

e)

engage with local schools and voluntary sector
organisations to build immersive experience based
education sessions relating to the railway;

the sustainable use of the natural environment in partnership with
heritage and commercial activities:
v.

operate a sustainable transport solution, for the people of
Bishop Auckland, Shildon, Weardale and the wider area;

vi.

promote the use of sustainable transportation via aim 4;

vii.

create a sustainable, profitable operation that places the
natural environment at the heart of commercial activity;

viii.

provide sustainable commercial profit in the wider social
and charitable aims of TAP.

25

The business plan predicts that the Weardale Railway will bring an
additional 160,000 visitors in to Bishop Auckland and Shildon, providing
training, employment and learning opportunities, adding significantly to
the local economy of the wider area by transforming TAP’s current offer
firmly into a two-day experience, and creating a more stable shopper
presence in the high street. At an estimated spend of £20 per day
visitor x 160,000 visitors, the GVA impact is c.£3.2 million.

26

In order to deliver the aims and objectives the Business Plan identifies
four elements that are required:

27

Page 364

(a)

creation of stability by strengthening the governance and
partnership opportunities;

(b)

ensuring adequate promotion in order to build awareness and
increase visitor numbers;

(c)

building income streams to create a sustainable and viable social
enterprise;

(d)

bolster travel options for residents along the Wear valley.

An events plan (which will now be impacted by Covid-19) is also
outlined:

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024 &
Onwards

Train to
Christmas
Town

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Afternoon Tea
Train

Afternoon Tea
Train

Afternoon Tea
Train

Afternoon Tea
Train

Afternoon Tea
Train

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Gin Train

Gin Train

Gin Train

Gin Train

Hogwarts Style
Train

Hogwarts Style
Train

Hogwarts Style
Train

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

28

The business case at Appendix 2, also describes rolling stock provision,
schools’ engagement and interpretation, industrial heritage
partnerships, railway apprenticeships, and potential future fundraising
opportunities. TAP views the line as providing an outstanding tourist
attraction, supporting economic regeneration, increasing employment
opportunities, providing skills opportunities and supporting a sustainable
use of the natural environment. It plans to work in partnership with
heritage and commercial stakeholders.

29

Over a ten year period the vision is to establish Weardale Railway as
one of the major components of the visitor destination in Bishop
Auckland and to provide a partnership approach to delivering a visitor
offer that is Durham wide including Durham City, Locomotion, Raby
Castle, Beamish and the Dales. There is an ambition to create more
two day experiences to the town.

30

These ambitious outcomes would maintain and protect a heritage asset
and be of great benefit to the town of Bishop Auckland and to the
County as a whole, if successfully delivered.

31

It should be noted that previous attempts to transform the heritage
railway into a successful and sustainable offer have not proven to be
successful. In April 2009 the Council, with three other organisations,
provided the Weardale Railways CIC an unsecured and interest free
loan of £400k which was ‘only to be repaid when the borrower becomes

Page 365

self sustaining in both its revenue and capital plans’’. The loan was not
repaid and has subsequently been written off.
32

The four organisations that jointly provided the loan were:
(a)

Durham County Council (£250,000);

(b)

British American Railway Services Ltd (£100,000);

(c)

Weardale Railway Trust (£40,000);

(d)

Sherburn Stone Company Ltd (£10,000).

33

The partnership with the Council is described as critical to support the
successful delivery of the project and the business case sought financial
support to undertake repairs to a number of bridges over the next three
financial years. A schedule of works to be carried out on the bridges
was compiled by Jacobs.

34

The Council’s technical officers have reviewed the information provided
by Jacobs in the business case and have concluded that:
(a)

previous experience indicates that bridge repairs are often
underestimated at initial survey stage;

(b)

there are a number of multi span metallic structures ranging up to
75m which require further intrusive inspections before accurate
estimates can be provided;

(c)

four structures have been identified as requiring structural
inspections with no cost allowance being made in the schedule;

(d)

in order to identify a more accurate cost of the work required, a
number of actions will be required by TAP.

35

In light of the above there is a risk of the cost of works being higher than
currently identified in the TAP business case.

36

The funding request of £2.128 million over a three period is
programmed as follows:
20/21
DCC Contribution for bridge repairs
(£000’s)

37

Page 366

1.260

21/22
0.717

22/23
0.151

Total
£2.128m

It should be noted that the spend profile will be amended to take
account of the impact that Covid 19 has had on the project.

38

Over the same period TAP has advised that it will contribute
£1.5 million. This is to cover the purchase costs and the first two years
of operation as well as approximately £250,000 pa on track bed repairs.
TAP aims to start the revival of services as soon as possible after
regulatory approval is granted and to increase scale as the visitor
season starts in Easter 2021. It is unlikely that a Christmas offer will be
available this year due to the current C19 implications.

39

The Council is being asked to invest a significant sum that will deal with
bridge repair issues over a long period. The financial business plan
provided to the Council deals only with the first three years of operation
and there are no guarantees of the longevity of the initiative. No
financial projections over the longer term have been provided. In view
of the limited detailed business case information, the current Covid-19
environment and the historical difficulty associated with creating a
sustainable heritage offer at Weardale railway the provision of
£2.1 million financial support represents a significant commitment by the
Council.

40

As a consequence, it is suggested that Cabinet consider the option of
linking any financial support to a requirement for Weardale Railway or
TAP, as a guarantor, to repay the amount in the event of certain events
occurring.

41

The grant funding requested meets the relevant tests to constitute State
Aid. The General Block Exemptions Regulations allow aid to be
granted for culture and heritage conservation which this project falls
squarely within. The total amount of aid granted must not exceed the
difference between the eligible investment costs and the projected
operating profit.

42

Since the business case was completed, the Covid-19 pandemic has
significantly impacted on the visitor and leisure economy. In terms of
the first three years, TAP has advised that business case stands as it is
since it is a high level plan that is especially focussed on the work
needed to get the infrastructure back into shape after the years of
BARS stewardship and covering the first years of running costs. No
information has been provided on the financial viability of the railway in
the longer term.

43

There are a number of options for the Council to consider:
(a)

not providing support to TAP for the Heritage railway. This is not
recommended as the initiative is innovative and, if successful, will
provide significant economic and regeneration outcomes;

Page 367

(b)

44

Page 368

providing a grant of £2.128 million over a three year period. This
should be accompanied by a formal grant agreement that
includes:
i.

assurance to the Council that any required repayment of
grant will be made from Weardale Railway and / or TAP;

ii.

an appropriate procurement process for the works;

iii.

identification of works to specific bridges and a prioritised
schedule of investment for agreement with the Council;

iv.

payment arrangements linked to completion of works and
appropriate invoices being submitted;

v.

a commitment from Weardale Railway / TAP to complete
the full schedule of works in the event of cost increases
above the £2.1 million and that a funded long term future
maintenance plan is in place;

vi.

the provision of a more detailed 5 year costed financial and
business plan with appropriate risk assessments, and
agreed delivery outputs;

vii.

confirmation that the Council has no future liability on any
structure that is in Weardale Railway Ltd ownership;

viii.

provision of enforceable conditions to secure grant
repayment (from Weardale Railway Ltd or TAP as
guarantor) in certain circumstances including:
1.

the Railway ceasing to operate within a defined
period (eg 10 years);

2.

not significantly delivering against the agreed
business plan;

3.

failure to invest in the Railway in accordance with the
agreed business plan.

The opening of the heritage railway and the continued investment and
associated economic leverage in Bishop Auckland is important to the
County and local area. The financial ask, however, is significant and
comes at an unprecedented time. Taking all factors into account it is
suggested that the Council supports the project and provides a grant of

£2.128 million subject to a formal grant agreement as referenced in
42(b) above.

Recommendation
45

Cabinet is recommended to agree:
(a)

to the provision of a grant totalling £2.128 million to The Auckland
Project as outlined in paragraphs 42(b) above; and

(b)

delegated powers be given to the Portfolio Holder for Economic
Regeneration, the Portfolio Holder for Transformation, Tourism
and Culture, the Corporate Director of Resources and the
Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth to
finalise the agreement.

Author(s)
Geoff Paul

Tel: 03000 267453

Page 369

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The grant funding requested meets the relevant tests to constitute State Aid.
The General Block Exemptions Regulations allow aid to be granted for culture
and heritage conservation which this project falls squarely within. The total
amount of aid granted must not exceed the difference between the eligible
investment costs and the projected operating profit.

Finance
The recommendation requires a grant of £2.128 million to be paid over a three
year (2020 -2023) period. The sum to be financed from capital contingencies.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not applicable.

Climate Change
The project aims to provide a sustainable transport solution, for the people of
Bishop Auckland, Shildon, Weardale and the wider area.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable.

Staffing
Not applicable.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
A grant of £2.128 million represents a significant commitment from the Council
at a time of national uncertainty. In order to mitigate risk to the Council and
protect the investment, the report suggests a legal agreement which includes
the requirement for grant repayment in certain circumstances.

Page 370

Procurement
Durham County Council is committed to ensuring local wealth benefit through
procurement practices, benefiting the local supply chain. This grant will be
subject to those principles.

Page 371

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2: The Auckland Project Business Case for Weardale
Railway dated 3 December 2019

**CONFIDENTIAL AND NOT TO BE PASSED TO A THIRD
PARTY**
CONTENTS
1.0

Introduction

2.0

The Auckland Project Vision – by Jonathan Ruffer

3.0

Background

4.0

Weardale Railway Strategic Objectives

5.0

Proposed Management Structure

6.0

Events Plan Years 1-5

7.0

Weardale Railway Visitor Number Impact

8.0

Potential Rolling Stock Loans

9.0

Schools Engagement and Interpretation

10.0

Apprenticeship Scheme

11.0

Fundraising

12.0

WRT Volunteer Letter of Support

13.0

Financial Details (separate document)

14.0

Summary

Page 373

1. INTRODUCTION

This business case is written in the context of The Auckland Project’s (TAP) proposal to take control
of the Weardale Railway Community Interest Company (WRCIC) and, in partnership with DCC, the
National Railway Museum and others, to integrate it into the regeneration plans for the Bishop
Auckland area, creating a greater impact and wide range of opportunities for Weardale and Shildon.
It has necessarily been written at speed to match the timeframe imposed by the negotiations with
British American Railway Services (BARS) (whose top company, Iowa Pacific Holdings, was put into
receivership in late October), and the impending collapse of The Train to Christmas Town (TTCT)
event due to ticket sales revenue being transferred to BARS. It contains as much information as is
available at the time of writing but makes assumptions in a number of areas.
DCC holds a 12.5% voting share in the WRCIC and therefore has a close interest in ensuring that the
TTCT is delivered as planned. So far 12,500 tickets have been sold for the event which starts on 30
November. Without TAP’s cash injection, TTCT will collapse with attendant bad publicity. DCC, as the
only voting shareholder which by common consent has sufficient funds, will be faced with either
providing refunds amounting to circa £300k or declaring that it will not provide refunds. Both
outcomes are undesirable for DCC. DCC has been working closely in partnership with TAP to
regenerate Bishop Auckland and understands the strategic potential of the WR.
The Business Case is written principally to allow DCC to understand the future prospects and plans
for the WR in order to inform the decision on funding £2.1m bridge repairs itemised in the Jacobs
(UK) 2018 Bridge Reports that are required by December 2023. In addition, DCC is being asked to
transfer its 12.5% voting share to TAP.
The TAP deal proposed under Heads of Terms (11 November 2019) to BARS includes the following
elements:




TAP injects £400k cash to keep the TTCT afloat
BARS transfers to TAP its 75% voting share in WRCIC
BARS novates the full intercompany debt from WRCIC, currently standing at £6.5m

BARS has indicated its agreement in principle to this proposal but cannot proceed without authority
from the administrator of Iowa Pacific to novate the intercompany debt.
On 15 November TAP initiated lifeboat loan payments to WRCIC to allow WRCIC to settle invoices
due for the TTCT. The schedule of payments was originally expected to total circa £183k to enable
the event to run. However, further invoices continue to emerge and it is not clear what the final
total will be. From the first payment, TAP has a debenture on WRCIC which empowers TAP to put
WRCIC into administration. TAP will exercise this power to recover loans to WRCIC if the proposed
deal with BARS and arrangements with DCC do not fall into place.
Recent indications are that a total of £600k will be required by March 20 to keep the WRCIC as a
going concern, including operating costs and track condition repairs. TAP is prepared to provide the
funds and estimates a further £600k (excluding bridge repairs) of annual operating costs from March
2020 onwards. It is also assumed that TTCT will be replaced by the Polar Express.
As referenced above, this Business Case and its future financial projections are based on
extrapolated income and expenditure and a number of assumptions, including principally that the

Page 374

WR CIC can secure the Polar Express franchise. Given those assumptions and notwithstanding any
additional bridge repairs beyond 2023, it is anticipated that the WR CIC may be able to achieve a
break even position by 2025 on the realization of c. £500k of surplus I&E (income & expenditure)
from running the events programme set out in section 5, and seeking additional funding through
grants and membership. This surplus will cover the extrapolated operating loss and anticipated
continued track maintenance requirements (at 2023 levels).
Excluded from the above figures is a projected cost of £43k for the connecting path between WRCIC
and National Rail platforms at BA station. Of this amount, £21k may be provided by a grant from the
association of Community Rail partnerships, subject to utilization by March 2020.

2. TAP’S VISION
The story of The Auckland Project and Kynren began
in earnest on 24 November 2010, when I met the
Council of the Church Commissioners and formally
made an offer for the set of Zurbarán’s which had
hung at Auckland Castle since 1756.
When my wife and I appeared in Bishop Auckland
with a long term commitment to the well-being of
the town, we were treated with that combination of
goodwill and incredulity which invariably
accompanies a futile gesture. The combination of the duration of our engagement in the town and
the amount of money expended has largely persuaded the community that we meant what we said
then, but it is also true that many things which we have wanted to see happen, and which we said
we would fight for, are still dreams.
I am therefore looking out across the far shores of uncertainty to what a vibrant Bishop Auckland
might look like. What is clear to me is that we can only achieve great things if the ‘we’ are the whole
community; so this vision takes for granted that support and commitment will accompany our
progress. There is no aspect of this work which is written in the singular – whether it is energy,
solidarity, money, imagination or willpower, it requires a unity of spirit to bring off.
As the principal funder, my longevity might seem to be something of interest. I can assert that,
while I have energy, I will fight for the town. While I have the financial wherewithal, I will share it
with the town. I hope you will join us on this next stage of our journey.
JONATHAN RUFFER
TAP’s vision for Bishop Auckland:
1. Individuals in the town can access skills training, volunteering and apprenticeship
opportunities which will result in lower levels of unemployment
2. A built environment which compliments its heritage, characterised by stabilising property
prices and fewer shop vacancies, which suggest financially robust business and leisure
sectors

Page 375

3. A community which is becoming more self-sufficient and resilient, where food and fuel
poverty levels are decreasing
4. A natural environment which is enhanced and opened up, resulting in better wellbeing
outcomes and transforming Bishop Auckland in to a place that everyone can enjoy spending
time in
Our visitor attractions and sites are a means to these ends. Visitor numbers are set to grow to
around 745,000 per annum, with visitors enjoying time at the Auckland Castle and Tower, Mining Art
Gallery, Spanish Gallery, the Faith Exhibition, Walled Garden and Restaurant, four formal Gardens
and the Deer Park. Kynren and Kynren Park will play an active and vibrant role in attracting family
and international visitors. Plans for Binchester and Binchester Farm are slowly unfolding, designed to
attract new and diverse audiences.

3. BACKGROUND
Weardale Railway CIC, a newly structured entity, has now secured a clear way forward to becoming
a sustainable social enterprise. With a proactive Board and a refreshed and revitalized set of active
stakeholders, the CIC can now take advantage of a number of opportunities relating to the heritage
line and our regenerative investment within Bishop Auckland.
There is a significant opportunity, in this new vision for Weardale Railway, to retain the economic
benefit of the railway within County Durham, instead of the transfer of funds out of County
Durham, to BARS and the USA.
Vision
“To enrich the lives of local people and visitors with the heritage of the railway and the natural
beauty of the landscape in which it is built.”
Aims
1. Provide an outstanding tourist attraction, made available for the people of Bishop Auckland,
Weardale and the wider area in addition to national and international visitors
2. Economic regeneration of the areas served by the WR through tourism
3. Employment for local people associated with an outstanding visitor attraction
4. The provision of education and volunteering opportunities for local people
5. The sustainable use of the natural environment in partnership with heritage and commercial
activities

Objectives
1. Provide a world class tourist attraction, made available for the people of Bishop Auckland,
Weardale and the wider area in addition to national and international visitors

Page 376

-

Provide a rich calendar of events and experiences relating to the love of the
railways, trains and the heritage of the Weardale Railway
Work in partnership with the National Railway Museum Shildon to develop high
profile, experiences and events
Provide a calendar of events and experiences relating to food and drink,
literature, culture and heritage

2. Economic regeneration of the areas served by the WR via tourism
- Create a unified network of visitor attractions, including Auckland Castle, Faith
Exhibition, Kynren, the Mining Art Gallery, Spanish Gallery, Kynren Park and
others, so as to encourage out-of-region visitors, longer dwell time and
overnight visits
- Create a sustainable, profit making operation able to contribute to the wider
aims of TAP
3. Employment for local people associated with a world class visitor attraction
- Provide sustainable job opportunities associated with the management of, and
running of the railway
- Offer apprenticeships associated with the running of the railway, including the
maintenance and construction of associated rolling stock and locomotive
engines
- Provide a range of volunteering opportunities structured around the needs and
of the railway operation, focused on specific job roles and with a view to
preparing people for the world of work
4. The provision of education opportunities for local people
- Create a vibrant calendar of information events, talks, lectures and exhibitions
relating to the railway and wider area
- Create and install a range of information panels relating to the heritage line and
the natural environment
- Produce literature in a range of forms relating to the heritage line and the
natural environment
- Engage with local schools and voluntary sector organisations to build immersive
experience based education sessions relating to the railway
5. The sustainable use of the natural environment in partnership with heritage and
commercial activities
- Operate a sustainable transport solution, for the people of Bishop Auckland,
Shildon, Weardale and the wider area
- Promote the use of sustainable transportation via aim 4
- Create a sustainable, profitable operation that places the natural environment
at the heart of commercial activity

Page 377

-

Provide sustainable commercial profit in the wider social and charitable aims of
TAP

4. WEARDALE RAILWAY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Over the next decade, under TAP stewardship and in partnership with DCC and the volunteers from
the Weardale Railway Trust (WRT), TAPs aim will be to establish Weardale Railway (WR) as one of
the major components of the visitor destination in Bishop Auckland.
The benefits of running the railway under the umbrella of wider TAP activity means that aligned
programming to generate a wider-reaching and more stable visitor economy can be achieved.
Through the development of integrated partnership work, South Durham can achieve critical mass
as a place where visitors know there is a place for more than a day’s visit and many will stay for
several days to take in Durham City, Bowes Museum, Locomotion, Raby Castle and Beamish and the
surrounding Dales.
Weardale Railway significantly adds to visitor numbers in Bishop Auckland and Shildon in the
following ways:


The Railway, with an accompanying programme of events, appeals to a wide audience,
including younger and older families, groups, and people particularly interested in the
railway heritage of the UK, particularly Shildon with its rich history of railway engineering,
increasing the number of visitors drawn to the area



The WR ensures a more even tourist offer throughout the year, drawing visitors to the Dale
and local shops and leisure activities in Bishop Auckland at ‘low’ points in the year as well as
through peak times such as the summer holidays



The re-energised retail and leisure zone at the north end of Newgate Street will return
Bishop Auckland to its traditional role within the wider community as a place to spend
leisure time. A thriving Weardale Railway will add to economic activity to the struggling
south end of the town. Some will travel to the town by train from Darlington in the east and
Stanhope in the West, while special event trains on the heritage line will add to the unique
offer



Further up into Weardale, rapid expansion of the hotel, holiday let, bed and breakfast,
caravan park and hospitality sectors has brought much needed jobs and economic activity to
the dale; increasing activity through WR encourages a longer and more interesting visit for
holiday makers

Utilising these opportunities, the Weardale Railway will bring an additional 160,000 visitors in to
Bishop Auckland and Shildon, providing training, employment and learning opportunities, adding
significantly to the local economy of the wider area by transforming TAP’s current offer firmly into
a two-day experience, and creating a more stable shopper presence in the high street.

Page 378

THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT
The following steps outline the development route for the Weardale Railway, and TAP’s
commitment to facilitating a wider tourist offer for Bishop Auckland which will bring an additional
160,000 visitors into Bishop Auckland, to the benefit of the local economy.

1. Create stability by strengthening governance and partnership opportunities







Ensuring key areas of regulatory compliance are followed
Adding support from TAP across all functions, for example, Finance, HR, Learning,
Development, Curatorial, Marcomms, Engagement, Compliance, Food and
Beverage, Volunteer Management and Estates
Supporting WRCIC to clarify the job roles and responsibilities of its staff and
volunteers
Assisting with operating and infrastructure costs
Forming partnerships with other organisations including transport museums,
heritage railways, engineering companies and educational facilities

2. Ensure adequate promotion in order to build awareness and increase visitor numbers
 Create a multi-faceted marketing campaign to entice people from Teesside or
Tyneside, bringing the full Bishop Auckland (and potentially, Shildon) offer
together


Incorporate WR into TAP’s core marketing programme



In the coming years, broadening marketing and advertising to a North East
audience to Northern and Scottish hotspots such as Edinburgh and Leeds
Engage with national and international audiences through specialist interest
areas



3. Build income streams in order to create a sustainable and viable social enterprise
 Expand the on-board paid events offering, including high-profile experiences
linked to significant calendar events such as Christmas, Easter and
Mother’s/Father’s Day.


Secure additional income for STEM training, apprenticeships, volunteering and
skills development opportunities



Secure additional income for Increasing the social impact made by WR by running
dementia-friendly programmes and initiatives to tackle loneliness in the town and
isolated rural communities in the Dales



Extended evening service to coincide with Kynren, events and activities

Page 379

4. Bolster the travel options for residents along Wear Valley
 Initiate a passenger service which allows commuters, leisure users and school
children travel to and from the town. Weardale sixth formers could access Bishop
Auckland College, encouraging integration
 To pursue integrated timetabling with Darlington train station, enabling the
passenger and heritage services to link directly to services on the East Coast
mainline

ALIGNING THE AUCKLAND PROJECT’S PRIORITIES
The Auckland Project has four strategic objectives, which together will transform the Weardale
Railway into a public focused destination in Bishop Auckland and Shildon, that is used regularly by
visitors to help them understand nature and heritage, and to build connections to each other.

Enabling Individuals to flourish
 WR will form a key role in the TAP priority of connecting people with their heritage
 We will provide multiple opportunities for people from different age groups to
volunteer in the running of the railway, understanding that volunteering can
enhance soft skills development such as self-confidence, combat loneliness and
build a sense of aspiration and pride
 By creating educational programmes associated with engineering, mathematics,
science and technology, young people will be encouraged to enhance their academic
skills
Forming Resilient Communities
 We will encourage the growth of volunteer groups, understanding that participation
can build a willingness to collaborate, a strong sense of place, and higher levels of
creativity and enthusiasm
 We will actively pursue partnerships with business in Shildon and Weardale and
further afield
Protecting the Natural Environment
 Through WR, we will enable locals and visiting tourists to enjoy the beautiful
landscape of the Wear Valley
 We will work with DCC and other partners to both offset and decrease our carbon
footprint by linking the WR to a network of electric shuttle buses and promoting any
rail side pedestrian or cycle routes
Enhancing the Built Environment

Page 380

 We will work with DCC to ensure that the built environment around the railway
station complements the incredible heritage enjoyed by Bishop Auckland and
Shildon
 We will encourage the participation of groups including Incredible Edible Bishop
Auckland to enhance the built environment around the railway line

5. MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
There are currently 12 members of staff (9 full-time and 3 part-time) employed by the three BARS
subsidiaries in Weardale. It is not yet clear what their exact division of responsibilities to each entity
are and in many cases it seems that individuals work for more than one of the companies.
Disentangling the job specifications to isolate the staff required for the WR may take time. However,
it is a working assumption that a number will be transferred by TUPE to WRCIC or confirmed as
WRCIC employees.
WRT volunteers currently number 400 with around 40 active members. The volunteer contribution is
essential to any heritage railway, for comparison the Ffestiniog Railway has around 500 active
volunteers. TAP will seek to expand the active volunteer pool to add capacity and capability to the
workforce, drawing on its experience of generating a cohort of 300 active volunteers to assist in the
operation the visitor attraction.
TAP’s intention is to integrate the WRCIC management structure into its portfolio, enabling
operational oversight and support, as well as consistency of approach to compliance, Finance and HR
management, event management and customer service. It will also enable TAP to support/lead in
areas such as Marketing and Communications, Ticketing, Development and Fundraising,
Volunteering, Learning and Engagement.
TAP will appoint Directors and exercise control as required, ensuring that the management
arrangements are sound. TAP will require regular reporting from WRCIC to maintain oversight.
Heritage railways are notoriously loss making enterprises and best that can be expected of the
WRCIC to break even in the first decade. It is envisaged that WRCIC will require loans to cover
operating and infrastructure costs, (less bridge repairs) especially in the early years to allow the
operation to be revived. TAP’s partnership with DCC is critical to provide certainty that the bridge
report repairs amounting to circa £2.1m can be covered by DCC. TAP will inject up to £600k up to
March 2020 and a further £600k (excluding bridge repairs) in the next year to March 2021.
Thereafter fundraising and improving revenue will be required to offset TAP’s injections.

Page 381

6. EVENTS PLAN YEARS 1-5
2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024 &
Onwards

Train to
Christmas
Town

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Polar Express

Afternoon Tea Afternoon
Train
Tea Train

Afternoon Tea Afternoon Tea Afternoon Tea
Train
Train
Train

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Sunday Lunch

Gin Train

Gin Train

Gin Train

Gin Train

Hogwarts
Style Train

Hogwarts
Style Train

Hogwarts
Style Train

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

Passenger
Service
Stanhope-BA

Notes
1. Polar Express and possibly other WR events start at Locomotion to create joint events. Link
to Kynren fireworks.
2. The Afternoon Tea Train has multiple uses beyond family and older adult visitor markets.
Includes dementia friendly and tackling loneliness programmes.
3. NRM Young Engineer programmes delivered by Locomotion for the BA area could include
both train rides and use of exhibits in Shildon.
4. Research as to the viability of a passenger service will be conducted
5. Gin Train or similar would be an evening event, running in the low tourist season
6. Hogwarts style event targeted at the summer holiday period
7. Afternoon Tea Train and Hogwarts style train link to Kynren nights throughout the holidays
8. Post 2024, the aim is to build the breadth and depth of the offer
9. Link WR trains to events in Bishop Auckland
10. The 2020 events programme may depend on programming of bridge repairs.
11. Subject to securing the Polar Express franchise, it is anticipated that by 2025 the above
programme will be capable of creating a surplus I&E of c. £500k.

7. VISITOR NUMBER IMPACT

Page 382

Enhancing the TAP offer through the addition of the Weardale Railway
Currently, as there are many dependencies of the future success of WR events, it is a challenge to
produce exact projections of visitor figures. The biggest area of consideration is how the Railway fits
in to the rest of The Auckland Project’s offer, and therefore the following outlines the case for
support. What follows was commissioned for current and future TAP offers only and therefore
excludes the potential of Eleven Arches, a fully developed Binchester, Special Events and time spent
in the Deer Park.

What the Weardale Railway adds to dwell times
Using approximated dwell times for each of the new attractions, the following table represents the
maximum dwell time for an adult visitor enjoying The Auckland Project attractions, excluding any
walks in the Deer Park. Note that by 2022 there is enough occupied dwell time for Bishop Auckland
to become a two-day destination especially when adding in some lengthier meals, deer park walks,
relaxation time and shopping. Vision XS estimate a total of three attractions will be engaged with in
any one visit.
With the addition of the Railway, the dwell time increases significantly, extending the TAP and
Eleven Arches offer into a two-day experience, adding to the spend per tourist. Day visitors currently
make up 92% of the overall visitor numbers to the county, spending £20.71 on average, per day.
Overnight visitors make up the remaining 8%, yet spend, on average, £177.08 per trip, (Visit County
Durham 2018b). TAP intends to develop a hotel and other overnight accommodation offers to
support this.

Attraction

Maximum dwell time in 2022

Mining Art Gallery

30

Auckland Tower

20

Auckland Castle

60

Spanish Museum

60

Faith Exhibition

60

Nature Farm

90

Weardale Railway

120

Page 383

**This chart is based on
visitors engaging with three
attractions in one day. The
‘total dwell time’ includes
time walking, shopping or
eating. The WR adds an
additional 120 minutes of
active time into the offer,
strengthening the likelihood
of guests staying overnight,
especially if evening events
continue on the railway. **

Vision XS Capacity Study, November 2019

Weardale Railway: the impact on visits
Vision XS used two comparatives to formulate visit numbers. The ‘high model’ demonstrates the
kind of figures we might expect if we have the maximum penetration into the market, and the ‘low
case’ is the absolute minimum we might expect. The high case model varies from 210,000 in 2020
and peaks at 745,000 in 2028.

Annual Day Tourists to Bishop Auckland
1
0.9
0.8
0.7
0.6
0.5
0.4
0.3
0.2
0.1
0
LIEU
TIME RECORD
SHEET
NAME

Vision XS Capacity Study, November 2019

Page 384

Separating figures for the Weardale Railway is not possible at this stage, as it is anticipated that the
Railway offer will be wrapped up and marketed as part of the Auckland experience as a whole, but
estimates from Vision XS are that the high case annual visits for the Railway could be 160,000. Half
of those visits are unique – so 160,000 visits equates to 80,000 people. At £20 per day visitor x
160,000 visitors, the GVA impact is c.£3.2m.
In the current railway offer, Bishop Auckland railway station is the starting station for two thirds of
experiences offered (heritage services and evening events) and as such, additional parking would
need to be facilitated at the station. Assuming that similar figures use cars to access the TAP offer
(90% arriving by car, 2.5 people per vehicle = 144,000 people arriving by car), an additional 57,600
car journeys will be made to the south end of the town per year.
The Railway adds the enormous benefit of creating a year-round tourist attraction in Bishop
Auckland, bringing more regular visitors to the town centre and shops and having an increased
impact on the economic sustainability of businesses in the town. Rural connectivity, training and
year-round tourism are significant objectives of the North East’s application for the Tourism Sector
Deal and year-round tourism is a key component of the HAZ Economic Study: Report 2019.

8. LOCO AND ROLLING STOCK
The current arrangement is for WRCIC to hire locos and rolling stock.
In due course when events and the passenger service justify it, purchase may be preferable.
TAP would seek loans of rolling stock and locomotives at advantageous rates from Locomotion,
private individuals and the National Railway Museum as part of the collaboration.
It is understood that WRCIC has a long standing agreement to purchase three locomotives from one
owner for £165,000.

9. SCHOOLS, ENGAGEMENT AND INTERPRETATION
The educational context
The Bishop Auckland and Shildon Area Action Partnership has 26 schools. This amounts to 4057
pupils, according to most recent published data from 2017. Twenty-three of those 26 schools are
part of our Partner Schools Programme. The advent of a WR passenger service could play a major
role in boosting numbers at both primary and Wolsingham Grammar School in order to sustain them
in the future. In addition, TAP’s Learning and Engagement team can assist Locomotion, through
connected activity.

Page 385

Ghost Lines: TAP’s current planned programme for 2020
‘Ghost Lines’ are disused railway tracks that run through areas in and around Bishop and rural
County Durham. This project is based on Social Haunting which looks at the effect of trauma on a
community, based at a number of community consultations called Ghost Labs, held at Woodhouse
Close Community Centre. Within discussions, the participants realised that the physical spaces
connecting everyone’s memory maps were the railways in the area; they held value - connecting
people, miners and the rural communities of Durham.
Project Overview
We will look backwards at the historical context of these railroads and their significance and we aim
to transform these trails into future facing spaces; spaces to reconnect communities and collective
memory and embracing the present. We will create these transformative spaces through artistic
activity, creating artworks that are symbolic of a memory, person, feeling or idea which would then
be concealed/placed ‘out of sight’ for the community to find.

We would work inter-generationally with participants of Ghost Labs and three different
School/Community Groups in Bishop Auckland to create three different artistic trails, which would
follow different disused tracks. The trails would be accompanied by a map- illustrating the old tracks
in the area and utilized for locating artistic Geo-cashes along the tracks. We propose to use
traditional mark making and printmaking processes to create the initial map and then reproduce
these digitally for the local community.

Future Potential Projects


World Heritage projects: Spotlight on local heritage sites, awareness raising for the North
East Portfolio- link with University Programmes for Museum Studies and Cultural Heritage
Management.



Sustainable Futures: focusing on technological innovations and inventions. The journey of
modern advancement - how did the Railways contribute to the modern world we live in
today modern innovations like Geothermal, Industrial Heritage and Environmental projects.



Expand Mining Art Gallery: MAG could become a platform for wider exploration of mining
industries, bringing lead and steel into the engagement portfolio- mapping Weardale mines,
industry and communities. This would allow us to engage with content about the Industrial
Revolution and Victorian Life (excellent curriculum links)



Social Action: Looking at selected Victorian philanthropists who advocated for workers’
rights e.g. Barnardo’s and Roundtree.

Page 386



Station Art Projects: Stations transformed into temporary art galleries. Potential for these to
be designed by local community and school groups. A similar model to our “Art in Focus”
project could be used.

London-based ‘Art and the Railway’ project demonstrates the growing appetite for community art installations at railways



Poetry and Rhythm Projects - the rhythm of trains lends themselves to poetic rhythms and
musical interpretation. Poems could be used to decorate the train stations with poetry,
word art and opportunities for musical events

Interpretation
The Auckland Project is committed to encouraging members of the community to uncover and take
pride in the heritage of the town of Bishop Auckland and the surrounding area. To this end, we
would explore ways of improving interpretation along the Weardale Railway line, particularly at
stations, and promote access for people of all backgrounds and ages.

Partnerships – Industrial Heritage
The Weardale Railway currently takes one hour to go from Bishop Auckland to Stanhope, stopping
along the way at Witton-le-Wear, Wolsingham and Frosterly. The line will connect communities and
audiences in Weardale with The Auckland Project's visitor offer, but also has the potential to open
up new audiences for other museum and heritage sites in the locality.
Acquisition of the railway provides an exciting opportunity for TAP to partner with Locomotion, part
of the Science Museum Group, in Shildon. There is significant potential to develop visitor rail
services, and special heritage services, in collaboration with Locomotion, encouraging members of

Page 387

the public to travel between Weardale, Bishop Auckland and Shildon. Alongside this, we intend to
explore opportunities for ticketing promotions and joint learning initiatives.
2025 marks the bicentenary of the opening of the Stockton to Darlington Railway on 27 September
1825. We are aware that Darlington Borough Council, Stockton Borough Council and Durham County
Council are already working on a programme of activities and events to celebrate the occasion,
together with the National Railway Museum, Friends of Darlington to Stockton Railway.
The Weardale Railway line was worked by the Stockton to Darling Railway Company, started in 1847
to transport minerals from Weardale. TAP therefore proposes to support our regional partners with
plans to mark the anniversary, joining together to celebrate the creation of first public passenger
railway in the world here in County Durham.
On a broader level, there is significant potential for developing partnerships with museums and
heritage organizations centered on the industrial heritage of the North East of England. The rail
network, a heritage asset and draw in of its own right, may provide the means by which to
encourage visitors to travel between sites.
Through the Mining Art Gallery, opened in 2017, TAP has already established relationships with a
number of regional and national institutions, including Tyne and Wear Museums, the Science
Museum and the National Coal Mining Museum. We are currently exploring the possibility of leading
a national Subject Specialist network devoted to industrial art, furthering research into collections of
industrial art and promoting knowledge sharing between museums across the country.
We are keen to further these existing relationships, particularly within the North East, to increase
awareness of the significance of our region’s industrial landscape and heritage. Ideas include
coordinated programming, tours and trials, and community projects. There is also potential to work
with Visit Britain, and well as Visit Durham, to promote the industrial heritage of this region to
national and international visitors, encouraging visitors from further afield to spend a weekend in
County Durham, providing tangible economic benefit.
Other potential partners in the region include Killhope Lead Mining Museum, Head of Steam
(Darlington Museums service) and Beamish Museum.

10.WEARDALE RAILWAY APPRENTICE SCHEMES
County Durham has a long history of supporting apprentices in the North East and nationally is a
hotspot in comparison to other regions, largely due to employers understand the benefits and value
that apprentices can bring to organisations.
Weardale Railway is well placed to assist in South Durham’s apprentice output, particularly linked to
the region’s long history with rail and engineering. Apprenticeship pathways could include support
of the development of the Weardale Railway itself covering heritage engineering trades as well as
wider engineering pathways such as fabrication, welding, maintenance, engineering and toolmaking.
The WR and Locomotion could combine in providing apprentice opportunities relating to heritage
engineering skills and match the successful scheme run by the North Yorks Moors Railway. In

Page 388

addition, the WR as a visitor attraction could support apprenticeships in hospitality covering
customer facing roles, business development, management and support.
TAP is already collaborating with Bishop Auckland College under the guise of the Auckland Academy
for a range of apprenticeship training so expansion into the engineering sector would be
straightforward using South West Durham Training.
The funding commitment
from WR would be standard;
a payment of 5% of the
training costs at an average of
£1,300 per engineering
apprenticeship to the full
value of £27,000. Funding
support for the WR 5% could
be sourced via South West
Durham Training which
currently has an agreement
with Glaxo Smith Kline in
Barnard Castle to meet costs.
Weardale Railway Apprentices would join a thriving programme of apprenticeships at TAP

11.POTENTIAL FUNDRAISING FOR WEARDALE RAILWAY
Funding for heritage railways comes predominantly from three sources – local councils, the National
Lottery Heritage Fund and European funding avenues such as the European Agricultural Fund for
Rural Development or the European Regional Development Fund. The following is a summary of
potential funding streams, with the caveat that these streams will take several years to reach
maturity.
Given that The Auckland Project has already acquired significant support from NLHF for our capital
build, it is unlikely that we would receive any further funding at high levels. However, there may well
be potential for other European or post-Brexit funding streams. Securing the Weardale Railway adds
significant potential to harness a different kind of funding connected to both learning opportunities
through apprenticeship and skills development, and social impact projects focused on reducing
isolation in rural locations, increasing the wellbeing levels in people with dementia and their carers
though highly experiential heritage experiences, and legacy and membership opportunities.

Memberships and Legacies
Legacies form an important part of the funding mix for most heritage railways, accounting for
between 20% - 60% of all voluntary income. Due to the unique role the railway would play in the
landscape of TAP’s offer, a legacy marketing programme which is distinct to the main TAP offer

Page 389

should be established; although leaving a legacy to the railway will be encouraged in TAP’s core
legacy promotion as well.
Membership should also remain distinct from central TAP membership, although some crosspromotion should be implemented. Heritage railways tend to generate high membership numbers,
often from the volunteers who spend a lot of time engaging with the railway on weekly basis, and
who feel a sense of ownership and involvement in the railway provision. Junior members would also
be encouraged, through a young volunteers’ campaign, or promotion through partnership with local
schools and colleges.

Crowdfunding and on-board activities
Heritage railways have seen a mixed response to crowdfunding initiatives, but by tying the Weardale
Railway into the larger TAP funding activity, and marketing to the full visitor group, there is ample
opportunity for a successful crowdfunding campaign for capital (infrastructure) projects or to
maintain rolling stock. Visitors to the railway have the benefit of experiencing first-hand the
excitement and enjoyment of a day out, and ample on-board promotion of any capital or
crowdfunding campaigns should be encouraged. Ample crowdfunding rewards, such as a chance to
drive the train, work the signals, get a behind-the-scenes glimpse of new engine or premises means
that chances of success for a crowdfunding campaign are high.

Grants and Foundations: securing funds for social impact
Heritage Railways play an increasing role in engaging their communities and making a significant
difference to wellbeing levels, skills development and personal development.

Increasing wellbeing

Page 390

The Auckland Project is already running
a successful and wide-reaching
dementia-friendly offer, and adding the
Weardale Railway to that programme
increases the likelihood of gaining
future support, because it enables a
more holistic programme and offer.
DCMS have launched a new £2 million
fund to help organisations at the
forefront of alleviating loneliness, and
opportunities for statutory funding will
be identified and sought on an on-going
basis.
In addition, several of TAP’s current and
past funders, including Garfield Weston
and Sir James Knott Trust support programmes
which target NEETS, the elderly or those isolated
from their communities.

TAP's Dementia Friendly Heritage Group enjoying an outing on the Weardale
Railway

Opportunities to engage in community
Volunteers currently play a key role in the delivery of the Railway services, and TAP would approach
grant making trusts such as the Age-friendly and Inclusive Volunteering Fund to attempt to secure
funding for encouraging different audiences (including particular age and ability groups) to
volunteer.

Building a sustainable business model
Funding is also available, through streams including Power to Change Business Development Fund
and the Social Business Trust, for development of strategy, business cases and growth management,
and TAP would look to secure funding for this first stage of expansion and development for an
organisation which has been complex and multifaceted in its governance and delivery.

Training and STEM education
Grants are available through schools and colleges for Science, Technology, Engineering and
Mathematics educational opportunities for students aged 5-18. Adding Young Engineers and
apprenticeships to the programme of activity means a deepening of the partnership TAP already has
with Auckland College. A connection with the Science Museum via Locomotion in Shildon would
enable us to access a £20m grant for young engineers.

Page 391

In addition, we would seek a tie-up with Hitachi, which would allow a direct link to be made between
training and future employment and would co-align our activity with the NELEP Advanced
Manufacturing strategic priorities.

12.LETTERS OF SUPPORT

Page 392

Page 393

LANGHAM INDUSTRIES

In addition, the Wolsingham shed, leased from Langham Industries by BARS, is where engines and
rolling stock are serviced and stored. It is critical to the operation of the WRCIC.
Chris Langham, owner of Langham Industries, has indicated in an email on 1 December that, due to
BARS’ history of rent arrears, he will only continue to allow WRCIC to use the shed if the railway
passes into TAP control.
A letter of support is to follow.

13.FINANCIALS
Please see the attached financial report from Clive Owen LLP.

14.SUMMARY
The proposal sets out TAP’s desire to:
-

-

-

-

Page 394

Retain the financial benefit of operating the railway in County Durham
Enhance the economy of Weardale by maximising the use of the railway, using
the railway to market and promote Weardale and significantly increasing the
number of visitors
This is a major Heritage asset that will be used by people living in Weardale but
will also attract passengers from around the region and beyond
The Weardale Railway will benefit from, complement and where appropriate be
inextricably linked to other regeneration activities that are going on in Weardale
including The Auckland Project and Kynren and will be an enabler in supporting
new economic projects
Collectively this will give residents hope for the future, increase their
opportunities for employment and volunteering and provide for educational and
skills development. The area will benefit from increased tourism and leisure
facilities and bring communities together to work for the benefit of Weardale.
As a result, people will feel positive about living in, visiting and working in
Weardale
Provide a visitor attraction that will command dwell time of over 2 hours
Provide GVA to the local area in region of £3.2m annually

This Vision, Aims & Objects and outlined proposal is underpinned by the following measurable
objectives and action plans:
-

-

-

Significantly increase passenger numbers
Increase employment directly and indirectly
Acquire trains and rolling stock and develop a maintenance business for trains
and track
Maximise the opportunities for volunteers and build up a significant
membership base
To connect the line to network rails at Bishop Auckland and extend the line to
East Gate making Bishop Auckland pivotal in the development of the railway
with steam and other trains linked to London timetables
Ensure that the Railway Stations along the line become an important vehicle for
shoppers and visitors to explore the attractions in the adjacent towns and
villages
Maximise income from all sources
Maximise the efficiency and effectiveness of the Railway and ensure good value
for money.

Page 395

This page is intentionally left blank

